
Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel: 01546605522 

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD

20 November 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD (IJB) will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on WEDNESDAY, 27 NOVEMBER 2019 at 1:00 PM, which you are 
requested to attend.

BUSINESS

1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. MINUTE OF INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD AND ACTION NOTES (Pages 3 - 16)
Integration Joint Board held on 25 September 2019

4. MINUTES FOR NOTING 

(a) Quality and Finance Board of 25 July 2019 (Pages 17 - 20)

(b) Clinical and Care Governance Committee of 5 September 2019 
(Pages 21 - 26)

(c) Finance and Policy Committee of 10 September 2019 (Pages 27 - 32)

(d) Audit and Risk Committee of 25 September 2019 (Pages 33 - 36)

5. CHIEF OFFICERS REPORT (Pages 37 - 38)
Verbal report by Chief Officer, Argyll and Bute HSCP

6. CULTURE FIT FOR THE FUTURE PROGRAMME (Pages 39 - 50)
Report by Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development, NHS 
Highland

7. FINANCE 
Reports by Head of Finance and Transformation, Argyll and Bute HSCP

(a) Budget Monitoring (Pages 51 - 66)

(b) Financial Risk (Pages 67 - 74)

(c) Budget Outlook (Pages 75 - 82)

Public Document Pack



(d) Reserves Report (Pages 83 - 86)

8. FINANCIAL RECOVERY PLANS (Pages 87 - 90)
Report by Chief Executive, Argyll and Bute Council

9. SOCIAL WORK FINANCIAL REPORTING (Pages 91 - 94)
Report by Principal Accountant – Social Work, Argyll and Bute Council

10. REVIEW OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION SCHEME 
(Pages 95 - 160)
Report by Executive Director, Argyll and Bute Council

11. STAFF GOVERNANCE REPORT (Pages 161 - 180)
Joint report by Head of Customer and Support Services, Argyll and Bute Council and 
HR Lead, Argyll and Bute HSCP (Health)

12. PROFESSIONAL LEADERSHIP GOVERNANCE (Pages 181 - 184)
Report by Lead AHP, NHS Highland

13. CHIEF SOCIAL WORK OFFICER ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 (Pages 185 - 236)
Report by Chief Social Work Officer and Head of Children and Families

14. DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 (Pages 237 - 472)
Report by Director of Public Health, NHS Highland

15. ALCOHOL AND DRUG PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 
(Pages 473 - 480)
Joint report by Chair of Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership and Health 
Improvement Principal

16. LOOKING AHEAD TO THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT - HEALTH BUDGET 2020-
21: WHEN IS HOSPITAL BAD FOR YOUR HEALTH? (Pages 481 - 536)
Report by Business Improvement Manager, Argyll and Bute Council

17. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Wednesday 29 January 2020, 1.30pm, Council Chamber, Kilmory, Lochgilphead

Contact: Hazel MacInnes  Tel: 01546 604269



MINUTE of INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD (IJB)
WEDNESDAY 25 SEPTEMBER 2019, 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD

Present: Councillor Kieron Green, Argyll and Bute Council (Chair)
Sarah Compton Bishop, NHS Highland Non Executive Board Member (Vice Chair)
Joanna Macdonald, Chief Officer, Argyll and Bute HSCP
George Morrison, Deputy Chief Officer, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Prof. Boyd Robertson, Interim Chair, NHS Highland (VC)
Councillor Aileen Morton, Argyll and Bute Council
Councillor Gary Mulvaney, Argyll and Bute Council
Councillor Sandy Taylor, Argyll and Bute Council
Dr Angus McTaggart, GP Representative, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Alex Taylor, Chief Social Worker/Head of Children and Families, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Alison McGrory, Acting Associate Director of Public Health, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Elizabeth Rhodick, Public Representative
Dr Gaener Rodger, NHS Highland Non Executive Board Member
Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Jean Boardman, NHS Highland Non-Executive Board Member

In Attendance: David Forshaw, Principal Accountant, Argyll and Bute Council
Elizabeth Higgins, Lead Nurse, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Stephen Whiston, Head of Strategic Planning and Performance, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Charlotte Craig, Business Improvement Manager, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Fiona Broderick, Staffside Lead, Argyll and Bute HSCP (Health)
David Ritchie, Communications Manager, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Maggie Clark, Public Health, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Hazel MacInnes, Committee Services Officer, Argyll and Bute Council

Apologies: Donald Watt, Acting Head of Adult Services (West), Argyll and Bute HSCP
Kirsteen Murray, CEO, Third Sector Interface
Denis McGlennon, Independent Sector Representative
Fiona Thomson, Lead Pharmacist, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Rebecca Helliwell, Associate Medical Director, Argyll and Bute HSCP
Jim Littlejohn, Acting Head of Adult Services (East), Argyll and Bute HSCP

1. Welcome

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions were made.

2. Apologies

Apologies were noted as above.

3. Declarations of Interest

Sarah Compton-Bishop declared an interest in item 5.4iii of the agenda in relation 
to the financial recovery plan action proposal 12 (Review of provision of 
underused respite flat at Jura Progressive Care Centre). 

She advised that she would not be taking part in the debate and would be happy 
to leave the room if required. The Chair and members indicated they were happy 
for her to stay in the room during discussion.

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



4. Approval of Minute of Integration Joint Board on 7 August 2019

The Minutes of the meeting of the Integration Joint Board held on 7 August 2019 
were approved as a correct record.

5. Business

5.1 Culture Fit for Purpose Action Plan Update

The Interim NHS Highland Chair provided the Board with a verbal update 
on the Culture Fit for the Future Action Plan and the outcome of the 
discussion from the Board meeting held in Inverness on 24 September 
2019.  He advised that for the November meeting there would be a paper 
giving an update of progress against the revised action plan and that they 
were aiming to produce more comprehensive action plan gathered from 
feedback from engagement sessions and strategy workshops.  He 
advised that employee engagement sessions had begun, that there were 
more still to take place. An issue has arisen was that people in remote 
parts of the area were not able to participate in the sessions and that the 
plan was to develop video conferencing sessions to address this outwith 
the face to face sessions.  He advised that a summary of issues raised 
would be produced and would feed into the action plan produced in 
October. In terms of the Sturrock report, he advised that not all members 
of staff had felt the need to read the full report and therefore it would be 
useful to provide a brief overview/summary version of the report.

In terms of the Argyll and Bute review the Interim NHS Highland Chair 
advised that the Board had agreed to proceed with the review and that it 
would go out to tender and be published on the Scottish Government 
Portal. He advised that it would take 12 weeks to carry out the review and 
report back with a final completion date of March 2020.

The Interim Chair referred to discussions with Fiona Hogg, Director of 
HR&OD.  In respect of the Leadership Programme he advised that the 
Leading Secretary on Culture would be the Senior Leading Officer for 
Culture in the future and a Programme Manager would be appointed in 
due course. The position would be advertised both internally and 
externally.  They would be seeking an external advisor who would become 
a non-executive Director and would have specific responsibility to oversee 
the Programme and who would Chair the Culture Steering Group. 

Decision

The Integration Joint Board –

1. Noted the verbal update by the Interim Chair of NHS Highland.

2. Agreed to continue to work with NHS Highland in relation to the 
ongoing review.

(Reference:  Verbal Update by Interim Chair of NHS Highland)

5.2 Transforming Together Work-Streams Update

The IJB gave consideration to a report providing them with an update on 

Page 4



the “Transforming Together” Programme that included 8 work streams to 
strengthen and build on achievements to date and to continue the 
changes required to meet the vision, priorities and objectives of the 
HSCP.

Decision

The Integration Joint Board – 

1. Noted the status of each of the work streams/projects and 
recommendations for the next stage.

2. Requested a more detailed report to IJB.

3. Agreed that in future to refer this to the Quality and Finance 
Programme Board (or its successor) to add to the work plan and to 
provide an update to the next meeting in due course. 

(Ref: Report by Head of Strategic Planning and Performance, submitted)

5.3 Joint Inspection of Services for Children & Young People in Need of 
Care & Protection in Argyll & Bute

The IJB gave consideration to a report which provided an overview of the 
findings of the report of the Joint Inspection of Services for Children and 
Young People in Need of Care and Protection in Argyll and Bute that had 
been published in March 2019.  The report also sought endorsement of an 
action plan that had been prepared to address the key areas for 
improvement identified by Inspectors.

Decision

The IJB –

1. Noted the findings of the inspection report into the Joint Inspection of 
Services for Children and Young People in Need of Care and 
Protection in the Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership 
Area.

2. Endorsed the Improvement Action Plan which had been prepared and 
shared with the Care Inspectorate to address the key areas identified 
by Inspectors.

(Ref:  Report by Chief Social Worker HSCP, submitted)

5.4 Finance

i) Argyll & Bute HSCP Audited Annual Accounts

The Board gave consideration to a report that presented them with 
the Audited Annual Accounts 2018-19.

Decision

Page 5



The IJB -

1. Noted that Audit Scotland have completed their audit of the 
annual accounts for 2018-19 and have issued an unqualified 
independent auditor’s report.

2. Noted the 2018/19 Annual Audit Report prepared by Audit 
Scotland and the Key Messages therein.

3. Noted that the Audit Committee have recommended the Audited 
Accounts to the IJB for approval at their meeting on 25 
September 2019.

4. Approved the Audited Annual Accounts for 2018-19 to be signed 
for issue by chair, chief officer and chief finance officer at end of 
meeting.

(Reference:  Report by Head of Finance and Transformation, 
submitted)

ii) Budget Monitoring

The Board gave consideration to a report providing them with a 
summary of the financial position of the Health and Social Care 
Partnership as at 31 July 2019.

Decision

The IJB noted the forecast outturn position for 2019-20 as a forecast 
overspend of £2.137m as at 31 July 2019 and that there is a year to 
date overspend of £0.435m as at the same date.

(Reference:  Report by Head of Finance and Transformation, 
submitted)

iii) Financial Recovery Plan

The Board gave consideration to a report which provided a 
commentary on the causes of the forecast overspend of £2.137m 
and which proposed a further financial recovery plan in order to 
return the forecast to a breakeven position.

Decision

The IJB -

1. Approved the proposed financial recovery plan with the 
exception of recovery action proposal number one in relation to 
new care packages for Older People’s Services.

2. Requested that further detail on proposal number one be 
brought back to the next meeting of the IJB following significant 
concerns raised by members of the Board.

(Reference:  Report by Head of Finance and Transformation, 

Page 6



submitted)
   

iv) Financial Risk Update

The Board gave consideration to a report that updated them on the 
financial risks facing the organisation which had not been reflected 
in the forecast of the financial outturn. 

Decision

The IJB –

1. Noted the updated financial risks identified for the Health and 
Social Care Partnership.

2. Noted that the financial risks would continue to be reviewed and 
monitored on a two monthly basis and reported to the Board.

(Reference:  Report by Head of Finance and Transformation, 
submitted)

v) Budget Outlook

The Board gave consideration to a report that summarised the 
budget outlook covering the period 2020-21 to 2022-23 taking into 
consideration the budget decisions taken at the Integrated Joint 
Board (IJB) on 27 March 2019.

Decision

The IJB noted the current estimated budget outlook report for the 
period 2020-21 to 2022-23.

(Reference:  Report by head of Finance and Transformation, 
submitted)

The Board adjourned for a comfort break from 3.25pm to 3.30pm.

5.5 HSCP Performance Exception Report

The Board gave consideration to the Performance Exception Report for 
financial quarter one 2019/20 reporting period.

Decision

The IJB –

1. Noted the overall scorecard performance for the FQ1 (19-20) reporting 
period.

2. Noted the HSCP Performance against National Health and Wellbeing 
Outcome Indicators and the Ministerial Steering Group measures of 
integration for the HSCP.

Page 7



3. Noted the performance commentary with regard to actions to address 
exceptions against all indicators.

(Reference:  Report by Head of Strategic Planning and Performance, 
submitted)

5.6 Review of Governance

The Board gave consideration to a report that summarised the 
governance review in relation to the structure required to provide robust 
governance for Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board.  The report made 
a number of recommendations and sought approval for changes at 
committee and group level.  It outlined the context for the 
recommendations and identified further works to be undertaken in 
delivering a full code of corporate governance supporting IJB members.

Decision

The IJB –

1. Noted the summary of the Governance Review and outputs.

2. Noted the current context of the review.

3. Approved the creation of a Finance and Policy Committee to replace 
the Quality and Finance Board.

4. Approved the appointment of an IJB member as co-chair to the 
Strategic Planning Group.

5. Approved proposed membership and attendees of committees (see 
Appendix 1).

6. Agreed to appoint to committees where specified (see Appendix 1).

7. Noted forthcoming Integration Joint Board recruitment

8. Approved the Meeting Schedule.

9. Requested that each committee review their terms of reference and 
report back to IJB at a later date.

(Reference:  Report by Business Improvement Manager, submitted)

5.7 Engagement and Communication

i) Engagement Framework Update

The Board gave consideration to a report that updated them on the 
progress with engagement quality standards, sought agreement that 
the action plan was adequate to meet the obligations of the HSCP 
and which proposed that the governance of engagement is via the 
HSCP’s Annual Performance Report.

Decision

Page 8



The IJB –

1. Noted the progress made with community engagement over the 
past 12 months ad completion of the Engagement Quality 
Standards.

2. Approved the associated action plan for 2019-20.

3. Agreed appropriate annual reporting and governance of 
engagement would be within the HSCP Annual Performance 
Report.

(Reference:  Report by Acting Associate Director of Public Health, 
submitted)

Elizabeth Rhodick, Community Representative, left the meeting at 4pm.

ii) Annual Communications Plan

The Board gave consideration to a report that provided them with an 
update in relation to the Annual Communications Plan and which 
proposed that communications be an element within the HSCP’s 
Annual Performance Report.

Decision

The IJB –

1. Noted the progress made in communications over the past 12 
months.

2. Approved the Annual Communications Plan.

3. Agreed that appropriate annual reporting of communications be 
within the HSCP Annual Performance Report.

(Reference:  Report by Communications Manager, submitted)

5.8 Primary Care Improvement Plan

The Board gave consideration to a report that provided an update on the 
Year 2 Primary Care Improvement Plan (PCIP).

Decision

The IJB noted the Year 2 Primary Care Improvement Plan (PCIP) and 
noted its submission to the Scottish Government.

(Reference:  Report by Associate Medical Director, submitted)

6. Living Well Strategy

The Board considered a report which presented them with the Living Well 
Strategy that had been developed to support people to live better and more active 

Page 9



lives in order to achieve better health and wellbeing outcomes in our population.

Decision

The IJB endorsed the implementation of Argyll and Bute’s Living Well Strategy.

(Reference:  Report by Acting Associate Director of Public Health and Lead AHP, 
submitted) 

7. Chief Officers Report

The Board gave consideration to a report by the Deputy Chief Officer which 
highlighted activity across Argyll and Bute since the previous meeting.  

The Chief Officer commended the work of Dr Helliwell and the Clinical Lead in 
respect of the recruitment of doctors on Mull and Islay.

Decision

The IJB noted the content of the report.

(Reference:  Report by Deputy Chief Officer, submitted)

The Chair expressed his thanks to Jim Littlejohn and Donald Watt for their interim work as 
Heads of Service.

The Chair noted that Heather Grier had resigned from the IJB and thanked her for her 
contribution over many years to the IJB and for her insights into scrutinising the work of 
the HSCP.

Date of Next Integration Joint Board:  Wednesday 27 November 2019, 1.30pm, 
Council Chambers, Kilmory, Lochgilphead.

Page 10



Committee Membership and Quoracy Appendix 1

Clinical and Care Governance 
Committee 

Quorum 1/3 (1 NHS+1 Council)

Role Membership
Chair IJB Member
(Council or NHS)

Sarah Compton-Bishop Member

Vice-Chair IJB Member
(Council or NHS)

Cllr Kieron Green Member

NHS IJB Member Jean Boardman Member
Council IJB Member Cllr Sandy Taylor Member
Chief Officer Joanna MacDonald Attendee 

(required)
Associate Medical Director Dr Rebecca Helliwell Member 
Associate Director Public Health Alison McGrory Member
Associate Clinical Dental 
Director

Donald MacFarlane Attendee 
(required)

Lead Nurse Elizabeth Higgins Member
Chief Social Work Officer/
Head of Children and Families

Alex Taylor Member

Lead AHP Linda Currie Attendee 
(required)

Lead Pharmacist Fiona Thomson Attendee 
(required)

Head(s) of Adult Services Caroline Cherry/Julie Lusk Attendee 
(required)

Clinical Governance Manager Fiona Campbell Attendee 
(required)

Staffside representative Fiona Broderick/Kevin 
McIntosh

Member

Non GP medical representative Vacant Member

Audit Committee Quorum 3 (1 NHS+1 Council)
Role Membership
Chair IJB Member Cllr Sandy Taylor Member
Vice-Chair IJB Member Gaenor Roger Member
IJB Member Cllr Kieron Green Member
IJB Member Sarah Compton-Bishop Member
IJB Member Vacant Member
IJB Member Vacant Member
Chief Officer Joanna MacDonald Attendee 

(required)
Chief Finance Officer Judy Orr Attendee 

(required)
External Auditor Attendee 

(required)
Internal Auditor Attendee 

(required)
Officers attend as required

Page 11



Public representative Vacant Member
Carers representative Vacant Member
Officers attend as required Attendee

Finance and Policy Committee Quorum 3 (1 NHS+1 Council)
Role Membership
Chair Cllr Kieron Green Member
Vice-Chair Sarah Compton-Bishop Member
IJB Member Cllr Sandy Taylor Member
IJB Member Cllr Gary Mulvaney Member
IJB Member Boyd Robertson Member
IJB Member Vacant Member
Professional Advisory Group 
Representative

Elizabeth Higgins Member

Chief Officer Joanna MacDonald Attendee 
(required)

Chief Finance Officer Judy Orr Attendee 
(required)

Staffside Fiona Broderick/Kevin 
McIntosh

Attendee 
(required)

Officers attend as directed Attendee

Strategic Planning Group Quorum 1/3
Role Membership
Chair (Head of Strategy and 
Planning)

Stephen Whiston Member

Co-Chair (IJB Member) Jean Boardman Member
IJB Member (IJB Chair) Cllr Kieron Green Member
IJB Member (IJB Vice-Chair) Sarah Compton-Bishop Member
IJB Member (carers) Vacant Member
Chief Officer Joanna MacDonald Member
Chief Financial Officer Judy Orr Member
Associate Medical Director Dr Rebecca Helliwell Member
Associate Director Public Health Alison McGrory Member
Associate Clinical Dental 
Director 

Donald MacFarlane Member

Lead Nurse Elizabeth Higgins Member
Chief Social Work Officer/
Head of Children and Families

Alex Taylor Member

Lead AHP Linda Currie Member
Lead Pharmicist Fiona Thomson Member
Head(s) of Adult Services Caroline Cherry/Julie Lusk Member
Staffside Representative Fiona Broderick/Devin 

McIntosh
Member

Senior Service Planning 
Manager

Kristin Gillies Member

Housing (Council and other) Douglas Whyte Member
Third Sector (TSI CEO + 1) Kirsteen Murray/Vacant Member
Carers Act Implementation TBC Member

Page 12



Officer
Independent Sector TBC Member
Officers attend as required Attendee

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



ACTION LOG –Audit Committee April 2019 - March 2020

ID Meeting Area ACTION LEAD TIMESCALE Revised timescale WORK STATUS (open, in progress, complete)
3 30/01/2019 IJB Draft HSCP Commissioning Plan Stephen Whiston Dec-19 In progress

11 27/03/2019 IJB 2020-21 Budget Preparation SLT Aug-19 Dec-19 in progress

20 29/05/2019 IJB Update on Progress and actions on the Sturrock report and provided with informal briefings CO Aug-19 in progress

24 29/05/2019 IJB Commence Recruitment to outstanding IJB positions BIM Aug-19 Nov-19 In progress

26 25/09/2019 IJB Detailed Report to the IJB and plan for Transformation Delivery Stephen Whiston Nov-19 Jan-19 In progress

27 25/09/2019 IJB Further detail provided on proposal number one Judy Orr Nov-19 open

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Argyll & Bute HSCP 
Quality & Finance Board 

 
Thursday 25th July 2019 

10:00 J05/J07 MACHICC & VC 
 

Present   

George Morrison (Chair)  Deputy Chief Officer, HSCP 
Sarah Compton Bishop Vice Chair, IJB  
Joanna MacDonald  Chief Officer, A&B HSCP 
Stephen Whiston Head of Strategy, Planning & Performance 
Donald Watt  Interim Head of Adult Services West  
Heather Grier IJB Board Member 
David Forshaw Principal Accountant Social Work 
Judy Orr Head of Finance and Transformation  
Jim Littlejohn (VC) Interim Head of Adult Services East  
Alison McGrory (VC) Acting Associate Director for Public Health   
Councillor Gary Mulvaney (Audio) IJB Board Member 
 

In attendance 

Charlotte Craig Business Improvement Manager 
Cara Munro  PA (minutes) 

 
 

Apologies   
Liz Higgins Lead Nurse 
Fiona Broderick Staffside Representative 
Alex Taylor Head of Children & Families  
Councillor Kieron Green IJB Chair 
 

 

Page 17 Agenda Item 4a



 

 

 

  Action 

by 

1. Welcome and Introduction 

George welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions were 

made around the table and on VC. 

Apologies were noted as above  

 

 

2. Draft Minutes of  6 June 2019 

Minute was agreed as accurate.  It was noted under item 8.0 that 

the audit committee meeting did not go ahead on June 7th and was 

postponed until June 26th  

 

 

3 Budget Monitoring Report 

Judy spoke to her paper which had been circulated prior to the 

meeting highlighting the forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is a 

forecast overspend of £3.306m, and there is a year to date under 

spend of £59,000 both as at June 30th.  

Heads of Service have been tasked to identify savings and to have 

proposals with Judy by the end of this week.   

There is an informal session of the IJB on 5th August where this will 

be looked at 

Judy highlighted that there has been a 45% saving by the end of the 

first quarter with an anticipated 78% saving for the year, it is hoped 

that this figure will increase.  

There were discussions around the differences in the accounting 

methods between health and social work  

For Social Work to move to using accrual the Council would need to 

use 2 reporting methods and produce a separate report for this 

group, this could incur costs relating to resourcing and capacity 

issues. 

A solution is needed to provide accurate real time figures and 

accurate forecasting. 

Judy stated that the achievability of the savings target is currently 

downgraded to 50% due to non starts on savings, it is hoped that 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



 

 

these will begin to progress and this figure will increase.   

Heads of Service advised that work is ongoing to reduce spend and 

progress the savings plan, now that Donald and Jim are both in post 

the aim is to pick up the pace to make up for time lost.   

Mull Medical Practice – the solution is now in place  

Kintyre Medical group is currently out to tender.   

Everyone should be familiar with each budget line in the savings 

plan and be ready to address the forecast overspend at the meeting 

on August 5th. 

A number of items identified may impact the public; engagement 

work will be needed around this. 

Action: Judy will investigate options/ practicality of integrated 

financial reporting 

Action: Alison will help support with engagement and 

completion of engagement specification 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JO 

 

AM 

 

4 Financial Risk Report 

There were 32 risks identified as ongoing.   

21 are classed as possible and 11 classed as likely. 

2 risks have been identified as being over £500,000 with one being 

over £1.5 million. 

 

 

5 

 

NHS GG & C Update 

Issues unresolved from 2018/19 have been accrued through 

brokerage from the Scottish Government; this has yet to be paid and 

will be used as a lever for negations for financial year 2019-2020.   

Joanna advised the group that the meeting between Highland Chief 

Executive and GGC Chief Executive has been pencilled in for 6th 

August, Joanna will be in attendance.   

The decision from the meeting will go to the IJB.  If the cost is 

outwith the HSCP budget, the issue will be referred to NHS Highland 

for resolution. 

 

 

Page 19



 

 

6 Colocation Update 

Lochgilphead moves are scheduled to go ahead on Monday and 

Friday of next week (week commencing 29th July)  

Plans and an update will be sent to the Chief Officer and Deputy 

Chief Officer by close of play today. 

Charlotte will be onsite for moves 

In Oban there were 3 face to face meetings with staff held last week 

to improve communications   

 

 

7 Action Log 

Item 13 – Morven Moir will produce figures  

Item 11 – Currently delayed, discussions are ongoing  

Due to some items being similar in description it was agreed to 

remove completed items from the log  

It was noted that the action log is to be included in the minute for the 

IJB meetings 

Action Charlotte will remove completed items from action log  

Action Ensure this is sent to by requested deadline 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CC 

8 AOB: 
 
None raised 

 

 Date of next Meeting 

Tuesday 10th September 1300, Board Room, Aros 

Tuesday 29th October, 1000, J05-J07, MACHICC 

Thursday 12th December, 1000, Aros Boardroom  

Wednesday 15th January, 1400, J05-J07, MACHICC 

 

 

Page 20



 

  

 
Argyll and Bute HSCP 
  
Meeting:  
Clinical and Care Governance Committee 
 
Venue:   
Lorn 2, Comraidh Centre, Lochgilphead / Multi Site VC 
 
Date and Time  
Thursday 5th September 2019 @ 9.30am-1.30pm 
 

 
MINUTE 

 

 

1 

 

  No Item Actions  

 
1.  

 
WELCOME 
 
PRESENT  
Sarah Compton Bishop (SCB) – IJB Deputy Chair (Chair) 
Rebecca Helliwell (RH) – Associate Medical Director 
Liz Higgins (LH)– A&B Lead Nurse 
Donald Watt (DW) – Interim Head Of Adult Services (West) 
Fiona Campbell (FC)-Clinical Governance Manager 
Brian Reid (BR)- Locality Manager    
Julian Gascoigne (JG) Risk, Health and Safety Manger 
Kieron Green (KG)– Elected Member (telephone)  
George Morrison (GM) – Deputy Chief Officer 
Alison McKerracher (AMcK)– Locality Manager - Cowal &Bute  
Linda Skrastin – (LS) – Interim Locality Manager, Helensburgh 
Charlotte Morbey (CM) – Clinical Risk Midwife  
Caroline Henderson (CHd) – Local Area Manager – Oban  
Nicola Gillespie- LAM MH 
Kathy Graham (KGr)– Clinical Services Manager – Cowal  
Debs Thomas- (DT) – Clinical Support Manager – A&B HSCP 
Michael Bell – (MB) – Clinical Governance Facilitator (providing  

presentation) 
 

APOLOGIES 
Joanna Macdonald (JMcD) – Chief Officer  
Alex Taylor (AT)– Head of Service C&F 
Jim Littlejohn (JL) - Interim Head Of Adult Services (East) 
Michael Roberts (MR) – Non Executive  
Linda Currie (LC)– Lead AHP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21 Agenda Item 4b



  
 

2 

 

Jane Williams (JW) – Acting Locality Manager Cowal/Bute 
Dawn MacDonald (DMCD) – Staff side rep 
Catriona Dreghorn (CD) –  Interim Lead Midwife Argyll & Bute 
Alison Hunter (AH) – LAM 
Kate Macaulay (KM) – LAM 
Catriona Dreghorn (CD) –  Interim Lead Midwife Argyll & Bute 
Claire Higgins (CHg) – PA to Lead Nurse 
Fiona Thomson (FT) – Lead Pharmacist  
Mark Middleton (MM) – Risk, Health and Safety Manager  
 

 
2.  

 
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
Attendance: Fiona Thomson and Linda Skrastin had sent their 
apologies to the previous meeting.  Attendance list to be amended. 
 
Matters Arising /Actions from Previous Meeting:  
Item 3.2 No progress made regarding challenges in relation to 
storage.  
IES Maintenance of community equipment by contractor: JL is 
liaising with contractor. LS will email outcome to the Committee. 
 
Item 3.4 CH stated that 2 candidates have been offered Medical 
Physics posts 
 
Item 3.5 Maternity: Wifi hub on Islay. No progress. CD to escalate 
 
Item 3.6 FC and AT to clarify appropriate level of reporting required 
for this Committee. 
 
Item 4.2 When HIS Mortuary Standards are finalised, FC will 
circulate to the Committee. 
 
Item 5.1 Progressing with Face Fit testing.  LH seeking assurance 
that localities have enough masks in stock.  
Skin surveillance audit being planned and will be undertaken across 
the HSCP. 
 
Item 5.2.1 SAER Scrutiny group is being re-established.  Next 
meeting is on 13th September 2019. 
  
Minutes Approved with additional apologies to be added. 

 
 
SCB 
 
 

 
3 

 
EXCEPTION REPORTS 
 
3.1 Bute and Cowal 
AMcK spoke to the report, key points:  
-Recent Significant violence and aggression incidents in Cowal and 
Bute. A review, is being undertaken following which the findings / 
learning will be shared widely.   
-Excessive number of complaint and requests for information from 

 
 
 
AMcK 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



  
 

3 

 

one family having impact on services. 
- A number of outstanding complaints, AMcK and FC to meet to 
discuss further.   
-Care Home closure, social work working with families.   
 
3.2 Helensburgh and Lomond 
LS spoke to the report, key points: 
-Pin Point Alarm system, for personal safety, not working in the 
Jeanie Deans Unit. Waiting on part to complete repair. Risk 
assessments of rooms completed. Personal alarms issued.   
-Face fit testing, progressing supported by HS Managers. 
 
3.3 Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay 
NG, spoke to the report, highlighting the following: 
-Three suicides within a short period.  Reviews underway, timelines 
being compiled. 
-New blood supply protocols in place.  Blood now delivered direct to 
fridge. 
-Increased agency use in MH Services. 
Succoth ward at full capacity. Higher levels of patients being 
admitted.  Increase in V&A behaviour. 
-Mid Argyll has had an increase in falls and working to decrease.   
-Incidents of staff handling phonecalls and being verbally abused.  
V&A staff could provide support.  FC to explore. 
 
3.4 Oban, Lorn and Isles 
CH highlighted key issues. 
-Increase in complaints especially relating to social care funding 
-Loss of 200hrs private care provider in 24 hour period.  
Commissioning to review contract 
-Challenges in relation to SAS service provision 
-Increased waiting times for certain specialties 
-Staff shortages across OLI  
Actions being taken to support improvements. 
 
3.5 Maternal & Newborn  
CM talked to the report and highlighted: 
-Incident reviews being undertaken, a concealed pregnancy is 
awaiting further review.  Difficulty with organising meeting due to 
availability of participants 
-Challenges regarding SAS provision.  Working with SAS to make 
improvements 
-Some cases of gestational diabetes being missed has prompted 
need for awareness raising /improvements 
-SPSP Weekly huddles beneficial  
-2 midwives on sexual health course to increase services provided. 
 
3.6 Children and Families 
BR spoke to the report: 
-Problems with the supply of suction tubes for baby. Better discharge 

 
 
 
 
 
 
LS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NG 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FC 
 
 
 
CH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BR 

Page 23



  
 

4 

 

planning required between Glasgow hospital and local area.  
-Immunisations, single vaccines only to be provided if previous 
reaction to multiple dose 
 
A number of actions have been identified to address CAMH Service - 
failing to meet <18 week waiting times target.  
-Average score for past quarter at Tier 3 is 53% against a Scottish 
Government target of 90%.  
-Average score at Tier 2 is 87% - reduced from 100% over majority 
of previous year. 
-Team capacity to improve is significantly impacted by 
vacancies/sick leave in key positions.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4.  

 
QUALITY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF CARE 
 
4.1 Children’s Inspection Report Action Plan 
The action plan was tabled. 

 
 
 
BR 
 
 

 
5.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
SAFETY 
 
5.1 New Quality and Patient Safety Dashboard Demonstration  
This item was carried forward to the next meeting due to technical 
problems.  Michael agreed to attend the next meeting to provide the 
demonstration. 

 
5.2 HSCP Health and Safety Group Action log 
Violence and Aggression Training- JG mentioned the difficulty 
sustaining current training due to long term sick absence of trainer/ 
advisor.  Only 1.5 trainers along with 3 P/T trainers.  Options to be 
explored. 
 
Medical Physics - ongoing issues with Medical Physics and delays in 
repairs.  CH confirmed that recruitment is progressing. 
 
AMk asked for review of staff V&A training compliance where recent 
V&A incidents had taken place in Cowal and Bute.  Staff are being 
supported and review has commenced, 
 
5.3 SAERs / Incident Reviews/ SAER Scrutiny Group 
FC provided verbal report. SAER group will be reinstated from 13th 
September, meetings will take place every second Friday.   

 
 
 
MB 
 
 
 
 
JG 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FC 
 
 
 

6. EXPERIENCE 
 
6.1 Sturrock Report 
RH attended the NHS Highland board meeting, report actions being 

 
 
RH 
 

Page 24



  
 

5 

 

progressed.  Local meetings with staff are being held September/ 
early October and staff being encouraged to attend. 
 
6.2 Care Opinion 
This document highlighted the positive feedback received from 
service users since the previous meeting.  
 
FC met with Gina Alexander, Director Care Opinion Scotland.  A 
proposal to develop and promote the use of Care Opinion is being 
developed and will be presented to SLT.   
 
6.3 Person Centred Open Visiting 
LH reported launch was successful.  Wards continuing to promote.  
In A&B hospitals were already mostly implementing so this is not 
much of a change in practice. 
 
6.4 Weekly Stage 2 Complaints Report (28.08.19) 
HSCP Complaints performance against 20 day target currently 
extremely poor. 30 active Stage 2 complaints and 21 overdue. 
 
Weekly report being issued by the A&B CG team to help keep us on 
track for both health and social work services Stage 2 complaints.  
CG team providing additional support to localities to help work 
through the backlog of health complaints. 
 
Reasonable compliance with Stage 1 (5 day target). 
 
SCB asked about complaints themes /trends and wondered if this 
might be supported by the dashboard. LH encouraged LAMs to be 
looking at their complaints to identify any trends.  Basic trend 
information is provided in an NHSH report.  This is an area that could 
be developed further. 
 

 
 
 
FC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LH 
 
 
 
 
FC 

7. FOR NOTING 
 
7.1 Review of HSCP Clinical and Care Governance Framework 
Review terms of reference, structure diagram, by next meeting. also 
other governance, Charlotte Craig is reviewing membership and 
terms of reference for all Committees. 
  
7.2 Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019 
The main purpose is to ensure safe and appropriate staffing levels in 
order to provide safe and high quality services.  Training materials 
have been sent to ward managers. 
SOP being drawn up.  All Nursing and Midwifery teams must submit 
reports by February 2020. 
 
 

 
 
FC/LH 
 
 
 
 
LH 

8.  AOB 
As Kathy Graham, Clinical Services Manager, Cowal was retiring 

 

Page 25



  
 

6 

 

AMcK thanked her for all her valuable work and support and wished 
her well for the future. 

 
9. 
 

 
DATE, TIME AND VENUE FOR NEXT MEETINGS 

 
 
 

Thursday 14th 
Nov 

9.30am – 
1.30pm 

J05-J07, 
Lochgilphead 

 
 
 

 

Page 26



1 
 

 

 

Argyll & Bute HSCP 
Finance & Policy Committee  

 
Tuesday, 10th September 2019 at 2pm in Committee Room 1  

 
Present   

Joanna MacDonald (Chair)  Chief Officer, HSCP 
Liz Higgins Lead Nurse 
Donald Watt  Interim Head of Adult Services West  
David Forshaw Principal Accountant Social Work 
Judy Orr Head of Finance and Transformation  
Linda Currie Lead AHP 
Morven Moir Acting Head of Finance  
Mandy Sheridan (for Alex Taylor) Service Improvement Officer Children & 

Families  
Councillor Kieron Green IJB Chair 
Sarah Compton Bishop (Audio) Vice Chair, IJB  
Councillor Gary Mulvaney  IJB Board Member 
Fiona Broderick (VC) Staff Side 
 

In attendance 

Charlotte Craig Business Improvement Manager 
Irene Luke   PA (minutes) 

 
 

Apologies   
Professor Boyd Robertson  Interim Chair NHSH 
Stephen Whiston Head of Strategy, Planning & Performance 
George Morrison Deputy Chief Officer 
Alex Taylor Head of Children & Families  
Jim Littlejohn Interim Head of Adult Services East  
Alison McGrory  Acting Associate Director for Public Health   
Kevin McIntosh  Staff Side  
 

 

Page 27 Agenda Item 4c



2 
 

 

  Action 

by 

1. Welcome and Introduction 
 
Joanna welcomed everyone to the first meeting of the Finance and Policy 
Committee under the revised monthly schedule. 
 
Introductions were made around the table and on VC. 
 
Apologies were noted as above. 
 
It was noted that Heather Grier had stepped down from her position as 
IJB member. 
  

 

 

2. Draft Minutes of 25 July 2019 
 
Minute was agreed as accurate.   
 
Charlotte has arranged and circulated monthly meeting dates. 
 

 

 

3. Action Log 

Updated Action Log was circulated to the Board.  Charlotte reported no 
actions currently outstanding. 
 
Kieron suggested timescale against item 17(Engagement Specification 
for budget setting proposals 2020-21) should be amended to 1/11/19. 
 
Judy agreed this timescale was achievable. Amendment agreed.  

 

 

 

 

CC 

4. Budget Monitoring Report 
 
Joanna introduced this item and whilst reminding that the Board was a 
private meeting, encouraged frankness and challenge to promote 
collective discussion. 
 
Budget Monitoring Report as at 31 July 2019 & Appendices 
circulated to the Board. Judy provided an overview and highlighted: 
 
Year to date overspend of £0.435m as at 31 July 2019.  This consists of 
an overspend of £0.933m within Social Work delivered services offset by 
a year to date underspend of £0.498m within Health. 
 
Judy was in a position to provide a verbal update that work to improve 
profiling should reflect a slight improvement in Social Work overspend in 
August reporting.  
 
The forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is an overspend of £2.137m.  
This consists of an overspend of £1.932m within Social Work delivered 
services and a year to date overspend of £0.205m within Health.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



3 
 

The above forecast is reported with the caveat of assumed 50% delivery 
of unachieved savings which is reflected in report appendices.  
 
Appendix 3a – Savings achieved and forecast as at 31 July 2019 
Appendix 3b – Unachieved savings action tracker 
 
The Integrated Joint Board at their meeting on 7th August 2019 agreed an 
additional £700k of savings.  To date £62k in delivery of all savings has 
been recorded. It is accepted that although the position has improved 
slightly, further work is required to exhilarate the pace of change and 
delivery of identified savings. 
 
There was discussion around required actions to address and improve 
the shortfall in 4 key areas.  Learning Disability Services, Older People 
Services, Physical Disability Services and Health Adult Services West.  
 
Learning Disability Services saving target of £814k is unlikely to be 
delivered this year. This is a significant contributor to the forecast. The 
review of sleepovers has not reduced sufficiently and suitably skilled 
resource has not yet been identified to support targeted work. 
 
A Short Life Work Group has been established to provide direction to the 
Steering Group on the re-modelling of community services.  
Kintyre Community Team work has been completed and will progress to 
Staff Liaison Group for approval.  Some further work is required to 
establish Oban and Mid Argyll Community Teams. 
 
Lead Nurse/Head of Service/Associate Medical Director are undertaking 
focused work in Oban to address staffing issues and the use of agency.   
 
Morven provided a verbal update for Health advising that the year to date 
position to end of August has worsened slightly from previous reporting 
due to implications of Paid As If At Work overtime arrears.  For the same 
reason, there is a predicted deterioration in yearend forecasting but not 
significant.  Reports will be available later this week.  
 
Actions:  
Proposal to engage Service Improvement resource to provide an 
increased focus on improvements and delivery of savings within 
Learning & Disability Services to be progressed. 
 
Item 1819-25 narrative to be amended to reflect confidence 
expressed by Locality Manager Cowal & Bute that some savings 
can be achieved this year.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Financial Recovery Plan September 2019 
 
Financial Recovery Plan Report was circulated to the Board. Judy 
provided overview and highlighted: 
 
Further review of progress on delivery of savings indicates that the 
financial recovery plan approved by the Integrated Joint Board on 7 
August 2019 will be insufficient to achieve financial balance.  
 
The report identified new Social Work savings for consideration of the 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



4 
 

Quality & Finance Board prior to recommendation to the Integrated Joint 
Board.  Judy highlighted saving 3b which is not recommended by SLT 
and advised further detail is required around saving 9.    
 
Clarification was sought as to the rational for the changes to the recovery 
plan approved by the Integrated Joint Board in August.  
 
It was advised that further review of progress towards achievement of 
savings had identified risk around savings and highlighted the need to 
reinvigorate efforts.  Taking advantage of opportunities to change and 
consider what can be done differently provides the HSCP with the 
potential to return the forecast to a break even position.   
 
It was accepted that savings must be fully scrutinised before 
recommendation to the Integrated Joint Board. To provide the Integrated 
Joint Board with the assurance that identified savings can be achieved, 
the recovery plan should be updated to identify responsible officers and 
timeframes.         
 
The Board discussed in detail the new Social Work savings identified and 
with the removal of item 3b approved the recommendations going 
forward to the Integrated Joint Board.  
 
It was noted that Staff Side do not support transfer of services to the 
private sector.  
 
Actions: 
Item 3.2.2 - review phraseology to reflect detailed work has 
highlighted risk around savings and the need to reassess how 
services are delivered. 
 
Two additional Columns to be added to the Financial Recovery Plan 
to identify who is responsible for delivery of each item and 
timescales. 
 
New Action No 3b to be removed  
 
New Action No 9 to be clarified with Jim Littlejohn  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JO 

 

 

 

 

6. Financial Risk Report  
Appendix 1 Financial Risks Report Sept 2019 
 
Papers were circulated to the Board which have addressed the 
Integrated Joint Board’s request for risks to be quantified according to 
likelihood and impact.  
 
Five new risks have been added since last reporting.  No risks have been 
removed. There are 37 risks identified in total with a potential adverse 
impact of £3.5m which is not included in the financial forecast.  
 
Action: 
The Board agreed to re-word risk around potential inflationary 
increase in cost of contracted services above Scottish Living Wage 
and to re-state this as a risk that “Third sector commissioned 
services cannot be delivered within the current budgets”. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JO 

Page 30



5 
 

7. Budget Outlook 2020-21 to 2022-23 
Appendix 1  
 
Papers circulated reflect the £700k additional saving agreed by the 
Integrated Joint Board in August 2019. Mid-range scenario, the Health 
and Social Care Partnership budget gap estimated over the three year 
period 2020-21 to 2022-23 is £19.915m with a gap of £8.249m in 2020-
21.    
 
Assumptions will be updated and refined as the year progresses. 
 
Actions: 
Brief paper on Project Management Office work to be presented to 
the next meeting of the Quality & Finance Board  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Integrated Year to Date Financial Reporting  
 
Report circulated which presents options for improvements to reporting of 
the social work year to date financial position to the IJB, Council and HSCP 
Management Teams.   
 
David advised following a review of current processes an option to deliver 
improved financial reporting and efficiencies had been identified which can 
be implemented in two stages. 
 
The Board agreed to accept David’s recommendation and that a shortened 
version of the report, with the agreed recommendation, should be 
presented to the Integrated Joint Board at their meeting in November for 
noting.  
 
Actions: 
Report to Integrated Joint Board for noting at November meeting. 
 
Staff Consultation on change in processes  
 
Improvement in process to be communicated to public and press. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DF 

 

  9. 

 

NHS GG & C SLA dispute Update 

Joanna advised a meeting has been scheduled with NHS GG & C on 

Tuesday, 17th September 2019 to discuss the offer agreed by the 

Integrated Joint Board.  NHSH Chief Executive is supporting and Audit 

Scotland is aware of discussions.  

It is hoped that a resolution can be achieved soon.  

 

10. Colocation Update 

Colocation Update Report was circulated. Charlotte provided overview. 
 
Phase 1 of the Mid-Argyll Project is complete with Corporate and Finance 
staff now relocated to Kilmory and Whitegates. 
 
Phase 2 – Charlotte has taken over project management of this phase. 

 

 

Page 31



6 
 

Lessons learned from Phase 1 will be considered and a core team with 
responsibility for taking phase 2 forward will be established to ensure 
that the appropriate governance is in place and all stakeholders are 
engaged.   
 
In the interim discussions are taking place with the 13 staff remaining in 
Aros with day-to-day business requirements being gathered. A plan to 
relocate staff to a central area is being developed to provide staff with a 
safe area to undertake their role.  
 
Oban colocation has established working groups to co-design service 
delivery including staff, service users and families.  
 
Lynnside day centre has now been agreed and the team are reviewing 
service continuity during building works to be shared with the Care 
Inspectorate. 
 
Lorne Resource Centre is still in the planning stage.  
 

11 AOB: 
 
No other business was raised.  

Joanna thanked members for the level of information shared and advised 

that HSCP officers can be contacted at any time, out with meetings, if 

further information is required.  

 

 Date of next Meeting 

29th October 10am-12pm, J05-J07, MACHICC 

 

 

 

Page 32



1

Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Partnership

DRAFT MINUTES OF SPECIAL AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING Held on Tuesday 25 
September 2019 at 9.30am, Council Chambers, Kilmory

Present: Councillor Sandy Taylor, IJB Member and Audit Committee Vice Chair                                
Councillor Kieron Green, IJB Vice Chairperson 

                                  Sarah Compton-Bishop, IJB Member 
John Cornett, Audit Director, Audit Scotland
David Meechan, Senior Auditor, Audit Scotland

Attending: George Morrison Depute Chief Officer
Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation
Charlotte Craig, Business Improvement Manager
 

Apologies: Andrew O Donnell, Scott Moncrieff 
Joanna MacDonald, Chief Officer 
David Eardley, Scott Moncrieff
Boyd Robertson, NHS Highland

Action by
1. Welcome and Introduction

Chair welcomed and facilitated introductions, and apologies were noted. It 
was also noted that Heather Grier who had been the chair of the Audit 
Committee has resigned from the IJB, and therefore also from the Audit 
Committee. Cllr Taylor, as Vice-chair, would chair today’s meeting. It was 
planned to appoint a new chair for the Committee at the IJB meeting later 
today.

2. Draft Minutes of 26 June 2019
Minutes reviewed and agreed.

3 Audited Annual Accounts 2018-19

JO presented the Audited Annual Accounts and highlighted some small 
changes which were mainly presentational following the audit by Audit 
Scotland. 

DM drew attention to the key messages on page 4. He noted that the 
support received from HSCP in providing working papers and responding to 
audit queries has been excellent. 

Page 33 Agenda Item 4d



2

The key messages remain financial sustainability and management;  and 
governance, transparency and value for money. It was acknowledged that 
the position may well have moved on since the report was written as it is a 
snap shot in time.
 
DM referred to the action plan with 7 recommendations at Appendix 1, all of 
which had been accepted. In terms of savings, he highlighted that these are 
not being delivered at sufficient pace and this was in no small part due to a 
failure to identify the required actions and timelines for implementation.

Comment was made on the maturity of the organisation in terms of its 
governance and financial arrangements, and that these were improving. 

DM identified that there is still some room for clarifying the Audit Committee 
role and encouraged further development in this. 

JO thanked Audit Scotland for their report.  She stated that recommendation 
3 was accepted in principle but no timescale could be given for 
implementation of longer term financial planning given that funding for the 
IJB is still based on single year settlements. 

Chair noted that Scottish Government has announced that they propose to 
move to 3 year revenue budgets and that this will assist future planning.  KG 
queried how the Argyll & Bute IJB compares to other IJB’s.  DM advised that 
around two thirds are in a similar position. KG noted there may be learning 
opportunities from other IJBs and DM offered to facilitate this. 

Chair welcomed the Annual Audit Report which reflected well on the officers 
of the HSCP, noting the focus of the team. The Committee accepted the 
recommendations and the related management actions. 

JO indicated the development of a work plan for the Audit Committee and 
will meet with the chair in the interim. 

DM noted that the draft letter of representation (ISA 580) with its 
confirmation that all post balance sheet events had been disclosed needed 
to be signed by Judy as Chief Financial Officer before they would be able to 
formally sign off the accounts following approval by the IJB this afternoon.  
Judy advised that she had two sets of accounts and the draft letter all ready 
for signature this afternoon and she would let Jim Rundell have the signed 
versions at the conclusion of the IJB meeting assuming all was approved. 

Action: the Audit Committee noted and recommended the Annual Audited 
Accounts to the IJB for approval. 

JO/ST

4 AOB:

The Chair thanked Heather Grier for her invaluable input to the Audit 

Page 34



3

Committee over the period of her role as Chair. 

There was suggestion that an additional Audit Committee may be required 
before the next planned meeting to ensure continuity of business.  If so, CC 
will arrange.

Dates of next meeting 
6 December, 10.30am Venue - TBC 

CC

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 
17%

 
33%

 
17%

 
7%

 
17%

We carried
out 50,080
hours of

homecare to
1,178 people

We had 2,642
unscheduled

 attendances at our
A&E Depts

98.6% were
seen and 

treated
within 4 hours 

We saw 2,348
patients at our
consultant led 

outpatient clinics

292 patients did not
turn up for their

appointments

Each missed
appointment

costs on
average £176

What have
we been up to

in October

Page 37 Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



NHS Highland Board 
26 November 2019

Culture Fit for the Future
Report by Fiona Hogg, Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development 
and Programme Senior Responsible Officer

The Board is asked to approve the terms of reference of the Culture Programme 
Board and to approve the launch of the Healing Process, as set out in the 
presentation. 

1. Summary

This paper updates on progress with our Culture Fit for the Future Programme set up and 
delivery. 

The Board is asked to note progress made since the last board and to approve the terms of 
reference of the Culture Programme Board, and to approve the launch of the Healing 
Process, as set out in the presentation.  This will allow us to further progress with 
implementation of the Culture Programme..

2. Background

Culture Fit for the Future is now a standing item on the Board agenda to ensure updates on 
our progress are noted, questions can be asked and that key strategic decisions can be 
made. 

3. Assessment/options/issues for consideration

Culture Programme Board Terms of Reference 

The proposed terms of reference are attached for the Culture Programme Board as 
Appendix 1.  The aim is to have a formal board structure which includes representation from 
leadership, staff side, our key divisions and functions as well as a representation from our 
Area Clinical Forum, Non Executive Directors and relevant external parties including a public 
/ patient representative. We have also extended an invitation to the Whistleblowing Group to 
nominate an attendee.

The Programme Board will provide oversight and assurance of the plans, progress and 
activities of the Culture Programme, it will be jointly chaired by the SRO (our Director of 
HR&OD) and the External Culture Advisor, and will report directly to NHS Highland Board.

The first meeting of the Programme Board was held on 11th November to review and approve 
items for discussion at the NHS Highland Board as well as oversee progress and plans to 
date.  The Programme Board will also attend part of the Board Development session 
scheduled for 25th November, in order to review the Healing Process plans.

The further Programme Board meetings are then proposed to be held 4 weekly, on a 
Monday from 2.30 – 4.30 pm with effect from 9th December, with  the 2020 meetings held on 
13th January, 10th February, 9th March, 6th April, 4th May, 1st June, 29th June, 17th August, 14th 
September, 12th October, 9th November and 7th December. 

A programme team check in would be held monthly, on alternate fortnights to the 
Programme Board meeting.   

Appointment of External Culture Advisor 

Page 39 Agenda Item 6



An advert and specification for this role has been drafted and agreed by Culture Programme 
Board and the SLT (see Appendix 2).  The post is for 8 hours per week, for an initial 18 
month term, on the same rate of remuneration as a non executive board member, and can 
be on an employed or consultancy basis.   The role will jointly Chair the Culture Programme 
Board and provide advice, challenge and oversight for our plans and progress with our 
Culture Programme.  

Candidates must be independent of NHS Highland and NHS Scotland, with a track record in 
advising on and delivering Culture Change, Business Transformation and Organisational 
Development in a professional or academic environment

This is now going through our vacancy approval process and we expect to advertise this by 
18th November, with applications closing on the 2nd December.   Interviews will be held 
before Christmas.  We plan to promote this opportunity extensively on social media and the 
press to try and attract some high quality candidates who will be able to provide additional 
expertise to our Culture plans and progress.

Updated Culture Action Plan 

We are making good progress with the updating of our Action Plan and expect to have an 
updated version of this available for the Programme Board to review on 9th December and 
then publish in early December.  In the interim, we’ve set out milestones, progress and a 
RAG status for the key priority areas we are working on and this is attached in Section 3 
below.

Our revised Culture Plan will be based around 6 key themes.   A full programme plan will be 
developed and a project reporting structure set up.

Our 
Future

Our 
Healing

Our 
Health

Our 
Business

Our 
Voices

Our 
Values

Our Values: 

- Argyll & Bute Review
- Healing Process
- Moving On

- Health and Wellbeing
- Support for colleagues

- Structure & Operating Rhythm  
- Workloads
- Individual responsibilities
- Our policies and processes
- Analytics & Data 

- Engagement
- Communication
- Our Language

- Reward & Recognition
- Living our Values
- Embedding our Values

- Leadership & Development
- Performance Management
- Workforce Strategy
- Sustainability

Page 40



Much of the activity is already being planned from existing teams or workstreams, so we will 
have a flexible approach to structure and reporting to avoid duplication or rework but  will 
ensure the Programme Board has visibility and oversight of all the activity in this space.

Our Education, Learning and Development (ELD) team within HR have 4 cross- functional 
workstreams in place and are starting to make plans and deliver activity across four of the 
key themes.  In future they will report into the Culture Programme Board and their activity will 
be part of the Programme Plan.   

The ELD workstreams are as follows:

 Developing Teams, Leadership and Management Development (Our Business / Our Future)
 Staff Experience and Engagement (Our Voices / Our Values)
 Modernising Careers (Our Future)
 Performance Management (Learning and Development) (Our Business / Our Future)

In addition, we already have a Health and Wellbeing Strategy Group in place, led by our 
Head of Occupational Health and Safety.  This will deliver on the actions under the Our 
Health theme, and will feed into the overarching Programme Plan and be reported into the 
Culture Programme Board.

They have set up 3 short life working groups on 

 Healthy Minds
 Healthy Lifestyles
 Musculoskeletal Health

They also have a Health and Wellbeing portal under development which will allow staff to 
access information and support.

Feedback from Engagement Sessions

We’ve pulled together a summary of the topics and concerns addressed in the 23 
engagement sessions held to date, which has been shared with the Culture Programme 
Board and after some further review with the Executive team, will be communicated as part 
of the updated Action Plan. 

We expect to publish this in December, which is slightly later than planned but reflects the 
broad and complex nature of the programme which links into many different pieces of work 
already underway.

Argyll & Bute Review 

We will provide a verbal update on the Argyll & Bute review at the Board meeting, however, 
we are at an advanced stage with our discussions on a proposal from a specialist company 
selected from the Scottish Government Approved Framework.  The proposal meets all of our 
requirements and would be able to deliver the review in Q1 2020.  It is anticipated 
preparatory work in Argyll & Bute would be carried out in Argyll & Bute early December.

Establishment of a Healing Process

At the Board meeting, a presentation will explain the scope of the Healing Process, due to be 
launched in December. 

3 Update on Milestones and Progress

Page 41



In future meetings we will have pulled together the overarching Programme Plan aligned to 
the refreshed Action Plan and with feeds in from all of the pieces of work underway.

We will review this plan along with programme risks and issues at the Culture Programme 
Board and then provide a short update to this Board, highlighting key actions, risks and 
progress against milestones and timescales.

For this meeting, we are using a shorter version of the plan which is tracking key milestones 
and progress on the activities that are currently being focussed on.  We are reporting to 
Culture Programme Board on this and at the weekly Senior Leadership Team meeting.

Theme Action Due date RAG Comments

Governance Terms of Reference agreed 28/10/19 Green Approved on 11 Nov at 
programme board, and at this 
board for approval.

Governance Culture Programme Board in place 11/11/19 Complete First meeting held on 11 Nov

Governance External Advisor - advertised 28/10/19 Amber Drafted and awaiting 
approval.  Will be advertised 
by 18 Nov

Governance External Advisor - appointed 01/01/20 Green

Governance Action Plan updated and shared 
for review

25/10/19 Amber Plan to be shared ahead of 
09 Dec Programme Board

Governance Action plan and feedback 
published

09/11/2019 Amber Will be published in 
December

Governance Culture Programme Plan drafted 
and shared with SLT and 
Programme Board

02/12/19 Green Circulate pre Programme 
Board on 9 Dec

Our Voices Phase 1 engagement complete 02/10/19 Green 23 sessions held

Our Voices Engagement Feedback 
summarised for sharing

07/11/2019 Amber Drafted, will be published with 
updated action plan in 
December

Our Healing A&B Review – proposal 28/10/19 Complete

Our Healing A&B Review – agree provider 26/11/19 Green To be confirmed before Board 
meeting

Our Healing A&B Review –starts 01/01/20 Green Prep should start in Dec

Our Healing A&B Review -  reports out 15/04/20 Green

Our Healing Healing Process – principles 23/09/19 Complete

Our Healing Healing Process – process 
mapped,  documentation drafted,  
resource identified to support

22/11/19 Amber

Our Healing Healing Process- Culture 
Programme Board review process 

25/11/19 Green

Our Healing Healing Process – presented and 
approved at board

26/11/2019 Green

Our Healing Healing Process Launched 02/12/2019 Amber Need to ensure fully set up 
and ready across all elements

4 Contribution to Board Objectives 

Page 42



The Culture Fit for the Future programme is a critical part of the transformation of NHS 
Highland and in achieving our objectives to deliver Better Health, Better Care and Better 
Value, through an engaged and motivated workforce delivering excellent quality services in 
an organisation where our values are embedded in all that we do.

5 Governance Implications

Staff: We continue to engage with the Highland Partnership Forum, the Joint Partnership 
Forum, Highland SLT and the A&B HSCP SLT to ensure progress updates are provided.  
The Culture Programme Board will formally take on the key accountability for the governance 
of the Programme as per the Terms of Reference which have been submitted and are 
directly accountable to the NHS Highland Board.

Financial: The Finance Sub-Committee will consider any funding requirements, noting that 
no new money will be sought and instead budget will be found from other areas within the 
Corporate budget subject to Finance Sub-Committee approval.

6 Risk Assessment

No specific risks have been identified associated with this update.

7 General Data Protection Principles Compliance 

There are no risks to compliance with Data Protection Legislation 

8 Planning for Fairness

Fairness along with Dignity and Respect are core principles of our Culture Fit for the Future 
where our values are embedded is all we do as an organisation. This will also apply to 
Programme and how we deliver it.

9 Engagement and Communication 
.
With the establishment of the Culture Programme Board, the main engagement and 
communication on our progress with Culture will be driven via this forum   A full plan for 
engagement and communication will be developed through a range of tools and mediums 
and regular updates provided internally and externally. .

Fiona Hogg
Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development and 
Programme Senior Responsible Officer
14th November, 2019

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



NHS Highland – External Advisor (Culture)

8 hours per week –Salary £8,416 (full time equivalent of £39,450)

NHS Highland is working towards a Culture Fit for the Future, with an ambitious programme plan to resolve 
our past challenges and create an environment where colleagues are valued and respected, enjoy coming to 
work and have all the support they need to be successful in their role.

This is an exciting opportunity to provide advice, challenge and oversight for our plans and progress with 
our Culture Programme.  We are looking for an independent external advisor who has a track record of 
advising on and delivering Culture Change, Business Transformation and Organisational Development in a 
professional or academic environment.  To be successful you will be proficient in working in a consulting or 
advisory capacity, have the ability to build strong collaborative working relationships and can provide robust 
challenge and oversight in a supportive manner.  

The role, which is for 8 hours per week, on an initial fixed term contract of 18 months in duration, would 
also be Joint Chair of the Culture Programme Board and work closely with the Director of HR who is the 
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) of the Culture Programme.  The post holder could be employed directly 
or via a consultancy arrangement, depending on their circumstances.  To ensure that we have the 
recommended independent and external perspective on our plans, which was recommended in the Sturrock 
Review, the post is not open to current employees, contractors or non executive directors of NHS Highland 
or any other NHS Scotland Board.    This is a brand new role and so the successful postholder along with the 
SRO and the Culture Programme Board will play a key part in shaping the role and its priorities.

We would require regular travel to Inverness and occasionally to other locations across the Highland and 
Argyll & Bute areas.  However, we have good access to Video Conferencing facilities and travel expenses to 
attend meetings would be paid where required, so the post holder could be based elsewhere in Scotland and 
would not need to be in Inverness every week.    

Fixed requirements would include attendance at a monthly Culture Programme Board and to attend the main 
Board meeting as required by the agenda, which meets every second month.  There would also be regular 
meetings with the NHS Highland Board Chair, to whom this role will report, as well as to the SRO and other 
senior leaders.

The post holder will be given the scope to propose the key areas of focus and activity for their role. In 
conjunction with the SRO and Board Chair, they will create their work plan and propose objectives for their 
role, based on the Culture Programme plan and priorities.  This is a unique opportunity to define and deliver 
a significant contribution to the future success of NHS Highland and work with a Leadership team and 
Board who are committed to transformation.  

For an informal discussion about the role, please contact Fiona Hogg, Director of HR & OD on 01463 
704865 or by emailing fiona.hogg6@nhs.net

To apply, please provide your CV along with a statement of why you are interested in the role and how your 
skills and experience would make you successful to Nicola.Fraser3@nhs.net    

The closing date for applications is Monday 2nd December.

Page 45

mailto:fiona.hogg6@nhs.net
mailto:Nicola.Fraser3@nhs.net


JOB DESCRIPTION

Page 46



NHS Highland Culture Fit for the Future Programme Board 
Terms of Reference

(November 2019)

1. Purpose

The purpose of the Programme Board is to receive updates on and provide oversight 
and challenge on the Culture Programme workstreams, plans and activities being 
delivered within NHS Highland and to track progress against achieving the stated aims 
and objectives.

2. Authority 

The Programme Board have no delegated powers other than those specified in these 
Terms of Reference. The members are authorised to investigate any activity within its 
Terms of Reference and all Board employees are directed to co-operate with any 
request made by the Programme Board. 

3. Reporting Arrangements

The Programme Board reports directly to the NHS Highland Board and is accountable to 
that meeting for ensuring appropriate oversight, challenge and progress with the Culture 
Fit for the Future Programme.  Minutes of the Culture Programme Board will be provided 
as part of the NHS Highland Board Papers and a standing update given by one of the 
Joint Chairs.

Reporting into the Culture Programme Board will be a number of workstreams, shaped 
around the themes of the Action Plan, which are Our Voices, Our Healing, Our Health, 
Our Values, Our Business, Our Future.

They will each establish their own project operating rhythm to enable delivery of their 
plans and will report to the Programme Board on progress each month.  Some of these 
are already in operation and some will need to be established.  The TOR will be updated 
to confirm this element once this has been establish and agreed.

The Programme Board will provide feedback and updates to various committees and 
fora, including the Highland Partnership Forum, the Joint Partnership Forum, Area 
Clinical Forum, Staff Governance Committee and the Argyll & Bute IJB.

A Colleague Communication will also be issued following the meeting of the Programme 
Board, the content of which will be agreed as part of the agenda.  This will begin from the 
December 2019 meeting.

Page 47



                                                            

4. Membership

Membership of the Programme Board shall comprise:

 Director of HR & OD (Senior Responsible Officer and Joint Chair) 
 External Culture Advisor (Joint Chair)
 Chief Executive
 Employee Director, plus 1 North Highland and 1 Argyll & Bute staff-side rep 
 Non Executive Board member (Jean Boardman)
 Medical Director 
 Nursing Director
 Director of Finance 
 Public Health representative
 Argyll & Bute HSCP Chief Officer 
 North Highland HSCP Chief Officer 
 Director of Communications
 Head of Occupational Health and Safety
 Area Clinical Forum representatives (clinical)
 Patient / Public representative (Gavin Hogg)
 Deputy Director of HR
 Argyll & Bute HR representative
 Culture Programme Manager
 Education, Learning and Development Manager
 Whistleblowing Group representative 

Consideration will also be given as to how best to get input from those with Lived 
Experience, either in the Programme Board or by involvement in the Workstream activity.

The Culture Programme will perform a review of membership of the Programme Board 
from time to time and at least annually to ensure that it meets the evolving needs of the 
Culture Programme and the NHS Highland board.

The Programme Board may invite non-members to attend all or part of its meetings as it 
considers necessary and appropriate, at the discretion of the Chair depending on the 
issues to be considered.

5. Meetings and Quorum 

Meetings of the Programme Board shall be chaired by one of the Joint Chairs.

To be quorate, there must be at least one representative from each of the following: 
Staffisde, SLT, HR and a member or attendee of the NHS Highland Board   Meetings 
which are not quorate may go ahead but decisions will need to be ratified outside the 
meeting. 

Attendance at the meeting may be by teleconference or videoconferencing at the 
discretion of the Chair. If members are unable to attend they must send a fully briefed 
nominated deputy.

Page 48



                                                            

6. Meeting frequency 

Meetings of the Programme Board shall take place 4 weekly and as otherwise necessary 
to enable discharge of its responsibilities. Responsibility for calling meetings of the 
Programme Board shall rest with the Programme Board Chairs.

7. Declaration of Interests 

All members must declare any actual or potential conflicts of interest relevant to the work 
of the Programme Board. Members should exclude themselves from any part of a 
meeting in which they have a material conflict of interest. The Chair will decide whether a 
declared interest represents a material conflict.

8. Duties 

In furtherance of achievement of its Purpose, particular duties of the Programme Board 
are to:

 Establish the over-arching programme plan to ensure all the various components as 
noted above and understood and well executed. 

 Establish and oversee the Communications Plan 
 Review feedback from each of the workstreams and determine an overall rating of 

progress including risks and blockages 
 Agree corrective action or interventions to risks and blockages as required 
 Agree priorities for the month ahead or longer if required 
 Confirm any resource changes or movements 
 Identify headlines to be presented to NHS Highland’s Board meetings 
 Ensure the Action Plan is updated and circulated

9. Support arrangements 

The Culture Programme Manager will be responsible for providing administrative support 
to the Programme Board, under the guidance of the Board Secretariat. 

Agendas for forthcoming meetings will be agreed with the Programme Board Chair and 
papers distributed to members in advance of the meeting as agreed. Meeting papers will 
also be available to other members of the Executive team for information, as required.

10. Access to Records 

The Programme Board will call for any documents or records to assist it with its 
discussions on any particular matter.  

 
11. Information requirements 

For every meeting, members will be provided with:
 An agenda
 Actions of previous meeting
 Update from each Workstream 
 Programme Plan and Risks, Issues, Actions and Decisions (RAID) log

Page 49



                                                            

Standing agenda items are as follows:
 Actions of previous meeting 
 Update from each Workstream
 Review of Programme Plan and RAID log

12. Reporting and Performance 

 The Culture Programme Manager will be responsible for the circulation of 
information in advance of and actions after meetings.

 Agendas and papers will be distributed a minimum of 72 hours prior to the meeting.
 At the end of each meeting, up to 5 key points for immediate and onwards 

Communication will be agreed.
 The members will review its Terms of Reference at the first meeting and evidenced 

in the minutes and then update as required, but at least twice per year.

Page 50



  

1

Integrated Joint Board Agenda item: Item 4

Date of Meeting: 25 November 2019

Title of Report: Budget Monitoring as at 30 September 2019

Presented by: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation

The Integrated Joint Board is asked to:
 Note the forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is a forecast overspend of 

£1.989m as at 30 September 2019 and that there is a year to date 
overspend of £0.911m as at the same date.  

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report provides a summary of the financial position of the Health and 
Social Care Partnership as at 30 September 2019.

1.2 There is a year to date overspend of £0.911m as at 30 September 2019.  
This consists of an overspend of £1.163m within Social Work delivered 
services offset by a year to date underspend of £0.253m within Health.  

1.3 The forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is a forecast overspend of 
£1.989m.  This consists of an overspend of £1.671m within Social Work 
delivered services and a overspend of £0.318m within Health.  
  

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report provides a summary of the financial position of the Health and 
Social Care Partnership as at 30 September 2019.  Information is provided 
on both the year to date position and the forecast outturn position and is 
summarised at a service/activity level.  

3. DETAIL OF REPORT

3.1 Year to Date Reporting within Partner Organisations

3.1.1 In terms of the year to date position, it should be noted that on an overall 
Health and Social Care Partnership basis, the year to date figures may not 
directly link to the forecast outturn position. This is because the Council does 
not undertake accrual accounting and there may be a delay in receiving 
invoices.     
    

Page 51 Agenda Item 7a



  

2

3.1.2 Health undertake high level monthly accrual accounting which means that 
expenditure and income adjustments are made at the end of each month to 
align expenditure and income to the correct month.  There should be a 
correlation in the year to date position and the forecast outturn position.

3.1.3 Currently we have to accept that the Health and Social Care Partnership 
finances are recorded across two different organisations with differing 
financial reporting procedures.  However, both parts of the organisation 
produce the financial forecasts on a similar basis. 

3.2 Year to Date Position as at 30 September 2019

3.2.1 There is a year to date overspend of £0.911m as at 30 September 2019.  
This is an increase in overspend of £439k since end of August. This consists 
of an overspend of £1.163m within Social Work delivered services offset by 
a year to date underspend of £0.253m within Health.  Further information is 
provided within Appendix 1. 

3.2.2

3.2.3

Within Health delivered services the underspend is mainly due to successful 
appeal of rateable values following the last revaluation, rebates received, 
increased income following implementation of revised tariffs, and vacancy 
savings. There are overspends on Adult Services linked to savings not being 
achieved in addition to increased costs for agency/locum staff and GP 
prescribing.  There is also an overspend as we have not yet met our target 
for slippage on budget reserves which includes one-off in year allocations.  
The net underspend has increased by £54k since end of August, mainly due 
to the increased income, offset by further overspend on Adult Services – 
West following a similar pattern to earlier in the year.

Within Social Work, the overspend has increased in the month by £493k. 
The overspends are mainly on Adult Services - Older People Care Home 
placements, Learning Disability Joint Residential and Supported Living, and 
Physical Disability Joint Residential and Supported Living arising due to 
service demand and a failure to deliver planned savings.  Children and 
Families overall has an underspend YTD of £115k.

3.3 Forecast Outturn Position as at 30 September 2019

3.3.1 The forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is a forecast overspend of 
£1.989m.  This consists of an overspend of £1.671m within Social Work 
delivered services and a forecast overspend of £0.318m within Health.  
Further information is provided within Appendix 2. 

3.3.2 Within Health delivered services the forecast overspend is £0.318m which 
is £0.018m worse than last month’s forecast. The deterioration is mainly 
linked to expecting budget reserves to reduce back to budgeted levels, 
offset by additional income now expected to come in. The overspend is 
mainly linked to savings not being achieved in addition to increased costs 
for oncology drugs, pharmacy costs, patient referrals, and agency/locum 
staff.  The overspend has been offset to an extent by vacancy savings and 
also prior year non-recurring rates rebates, and additional income following 
implementation of the new tariffs.  It is expected that this overspend should 
be containable through on-going grip and control of expenditure and through 

Page 52



  

3

the cross-cutting workstreams directed through the NHS Highland Project 
Management Office during the remainder of the financial year, and 
increased focus on delivering savings not yet achieved.  

3.3.3

3.3.4

3.3.5

3.3.6

Within Social Work the forecast overspend is £1.671m. This is a small 
improvement of £41k on the position at the end of month 5.  Over the 
remaining 6 months of the year, concerted efforts will continue to be made 
in order to deliver an outturn which is considerably closer to a balanced 
budget.  Updated forecasts will be prepared each month so that progress 
can be tracked. 

The biggest change is shown against Chief Officer, which reflects the new 
financial recovery plan approved on 7 August for £700k savings and all of 
these are currently forecast as expected to be achieved. This has been 
offset by additional slippage on previously agreed savings for Older People 
(deterioration of £296k) and for Learning Disability (deterioration of £301k).

The biggest single area of Social Work overspend is on Learning Disability 
(£1.1245m) where there has been a failure to deliver anticipated savings so 
far, along with higher than budgeted demand.  This links closely with the 
year to date position.  Again both are affected by the same factors.    The 
next two largest areas of forecast overspend are Physical Disability (£653k) 
and Older People (£741k).

The most significant risk affecting the forecast outturn position for Health is 
the SLA for Greater Glasgow and Clyde.  The IJB made a decision to reject 
the increase and the forecast outturn reflects this position.  If this position is 
not accepted by Greater Glasgow and Clyde then there is a risk that the 
outturn overspend could increase by £2m to £3m.  Discussions are 
continuing with NHS-GG&C on this matter.     

3.4 Savings Delivery

3.4.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

As at end of September, £4.949m of the target £10.523m savings have been 
delivered – 47% of the total. This has increased by £123k in the last month.  
At this stage of the year, we are forecasting to deliver £7.1m of the savings 
in total by the year end – 68% of the total – reduced by £372k from the 
position at the end of August.  Further information is provided at Appendix 
3a.

The shortfall for Social Work is £2.173m.  This has increased from £1.251m 
at the end of August as expected, and for the reasons explained in the 
previous budget monitoring report. Where there are changes in the forecast, 
these figures are highlighted at Appendix 3a. 

The shortfall for Health of £1.24m has increased compared to the position 
at end of August by £150k because of delays with bed closure at Dunoon.  
However, savings are being made in this area through vacancies which are 
reflected in both forecast and year to date, but as they are non-recurring, 
these have not been declared as savings. In September, £123k of savings 
have been achieved with £100k of these on closure of West House / A&B 
hospital site. As previously indicated, the main risk relates to delivery of the 
new savings agreed for 2019/20 where actions are still underway. The 

Page 53



  

4

3.4.4

3.4.5

3.4.6

Health savings are being tracked through the Project Management Office 
approach co-ordinated by NHS-Highland which includes greater visibility of 
progress against agreed milestones.  This approach is now in the process 
of being rolled out to Social Work savings through the Finance team.

Current progress on the unachieved savings is set out in the action tracker 
included at Appendix 3 b.

The new Social Work savings agreed as part of the Financial Recovery Plan 
by IJB on 7 August are now included.  A further recovery plan was presented 
to the IJB on 25 September 2019 with additional savings of £386k proposed, 
and £354k was approved. These are not yet reflected in these reports. 
These measures are primarily aimed at reducing overspends, rather than 
reducing year on year budgets.  Even with these additional measures, this 
would just reduce the forecast outturn position to an overspend of c £1.6m. 

It is clear that the failure to deliver on all savings (overall shortfall of £3.413m 
predicted) is the key driver in the forecast outturn overspend of £1.989m. In 
order to return to financial balance in year, it is imperative that efforts to 
deliver the previously agreed savings are redoubled. 

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS

4.1 Information is derived from the financial systems of NHS Highland and Argyll 
and Bute Council.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

5.1 The Integrated Joint Board has a responsibility to set a budget which is 
aligned to the delivery of the Strategic Plan and to ensure the financial 
decisions are in line with priorities and promote quality service delivery.   
This needs to be considered when options are developed to balance the 
budget.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial Impact – The forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is a forecast 
overspend of £1.989m as at 30 September 2019.  A further financial 
recovery plan was agreed by IJB on 25 September 2019 and this is being 
progressed.  The new savings agreed at that meeting will be tracked in 
future budget monitoring reports. 

6.2 Staff Governance – None directly from this report but there is a strong link 
between HR and delivering financial balance.

6.3 Clinical Governance - None

7.

7.1

8.

PROFESSIONAL ADVISORY

Professional Leads have been consulted on implications of all savings.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

Page 54



  

5

8.1

9.

9.1

None directly from this report but any proposals to address the estimated 
budget gap will need to consider equalities.

GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE

No issues arising directly from this report.

10. RISK ASSESSMENT

10.1 There are a number of financial risks which are worth highlighting:

 We are accounting for costs relating to services provided by NHS 
Greater Glasgow & Clyde as generally in line with budget. There is a 
significant risk associated with this approach as we are aware that 
NHS GG&C is likely to seek a substantially higher payment than we 
are willing to offer. The scale of this risk could be up to £3m.

11. PUBLIC AND USER INVOLVEMENT AND ENGAGEMENT

11.1 None directly from this report but any proposals to address the estimated 
budget gap will need to take into consideration local stakeholder and 
community engagement.  

12. CONCLUSIONS

12.1 This report provides a summary of the financial position of the Health and 
Social Care Partnership as at 30 September 2019.  The forecast outturn 
position for 2019-20 is a forecast overspend of £1.989m.  A further financial 
recovery plan was agreed by IJB on 25 September 2019, and these 
additional savings plans are not yet reflected in the forecast outturn position. 
The position at end of September has improved by £23k from that forecasted 
at end of August.  

12.2 The Strategic Leadership Team continues to meet on a regular basis to gain 
grip and control of the financial position.  It is hoped the financial position 
will improve over the remaining months of this financial year.

13. DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required √
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT
Judy Orr, Head of Finance & Transformation Judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Page 55

mailto:Judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk


  

6

APPENDICES:
Appendix 1 – Year to Date Position as at 30 September 2019
Appendix 2 – Forecast Outturn for 2019-20 as at 30 September 2019
Appendix 3a – Savings achieved and forecast as at 30 September 2019
Appendix 3b – Savings action tracker as at 18 October 2019

Page 56



ARGYLL AND BUTE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP APPENDIX 1

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING SUMMARY - YEAR TO DATE POSITION AS AT 30 SEP 2019

Reporting Criteria: +/- £50k or +/- 10%

For information:

The Council don't do monthly based accrual accounting, whereas Health do.

On the Council side, there may be a mismatch between year to date actual and budgets, due to timing differences as to when invoices are paid.

Health do monthly based accrual accounting, therefore, you should see a correlation in the year to date position and the year end outturn position. 

Service Actual

£000

Budget

£000

Variance

£000

%

Variance

Explanation

COUNCIL SERVICES:

Chief Officer 316 305 (11) (3.6%) The YTD variance is outwith reporting criteria.

Children and Families Central Management Costs 1,047 1,071 24 2.2% The YTD variance is outwith reporting criteria.

Child Protection 1,365 1,554 189 12.2%

The YTD underspend is mainly due to underspends in staffing, travel and supplies 

and services costs in the Children and Families area teams and lower than 

expected demand for contact and welfare services.
Children with a Disability 379 413 34 8.2% The YTD variance is outwith reporting criteria.

Criminal Justice 109 125 16 12.8%

The YTD underspend is mainly due to underspends on staffing, as well as higher 

than expected YTD income receipts partially offset by overspends on third party 

payments.

Looked after children 3,383 3,235 (148) -4.6%

The YTD overspend is mainly due to overspends on staffing costs children's homes, 

safety maintenance work at Shellach View,  third party payments arising due to service 

demand for residential placements and slippage on the delivery of agreed savings 

(£100k).

Adult Services Central Management Costs 95 186 91 48.9%

The YTD underspend is mainly related to lower than expected spend to date on 

external contracts partially offset by slippage on the delivery of agreed savings 

(£19k).

Learning Disability 1,943 1,389 (554) -39.9%

The YTD overspend is mainly due to the YTD slippage on the delivery of agreed 

savings (£399k) and overspends on third party payments arising due to service 

demand in supported living and residential care services.

Mental Health 298 448 150 33.5%
The YTD underspend is due to a number of underspends across the service, the 

one most significant of which relates to staffing underspends.

Older People 10,282 9,637 (645) -6.7%

The YTD ovespend is mainly due to higher than budgeted demand for care home 

placements and slippage on the delivery of savings (£328k) partially offset by 

underspends in Telecare, respite and the recovery of unused Direct Payment 

funds from service users.

P
age 57



Service Actual

£000

Budget

£000

Variance

£000

%

Variance

Explanation

Physical Disability

622 317 (305) (96.2%) The YTD overspend is mainly due to overspends on third party payments in 

supported living and residential care services, increased spending on adaptations 

arising due to service demand, slippage on agreed savings (£14k) and lower than 

expected income from fees and charges.
Strategic Planning & Performance 199 195 (4) -2.1% The YTD variance is outwith reporting criteria.

COUNCIL SERVICES TOTAL 20,038 18,875 (1,163) (6.2%)

HEALTH SERVICES: 

Adult Services - West 27,720 26,868 (852) -3.2%

Savings not being achieved and several budget overspends, including; Psychiatric 

medical services - locums (£237k),  Mull Medical Group - GP locums (£277k), LIH 

ward & theatres - agency nurses (£105k), LIH Laboratory - agency staffing 

(£151k), GP prescribing - (£138k), LIH medical staffing, mobile CT scanner costs

Adult Services - East 14,923 14,875 (48) -0.3%

Savings not being achieved and several budget overspends, including;  Rothesay 

Vic bank nursing (£51k), GP prescribing (£95k) and IES excess mileage vehicle 

lease charges
Children & Families Services 3,522 3,553 31 0.9% Outwith reporting criteria.

Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C 32,610 32,569 (41) -0.1% Cost per case treatments, mainly oncology and cystic fibrosis drugs

Commissioned Services - Other 1,830 1,923 93 4.8%
Underspend due to no current admissions to private sector eating disorder units 

and low activity on other NHS cost per case treatments

General Medical Services 8,340 8,531 191 2.2%
Prior year non-recurring rates rebates & changes in payments for enhanced 

services
Community and Salaried Dental Services 1,702 1,913 211 11.0% Mainly due to vacancies & non-recurring rates rebates

Other Primary Care Services 4,810 4,810 0 0.0% Outwith reporting criteria.

Public Health 789 885 96 10.8% Vacancies and slippage on in year allocations

Lead Nurse 698 756 58 7.7% Vacancies  

Management Service 1,211 1,405 194 13.8% Non-recurring prescribing rebate and vacancies

Planning & Performance 927 927 0 0.0% Outwith reporting criteria.

Depreciation 1,230 1,256 26 2.1% Outwith reporting criteria.

Income (1,127) (766) 361 -47.1%
Revised tariffs implemented for 19/20, 2 long stay mental health inpatients 

(£160k)
Estates 2,437 2,628 191 7.3% Prior year non-recurring rates rebates

People & Change 288 289 1 0.3% Outwith reporting criteria.

Budget Reserves 0 (260) (260) 100.0% Uncertainty over the value of SG allocations

HEALTH SERVICES TOTAL 101,910 102,162 253 0.2%

GRAND TOTAL 121,948 121,037 (911) (0.8%)

P
age 58



ARGYLL AND BUTE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP APPENDIX 2

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING FORECAST OUTTURN - AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Reporting Criteria: +/- £50k or +/- 10%

Service Annual Budget

£000

Forecast 

Outturn

£000

Variance

£000

%

Variance

Explanation

COUNCIL SERVICES:

Chief Officer
813 (66) 879 108.1% The forecast underspend arises due to the forecast over recovery of vacancy savings 

(£315k), the forecast impact of recovery plan savings (£700k) and third party payments 

partially offset by slippage on agreed savings (£277k) 

Children and Families Central Management Costs 2,400 2,550 (150) (6.3%) The forecast overspend arises mainly due to slippage on agreed savings (£150k). 

Child Protection 3,371 3,245 126 3.7%
The forecast underspend arises mainly due to lower than anticipated service 

demand for contact and welfare services.

Children with a Disability 860 814 46 5.3% The forecast variance is outwith reporting criteria.

Criminal Justice 151 91 60 39.7%
The forecast underspend arises due to staff vacancies, partially offset by agency 

staff costs.

Looked after children 6,946 7,068 (122) (1.8%)

The forecast overspend arises due to service demand and slippage on agreed savings in 

residential placements (£200k) partially offset by underspends in fostering arising due to 

lower than budgeted service demand.

Adult Services Central Management Costs 453 463 (10) -2.2% The forecast variance is outwith reporting criteria.

Learning Disability 10,027 11,272 (1,245) (12.4%)

The forecast overspend reflects higher than budgeted demand for services and 

slippage on agreed savings (£813k) in supported living and residential 

placements partially offset by underspends on day services, respite and 

assessment and care management.

Mental Health 1,948 1,812 136 7.0%

The forecast underspend arises due to lower than budgeted demand for 

residential care and community support services and an underspend on 

assessment and care management costs partially offset by a higher than 

budgeted demand for supported living services.

Older People 29,700 30,441 (741) (2.5%)

The forecast overspend reflects higher than budgeted demand for care home 

placements and slippage on agreed savings (£640k) partially offset by higher 

than expected income from fees and charges in the HSCP care homes and 

Telecare, the recovery of unused Direct Payment funds from clients and 

underspends on progressive care and respite. 

P
age 59



Service Annual Budget

£000

Forecast 

Outturn

£000

Variance

£000

%

Variance

Explanation

Physical Disability

1,549 2,202 (653) (42.2%)
The forecast overspend reflects higher than budgeted demand for service and 

slippage on agreed savings (£28k) in supported living and residential placements.

Strategic Planning & Performance 417 414 3 0.7% The forecast variance is outwith reporting criteria.

COUNCIL SERVICES TOTAL 58,635 60,306 (1,671) (2.8%)

HEALTH SERVICES: 

Adult Services - West 53,388 54,788 (1,400) (2.6%)

Savings not being achieved and several budget overspends, including; Psychiatric 

medical services - locums, LIH Day Bed Unit - oncology drugs, Mull Medical 

Group - GP locums, LIH wards & theatres - agency nurses, LIH Laboratory - 

agency staffing and non pay costs, GP prescribing, LIH medical staffing,

Adult Services - East 29,788 29,868 (80) (0.3%)
Savings not being achieved and several budget overspends, including;  Rothesay 

Vicbank nursing, GP prescribing and IES excess mileage vehicle lease charges

Children & Families Services 7,089 7,089 0 0.0% Outwith reporting criteria.

Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C 65,142 65,342 (200) (0.3%) Cost of new expensive drugs for Cystic Fibrosis including rebates

Commissioned Services - Other 3,844 3,794 50 1.3% Reduced admissions to private sector for eating disorders 

General Medical Services 17,284 17,069 215 1.3% Prior year non-recurring rates rebates
Community and Salaried Dental Services 3,813 3,520 293 8.3% Mainly due to vacancies & prior year non-recurring rates rebates

Other Primary Care Services 9,970 9,970 0 0.0% Outwith reporting criteria.

Public Health 1,808 1,733 75 4.3% Mainly due to vacancies

Lead Nurse 1,487 1,449 38 2.6% Outwith reporting criteria.

Management Service 2,798 2,658 140 5.3% Mainly due to vacancies

Planning & Performance 2,203 2,187 16 0.7% Outwith reporting criteria.

Depreciation 2,512 2,478 34 1.4% Outwith reporting criteria.

Income (1,533) (1,908) 375 (19.7%) Revised tariffs implemented for 19/20, 2 long stay mental health inpatients

Estates 5,331 5,221 110 2.1% Prior year non-recurring rates rebates

People & Change 579 563 16 2.8% Outwith reporting criteria.

Budget Reserves 1,922 1,922 0 0.0% Outwith reporting criteria.

HEALTH SERVICES TOTAL 207,425 207,743 (318) (0.2%)

GRAND TOTAL 266,060 268,049 (1,989) (0.7%)

P
age 60



ARGYLL & BUTE HSCP SAVINGS PLAN 2019/20 APPENDIX 3 (b)

ARGYLL & BUTE SOCIAL WORK SAVINGS PLAN 2019/20

Ref. Unachieved Savings Description Manager Target £' 

000

Achieved 

£' 000

Forecast 

£' 000

Actions completed to 18th October Actions planned for next 4 weeks What planned actions will achieve Why there is a forecast shortfall in the 

saving?

What are we doing to recover from 

forecast shortfall
1920-40 Implement best practice approaches for care at home 

and re-ablement across all areas following Bute pilot

Linda Currie / Caroline 

Cherry

300 0 300 Guidance on care packages issued 27 September.  

Local CRGs established.  Reviews under way

Continued operation of local CRGs to ensure compliance and 

commissioning right sized packages of care

Improved adherence to new guidelines 

and reduction of trend on spend

N/A N/a

1819-19 Review and Redesign of Learning Disability Services - 

Sleepovers and Technology Argyll Wide

Jim Littlejohn 299 0 0 New SIO post approved to concentrate on learning 

disability. Reviewing sleepovers / waking nights and 

utilising TEC facilities is now embedded as normal 

practice  in reviews, but savings have not 

materialised

Recruitment of SIO Learning Disability. Ongoing reviews as 

capacity allows

Unlikely to deliver target savings this 

year

Currently at a plateau until new models 

of accommodation and support are 

implemented

Validation of savings declared as some LD 

clients now transfered to Older People 

budgets

1819-22 Adult Care  - Restructure of Neighbourhood Teams (SW 

& Health) - Argyll & Bute wide

Caroline Cherry 250 0 0 Kintyre Community Team paper completed 

which will deliver full year saving of £71k per 

annum. This will only be partially achieved this 

year due to timing. Paper still to go through 

staff liaison process.  Proposals drafted for 

structures for Oban, Helensburgh and Bute - all 

subject to review

Mid-Argyll, Islay and Oban papers are still in 

development. 

Community services steering group direction being discussed 

at SLT to refocus work and progress outstanding areas (Mid-

Argyll, Islay and Oban).

Kintyre proposals to progress through staff liaison in 

November. 

Clear direction of Community Services 

steering group and agreement of 

timescales to progress this. 

Lack of clear direction. Locality based teams being asked for 

alternative savings

1920-42 Step up/step down of externally purchased care to be 

suspended except for exceptional cases

Judy Orr 227 0 227 Guidance on care packages issued 27 September Continued operation of local CRGs to ensure compliance. 

Review of winter planning monies to see if these can assist for 

exceptional cases

Reduction in planned spend N/A N/a

1819-25 Older People Day/Resource Centre - Address high levels 

of management - consolidate opening hours - shared 

resource

Caroline Cherry 212 0 0 Jane has been reviewing the current management 

structure within Thomson Court with the aim of 

changing from four managers to two shared 

manager posts between Struan Lodge and Thomson 

Court. 

1. Next 4 weeks, Jane Wiliams to work with Jayne Lawrence 

Winch regarding the new structure for managers. New job 

descriptions for these managers to be created.

2. Communication with care inspectorate required to ensure 

planned structure meets their requirements. 

 Jane Williams unable to provide full 

update. 

No update provided Not yet identified

1819-14 Redesign of Internal and External Childrens Residential 

Placements.   This was comprised of a suite of service 

reviews including the CARO service, Adoption and 

Fostering and children's placements.    These reviews are 

being taken forward under the banner "Core and Cluster".    

The Core and Cluster model is being piloted in 

Helensburgh and preparatory work is being uncertaken in 

Oban for the next phase.

Alex Taylor 200 0 0  The core & cluster property in Helensburgh is now 

operational and being used by one young person.  

Second young person being identified for the Helensburgh 

core and cluster property. 

This resource will appropaitely address 

the requirements of continuing care by 

providing age appropaite 

accommodation and support to care 

leavers.

Matching young people to the resource 

requires forward planning.

Not yet identified

1819-19 Review of Ext Residential Learning Disability Placements  Jim Littlejohn 194 0 0 New SIO post approved to concentrate on learning 

disability. Will provide capacity to review out of 

area placements

Recruitment of SIO Learning Disability. Ongoing reviews as 

capacity allows

Unlikely to deliver target savings this 

year

Currently at a plateau until new models 

of accommodation and support are 

implemented

Validation of savings declared - some LD 

clients now transfered to Older People 

budgets

1819-8/46 Assessment and Care Management - Adopt a Single 

Community Team Approach - streamline processes

Caroline Cherry 162 0 0 Part time HQA post now re-focussed on this project.  

Commenced process of reviewing Universal Adult 

assessment (UAA) and the process from referral to 

provision of care at home

Workshops planned in early December to review Care First 

process and UAA form.  Planning to pilot Mobile facilities for 

update of CareFirst in helensburgh

Streamlined processes Previous work had been unclearly 

focussed and then paused 

Not yet identified

P
age 61



Ref. Unachieved Savings Description Manager Target £' 

000

Achieved 

£' 000

Forecast 

£' 000

Actions completed to 18th October Actions planned for next 4 weeks What planned actions will achieve Why there is a forecast shortfall in the 

saving?

What are we doing to recover from 

forecast shortfall
1819-19 Review and Redesign of Learning Disability Services - 

Packages of Care Helensburgh

Linda Skrastin 152 0 0 New fixed term SIO Learning disability post 

approved for 2 years to increase focus on these 

savings and new models of care.

Reviews are continuing. 4 expensive cases all 

brought back or transferred out of area, 3 of these 

affect OP budgets as now aged over 65. Reviews are 

continuing but vacancies and sickness absence 

within the team have had an impact on reviews. 

Savings not declared as spend is above budget. 

Gerry Gallagher continues to work on Campbell St Project 

Core and Cluster. New SIO post to concentrate on Learning 

disability to be recruited

Overspend means that savings are 

unlikely to be delivered

Forecast shortfall as it is unlikely that 

savings can be fully achieved due to 

assessed needs of clients.

Developing core and cluster accomodation 

in Helensburgh.

Work has stalled since departure of 

Gordon Murray. Team Leader continuing 

with some aspects of the work but lack of 

capacity and resource make this difficult.

Also no policies in place for sleepover 

guidance or respite.

1819-15 Children and Families Management Structure Alex Taylor 150 0 0 Short life working group (SLWG) now meeting to 

detail the job descriptions / person specification 

and lead implementation.

Meeting dates set and key tasks identified and agreed. Implementation by no later than March 

2020.

Lengthy and Difficult HR processes Not yet identified

1819-19 Review and Redesign of Learning Disability Services - 

Packages of Care Cowal

Alison McKerracher 125 0 0 Ongoing work to review packages within current 

resources. List of P3/4 issued by finance being 

reviewed 

Complete list of P3/4 and review P1/2.

Review of P1 & P2 will require further scoping to ensure this 

is done in a planned way. Will not be completed in 4 weeks 

under current establishment. Therefore will need to assess 

additional level of staff to complete this exercise. 

Minimum scope for savings as needs may 

now be greater/wrongly prioritised on 

system from initial name review of list.

Gordon Murray has left  so no capacity 

with LD team to progress this.  

Consider progression of Core and Cluster 

models of support, reducing overnight 

spend in particular.

Scrutiny of P1/2 within current limited 1819-31 Integrate HSCP Admin, digital Tech and Central Appoint 

System

Alex Taylor/ Kirsteen 

Larkin

125 21 21 Earlier project was shelved and re-assigned to 

individual Heads. Admin reviewed for Social Work - 

no further plans at present.

£21k declared in August from Social Work admin 

Ongoing review through workforce monitoring

Kirsteen to present revised scope to SLT for discussion.

Planning to use NDL mobile next year and further extend use 

of CareFirst to make admin more efficient.  

Electronic patient records will improve for future

Previous admin review was closed 

without delivering planned savings

Not yet identified

1920-33 Review of management structure Joanna Macdonald 102 0 0 Consultation with affected staff is ongoing. Consultation with affected staff to continue. Revised management structure. Risk that there will be a shortfall in 

current and future years due to 

changes in the structure. 

To be discussed and agreed with SLT. 

1819-33 Catering, Cleaning and other Ancillary Services Alex  / Jayne Jones / 

Caroline Cherry

100 30 30 Catering review on shared services basis is 

continuing with Council. Mapping now 50% 

complete.  Planning to remove cooks from childrens 

houses

On-going grip and control for all purchases

1. Catering mapping to be completed 22 October. Options 

appraisal to be completed and go to SLT  by end November

2. Procurement Team to be requested to carry out spend 

analysis on food items

Progress on shared services slower than 

anticipated

Confident that these savings will be 

delivered longer term

1920-43 Cap on overtime on homecare Donald Watt / Morven 

Gemmill

87 0 87 Mid Argyll and Kintyre implemented this process 

approximately 1 month ago. Additional bank staff 

can be advertised to reduce the requirement for 

staff to work overtime. 

Local Area Managers to approve all exceptional overtime in 

advance of hours being worked. 

To review impact to date

Reduce forecast overspend and deliver 

saving. Recruiting additional bank staff.

N/A N/A

1819-42 Contract Management reducing payments to 

Commissioned External providers

Stephen Whiston 33 0 0 List of all SLAs prepared and circulated to SLT

Inflationary uplifts challenged

Reviews of SLAs continuing with external providers to be 

asked to provide savings.

Review usage of specific contracts related to dementia 

services / community resilience

Meetings to be arranged with colleagues in procurement to 

progress.

SLAS review completed and cost profile 

for 2019/20 agreed  include LIL & 

Befrienders

Delays in reviewing SLA, and difficulties 

anticipated in reducing costs

Possible £6K saving LIL to be confirmed

P
age 62



Ref. Unachieved Savings Description Manager Target £' 

000

Achieved 

£' 000

Forecast 

£' 000

Actions completed to 18th October Actions planned for next 4 weeks What planned actions will achieve Why there is a forecast shortfall in the 

saving?

What are we doing to recover from 

forecast shortfall
1920-41 Extend use of external home care transferring hours as 

gaps occur

Donald Watt 33 0 33 Both Kintyre and Mid Argyll have this direction to 

externalise where possible any new packages. PCT 

working with providers who are keen to support 

this, albeit concern continues re implications of EU 

exit. Oban's provision is currently all external and 

has issues with providers delivering packages due to 

staffing issues.

Potentially contracts where external providers are 

not fulfilling contracted hours. 

LAMs to monitor progress at local level and report to LM.

Donald Watt to liaise with procurement to identify where 

external providers are not currently delivering their 

contracted hours. 

Ongoing monitoring at local level and 

liaison with procurement to identify and 

transfer hours where possible. 

Issues with external providers in some 

areas not having the capacity to 

increase their hours. 

No plans 

1819-47 Withdrawal of Lunch Club and Meals on Wheels David Forshaw 31 0 16 Finance have identified two likely sources of funding 

to remove this saving.  

Complete transfer of funds to remove saving. Full removal of saving. N/A N/A

1819-19 Review and Redesign of Learning Disability Assist Cowal 

Resource Centre

Jayne Lawrence 

Winch

30 0 0 Agreement in principal for moving ASSIST to Struan 

lodge for merging of Day Services, with view to 1 

manager as per Thomson Court.

Need estates/finance to scope practicalities of potential 

move from ASIST to Struan Lodge and finance work needed to 

ensure it is fit for purpose. Request should be submitted to 

estates/finance for this work to be completed. 

Uncertainty around future of Struan needs resolved prior to 

any move

Savings on premises after initial outlay. 

As 2 managers currently in post no 

immediate savings to be had.

No co-location agreed and costed to 

date. 2 managers in post so no 

immediate staffing savings

 Review Struan Lodge Management in 

conjunction with Bute a/a.

1819-19 Review and Redesign of Physical Disability Services Jim Littlejohn 28 0 0 SIO 2 year fixed term  post out to advert to provide 

capacity to progress review for this and all 1819-19 

actions

Appointment of SIO Learning Disability will also provide 

resource to assist with Physical Disability

Resume redesign work supporting new 

HoS lead as per Transforming together 

objectives

Work not commenced Not yet identified

1920-45 Planned changes in staffing for Bowman Court in line with 

Lrne Campbell Court structure

Morven Gemmill / 

George Morrison

28 0 28 No progress to date. Situation more complex than originally thought.  LM 

preparing an SBAR to take to SLT by the end of September. 

SBAR to make SLT aware of plans for 

Bowman Court. 

Situation more complex than originally 

thought. 

Plans to be developed. 

1920-44 Reduction on adult services social work travel Jim Littlejohn/ Donald 

Watt

25 0 25 Ongoing grip and control. Ongoing grip and control.   To review impact to date Reduce forecast overspend and deliver 

saving. 

N/A N/A

1819-40 SLA and Grants operate within allocation Alex Taylor 23 0 0 CWD service review commissioned by the C&F 

Programme Board.

C&F Programme Board to onfirm PID. Unlikely to achieve saving this year. Delays in reviewing SLA, and difficulties 

anticipated in reducing costs

Not yet identified

1819-19 Review and Redesign of Learning Disability Rothesay 

Resource Centre

Jane Williams 14 0 0 Day services are all co-located in Thomson Court 

with one manager.

Ongoing discussions through LD steering group. No update provided Gordon Murray has left  so no capacity 

with LD team to progress this.  

Review Thomson Court Residential 

Management  in conjunction with Cowal 

with a view to achieving savings 

elsewhere.
1819-7 Thomson Court Jane Williams 10 0 0 Jane has been reviewing the current management 

structure within Thomson Court with the aim of 

changing from four managers to two shared 

manager posts between Struan Lodge and Thomson 

Court. 

One manager would be responsible for day services 

across Thomson Court and Stuan Lodge and the 

other would cover residential services. 

1. Next 4 weeks, Jane Wiliams to work with Jayne Lawrence 

Winch regarding the new structure for managers. New job 

descriptions for these managers to be created.

2. Communication with care inspectorate required to ensure 

planned structure meets their requirements. 

 Jane Williams unable to provide full 

update. 

No update provided Not yet identified

Totals 2,940 51 767

 

ARGYLL & BUTE HEALTH SAVINGS PLAN 2019/20

Ref. Unachieved Savings Description Manager Target £' 

000

Achieved 

£' 000

Forecast 

£' 000

Actions completed to 30th September Actions planned for next 4 weeks What planned actions will achieve Why there is a forecast shortfall in the 

saving?

What are we doing to recover from 

forecast shortfall
1920-11 Slippage on SG in-year allocations and budget reserves George Morrison 1,000 0 1,000 Track record of delivering previously.  However 

more in year allocations are being ring fenced which 

may make this more difficult

Will only declare this in last quarter of year Expect full delivery of savings N/A N/A

Social Work Savings

P
age 63



Ref. Unachieved Savings Description Manager Target £' 

000

Achieved 

£' 000

Forecast 

£' 000

Actions completed to 18th October Actions planned for next 4 weeks What planned actions will achieve Why there is a forecast shortfall in the 

saving?

What are we doing to recover from 

forecast shortfall
1920-8 GP Prescribing Fiona Thomson 500 199 500 PIDs completed and all actions identified. Key 

actions include changing to more cost effective 

formulary choices, reviewing medication no longer 

recommended, medicines optimisation, and 

reviewing prescribing process to reduce waste. 

Implementation plans in place and work has 

commenced

Teams continue to implement plans Expect full delivery of savings N/A N/A

1920-31 Review of SLAs with GGC Stephen Whiston 345 26 67 List of all SLAs prepared and circulated to SLT

Inflationary uplifts challenged

Reviews of SLAs will be scheduled and external providers to 

be asked to provide savings.

Following SLAs reviewed Laundry, Transport, Telecoms SLA 

review meeting with NHSGG&C Oct examining alternative 

provision in 2020/21

Confirmation that management and 

review are in place. Target where extra 

work required to support savings targets

Delays in reviewing SLAs, and 

difficulties anticipated in reducing costs 

as reviews are identfiying some 

increase in demand - TSSU/CSSD 

Aiming to focus on progressing more 

service reviews

1920-32 Review of management structure Joanna MacDonald 200 0 0 Meetings on Adult Services Management Structure 

held

Identify scope of reconfigured management team Delay in progressing restructuring Not yet identified

1920-38b Lorn & Islands Hospital staffing Caroline Henderson / 

George Morrison

200 52 109 52.3 k declared.

Review of Oban Lab staffing and Lab redesign has 

taken place

Paper on Oban Lab staffing will be submitted to SLT in 

November. 

Review of Catering staffing underway.  

Domestic staffing savings 10K will be declared month 7.

Increase in savings Not yet been able to identify sufficient 

staffing savings to meet target

A review of ECG service to be carried out 

to identify potential savings.

1920-35 Bed reduction savings : Dunoon Alison McKerracher 150 0 0 Bed modelling data provided by planning. 

Continuing as 1 ward currently.

Meeting with planning/lead Nurse/Local management re data 

and planning 12/9/19. Expecting to make the saving

N/A Underspend on ward budget partially 

offsetting the shortfall (M6 £58k offsetting 

£75k target YTD)
1819-4 Closure of West House / Argyll & Bute Hospital site David Ross 120 100 100 With the exception of the stand alone central store 

Argyll & Bute Hospital closed in November 2018. 

Sterilisation of the site in line with NHS Highland 

Closure Policy was completed by May 2019. Main 

boiler was shut down after closure. Electrical and 

water services continue to be supplied, however 

usage is minimal.  Water services from the A&B site 

private supply continue to serve the Mid Argyll 

Hospital,Aros residences and offices and some 

adjoining private households. 

Discussions are ongoing with Scottish Water with a view to a 

new adopted mains supply, however in the meantime water 

usage will be minimal.

An HV electrical transformer and telephone switch require to 

be removed/relocated to allow full electrical shut down - 

discussions are continuing on this.

Further reduce useage/cost of electricity 

and water

Inability to achieve reduction in rates 

charges

Not yet identified

1920-3 Health Promotion Discretionary Budgets Alison McGrory 100 46 46 Non-recurring staff saving at present to cover the 

shortfall for this year.  Unable to predict for next 

year yet.

Staff member currently on secondment 

to GG&C, but do not know if they will 

return from secondment hence cannot 

declare a recurring saving

Income from current secondment 

offsetting unachieved saving

1920-4 Review of Service Contracts George Morrison 100 0 0

None.

Progress is dependent on identifying someone with capacity 

to undertake a review. Contracts are currently handled by 

individual departments e.g. estates, IT, radiography, 

laboratories. 

An overall review by an experienced 

procurement officer is likely to yield 

savings.

No action taken so far to undertake a 

review.

Discussions will take place with NHS 

Highland to identify procurement capacity 

to move this idea forward to 

implementation.
1920-5 Flight costs for Tiree patients attending appointments Morven Gemmill 100 87 100 To be booked direct rather than through travel 

agent

Caroline Reardon Support Services manager leading on 

actions.  Member of staff within Lorn & Islands Hospital will 

commence on 1st of November arranging flights.  Training has 

been provided by new compancy. 

N/A N/A

1920-22 Dunoon Medical Services Rebecca Heliwell 100 0 0 Lots of preparation of team for change- link with 

Skye team

2 existing salaried doctors happy to join team

First round interviews one recruit 

Second round just closed

Second round interviews- one strong application

Agree start date for first round recruit 

One new substantive employee so far will 

reduce locum spend 

Clinically more stable team

Encourage positive collaborative learning 

culture and better governance within 

team

The timescale is more medium to long 

term- eventually aim is to have no 

locum spend and all substantive posts 

in self sustaining rota but this is likely to 

take years.  Positive recruitment and 

initial progress should make easier as 

team establishes- ie should build speed 

with time

Have looked at locum costs and prioritised 

use of cheapest ones. Working with PMO 

workstream medical workforce to 

standardise payments to updated Medacs 

contracts ie no travel and accommodation 

to be paid as routine

1920-38a LIH Theatre nurse staffing - HAK112 Caroline Henderson 60 22 22 22k declared.

Recent meeting with Dr Emma Watson and 

Inverness colleagues, to discuss Urology work being 

undertaken in Oban for North Highland patients to 

increase utilisation

Workforce planning taking place with Lead Nurse, Finance on 

22nd October. Theatre utilistation group across 4 acute 

Hospitals being led By D Jones.  This may increase activity.   

Unlikely this financial year to declare any further staffing cuts.  

Need to further consider whether theatre should be 24/7 as 

this is very expensive and dependent on locums / agency

Due to Theatre Cross cutting PMO 

workstream, potential for increased 

activity

Plans across NHS-Highland likely to 

result in increased utilisation at LIH, so 

difficult to reduce staffing

Not yet identified

P
age 64



Ref. Unachieved Savings Description Manager Target £' 

000

Achieved 

£' 000

Forecast 

£' 000

Actions completed to 18th October Actions planned for next 4 weeks What planned actions will achieve Why there is a forecast shortfall in the 

saving?

What are we doing to recover from 

forecast shortfall
1819-16 Children & Families services staffing Alex Taylor 50 0 0 Plan presented to Staff Liaison on 23rd Aug 2019.  

Agreed to take the plan to the next stage and agree 

JDs and joint HR process.  See also 1819-15 Under 

Social Work above

N/A N/A

1920-7 Accommodation and subsistence costs for staff George Morrison 50 0 0 grip and control ongoing.  Dependent on use of 

locums and agency staff. New instruction from NHS-

H not to provide acconmmodation for new medical 

locums.

Review of budgets to be completed by 31 Oct Idenitification of any saving N/A N/A

1819-5 Closure of Aros (running costs) David Ross / Charlotte 

Craig

40 0 0 The main block is mostly vacated with occupancy 

now limited to the former finance area and back 

courtyard areas. However full shut down of services 

cannot be achieved until Aros residences are 

provided with a stand alone boiler and the areas 

that continue to be occupied are vacated. 

Progress phase 2 relocation partial shutdown will achieve a reduction 

in running costs however closure would 

maximise this

It is believed no saving can be made 

unless Aros is closed completely

Not yet identified

1819-53 Vehicle Fleet Services Stephen Whiston 40 22 40 Telematics equipment order placed Telematics installation  will commence in September & 

continue into October. Order for electic vehicles to be placed.

Telematics installation will provide 

performance information on fuel use and 

asset utilisation expected saving will 

occur from November 2019

Not yet able to quantify what the 

savings will be linked to telematics and 

electric vehicles

N/A

1819-32 Domestic & portering services - Argyll & Bute wide Caroline Cherry 30 0 10 Review of budgets to be completed and vacancies declared Savings not fully identified Not yet identified

1920-6 Ferry ticket costs for staff and patients George Morrison 25 0 0 This saving was approved on the assumption that 

discounted multi journey tickets to and from islands 

could be bought. Subsequent investigation has 

revealed that this is not the case. Therefore, no 

saving will be achieved.

None. N/A 
The original basis for the saving has 

been disproved.

This savings target will need to be 

replaced with an alternative target.

1819-44 Advanced Nurse Practitioners - Oban Caroline Henderson 14 0 0 The ANP role was funded from reduction in Junior 

Doc hours,  essential role to support clinical care & 

Jnr Doc rota.

Savings can not come from these posts, 

which are essential.

May be able to reduce usage of locum 

junior doctors? 

1819-48 Value Management Structure for AHPs Linda Currie 10 0 0 The AHP Value Management Structure 

cannot release direct savings because each teams 

budget sits in locality and the locality declare any 

savings attributed from the AHP budget.

Review of orthotics budgets Idenitification of full saving N/A N/A

1819-55 Lead Nurse Liz Higgins 5 0 5 £5k to be declared by end of Oct Identification of full saving N/A N/A

Totals 3,239 554 1,999

ARGYLL & BUTE HSCP TOTAL SAVINGS PLAN 2019/20 6,179 605 2,766

Health Savings

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

1

Integrated Joint Board Agenda item: 

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Financial Risks 2019-20

Presented by: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation

The Integrated Joint Board is asked to:
 Consider the updated financial risks identified for the Health and Social 

Care Partnership.

 Note that financial risks will continue to be reviewed and monitored on a two 
monthly basis and reported to the Board. 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The report to the IJB on 27 March 2019 introduced a process of identifying 
and reporting financial risks to the Board on a regular basis. The IJB at its 
meeting on 7 August requested that these risks be quantified according to 
the likelihood and impact and this has now been added.  This report provides 
an updated assessment of these risks.  No new risks have been added.  
Commentary has been added to highlight the changed assessments since 
the previous update presented to IJB on 25 September 2019.

1.2 Each risk has been classified as to its likelihood and also has been 
quantified within a financial range.  Each risk also notes any current 
mitigations in place to keep the risk from being realised.

1.3 37 risks have been identified in total, with 21 classified as possible, 5 
classified as likely and 6 as almost certain. The remainder have been 
classed as remote or unlikely.  Only one risk has been quantified as being 
over £500,000 which relates to the service level agreement dispute with 
NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde.  Overall these risks have been quantified 
as potentially amounting to £2.8m, reduced from the previous assessment 
of £3.5m.  Risks are reducing as we are later through the year and where 
known, all costs are included in the forecast already.

1.4 Financial risks will continue to be reviewed and monitored on a two monthly 
basis and will be reported to the Board as part of the pack of financial 
reports. 

Page 67 Agenda Item 7b



  

2

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report updates the Board on the financial risks facing the organisation 
which have not been reflected in the forecast of the financial outturn.

3. DETAIL OF REPORT
 

3.1 For each risk, the likelihood has been assessed based on what is a relatively 
standard risk matrix:

Likelihood Probability applied
1 Remote 0%
2 Unlikely 10%
3 Possible 25%
4 Likely 50%
5 Almost Certain 75%

3.2 Each financial risk  has been quantified into ranges as follows:

Range Quantified as:
Less than £100,000 £50k
Between £100,000 and £300,000 £200k
Between £300,000 and £500,000 £400k
Between £500,000 and £1.5m £1.0m
Over £1.5m £2.5m

3.3 Alongside each risk identified there is a note of any current mitigations that 
are in place to keep the risk from being realised.  There are some risks 
where monitoring can take place but it is difficult to mitigate the risk due to 
Scottish Government policy directions and the introduction of new drugs.
  

3.4 The UK withdrawal from the European Union could lead to additional 
financial risks. However, at the current time it is not possible to quantify what 
these may be or when they might impact the IJB.  We will continue to monitor 
developments.  

3.5 The individual financial risks are detailed in Appendix 1 and are summarised 
in the table below.

Likelihood / 
Range

Remote Unlikely Possible Likely Almost 
certain

Total

<£100k 2 3 7 2 5 19
£100k - £300k 0 0 11 2 1 14
£300k - £500k 0 0 3 0 0 3
£500k - £1.5m 0 0 0 0 0 0
>£1.5m 0 0 0 1 0 1
Total 2 3 21 5 6   37

3.6 There are 37 risks identified in total with 21 classified as possible, 5 
classified as likely and 6 as almost certain.  Only one risk has been 
quantified as being over £1.5m and classed as likely. Quantifying these risks 

Page 68



  

3

with an expected probability and financial impact gives a total potential 
adverse impact of £2.790m, well reduced from the previous estimate of 
£3.537m.

3.7

3.8

3.9

The largest risk quantified as potentially exceeding £1.5m relates to the 
service level agreement with NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde where the 
payment for the last financial year remains under dispute and any settlement 
is likely to have a knock on effect on charge for 2019-20 spend with them. A 
draft response has been received from NHS GG&C which is c £1.5m greater 
than the offer made.  The next largest risk relates to re-grading claims which 
may need to be back dated to 2017.  It is now extremely likely that a financial 
provision will be required for these claims in this year. The risk relating to 
looked after children (where a small number of new cases has the potential 
to increase costs significantly above current levels) has been reduced as no 
such cases have yet been identified and we are now later in the year. 

No new risks have been identified and no risks have been removed since 
the last update.  Nineteen of the continuing risks have had revisions to their 
likelihood and impact.  These are highlighted in amber and comments 
provided for the reason for the change. The descriptions of 2 risks have also 
been amended slightly and these are similarly highlighted in amber.  In 
general, risks are reducing as we are now later in the financial year.  All 
known pressures are included in the forecast.

Financial risks will be reviewed and monitored on a two monthly basis and 
will be reported to the Board as part of the pack of financial reports.  

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS

4.1 Financial risks have been identified based on previous and current year cost 
pressures and those areas of the budget where spending is more volatile.  
Financial risks have been classified as to their likelihood and an estimate o 
of the potential financial impact. 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

5.1 Financial risks are identified based on delivery of service to meet the 
strategic priorities. 

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial Impact – Each financial risks has been assessed as to its 
estimated financial impact. 

6.2 Staff Governance – None.

6.3 Clinical Governance – None.

7.

7.1

PROFESSIONAL ADVISORY

There are no recommendations from this report which require to be 
consulted on with Professional Advisory leads.

Page 69



  

4

8. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

8.1 None directly from this report.

9.

9.1

10.

GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE

None directly from this report.

RISK ASSESSMENT

10.1 Risks are detailed within the report.

11. PUBLIC AND USER INVOLVEMENT AND ENGAGEMENT

11.1 None directly from this report.

12. CONCLUSIONS

12.1 This report summarises the key financial risks facing the Health and Social 
Care Partnership.  There are 37 risks identified in total with a potential 
adverse impact of £2.8m which is not included in the financial forecast.  Only 
one risk is potentially exceeding £1.5m.  The next largest risks are classed 
as potentially in the range of £300-500k and whilst possible, none of these 
are classed as likely. 
 

13. DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required √
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

APPENDICES:
Appendix 1 – Financial Risks 2019-20 (sorted by size of quantified risk)

AUTHOR NAME: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation 
EMAIL: judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Page 70

mailto:judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk


ARGYLL AND BUTE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP - FINANCIAL RISKS

INTEGRATED JOINT BOARD - November 2019 update

HEALTH 

OR 

SOCIAL 

WORK

SERVICE AREA DESCRIPTION OF RISK CURRENT MITIGATIONS

LIKELIHOOD

FINANCIAL 

IMPACT

£000

Quantified 

Risk £000s

Comments on change since last update

Health Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C NHS GG&C seeking to correct historic 

undercharging on the main patients' services SLA. 

Gap between offer and draft request is c £1.5m 

Currently challenged GG&C requested payment - 

awaiting final version of draft response received 

end October.   

4 >1,500 1250

Health Service wide High volume of grievances received from health 

care assistants band 2s who believe they should 

be re-graded to AfC band 3

Short life working group being established to 

agree generic job descriptions for band 3 role of 

Health Care Support Worker

5 100-300 150 New risk: 93.2 WTE affected by c £560 per WTE.  

Potential back dating to 2017 so financial impact 

increased

Health Adult Services Potential for consultant vacancies at Lorn & 

Islands Hospital resulting in increased use of 

locums

Most consultant roles are currently filled by 

employed staff and there would be an attempt to 

recruit to vacancies rather than use locums. 

4 100-300 100 Anaethetist post now vacant so likelihood increased

Health Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C Potential for growth in the number of high cost 

individual patient treatments. High volume being 

experienced for new TAVI cardiac procedure

This will be monitored but it is an area where 

there is limited control. 

3 300-500 100

Council Looked After Children Potential increase in the number of children and 

young people who need to be taken into care and 

supported/accommodated by the HSCP.

Practitioners are working hard to avoid 

admissions to care and the service is developing 

lower cost models of support for young people 

who become looked after.

3 300-500 100 Financial impact dropped as only 5 months left in year

Council Older People Potential increase in the number of older people 

requiring support.

Regular review of services and tracking of changes 

in service demand. Scrutiny by Head of Service 

and Locality based Care Resource Group of care 

packages

4 100-300 100 Impact decreased following review of recent trends in OP 

home care services

Council Learning Disability Increased demand for service, both for new 

clients and from increases in the needs of existing 

service users exceeds the demand pressure built 

into the budget.

Regular review of services and tracking of changes 

in service demand. Scrutiny by Head of Service 

and Adult Care Resource Group of care packages

3 300-500 100 Probability decreased following review of recent trends in 

LD services

Health Adult Services Continued use of agency medical staff in 

psychiatry

Continuation of attempts to recruit permanent 

staff.  Where this is not possible then the service 

will be required to contain locum costs within 

budget but it has to be appreciated that this might 

not always be possible if it affects service delivery. 

3 100-300 50 Probability decreased - now built into forecast for current 

usage

Health Adult Services Continued use of agency nursing staff in Lorn & 

Islands Hospital

Continuation of attempts to minimise the use of 

agency staff.  

3 100-300 50

Health Adult Services Overspending on GP prescribing budgets for 

several potential reasons causing short supply of 

drugs resulting in price increases

Prescribing advisors advise GPs on good 

prescribing practice to contain costs.

3 100-300 50

Health Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C Potential for further growth in the cost of 

oncology drugs beyond provision in the budget

A cost pressure has been build into the 2019-20 

budget for the overspend currently in 2018-19 

and also for future demand.  This should assist in 

minimising this risk, however, it is a risk that there 

is limited control over.  

3 100-300 50

Health Commissioned Services - Other Continued high level of eating disorder patient 

referrals to the Priory (Huntercombe no longer 

used)

Development of local CAMHS service. 3 100-300 50

Health Commissioned Services - Other Potential for growth in the number of high cost 

individual patient treatments (joint care packages)

This will be monitored but it is an area where 

there is limited control. 

3 100-300 50 Likelihood dropping as not aware of any at present

2019-20

P
age 71



HEALTH 

OR 

SOCIAL 

WORK

SERVICE AREA DESCRIPTION OF RISK CURRENT MITIGATIONS

LIKELIHOOD

FINANCIAL 

IMPACT

£000

Quantified 

Risk £000s

Comments on change since last update

Health Service wide Funding for NHS pensions is less than the cost. Funding has been announced, now received NRAC 

share.  Still unsure about allocation for other 

board costs

3 100-300 50

Health / 

Council

Commissioned Services - Other Third sector commissioned services cannot be 

delivered within the current budgets

Negotiations with third sector providers seek for 

such costs to be covered through efficiencies year 

on year

3 100-300 50

Council All Social Work Difficulties in recruiting and retaining qualified 

staff as well as increased demand/complexity in 

terms of the services required and/or increased 

sickness absence which result in the use of locum/ 

supplemental staffing.

Work is ongoing with HR and the Communications 

team to look at how we can encourage people to 

come and work in Argyll and Bute. Work is also 

underway in relation to growing our own through 

staff training. Attendance management processes 

and monitoring  arrangements are in place to deal 

with sickness absence issues.

3 100-300 50 Probability reduced as later on in year.  More in-house 

recruitment this year

Council Older People Potential requirement to increase the number of 

staff working overnight in our older people care 

homes to ensure that all of the residents can be 

safely evacuated from buildings in the event of a 

fire.

Working closely with the fire brigade to ensure 

arrangements are fit for purpose. Review of the 

equipment available in the homes to assist staff to 

evacuate residents.

3 100-300 50  Probability reduced as homes appear to be coping

Council Physical Disability Increased demand for service, both for new 

clients and from increases in the needs of existing 

service users exceeds the demand pressure built 

into the budget.

Regular review of services and tracking of changes 

in service demand. Scrutiny by Head of Service 

and Adult Care Resource Group of care packages

3 100-300 50 Potential impact decreased as later in year

Health Adult Services Continued use of locum GPs in Kintyre Medical 

Group

Practice is out to advert following succesfull 

advert in relation to Mull

5 <100 37.5

Health Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C New cystic fibrosis drugs are introduced. This will be monitored but it is an area where 

there is limited control. 

5 <100 37.5 2 new patients already in forecast.  1 possible additional 

patients 

Health Commissioned Services - Other New business to business contracts for out of 

hours services potentially required for Coll

limited mitigations possible 5 <100 37.5 New risk: New contract to be implemented from 1 Jan 

2020 (value reduced to reflect 3 months only)

Council Older People Staff on late shift in one care home may have 

been paid incorrectly for working after 10 p.m.

HR reviewing payments made to determine if 

these have been properly in line with terms & 

conditions

5 <100 37.5

Council All Social Work The financial impact of changes to the NHS 

superann scheme which have resulted in 

increased employer contributions with the cost 

passed on to the Social Work budget for staff 

funded/partially funded by Social Work.

Reviewed settlement from the Scottish 

Government provided to cover the increased cost 

and this cost is unmet and should be passed on to 

Social Work.  Still to identify impact from cross 

charging

5 <100 37.5

Health Adult Services Continued reliance on locum medical staff to 

cover shifts on the Oban out of hours rota

As part of grip and control, regular review of 

workforce undertaken by the Strategic Leadership 

Team to minimise excess staffing and use of 

locums. 

4 <100 25

Council Learning Disability Potential requirement to address property 

maintenance issues at a leased property in 

Helensburgh.

Assess the HSCP's liability under the lease and 

assess the likely cost of the works as well as 

determine how the building will be used in the 

future if the lease is retained.

4 <100 25

P
age 72



HEALTH 

OR 

SOCIAL 

WORK

SERVICE AREA DESCRIPTION OF RISK CURRENT MITIGATIONS

LIKELIHOOD

FINANCIAL 

IMPACT

£000

Quantified 

Risk £000s

Comments on change since last update

Health Adult Services Continued use of agency staff in Lorn & Islands 

Hospital Laboratory

Continuation of attempts to recruit permanent 

staff.  Where this is not possible then the service 

will be required to contain locum costs within 

budget but it has to be appreciated that this might 

not always be possible if it affects service delivery.  

Raigmore considering what they could do to assist

3 <100 12.5

Health Adult Services GPs on Colonsay opting out of providing out of 

hours services

GPs are currently providing out of hours services. 3 <100 12.5

Health Adult Services Continuation of excess community nurse staffing 

on Mull

As part of grip and control, regular review of 

workforce undertaken by the Strategic Leadership 

Team to minimise excess staffing and use of 

locums. 

3 <100 12.5 Probability decreased as  forecast to end of financial year 

now includes some provision for this

Health General Medical Services Potential for high cost of reimbursements to GP 

practices for maternity and sickness absence 

cover

This will be monitored but it is an area where 

there is limited control. 

3 <100 12.5

Health / 

Council

Estates Costs of colocation may exceed budget.  No 

budget in place for moves in Oban

A small allocation has been made in the 

Investment Fund for these costs.  

3 <100 12.5 Likelihood reduced as costs now more certain and most 

budgeted for

Council Chief Officer Increased building maintenance and repairs costs 

arising as the buildings we use get older and their 

condition deteriorates.

Regular monitoring of the fabric of the buildings 

and assessment for asset sustainability works 

funded via the capital budget. Reduction in the 

number of buildings in use through the co-

location of staff into fewer buildings.

3 <100 12.5

Council Children with a Disability Potential increase in the number of children and 

young people requiring support/families requiring 

support as well as the potential for increased 

levels of support required by existing service 

users.

The weekly Children's Resource Panel is 

scrutinising requests for service. Consideration is 

being given to how SDS and other service models 

could be developed to provide support in the 

future.

3 <100 12.5

Health Adult Services Continuation of excess nurse staffing in Rothesay 

Victoria Hospital

As part of grip and control, regular review of 

workforce undertaken by the Strategic Leadership 

Team to minimise excess staffing and use of 

locums. 

2 <100 5 Staff  back from sick leave on phased return.  New renal 

unit in progress which will help ensure more stable 

staffing

Health Commissioned Services - NHS GG&C Potential for further growth in the cost of 

pharmacy homecare services

The Lead Pharmacist will undertake an annual 

review of pharmacy costs to help to mitigate this 

risk. 

2 <100 5 all foreseeable now in forecast

Health Management and Corporate Services Potential for the cost of migration to Windows 10 

and Office 365 exceeding budgetary provision

Head of IT has an implementation plan.  Risk 

reflects potential for slippage.

2 <100 5 Roll out is now mostly completed so probability dropping

Health Estates Continuation of unfunded rates charge for Argyll 

& Bute Hospital if the property isn't cleared and 

empty property relief can't be obtained

Planned closure of Argyll & Bute Hospital (apart 

from the former Succoth Ward) is progressing.

1 <100 0 now built into forecast

Council Mental Health Changes in service assessment practice which 

reclassifies non-personal care as personal 

removing the ability to charge for services.

Cases being reviewed throughout 2019/20. Ensure 

that assessment practice is correct and that 

service classification is consistent with the nature 

of the services provided.

1 <100 0 not required for rest of this year - covered by existing 

budgets this year

Grand Total 2790

TOTAL 2790 Yellow = new risk since last report to IJB

Split Health 2183.75 Amber = updated 

Council 606.25

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

1

Integrated Joint Board Agenda item: 

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Budget Outlook 2020-21 to 2022-23

Presented by: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation

The Integrated Joint Board is asked to:
 Note the current estimated budget outlook report for the period 2020-21 to 

2022-23. 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report summarises the budget outlook covering the period 2020-21 to 
2022-23 taking into consideration the budget decisions taken at the 
Integrated Joint Board (IJB) on 27 March 2019.  There has been a full update 
of the budget outlook presented to the IJB on 25 September 2019. The 
assumptions will continue to be updated and refined as the year progresses.

1.2 The assumptions for funding from NHS Highland and Council continue on 
the same basis as previously reported.  Whilst additional NHS in year 
allocations have been received since the last report, all are non-recurring 
and are matched by planned expenditure so do not change the outlook.

1.3 The position for funding of employers superannuation has now largely been 
agreed and funding of £4.575m received. The outlook assumes expenditure 
of £5m, fully matched in best case, and funding restricted to £4.575m in mid 
and worst case scenarios.

1.4 The main changes have been to update the estimates for non-pay inflation 
and for future cost and demand pressures. New health cost pressures have 
been added for cystic fibrosis drugs, asbestos removal, and LIH clinical lead.  
In social work, the cost pressure for Throughcare has been removed for all 
scenarios, and decreased slightly for the Scottish Living Wage.  This has 
been offset by increases across all scenarios for growth in older people, and 
younger adults services to reflect current demand levels and new inflation 
allowances for carers allowance and utilities and increased inflation on 
catering.

1.5 In the mid-range scenario, the Health and Social Care Partnership budget 
gap estimated over the three year period 2020-21 to 2022-23 is £21.063m 
with a gap of £8.837m in 2020-21.  This allows for additional costs from the 

Page 75 Agenda Item 7c



  

2

dispute with Greater Glasgow & Clyde of £2m. 

1.6 In contrast, the budget gap in the best case scenario over the three years is 
£7.488m with a gap of £2.724m in 2020-21 and in the worst case scenario, 
the budget gap over the three years is £32.561m with a gap of £12.523m in 
2020-21.  A summary of all three scenarios is included within Appendix 1.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report summarises the budget outlook covering the period 2020-21 to 
2022-23. This is full update of the budget outlook presented to the IJB on 25 
September 2019.  The financial recovery programme agreed on the same 
date does not change the forward budget outlook as it primarily about 
reducing overspends back to currently budgeted levels. The assumptions 
will be updated and refined as the year progresses.

2.2 As previously, the budget outlook has been prepared using three different 
scenarios, best case, worst case and mid-range. Relatively small variations 
in assumptions can lead to fairly significant changes in the outcome. In the 
paragraphs that follow, the mid-range outlook is shown.  The detail of all 
three scenarios is provided at Appendix 1.

3. DETAIL OF REPORT

3.1 Funding Estimates

NHS Highland

3.1.1 The funding from NHS Highland in 2019-20 included an uplift of 2.5%.  The 
budget was set for 1 year only.  The future estimates have been based on a 
1.5% uplift for worst case, 2.5% best case and 2.0% mid-range.  There have 
been no changes since the last budget outlook. 

3.1.2 The increase in public sector pensions’ schemes employers’ contribution 
from 14.9% to 20.9% is meant to be fully funded.  A&B HSCP has received 
£4.575m to date and costs are estimated at £5.0m. The expectation is that this will 
be distributed on NRAC shares for future years.  Best case assumes that we will 
receive the full funding at £5.0m and mid range and  worst case that we will receive 
the same amount as this year at £4.575m.

3.1.4 The table below outlines the updated estimated funding from NHS Highland 
over the next three years within the mid-range scenario.  The highlighted 
figures are the ones which have changed below:

2020-21
£000

2021-22
£000

2022-23
£000

Baseline funding 175,886 175,886 175,886
Baseline funding uplift 3,423 6,914 10,475
Other Recurring Funding 30,327 30,327 30,327
Resource Transfer baseline (net) 7,181 7,181 7,181
Resource Transfer uplift 238 481 729

Page 76



  

3

Pensions Increase 4,575 4,575 4,575
Total Funding NHS 221,630 225,364 229,173

3.1.5

Council Funding

The estimates for Council funding remain unchanged from the previous 
Budget Outlook.  The mid-range position is as per the indicative allocation 
agreed by Council in February 29019 on the basis of current year funding 
less 1%.  The best case scenario assumes a flat cash position and the worst 
case assumes a 2% decrease in line with the estimate reduction from 
Scottish Government.

3.2 Savings Measures Already Approved

3.2.1 A number of additional savings for 2019-20 were agreed at the IJB on 7 
August 2019 as part of a Financial Recovery Plan. These new savings 
totalled £700k.   These are expected to provide continuing savings in future 
years, reducing the future budget gap. The further savings agreed at the IJB 
on 25 September 2019 are measures to bring back spending within existing 
budgets and are not expected to impact on the future budget outlook.

3.3 Updated Budget Outlook

3.3.1 The updated budget outlook for the mid-range scenario, taking into 
consideration all the factors noted within this report, is summarised in the 
table below. Changed figures are highlighted.

2020-21
£000

2021-22
£000

2022-23
£000

Base Budget 276,925 277,168 277,416
Employee Cost Changes 2,866 5,785 8,756
Non-Pay Inflation 5,581 9,272 13,139
Cost and Demand Pressures 3,758 6,328 8,723
Q&F Plan Savings (139) (139) (139)
Management/Operational 
Savings agreed March 2019

(500) (1,020) (1,020)

Policy Savings agreed March 
2019 (198) (198) (198)

Recovery Plan agreed Aug 
2019 (700) (700) (700)

Total Estimated Expenditure 287,593 296,496 305,977
Estimated Funding    278,756 281,253 284,914
Estimated Budget Surplus 
/(Gap) Cumulative

(8,837) (15,243) (21,063)

Estimated Budget Surplus / 
(Gap) In Year

(8,837) (6,406) (5,821)

3.3.2 In the mid-range scenario, the Health and Social Care Partnership budget 
gap estimated over the three year period 2020-21 to 2022-23 is £21.063m 
with a gap of £8.837m in 2020-21.   

3.3.3 In contrast, the budget gap in the best case scenario over the three years is 

Page 77



  

4

£7.488m with a gap of £2.724m in 2020-21 and in the worst case scenario, 
the budget gap over the three years is £32.561m with a gap of £12.523m in 
2020-21.  A summary of all three scenarios is included within Appendix 1.

3.3.4 The changes from the previous anticipated outlook to 2021-22 (as noted at 
the IJB meeting on 25 September 2019) are summarised in the table below 
based on the mid-range scenario:

2020-21
£000

2021-22
£000

2022-23
£000

Previous Reported Budget 
Gap (mid-range) (8,249) (14,365) (19,915)

Change to NHS Funding 
estimates 75 75 75

Change to non-pay inflation (141) (457) (845)
Change to cost & demand 
pressures

(522) (496) (378)

Revised Budget Gap (mid-
range) (8,837) (15,243) (21,063)

3.3.5

3.3.6

4.

All the Social Work assumptions for non-pay inflation have been updated.  
The main change are for the national care home contract where we are now 
assuming a 4% increase for mid-range scenario.  The assumption for 
Scottish Living wage increase has been decreased to 3.5% based on the 
uplift for 2019/20.  New or increased allowances have been made for food 
(as a result of EU exit), inflation on carers allowances, and on utilities. These 
assumptions are in line with those in Budget Outlook presented to the 
Council’s Policy & Resources Committee on 17 October 2019.

In terms of cost and demand pressures, a one-off adjustment has been 
made for demand growth for older people and younger adults reflecting 
increased demand in 2019/20 and then 1.5% p.a. growth thereafter for mid-
range.  The National Care Home Contract has been increased by 4% p.a., 
reflecting the 2019/20 agreed increase.  The Throughcare cost pressure has 
been removed as it has not materialised so far.   The cost pressure for new 
out of hours GP contracts has increased to allow for 3 practices as this is 
looking more likely.  New cost pressures have been added for cystic fibrosis 
drugs due to new patients being prescribed for this.  There is also an 
allowances for asbestos removal works in the next 2 years and for an 
additional day per week of clinical lead work. 

RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS

4.1 The budget outlook is based on a number of assumptions, using a best, 
worse and mid-range scenario.  These assumptions will be regularly 
reviewed and updated as appropriate. 

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

5.1 The Integrated Joint Board has a responsibility to set a budget which is 
aligned to the delivery of the Strategic Plan and to ensure the financial 
decisions are in line with priorities and promote quality service delivery.   

Page 78



  

5

This needs to be considered when options are developed to balance the 
budget.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial Impact – There is a significant budget gap for future years that 
requires to be addressed.

6.2 Staff Governance – None directly from this report but there is a strong link 
between HR and delivering financial balance.

6.3 Clinical Governance - None

7.

7.1

8.

PROFESSIONAL ADVISORY

There are no recommendations from this report which require to be 
consulted on with Professional Advisory leads.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

8.1 None directly from this report but any proposals to address the estimated 
budget gap will need to consider equalities.

9.

9.1

10

GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE

None directly from this report.

RISK ASSESSMENT

10.1 There is a risk that sufficient proposals are not approved in order to balance 
the budget in future years.  Any proposals will need to consider risk.  

11. PUBLIC AND USER INVOLVEMENT AND ENGAGEMENT

11.1 None directly from this report but any proposals to address the estimated 
budget gap will need to take into consideration local stakeholder and 
community engagement.  

12. CONCLUSIONS

12.1 A budget outlook covering the period 2020-21 and 2022-23 has been 
prepared.  In the mid-range scenario, the Health and Social Care 
Partnership budget gap estimated over the three year period 2020-21 to 
2022-23 is £21.063m with a gap of £8.838m in 2020-21.   The assumptions 
will be updated and refined as the year progresses.

13. DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required √Directions 

required to 
Argyll & Bute Council

Page 79



  

6

NHS Highland Health BoardCouncil, NHS 
Board or 
both. Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

APPENDICES:
Appendix 1 – Budget Outlook Best, Worst and Mid-Range Scenarios
AUTHOR NAME: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation 
judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Page 80

mailto:judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk


BUDGET OUTLOOK 2020-21 TO 2022-23 APPENDIX 1

INTEGRATED JOINT BOARD 27 NOVEMBER 2019

2020-21

£000

2021-22

£000

2022-23

£000

2020-21

£000

2021-22

£000

2022-23

£000

2020-21

£000

2021-22

£000

2022-23

£000

Base Budget:

Base Budget 276,687 276,687 276,687 276,687 276,687 276,687 276,687 276,687 276,687

Base Budget Adjustments 298 603 916 238 481 729 179 360 544

Revised Base Budget 276,985 277,290 277,603 276,925 277,168 277,416 276,866 277,047 277,231

Employee Cost Changes:

Pay Award 2,720 5,396 8,124 2,720 5,493 8,318 2,720 5,663 8,668

Pay Increments 0 0 0 146 292 438 291 582 873

Total Employee Cost Changes 2,720 5,396 8,124 2,866 5,785 8,756 3,011 6,245 9,541

Non-Pay Inflation:

Health:

Prescribing 400 800 1,200 500 1,000 1,500 600 1,200 1,800

Hospital Drugs 45 92 142 75 154 237 105 216 332

Main GG&C SLA 1,072 2,171 3,298 3,340 4,714 6,122 3,608 5,257 6,946

Other SLAs (GPs, GG&C, other HBs, service inputs) 226 457 694 282 571 867 338 685 1,040

Energy 59 120 183 78 160 244 98 200 305

Social Work:

Catering Purchases 37 78 127 37 78 127 37 78 127

National Care Home Contract 173 351 540 231 470 729 288 591 923

NHS Staffing Recharges 128 268 435 128 268 435 128 268 435

Purchase and Maintenance of Equipment 8 16 25 11 22 33 14 27 42

Specific CPI Increases 14 27 42 18 37 56 23 46 70

Scottish Living Wage 679 1,381 2,132 822 1,676 2,598 964 1,972 3,069

Carers Allowances 25 50 76 33 67 102 41 84 128

Utlities 26 53 86 26 55 89 28 57 92

Total Non-Pay Inflation 2,892 5,864 8,980 5,581 9,272 13,139 6,272 10,681 15,309

Cost and Demand Pressures:

Health:

LIH Laboratory 100 200 300 100 200 200 100 200 300

Out of Hours - GPs option out of hours 200 200 200 300 300 300 400 400 400

Other NSD developments 50 100 150 50 100 150 50 100 150

Oncology Drugs Demand 350 700 1,050 450 900 1,350 550 1,100 1,650

Bute Dialysis 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93 93

Microsoft Licence Fees 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55

Cystic Fibrosis Drugs 132 132 132 160 160 160 186 186 186

Asbestos Removal 85 85 0 85 85 0 85 85 0

LIH Clinical Lead 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15

Best Case Scenario Mid-Range Scenario Worst Case Scenario

P
age 81



BUDGET OUTLOOK 2020-21 TO 2022-23 APPENDIX 1

INTEGRATED JOINT BOARD 27 NOVEMBER 2019

2020-21

£000

2021-22

£000

2022-23

£000

2020-21

£000

2021-22

£000

2022-23

£000

2020-21

£000

2021-22

£000

2022-23

£000

Best Case Scenario Mid-Range Scenario Worst Case Scenario

Council:

Older People Growth 311 311 311 640 980 1,325 970 1,659 2,370

Care Services for Younger Adults 269 269 269 539 817 1,087 808 1,372 1,911

National Care Home Contract 244 496 755 326 665 1,017 407 835 1,284

Throughcare 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Social Work Emergency Standby 150 155 160 150 157 164 150 159 169

Greenwood Hostel overnight staffing 50 52 54 50 52 54 50 53 56

Criminal Justice Development Funding 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50

Additional governance support from Council 95 98 101 95 99 103 95 101 107

Allowance for Unknown Cost and Demand Pressures 100 600 1,100 600 1,600 2,600 1,100 2,600 4,100

Total Cost and Demand Pressures 2,349 3,611 4,795 3,758 6,328 8,723 5,164 9,063 12,896

Savings Previously Agreed:

Quality and Finance Plan Savings (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139) (139)

Management/Operational Savings - Agreed March 2019 (500) (1,020) (1,020) (500) (1,020) (1,020) (500) (1,020) (1,020)

Policy Savings - Agreed March 2019 (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198) (198)

Recovery Plan - Agreed 7 August 2019 (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) (700) (700)

Total Savings (1,537) (2,057) (2,057) (1,537) (2,057) (2,057) (1,537) (2,057) (2,057)

Total Estimated Expenditure 283,409 290,104 297,445 287,593 296,496 305,977 289,776 300,979 312,920

Funding:

NHS 222,971 227,662 232,470 221,630 225,364 229,173 220,715 223,502 226,331

Council 57,714 57,059 57,487 57,126 55,889 55,741 56,538 54,730 54,028

Total Funding 280,685 284,721 289,957 278,756 281,253 284,914 277,253 278,232 280,359

Budget Surplus / (Gap) Cumulative (2,724) (5,383) (7,488) (8,837) (15,243) (21,063) (12,523) (22,747) (32,561)

Budget Surplus / (Gap) In Year (2,724) (2,659) (2,106) (8,837) (6,406) (5,821) (12,523) (10,224) (9,814)

Partner Bodies Split:

Health 641 1,136 1,234 (3,691) (5,027) (6,707) (5,597) (8,761) (12,419)

Social Work (3,365) (6,519) (8,722) (5,146) (10,216) (14,356) (6,926) (13,986) (20,142)

Budget Surplus / (Gap) Cumulative (2,724) (5,383) (7,488) (8,837) (15,243) (21,063) (12,523) (22,747) (32,561)

Budget Surplus / (Gap) In Year (2,724) (2,659) (2,106) (8,837) (6,406) (5,821) (12,523) (10,224) (9,814)

P
age 82



  

1

Integration Joint Board Agenda item: 

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Reserves

Presented by: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation

The Integration Joint Board is asked to:
 Note the update on the Reserves held by the Integrated Joint Board.
 Approve the release of £29,700 National Procurement funding within the 

TEC reserve to IJB General Funds as Scottish Government has advised this 
will no longer be required to be funded locally. 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The audited accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019 identified the 
creation of a Reserve within the General Fund of £325,000.  The financial 
regulations require the Chief Financial Officer to report regularly to the 
Integrated Joint Board throughout the year (at least quarterly) on the level 
of reserves and expenditure against earmarked amounts.  This report 
advises the IJB on the level of expenditure against the reserves created at 
the 2018-19 year end none of which were spend when we last reported to 
the IJB on 7 August 2019.  As at 30 September, full draw down has now 
been done for the Primary Care Transformation Fund monies of £207,684, 
and draw down has been done for £37,400 for implementation of NHS Near 
Me.  The IJB is asked to approve release of the £29,700 provision for 
National procurement to general funds.  If approved, that would leave a 
balance of £50,000 to support the shift from analogue to digital within the 
TEC reserve.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report updates the Board on the General Fund Reserves.

3. DETAIL OF REPORT
 

3.1 As set out in the Annual Accounts, the IJB has a policy on useable reserves 
which are held within the General Fund.  These may include balances for 
one of the following 3 purposes:

1. Funds that are earmarked or set aside for particular purposes as 
agreed by the IJB, or reserves for unspent revenue grants or 
contributions

Page 83 Agenda Item 7d



  

2

3.2

2. Funds set aside to deal with unexpected events or emergencies
3. Funds in excess of the target level of reserves and the identified 

earmarked funds which may be spend or earmarked at the discretion 
of the IJB

As at the start of the 2019/20 financial year, the IJB only has useable 
reserves in the first of the 3 categories shown above, both of which are 
unspent grants or contributions.  Details of General Fund Reserves are 
shown in the table below:

Balance at 
1 April 2019
£000s

Expenditure

£000s

Balance at 
30 Sep 2019
£000s

Primary Care 
Transformation 
Fund

208 208 0

Technology Enabled 
Care (TEC)

117 37 87

Total 325 245 80

3.3 The Primary Care Transformation Fund has been allocated and spent as 
follows in 2019/20:

Primary Care Transformation Fund Budget 2019/20
£

Spend
£

Vaccination transfer programme 49,906 20,637
Pharmacotherapy services 20,521 137,516
Community treatment and care services 13,786 41,891
Urgent Care (advanced practitioners) 56,000
Additional professional roles  
 - First Contact Practitioner Musculoskeletal Service (45,086) 45,495
 - Community Clinical Mental Health Professionals 30,000
Community link workers 0
IT investment 35,506
Cluster Quality Lead payments 16,093 3,420
Programme management 30,958
 TOTAL 207,684 248,959

3.4

3.5

In 2018/19 £428,316 was spent on Primary Care Transformation from this 
fund which originally totalled £636,000.  The above table shows the spend  
during 2019/20 to end of September which more than utilises the remaining 
carried forward balance.  Additional funding has been allocated to us of 
£1,018,692 in 2019/20, but the Scottish Government require us to spend 
any earmarked reserves first before accessing new funding. In 2019/20, we 
are initially being allocated only 70% of the £1,018,692 and this is further 
reduced by the earmarked reserves. We have however been assured that 
the monies will still be made available, possibly in a later year, to cover our 
planned spend. The planned spend for this fund for 2019/20 is currently 
£972k.

There were 3 elements within the TEC reserve as follows:

Page 84



  

3

3.6

3.7

 £29,700 National Procurement funding still awaiting Scottish 
Government (SG) tendering – SG advise this is no longer required 
and may be released

 £50,000 Analogue to Digital Hub & Cluster award for 200 telecare 
service users to be monitored by a remote Digital Alarm Receiving 
service – awaiting progress by our nominated Hub

 £37,400 for implementation of NHS Near Me for room conversion, 
equipment and training – now all spent or committed as planned

A draw down has been made from this reserve of £37,400 in the second 
quarter of 2019/20 in respect of the spend on NHS Near Me.  We have spent 
£30,329 as at end of September  with the remaining funds committed to pay 
for room conversion for Bute and Helensburgh (invoices expected to be c 
£3k slipped to October) and consultant costs for the pilots clinics of c £5k (to 
be invoiced by NHS GG&C). As the spend and commitment exceeds the 
reserve, the brought forward reserve has been fully drawn down.

As the £29,700 will no longer be required to support national tendering and 
does not have to be returned to the Scottish Government, the IJB is 
requested to approve the release of these monies to the General Fund to 
help meet the forecast overspend.
 

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS

4.1 The Integrated Joint Board is permitted to hold balances on the General 
Fund which arise from earmarking for specific purposes.  This provides the 
position on these earmarked reserves as at 30 June 2019.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

5.1 Financial risks are identified based on delivery of service to meet the 
strategic priorities. 

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial Impact – The earmarked reserves are held for specific purposes. 

6.2 Staff Governance – None.

6.3 Clinical Governance – None.

7.

7.1

8.

PROFESSIONAL ADVISORY

There are no recommendations from this report which require to be 
consulted on with Professional Advisory leads.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

8.1

9.

9.1

None directly from this report.

GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE

None directly from this report.

Page 85



  

4

10. RISK ASSESSMENT

10.1 If the reserves are not utilised for the agreed purpose, there is a risk that 
they may have to be returned to the Scottish Government. 

11. PUBLIC AND USER INVOLVEMENT AND ENGAGEMENT

11.1 None directly from this report.

12. CONCLUSIONS

12.1 This report summarises the position in relation to the two earmarked 
reserves which were created at the end of the 2018/19 financial year.  IJB 
is requested to approve the release of £29,700 which is no longer required 
for its original purpose from the TEC earmarked reserve back to the general 
fund.
 

13. DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required √
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

AUTHOR NAME: Judy Orr, Head of Finance and Transformation 
EMAIL: judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Page 86

mailto:judy.orr@argyll-bute.gov.uk


  

1

INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Financial Recovery Plans

Presented by: Cleland Sneddon, Chief Executive, Argyll and Bute Council

The Integration Joint Board is asked to:
 Note the impact of previous years’ and the current financial overspend 

projection on Council financial reserves and balanced budget position.
 Note the potential that the Council’s Section 95 officer may require to 

implement an emergency financial recovery plan for “retained” Council 
services as a result of the HSCP projected overspend.

 Agree that the IJB consider and confirm that such emergency financial 
controls have been implemented by the HSCP along with detailed plans and 
management controls to ensure the delivery of the remaining agreed savings.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The financial monitoring report presented by the HSCP Chief Financial 
Officer for the period to 30 September 2019 indicates a projected 
overspend in 2019-20 of £1.989m.  This consists of an overspend of 
£1.671m within Social Work delivered services and an overspend of 
£0.318m within Health.   The effect of the projection on Argyll and Bute 
Council’s projected outturn would require its use of policy based reserves 
contingency that in turn would require the Council to introduce a Financial 
Recovery Plan for its “retained” services.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 The financial monitoring report presented by the HSCP Chief Financial 
Officer for the period to 30 September indicates a projected overspend in 
2019-20 of £1.989m. In relation to the current Scheme of Integration 
arrangements for the write back of overspends to parent bodies, £1.671m of 
this overspend would require to be met by Argyll and Bute Council.
 

3. DETAIL OF REPORT

Page 87 Agenda Item 8



  

2

3.1 Previous years’ overspends written back to the Council total £4.282m which 
require to be repaid by the HSCP and are subject to a tapered repayment 
schedule with £0.100m due to have been repaid in the current financial 
year. Advice from the Council’s External Auditors, Audit Scotland, indicates 
that the Council cannot create a debtor provision on its balance sheet for 
the outstanding sum and therefore this debt impacts directly on the 
Council’s reserves position.

3.2 At start of financial year 2019-20, the Council only had £1.706m 
uncommitted general reserves and in June 2019 committed £0.094m of this 
to other services reducing the uncommitted amount to £1.612m. The effect 
of a further overspend of £1.671m by the HSCP is to push the Council’s 
outturn position into its financial policy contingency provision that in turn 
would trigger the Council’s Section 95 officer to introduce a Financial 
Recovery Plan containing emergency measures to bring the Council’s 
outturn position back into balance. The Council is also entering the winter 
period that in previous years has seen additional budgetary pressures 
emerge.

3.3 Reviewing the financial monitoring reports presented to the IJB during the 
course of 2019-20, the key elements contributing to the overspend appear 
to relate to the non-delivery of agreed savings. Since the approval of the 
2019-20 budget, an initial Financial Recovery Plan was agreed on 7 August 
2019 and a further version of the Plan was agreed on 25 September 2019. 
Despite these iterations the agreed savings have not been delivered in full 
and an overspend remains projected.

3.4 A Council Financial Recovery Plan featuring emergency measures would 
impact on all “retained” Council services such as Education; Roads and 
Infrastructure; Commercial Services; Customer and Support Services; 
Development and Economic Growth; and Legal and Regulatory Services. 
Before implementing such measures I would want full assurance from the 
IJB that all such similar emergency measures have been implemented by 
the HSCP and that detailed plans and management controls are in place for 
the delivery of the remaining agreed savings.

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS

4.1 See Financial Monitoring Report within this agenda pack.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

5.1 The Integrated Joint Board has a responsibility to set a budget which is 
aligned to the delivery of the Strategic Plan and to ensure the financial 
decisions are in line with priorities and promote quality service delivery

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

Page 88



  

3

6.1Financial Impact – The forecast outturn position for 2019-20 is a forecast 
overspend of £1.989m as at 30 September 2019. Successive financial 
recovery plans have not been successful in bringing the financial projection 
back in line with budget due to non-delivery of agreed savings.

6.2Staff Governance – None.

6.3 Clinical Governance - None.  

7 EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

None directly from this report.

8 GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE 

None directly from this report.

9 RISK ASSESSMENT

N/A. 

10 PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT

N/A. 

11 CONCLUSIONS
 

12 DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Author Name  Cleland Sneddon, Chief Executive, Argyll and Bute Council
Email  Cleland.sneddon@argyll-bute.gov.uk

Page 89

mailto:Cleland.sneddon@argyll-bute.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

1

Integration Joint Board Agenda Item: 

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Social Work Financial Reporting

Presented by: David Forshaw

The board is asked to:
 Note the planned actions set out in the report aimed at improving reporting 

of the social work year to date financial position in reports to the IJB, Council 
and the HSCP management team and which provide an opportunity for 
efficiency gains in the processing of payments to care providers.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Members of the IJB and Quality and Finance Board have raised 
concerns with officers regarding the reliability of the year to date 
reporting on the social work financial position and the potential 
subsequent impact on the social work forecast outturn.

1.2 Following discussion of several options to improve the situation at the 
Quality and Finance Board meeting on 10 September 2019, this report 
has been prepared to advise the IJB of the outcome of the discussions 
and about the work which will commence shortly to address the 
perceived shortcomings of the current process, improve the relevance of 
the year to date variance reported and ensure that members can have 
confidence in the forecast outturn projection for social work.

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 In order to address the shortcomings of the current approach and ensure 
confidence in the forecast outturn, a range of options for change where 
prepared and discussed at the Quality and Finance Board meeting on 10 
September 2019 following which a decision was made to support the 
option recommended by officers, to move to a self-billing payment model 
for payments to care providers.

3. DETAIL OF REPORT

3.1 The monthly social work financial reports are completed on a cash basis 
with the main focus of attention being the forecast outturn projection. The 

Page 91 Agenda Item 9



  

2

Council’s processes place less emphasis on the year to date variance and 
this has caused concerns for IJB members, not least due to substantial 
issues with budget profiling which significantly distorted the financial 
reporting during the 2018/19 financial year in relation to the delivery of 
efficiency savings and payments to care suppliers. 

3.2 To improve the reliability of the reporting in 2019/20, a different approach for 
profiling both of the above budgets has been implemented. Savings have 
been profiled based on the expected delivery pattern, adjusted for lead 
times, and payments to suppliers have been profiled based on the pattern of 
payments from 2018/19. The latter naturally takes account of delays in the 
submission, processing and payments of supplier invoices based on the 
experience in 2018/19 however there remains a risk that activity in 2019/20 
will not exactly match that of 2018/19. 

3.3 The outcome of these changes has been that the 2019/20 year to date 
reporting has improved significantly however members remain concerned at 
the use of a cash accounting approach, compared to the accrual accounting 
policy applied by the NHS, and that the accounts of the two partners cannot 
be easily joined up. 

3.4 With regard to the calculation of the forecast outturn, it should be noted that, 
for the two budget areas mentioned above, projections are not based on the 
year to date spend or year to date variance. The savings projection reflects 
the information available to finance from social work management on 
progress in delivering their savings and upon the impact of changes to 
actual spending (eg removal of posts, reduction in care packages etc). The 
forecast for the supplier payments which have caused concern to members 
and have the biggest impact on the year to date variance – affecting home 
care, supported living and care home placements – are based on 
commitment records for the year which are held on the CareFirst system 
and do not reflect year to date payments or the year to date variance.

4. RECOMMENDATION

4.1 In identifying a solution to the concerns raised by Board members, five 
options were identified which looked at continuing with the current 
approach, moving to an accruals based accounting policy to match the 
policy used by NHS Highland or moving to a self-billing payment model. 

4.2 The analysis undertaken sought to determine the advantages and 
disadvantages of each of the options and a recommendation was made 
in relation to option 5, moving to a self-billing payment model. The 
decision was made on the basis option 5 was the only option which 
delivered improvements to the reliability and relevance of the financial 
reporting to the IJB and HSCP management, eliminated the need for two 
accounting policies in social work, removed the need for duplicate 
ledgers to accommodate accrual accounting (within the Council or across 
the partners) and delivers potentially cashable efficiencies for the HSCP, 
Council and care suppliers.

4.3 The new model would seek to remove the need for care providers to 
submit invoices for care services provided by them, with providers 
instead notifying the Council of changes to care packages and/or client 
attrition and the Council then generating their payment from the CareFirst 
system. Aside from the efficiency benefits offered, the new model is 
expected to largely eliminate the payment timing issues which currently 

Page 92



  

3

affect the YTD spend monitoring, ensuring that the YTD spending and 
budget profile are in alignment, at least in terms of payment periods. To 
provide a sense of scale, in 2018/19, 19,950 care invoices from 207 
providers with a total value of £33.9m were processed on the CareFirst 
system. 

4.4 To deliver the new model, a pilot project will commence in January 2020 
to initially scope and develop the processes required to implement self-
billing. An initial pilot involving a small group of providers will commence 
in May 2020 and the new processes will roll out to all care providers 
whose invoices are processed via the CareFirst system during the 
2020/21 financial year with a target of having all providers operating 
under self-billing by the end of February 2021.

4.5 The budget profile will be actively maintained during the roll out period to 
reflect the expected reduction in payment delays and by the end of the 
year, the payment and budget profiles should be in alignment and 
producing reliable financial information without substantial monthly 
maintenance of the budget profile or the need to calculate and process 
monthly accruals.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
The provision of reliable financial information which provides IJB members 
and the HSCP management team with a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the social work service is essential to ensure effective budget 
management and support sound decision making. The self-billing model set 
out in this paper seeks to provide a proportionate, deliverable mechanism to 
address the concerns raised by IJB members which provides an opportunity 
to deliver further efficiencies to the HSCP and avoids expending limited 
resources on the development and running of two separate accounting 
policies and systems for social work.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Financial Impact
No adverse financial impact is anticipated and the project will be 
delivered using existing staff and resources. Once implemented, the new 
model may afford opportunities to deliver cashable savings in future 
years.

6.1 Staff Governance
Finance and accounts payable staff and providers will need to be 
consulted over the changes with additional training, systems and support 
needed to successfully implement the new model.

6.2 Clinical Governance
Not applicable.

7. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
Not applicable.

Page 93



  

4

8. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE 
Not applicable.

9. RISK ASSESSMENT
Not applicable.

10.PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT
Not applicable.

11.CONCLUSIONS
It is recognised that the financial information provided to the IJB in relation to 
year to date financial performance during 2018/19 did not produce a true and 
fair view of the financial situation of the social work service and was neither 
reliable nor relevant to the needs of the IJB members. Substantial 
improvements have been made in 2019/20 but more needs to be done to 
further improve the ongoing reliability and relevance of the information and 
regain the confidence of IJB members. This paper provides a brief description 
of the action which the Social Work Finance Team will take to address the 
concerns raised and to provide processing efficiencies for the HSCP and care 
providers.

12.DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required
Argyll & Bute Council x
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Author Name: David Forshaw
Email: david.forshaw@argyll-bute.gov.uk

Page 94



  

1

Integration Joint Board

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Review of the Health and Social Care Integration Scheme

Presented by: Douglas Hendry, IJB Standards Officer

The Integration Joint Board is asked to:
 Note the revisions detailed within the updated Integration Scheme, attached 

at appendix 1
 Note the proposed arrangements for a joint consultation exercise set out at 

sections 3.6 to 3.12
 Agree to engage with and participate in the consultation exercise to be 

carried out

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Following a joint review of the Health and Social Care Integration Scheme (the 
Scheme) for the Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Integration Joint Board 
(the IJB), this report sets out the proposed revisions to the Scheme and details 
the next steps, including the requirement for the Council and the Health Board 
to undertake a joint consultation with prescribed stakeholders.

1.2 A copy of the revised Scheme, which highlights the proposed changes, is 
attached at appendix 1.  

2. INTRODUCTION
2.1 Section 44 of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 requires 

that the Local Authority and the Health Board must carry out a review of the 
scheme before the expiry of the relevant period for the purpose of identifying 
whether any changes to the scheme are necessary or desirable.  

2.2 The Order to establish the IJB was laid in the Scottish Parliament on Friday 29 
May 2015 and came in to force on Saturday 27 June 2015. From that date the 
IJB for the Argyll and Bute area was legally established on the basis of the 
Integration Scheme between Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland dated 
31st March 2015.

2.3 A legal requirement to complete a review of an Integration Scheme is set out in 
Section 44 of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 (the Act). 
The Scheme must be reviewed each subsequent period of 5 years beginning 
with the day on which the Scheme was approved, in this case, 27 June 2015.  
On this basis the review of the Scheme in Argyll and Bute is required by law to 

Page 95 Agenda Item 10



  

2

be completed by 27 June 2020. The statutory responsibility to review the 
Scheme sits with the Board of NHS Highland and Argyll and Bute Council.

3. DETAIL OF REPORT
REVIEW OF THE INTEGRATION SCHEME IN ARGYLL AND BUTE

3.1 The Council, at a special meeting held on 22 February 2018, agreed to pursue 
specific changes to the Scheme.  As this piece of work progressed it became 
clear timescales were such that these specific issues would be best picked up 
as part of the statutory 5 year review, the requirement for which is explained in 
paragraph 3.1.3 above.  On this basis the Council agreed that the Council 
should engage with the IJB and NHS Highland to pursue a formal review of the 
Integration Scheme.

3.2 The Integration Joint Board met on 30th May 2018 and considered the Council’s 
proposal for a review of the Scheme. The IJB decision noted the following: 

a) Notification of the request has been submitted to the secretary to the 
Board of NHS Highland and has subsequently been acknowledged;

b) The Scottish Government’s Department of Health and Social Care has 
offered to provide facilitation and support for the review of the Scheme;

c) If revision to the Scheme does proceed, formal consultation with 
prescribed stakeholders will be required prior to submission of the 
revised Scheme for approval by Scottish Ministers. 

3.3 Following initial engagement between Council Officers and representatives from 
NHS Highland to try to determine the scope of the review, a Working Group was 
established to identify potential areas for revision and to define the terms of a 
revised Scheme.

3.4 The Working Group comprised a range of Senior Officers from across the 
Council, HSCP and NHS Highland, which met on numerous occasions between 
August and October 2019 to discuss and agree relevant amendments.  The 
Working Group have now concluded their review of the Scheme and seek 
approval on the proposed changes.  The revised Scheme will also be submitted 
to the NHS Highland Board scheduled for 26 November 2019 for their 
consideration.

3.5 If both parent bodies are agreeable to the proposed revisions to the Scheme, 
as detailed in appendix 1, there are a number of subsequent steps which require 
to be taken and these are detailed below.

NEXT STEPS
3.6 In accordance with Section 46(4) of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) 

Act 2014, the Council and the Health Board must jointly consult with groups and 
individuals, to include the prescribed stakeholders and any others deemed 
appropriate.  

3.7 Taking account of the initial consultation process adopted in December 2014, 
and any relevant statutory provisions, the following approach is proposed:-

3.8 Consultation on the draft revised Integration Scheme will commence on 9th 
December 2019 and end on 17th January 2020.  Specific timescales or 
methodology for consultation are not prescribed in the Public Bodies (Joint 

Page 96



  

3

Working) (Scotland) Act 2014, however the suggested 6 week consultation 
period is in line with general guidance on consultations.

3.9 The draft revised Integration Scheme will be available on Argyll and Bute 
Council’s website and NHS Highland’s website. Hard copies of the document 
will also be available in Council Customer Service Points.

3.10 A press release, both online and in local newspapers, will be organised to 
ensure that our communities are aware of the consultation timescale and have 
access to the draft revised Integration Scheme.

3.11 In addition to the above arrangements to facilitate responses from the general 
public and local communities, the following groups will be contacted directly in 
order to ascertain any views they may have on the draft revised Integration 
Scheme:

 Health professionals; GPs, management teams, clinical groups 
including Nursing Staff and Allied Health Professionals

 Social work and social care professionals
 Users of health services
 Carers of users of health care
 Commercial providers of health care
 Non-commercial providers of health care
 Argyll and Bute Council employees
 Staff side / Trades Unions
 Users of social care
 Carers of users of social care
 Commercial providers of social care
 Non-commercial providers of social care
 Non-commercial providers of social housing
 The Highland Council
 Argyll and Bute Public Partnership Forums
 Community / voluntary / Third Sector organisations
 Community Councils
 Argyll and Bute Council - local Councillors
 Scottish Ambulance Service
 NHS 24
 Scottish Health Council
 Local MPs / MSPs
 Dentists
 Pharmacists
 NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde
 Police Scotland
 Scottish Fire & Rescue
 Argyll and Bute Advice Network (ABAN)
 Lomond & Argyll Advocacy Service
 Citizens Advice Bureau / Patient Advice & Support Service 

(PASS)
 Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership

3.12 Following the consultation period, Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland 
will take into account any views expressed during the consultation prior to 
finalising the draft revised Integration Scheme. A report on the agreed revisions 

Page 97



  

4

to the Integration Scheme following consultation will be submitted to meetings 
of Argyll and Bute Council and the NHS Highland Board at the earliest 
opportunity thereafter.  

3.13 In the event that the consultation feedback suggests no further changes to the 
Scheme and voices no opposition to the proposed changes, that the two Chief 
Executive Officers are authorised to approved the draft revised Integration 
Scheme on behalf of the Council and the NHS Highland Board prior to 
submitting it to the Scottish Government for approval.

3.14 Thereafter, both parent bodies must jointly submit the revised Scheme to the 
Scottish Ministers for approval.  The Scottish Government have advised that 
they will require a copy of the draft revised Scheme 4 to 6 weeks prior to the 
date the new Scheme requires to be in place (27 June 2020).  On this basis, it 
is proposed that the revised Scheme be submitted to the Scottish Ministers by 
end April 2020, which provides them with an 8 week period to review the 
Scheme and suggest any potential amendments.  

3.15 The Council and NHS Highland must publish the revised Integration Scheme as 
soon as practicable after it takes effect.

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS
4.1 The legal requirement to undertake a quinquennial review of the Integration 

Scheme is set out in section 44(5) of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) 
(Scotland) Act 2014.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
5.1 The Scheme and Standing Orders provide the key governance documents for 

the IJB that support the delivery of the work of the Health and Social Care 
Partnership.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS
6.1 Financial Impact

No impact arising from this report.
6.2 Staff Governance

No impact arising from this report.
6.3 Clinical Governance

No impact arising from this report.

7. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
No impact arising from this report.

8. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE 
Activity is undertaken in line with GDPR regulations.

9. RISK ASSESSMENT

Page 98



  

5

If the review of the Integration is not completed witin the designated timescales, 
there is the risk of non-compliance with statutory measures under the Public Bodies 
(Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014.

10.PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT
10.1 In line with the previous consultation undertaken for the initial Integration 

Scheme, details of the consultation methodology is detailed from paragraph 3.8 
to 3.12 above.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1 Following a joint review of the current Scheme, led by a working group 
consisting of senior officers from across the Council, HSCP and NHS Highland, 
this report sets out the proposed changes to the Scheme, highlighted in 
appendix 1.  If the changes are agreeable to the Council and NHS Highland 
Board, the subsequent actions/timeline detailed at section 3.6 to 3.12 above will 
be implemented, which will ensure that the revised Scheme is endorsed by 
Scottish Ministers by 27 June 2020.

12 DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required x
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Author Name:  Laura Blackwood
Email: laura.blackwood@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Page 99

mailto:laura.blackwood@argyll-bute.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 |   

 

 

 

 

 
 

            

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTEGRATION SCHEME 

BETWEEN 

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 

AND 

NHS HIGHLAND 

 
 

Revised October 2019

Page 101



2 |   

 

Introduction 

 
 

1. Vision and Values: 

The vision of Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland is that the people in Argyll 

and Bute will live longer, healthier, happier, independent lives. 

 
The core values of Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland are: caring; creative; 

committed; collaborative; teamwork; excellence; and integrity. compassion; respect; 

integrity; team work; equality; fairness; transparency; efficiency; improvement; 

involvement ,co-production and a person centered approach. 

 

The core values of the Health and Social Care Partnership are: compassion; integrity; 

respect; continuous learning; leadership; and excellence. 

 
2. Aims and Outcomes: 

The main purpose of integration is to improve the wellbeing of people who use health 

and social care services, particularly those whose needs are complex and involve 

support from health and social care at the same time. The Integration Scheme is 

intended to achieve the National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes. 

 
Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will plan for and deliver high quality health and 

social care services to and in partnership with the communities of Argyll and Bute. 

 
Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will set out within its Strategic Plan how it will 

effectively use allocated resources to deliver the National Health and Wellbeing 

Outcomes prescribed by the Scottish Ministers in regulations under section 5(1) of the 

Act, namely that: 

 People are able to look after and improve their own health and wellbeing and 

live in good health for longer.

 People, including those with disabilities or long term conditions or who are frail 

are able to live, as far as reasonably practicable, independently and at home 

or in a homely setting in their community.

 People who use health and social care services have positive experiences of 

those services, and have their dignity respected.

Page 102



3 |   

 
 
 

 

 Health and social care services are centered on helping to maintain or improve 

the quality of life of people who use those services.

 Health and social care services contribute to reducing health inequalities.

 

 People who provide unpaid care are supported to look after their own health 

and wellbeing, including reducing any negative impact of their caring role on 

their own health and wellbeing.

 People using health and social care services are safe from harm.

 
 People who work in health and social care services feel engaged with the work 

they do and are supported to continuously improve the information, support, 

care and treatment they provide.

 Resources are used effectively and efficiently in the provision of health and 

social care services.

 Any other National Health and Well Being outcome prescribed in the future will 

also be adopted.

 
Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland have agreed that Children and Families 

social worksocial care services and Criminal Justice services should be included 

within the functions and services to be delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board, therefore the specific national outcomes as detailed below for Children and 

Families and Criminal JusticeJustice are also included: 

 
The national outcomes for Children and Families are:- 

 Our children have the best start in life and are ready to succeed.

 Our young people are successful learners, confident individuals, effective 

contributors and responsible citizens; and

 We have improved the life chances of children, young people and families at 

risk.

 Any national outcomes prescribed in the future will also be adopted.

 

National outcomes and standards for Social WorkSocial Care Services in the Criminal 

JusticeJustice System are:-

Page 103



4 |   

 

 Community safety and public protection.

 The reduction of re-offending.

 Social inclusion to support desistance from offending.

 Any national outcomes prescribed in the future will also be adopted

 

3. Scope of Integration: 

Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland have agreed to delegate to Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board the following functions: 

 All NHS services that the legislation permits for delegation.

 All Adult social worksocial care services.

 All Children & Families social worksocial care services.

 All Criminal JusticeJustice social worksocial care services.

 

4. Finance arrangements: 

The general principles are agreed as: 

 The Council and NHS Highland recognise that they each have continuing 

financial governance responsibilities, and have agreed to establish Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board as a “joint operation” as defined by IFRS 11.

 The Council and NHS Highland will work together in the spirit of partnership, 

openness and transparency.

 The Council and NHS Highland payments to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board derive from a process that recognises that both organisations have 

expenditure commitments that cannot be avoided in the short to medium term. 

The Council and NHS Highland will prepare and maintain a record of what 

those commitments are and provide this to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board.

 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will monitor its financial position and 

make arrangements for the provision of regular, timely, reliable and relevant 

financial information on its financial position which will be shared with the 

Council and NHS Highland. Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board, the Council 

and NHS Highland will share financial information to ensure all parties have a 

full understanding of their current financial information and future financial 

challenges and funding streams.

 The existing financial regulations of the Council and NHS Highland will apply to 

resources transferred to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

Page 104



5 |   

Integration Scheme 

The Parties: 

The Argyll and Bute Council, established under the Local Government (Scotland) 

Act 1994 and having its principal offices at, Kilmory, Lochgilphead, Argyll, PA31 8RT 

(herein after referred to as “the Council”); 

 
And 

 
 

NHS Highland Health Board, established under section 2(1) of the National Health 

Service (Scotland) Act 1978 (operating as “Argyll and Bute CHP“) and having its 

principal offices at Assynt House, Beechwood Park, Inverness, IV2 3BW Aros, 

Lochgilphead, Argyll PA31 8LB] (hereinafter referred to as “NHS Highland”) (together 

referred to as “the Parties”). 

 
1. Definitions and Interpretation 

 
 

1.1 “The Act” means the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. 

 
 

1.2 “Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board” means the Integration Joint Board to be 

established by Order under section 9 of the Act. 

 
1.3 “Outcomes” means the Health and Wellbeing Outcomes prescribed by the 

Scottish Ministers in Regulations under section 5(1) of the Act. 

 
1.4 “The Integration Scheme Regulations” means The Public Bodies (Joint Working) 

(Integration Scheme) (Scotland) Regulations 2014. 

 
1.5 “Integration Joint Board Order” means The Public Bodies (Joint Working) 

(Integration Joint Boards) (Scotland) Order 2014. 

 
1.6 “Scheme” means this Integration Scheme.

Page 105



6 |   

 

1.7 “Strategic Plan” means the plan which Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is 

required to prepare and implement in relation to the delegated provision of health and 

social care services to adults and children in accordance with section 29 of the Act. 

1.8 ‘’Acute Services’’ means medical and surgical treatment provided mainly in 

hospitals and minor injury units. 

1.9 “Locality Planning Groups” means local management groups who are 

accountable for local services and have a level of devolved financial and operational 

responsibility to make decisions on the use of resources and service delivery for their 

communities. “Locality Planning Groups” mean local planning groups comprising 

representatives of local partners and stakeholders who are accountable to the 

Strategic Planning Group for the planning and partnership delivery of agreed local 

health and care service priorities. Their specific purpose is to develop a locality plan, 

influence priorities for their local area, agree mechanisms for the delivery of actions 

at a local level and review and report on the locality plan annually. 

 
In implementation of their obligations under the Act, the Parties hereby agree as 

follows: 

 
In accordance with section 1(2) of the Act, the Parties have agreed that the integration 

model set out in sections 1(4)(a) of the Act will be put in place for Argyll and Bute 

Health Integration Joint Board, namely the delegation of functions by the Parties to a 

body corporate that is to be established by Order under section 9 of the Act. This 

revised Scheme comes into effect on the date the Parliamentary Order to establish 

Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board comes into force. 

 
2. Local Governance Arrangements 

 
 

2.1 The role and constitution of the Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is 

established through legislation, with the Parties having agreed that the voting 

membership will be: 

 
2.1.1 NHS Highland: 4 members of the NHS Highland Health Board. 

 
 

2.1.2 Council: 4 Elected Members of the Council nominated by the Council. 

 
 

2.1.3 The Parties have agreed that the first Chair of Argyll and Bute Integration 

Page 106



7 |   

Joint Board will be the nominee of the Council. The term of office of the Chair 

and the Vice Chair will be a period of two years. 

 

2.2 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will sets out within its Strategic Plan how 

it will effectively use allocated resources to deliver the National Health and Wellbeing 

Outcomes prescribed by the Scottish Ministers in regulations under section 5(1) of the 

Act, namely that: 

 People are able to look after and improve their own health and wellbeing and 

live in good health for longer.

 People, including those with disabilities or long term conditions or who are frail 

are able to live, as far as reasonably practicable, independently and at home 

or in a homely setting in their community.

 People who use health and social care services have positive experiences of 

those services, and have their dignity respected.

 Health and social care services are centered on helping to maintain or improve 

the quality of life of people who use those services.

 Health and social care services contribute to reducing health inequalities.

 
 People who provide unpaid care are supported to look after their own health 

and wellbeing, including reducing any negative impact of their caring role on 

their own health and wellbeing.

 People using health and social care services are safe from harm.

 

 People who work in health and social care services feel engaged with the work 

they do and are supported to continuously improve the information, support, 

care and treatment they provide.

 Resources are used effectively and efficiently in the provision of health and 

social care services.

 Any other National Health and Well Being outcomes prescribed by the Scottish 

Ministers.

Page 107



8 |   

2.3 The Parties have agreed that Children and Families social worksocial care and 

Criminal JusticeJustice social worksocial care should be included within the functions 

and services to be delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board, therefore the 

specific national outcomes as detailed below for Children and Families and Criminal 

JusticeJustice are also included: 

 
The national outcomes for Children and Families are:- 

 Our children have the best start in life and are ready to succeed. 

 Our young people are successful learners, confident individuals, effective 

contributors and responsible citizens; and 

 We have improved the life chances of children, young people and families at 

risk. 

 Any national outcomes prescribed in the future will also be adopted. 

 

National outcomes and standards for Social WorkSocial Care Services in the Criminal 

JusticeJustice System are:- 

 Community safety and public protection. 

 The reduction of re-offending. 

 Social inclusion to support desistance from offending. 

 Any national outcomes prescribed in the future will also be adopted 

 

3. Delegation of Functions 

 
 

3.1 The Parties agree to delegate a comprehensive range of health and social care 

functions for adults and children to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
3.2 The functions that are to be delegated by NHS Highland to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board are set out in Annex 1. 

 
3.3 The functions that are to be delegated by the Council to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board are set out in Annex 2 

 
 

4. Local Operational Delivery Arrangements 

 
 

4.1 The local operational arrangements agreed by the Parties are: 

 

Page 108



9 |   

 

4.1.2 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board has responsibility for the planning and 

delivery of services. This will be achieved through the Strategic Plan. 

4.1.3 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is responsible for the operational 

oversight of Integrated Services, and through the Chief Officer will be 

responsible for the operational management of Integrated Services. 

4.1.4 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will be responsible for the operational 

oversight of the planning, commissioning and contracting of delegated Acute 

Services and through the Chief Officer will be responsible for the operational 

management, and budget of Acute Services. 

4.1.5 As the majority of Acute services are contracted from a neighbouring Health 

Board (NHS Greater Glasgow andor Clyde), Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board will be responsible for the operational oversight of Acute Services. A 

lead Director for Acute Services in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde (GG&C) 

has been identified as the contract liaison officer who is responsible for the 

operational management of Acute Services in NHS GG&C. 

4.1.6 NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde will provide information as part of the contract 

monitoring arrangements on a regular basis to the Chief Officer and Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board on the operational delivery and performance of 

these services. 

 
4.2 Support for Strategic Plan 

 

4.2.1 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is required under section 29 of 

the Act to prepare a strategic plan. All Health and Social Care Partnerships’ 

primary responsibility is the achievement of the national health and wellbeing 

outcomes through the delivery of the principles of integration. A critical element 

in discharging this responsibility is the production and delivery of a Strategic 

Plan. 

  

4.2.2 The NHS Board will share with Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

necessary activity and financial data for Services, facilities and resources that 

relate to the planned use of services by service users within Argyll and Bute 

for its service and for those provided by other Health Boards. 

 
4.2.3 The Council will share with Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

necessary activity and financial data for services, facilities and resources that 

relate to the planned use of services by service users within Argyll and Bute 

Page 109



10 |   

for its services and for those provided by other councils. 

 
4.2.4 The Parties agree to use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that other 

Integration Joint Boards and any other relevant Integration Authority will share 

the necessary activity and financial data for Services, facilities and resources 

that relate to the planned use by service users within the area of their 

Integration Authority. 

 
4.2.5 The Parties shall ensure that their Officers acting jointly will consider 

the Strategic Plans of the other Integration Joint Boards or Authorities to 

ensure that they do not prevent the Parties and Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board from carrying out their functions appropriately and in accordance 

with the Integration Planning and Delivery Principles, and to ensure they 

contribute to achieving the National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes. The 

Integration Authorities that are most likely to be affected by the Strategic Plan 

are: 

 

 West Dumbarton Integration Joint Board 

 Inverclyde and Renfrew and East Renfrew Integration Joint Boards share 

a common acute provider of services (NHS Great Glasgow and Clyde) 

 
4.2.6 The Parties shall advise Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board where 

they intend to change service provision of non- Integrated Services that will 

have a resultant impact on the Strategic Plan. 

 
4.2.7 The NHS Highland Board will consult with Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board to ensure that any overarching Strategic Plan for Acute Services 

and any plan setting out the capacity and resource levels required for non- 

delegated budgets for such Acute Services is appropriately co-ordinated with 

the delivery of Services across the NHS Highland area. The parties shall 

ensure that a group including the Chief Operating Officer, NHS Highland and 

Chief Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will meet regularly to 

discuss such issues. 

 

4.3 Corporate Support Services 
 

4.3.1 The Parties will continue to provide identify and put in place the corporate 

support required to fulfil the duties of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

The Parties will, by 1.04.2016: 

Page 110



11 |   

 Identify the corporate resources currently utilised to deliver the 

delegated functions. 

 

 Identify and aAgree on an ongoing basis, the corporate support services 

required to fully discharge Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board's 

duties under the Act. 

 

 The Parties will continue to provide Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board with the corporate support services it requires to fully discharge 

its duties under the Act .  

 
 The provision will be reviewed within the first year to ensure that it is 

adequate. 

 

4.4 Performance Targets, Improvement Measures and Reporting 

Arrangements 

4.4.1 The Parties will identify a core set of indicators that relate to services, 

from publicly accountable and national indicators and targets against which 

the Parties currently report. A list of indicators and measures which relate to 

integration functions will be collated in a Performance Management 

Framework and will provide information on the data gathering and reporting 

requirements for performance targets and improvement measures. The 

Parties will share all performance information, targets and indicators from the 

Performance Management Framework with Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board. The improvement measures will be a combination of existing and new 

measures that will allow assessment at local level. The performance targets 

and improvement measures will be linked to the national and local outcomes 

to assess the timeframe and the scope of change. 

 
4.4.2 The Performance Management Framework will also indicate where the 

responsibility for each measure lies, whether in full or in part. Where there is 

an ongoing requirement in respect of organisational accountability for a 

performance target for the NHS Board or the Council this will be taken into 

account by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board when preparing the 

Strategic Plan. 

 
4.4.3 The Performance Management Framework will also be used to prepare 

a list of any targets, measures and arrangements which relate to functions of 

Page 111



12 |   

the Parties, which are not delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board, but which are affected by the performance and funding of integration 

functions and which are to be taken account of by Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board when preparing the Strategic Plan. 

 
4.4.4 The Performance Management Framework will be reviewed regularly to 

ensure the improvement measures it contains continue to be relevant and 

reflective of the national and local outcomes to which they are aligned. 

 

4.4.5 The work on the core indicators, including HEAT Targets, National 

Health and Wellbeing Outcomes and locally agreed indicators and 

establishment of a Performance Management Framework will be completed 

by the 31st March 2016. 

 
4.4.64.4.5 The Parties will continue to provide support to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board for the Performance Targets, Improvement Measures 

and Reporting arrangements, including the effective monitoring and reporting 

of targets and measures for adjoining NHS Boards and Integration Joint 

Boards. 

 

4.4.74.4.6 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will receive performance 

management information for consideration, approval and agreement, and will act 

appropriately as necessary, in response to all relevant performance 

management information, including:-. 

 
4.4.6.1 Public Health and Wellbeing Status reports including analysis of Argyll 

and Bute population, at macro, demographic specific and locality level. 

 
4.4.6.2 Clinical and Care Governance reports to be assured of the quality, 

safety, risk and effectiveness of services. 

 
4.4.6.3  Staff Governance reports to be assured of compliance and best practice 

in workforce relations, workforce planning and organisational development. 

 
4.4.6.4 Patients and Users of Care Services; Involvement and Community 

Engagement reports ensuring their involvement in the shaping, delivery and 

evaluation of service performance. 

Page 112



13 |   

 
4.4.6.5 Financial Governance reports including financial management, budget 

setting recommendation, expenditure reporting, financial recovery plan and cost 

improvement plans for consideration and approval. 

 
4.4.6.6 Performance Management Framework information, to be assured of the 

performance of services against targets, indicators and outcomes. 

 
5. Clinical and Care Governance 

 
 

5.1 The Parties and Argyll and Bute Integration joint Board are accountable for 

ensuring appropriate clinical and care governance arrangements in respect of their 

duties under the Act. The Parties will have regard to the principles of the Scottish 

Government’s draft Clinical and Care Governance Framework, including the focus on 

localities and service user and carer feedback. 

 

5.2 The Parties recognise that the establishment and continuous review of the 

arrangements for Clinical and Care Governance and Professional Governance are 

essential in delivering their obligations and quality ambitions. The arrangements 

described in this section are designed to assure Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board of the quality and safety of services delivered in Argyll and  Bute. 

 
5.3 Explicit lines of professional and operational accountability are essential to 

assure Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board and the Parties of the robustness of 

governance arrangements for their duties under the Act. They underpin delivery of 

safe, effective and person-centered care in all care settings delivered by employees of 

the Council, NHS Highland and of the third and independent sectors, as well as the 

informal carers. 

 
5.4 In relation to existing health and social care services, NHS Highland is 

accountable for health functions and services, whilst Argyll and Bute Council is 

responsible for social care services. Professional governance responsibilities are 

carried out by the professional leads through to the health and social care professional 

regulatory bodies. 

 
5.5 The Chief Social Work Officer holds professional accountability for  social work 

and social care services. The Chief Social Work Officer reports directly to the Chief 

Page 113



14 |   

Executive and Elected Members of the Council in respect of professional social 

worksocial care matters. He/she is responsible for ensuring that social work and social 

care services are delivered in accordance with relevant legislation and that staff 

delivering such services do so in accordance with the requirements of the Scottish 

Social Services Council. 

 
5.6 Principles of Clinical and Care Governance will be embedded at service 

user/clinical care/professional interface using the framework outlined below. Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board will ensure that explicit arrangements are made for 

professional supervision, learning, support and continuous improvement for all staff. 

 
5.7 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will fulfil its devolved responsibility in 

terms of overseeing delivery of delegated functions by ensuring that there is evidence 

of effective performance management systems. Professional and service user 

networks or groups will inform the agreed Clinical and Care Governance framework 

directing the focus towards a quality approach and continuous improvement. 

 
5.8 The Clinical and Care Governance and Professional Governance framework will 

encompass the following: 

 
 Measure the quality of integrated service delivery by measuring delivery of 

personal outcomes and seeking feedback from service users and/or carers. 

 Professional regulation and workforce development. 

 Information governance. 

 Safety of integrated service delivery and personal outcomes and quality of 

registered services 

 
5.9 Each of the four elements, listed at 5.8, will be underpinned by mechanisms to 

measure quality, clinical and service effectiveness and sustainability. They will be 

compliant with statutory, legal and policy obligations strongly underpinned by human 

rights values and social justice. Service delivery will be evidence-based, underpinned 

by robust mechanisms to integrate professional education, research and 

development. 

 
5.10 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is responsible for embedding 

mechanisms for continuous improvement of all services through application of a 

Clinical and Care Governance and Professional Governance Framework. Argyll and 

Page 114



15 |   

Bute Integration Joint Board will be responsible for ensuring effective mechanisms for 

service user and carer feedback and for complaints handling. 

 
5.11 NHS Highland Executive Medical Director and Board Nurse Director share 

accountability for Clinical and Professional Governance across NHS Highland as a 

duty delegated by NHS Highland. This will include ensuring: 

 Quality monitoring and governance arrangements that include compliance 

with professional codes, legislation, standards, guidance and that these are 

regularly open to scrutiny.

 

 Systems and processes to ensure a workforce with the appropriate 

knowledge and skills to meet the needs of the local population.

 Effective internal systems that provide and publish clear, robust, accurate and 

timely information on the quality of service performance.

 Systems to support the structured, systematic monitoring, assessment and 

management of risk.

 Co-ordinated risk management, complaints, feedback and adverse 

events/incident system, ensuring that this focuses on learning, assurance and 

improvement.

 Improvement and learning in areas of challenge or risk that are identified 

through local governance mechanisms and external scrutiny.

 Mechanisms that encourage effective and open engagement with staff on the 

design, delivery, monitoring and improvement of the quality of care and 

services.

 Planned and strategic approaches to learning, improvement, innovation and 

development, supporting an effective organisational learning culture.

 
5.12 The Chief Medical DirectorOfficer, or his/her depute, will be a member of the 

Clinical and Care Governance Committee and will provide professional advice in 

respect of the overview and consistency of the Clinical and Care Governance and 

Professional Governance Framework. 

 
5.13 The Board Nurse Director, or his/her depute, will be a member of the Clinical 

and Care Governance Committee and will provide professional advice in respect of 

the overview and consistency of the Clinical and Care Governance and Professional 

Governance Framework. 

Page 115



16 |   

 
5.14 The Chief Social Work Officer, through delegated authority holds professional 

and operational accountability for the delivery of safe and high quality social work and 

social care services within the Council. An annual report on these matters will be 

provided to the Council, NHS Highland and Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 

5.15 The Chief Social Work Officer will be a member of the Clinical and Care 

Governance Committee and will provide professional advice in respect of the delivery 

of social work and social care services by Council staff and commissioned care 

providers in Argyll and Bute. 

 
5.16 The Parties, in support of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will put in place 

structures and processes to support clinical and care governance, thus providing 

assurance on the quality of health and social care in Argyll and Bute. A Clinical and 

Care Governance Committee, bringing together senior professional leaders across 

Argyll and Bute, including the Medical Director, Board Nurse Director, Chief Social 

Work Officer, and the Director of Public Health, will be established. This committee, 

chaired by one of its members, will ensure that quality monitoring and governance 

arrangements are in place for safe and effective health and social care service 

delivery in Argyll and Bute. This will include the following: 

 compliance with professional codes, legislation, standards, guidance

 systems and processes to ensure a workforce with the appropriate 

knowledge and skills to meet the needs of the local population.

 effective internal systems that provide and publish clear, robust, accurate 

and timely information on the quality of service performance.

 systems to support the structured, systematic monitoring, assessment and 

management of risk.

 co-ordinated risk management, complaints, feedback and adverse 

events/incident system, ensuring that this focuses on learning, assurance 

and improvement.

 improvement and learning in areas of challenge or risk that are identified 

through local governance mechanisms and external scrutiny.

 mechanisms that encourage effective and open engagement with staff on 

the design, delivery, monitoring and improvement of the quality of care and 

services.

 planned and strategic approaches to learning, improvement, innovation and 

development, supporting an effective organisational learning culture.

Page 116



17 |   

 

5.17 The Clinical and Care Governance Committee will provide advice to Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board; The Strategic Planning Group and to locality planning 

groups, all of whom may seek relevant advice directly from the Clinical and Care 

Governance Committee, as required. 

 
5.18 Arrangements will be put in place so that the Area Clinical Forums, Managed 

Care networks, other appropriate professional groups, and the Adult and Child 

Protection Committees are able to directly provide advice to the Clinical and Care 

Governance Committee. 

 
5.19 The Clinical and Care Governance Committee will report directly to Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board and will provide clear robust, accurate and timely 

information on the quality of service performance. 

 

5.20 Information will be used to provide oversight and guidance to the Strategic 

Planning Group in respect of Clinical and Care Governance and Professional 

Governance, for the delivery of Health and Social Care Services across localities 

identified in the Strategic Plan. 

 
5.21 Annexe 3 provides a schematic to show the systems governance arrangements. 

 
5.22 Annexe 4 provides a schematic to show the clinical and care governance 

arrangements. 

 
6. Chief Officer 

 
 

6.1 The Chief Officer has both strategic and operational responsibility for the delivery 

of services. The Chief Officer will be directly responsible to and line-managed by the 

Chief Executive Officers of both Parties, and via the Chief Executive Officers is 

responsible to NHS Highland and the Council. The Chief Officer is also accountable 

to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 

6.2 The Chief Officer will be accountable directly to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board for the preparation, implementation of and reporting on the Strategic Plan. The 

Chief Officer will also be responsible for operational delivery of services and the 

appropriate management of staff and resources. 

Page 117



18 |   

 
6.3 The Chief Officer will establish a senior management team, equipped to direct 

and oversee the structures and procedures necessary to carry out all functions in 

accordance with the Strategic Plan. 

 
6.4 In the event that there is a prolonged period when the Chief Officer is unable or 

unavailable to fulfil his/her functions, interim arrangements will be required to 

temporarily replace the Chief Officer. The Parties will nominate suitably qualified and 

experienced senior officers to carry out the functions of the Chief Officer for the 

duration of the interim period, and submit the said nominations for approval by Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
6.5 The Chief Officer’s objectives will be set annually and performance appraised by 

the Chief Executive Officers of both Parties, in consultation with the Chair and Vice 

Chair of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
6.6 The Chief Officer will be a full member of both the Council and NHS Highland’s 

corporate management teams, as well as a non-voting member of Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. 

 
6.7 The Chief Officer will ensure the maintenance of an up to date integrated risk 

register in respect of all functions delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
6.8 The Chief Officer will routinely liaise with appropriate officers of NHS Highland in 

respect of the Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board’s role in contributing to the 

strategic planning of acute NHS healthcare services and provision (in accordance with 

the Act) and delivery of agreed targets that have mutual responsibility. Operational 

management of Integrated Services and acute services will be responsibility of the 

Chief Officer, as detailed in sections4.1.3,  4.1.4 and 4.1.5. 

 
6.9 The Chief Officer will routinely liaise with the relevant Executive 

Directorappropriate Officer(s) of the Council in respect of Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board’s role in informing strategic planning for local housing and the delivery of 

housing support services. Housing functions, apart from equipment, adaptations and 

aspects that relate to personal support, are outside the scope of Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board; however, close liaison between the Chief Officer and the 

appropriate Officerexecutive Director(s) will assist in the strategic planning process. 

Page 118



19 |   

 
6.10 The Chief Officer will develop close working relationships with Elected Members 

of the Council and Executive and Non-Executive members of NHS Highland. 

 
6.11 The Chief Officer will establish and maintain effective relationships with a range 

of key stakeholders across the Scottish Government, NHS Highland, the Council, 

Independent and Third sectors, service users, Trades Unions, and professional 

organisations and informal carers. 

 
6.12 The Chief Officer will ensure appropriate arrangements are in place in respect 

of information governance and the requirements of the Information Commissioner’s 

Office. 

 
7. Workforce 

7.1 The Parties are committed to expand upon the existing transitional plans, to 

produce producing and maintaining a fully integrated Workforce and Organisational 

Development Plan, relating to the delegated functions, as prescribed in the Act. This 

will include engagement and learning and development for all staff, to promote the 

development of a robust organisational structure and healthy organisational culture. 

The plan will be complete by 01.04.2016 but will remain under annual review. Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board, Chief Officer will be responsible for implementation 

and review of the plan, in conjunction with the implementation of the Strategic Plan. 

 
7.2 The development of the plan will be remitted to the Human Resources and 

Workforce Development and Organisational Development work streams already in 

place, for completion. These workstreams are led by Human Resources and 

organisational Development Leads from both Parties and include NHS staff side 

(Trade Unions representing NHS Highland staff) and Trades Unions representatives 

(representing Council staff), as well as other key stakeholders. 

 

 
8. Finance 

 
 

8.1 Roles and Responsibilities 

 
 

8.1.1 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will make arrangements for the 

proper administration of its financial affairs by appointing a Chief Financial 

Page 119



20 |   

Officer to discharge the responsibilities that fall within Section 95 of the Local 

Government (Scotland) Act 1973. 

 
8.1.2 The Chief Financial Officer is accountable for financial management of 

delegated budgets and overall financial resources of Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.1.3 The Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will 

be responsible for managing preparation of the annual budget of the Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board, managing the medium term financial planning 

process to support the strategic plan, and providing financial advice and 

information to support the planning and delivery of services by Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.1.4 The Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will 

be responsible for producing regular finance reports to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board and managers, ensuring that those reports are timely, 

relevant and reliable. 

 
8.1.5 The Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will 

be responsible for preparing Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board’s accounts 

and ensuring compliance with statutory reporting requirements as a body 

under the relevant legislation. 

 
8.1.6 The Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will 

work with the Council Section 95 Officer and NHS Highland Director of Finance 

to ensure the Council and NHS Highland are kept informed on the financial 

position, performance and plans of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.1.7 The Council Section 95 Officer and NHS Highland Accountable 

Officertwo Chief Executive Officers are responsible for the resources that are 

allocated by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board to their respective 

organisations for operational delivery. 

 
8.1.8 The Chief Financial Officer will work with the Council Section 95 Officer 

and NHS Highland Director of Finance to ensure both organisations work 

together to develop systems which will allow the recording and reporting of 

Page 120



21 |   

Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board financial transactions. 

 
8.2 Management of Revenue Budget 

 
 

8.2.1 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board's Strategic Plan will incorporate a 

medium term financial plan for its resources. On an annual basis the annual 

financial statement will be prepared setting out the amount Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board intends to spend to implement its Strategic Plan. This 

will be known as the annual budget. The medium term financial strategy will be 

prepared for Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board following discussions with 

the Council and NHS Highland who will provide a proposed budget based on 

payment for year 1, indicative payments for year 2 and 3 and outline projections 

for later years. The medium term financial strategy will be used in conjunction 

with the Strategic Plan to ensure the commissioned services by Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board are delivered within the financial resources available. 

 

8.2.2 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is able to hold reserves. There  is 

an expectation that it will deliver the objectives of the Strategic Plan within 

agreed resources. Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board cannot approve a 

budget which exceeds resources available would result in the reserves moving 

into a deficit. 

 
8.2.3 The term payment is used to maintain consistency with legislation and 

does not represent physical cash transfer. As Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board does not operate a bank account, the net difference between payments 

into and out of the Argyll and Bute Integrated Joint Board will result in a 

balancing cash payment between the Council and NHS Highland. An initial 

schedule of payments will be agreed within the first 40 working days of each 

new financial year and may be updated taking into account any additional 

payments in-year. 

 
8.2.4 The Council and NHS Highland will establish a core baseline budget for 

each function and service that is delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board to form an integrated budget. 

 
8.2.5 The budgets will be based on recurring baseline budgets plus 

anticipated non-recurring funding for which there is a degree of certainty for 

Page 121



22 |   

each of the functions delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board and 

will take account of any applicable inflationary uplift, planned efficiency savings 

and any financial strategy assumptions. These budgets will form the basis of 

the payments to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. These budgets will be 

reviewed against actual levels of expenditure for the previous 3 financial years. 

For NHS funding, the starting point will normally be the Argyll & Bute NRAC 

share of baseline funding. 

 
8.2.6 For each financial year iInformation will be provided by the Parties on the 

financial performance of the delegated services against budget in their 

respective areas for the last 3 years to enable all parties to undertake due 

diligence to gain assurance that the delegated resources are sufficient to 

deliver the delegated functions. 

 
8.2.7 The Parties will each prepare a schedule outlining the detail and total 

value of the proposed initial payment in each financial year, the underlying 

assumptions behind that initial payment and the financial performance against 

budget for the delegated services in the precedingshadow year for their 

respective areas. These schedules should be prepared and concluded at least 

one month before the start of the financial year they relate to. The payment 

will include funding relating to service level agreements for hospital services 

provided by other Health Boards to Argyll and Bute residents. The schedules 

will also identify any amounts included in the payments that are subject to 

separate legislation or subject to restrictions stipulated by third party funders. 

These documents must be approved by the Director of Finance for NHS 

Highland and the Section 95 Officer for the Council prior to submission to 

Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.2.8 The Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board Chief Financial Officer will 

review these documents and reach agreement with both parties on the value 

of the initial payment. The Chief Financial Officer will then prepare a schedule 

that describes the agreed value of the payments. The Council’s Section 95 

Officer, NHS Highland Director of Finance and Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board Chief Officer must sign this schedule to confirm their agreement. 

 
8.2.9 The process for agreeing the subsequent payments to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board will be contingent on the corporate planning and 

Page 122



23 |   

financial planning processes of the Council and NHS Highland. The funding 

available to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will be dependent on the 

funding available to the Council and NHS Highland and the corporate priorities 

of both. Both parties will provide indicative three year allocations to Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board subject to annual approval through the respective 

budget setting processes. These indicative allocations will take account of 

changes in NHS funding and changes in Council funding. 

 
8.2.10 Each year the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Officer of Argyll and 

Bute Integration Board should prepare a draft budget for Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board, based on the Strategic Planagreed funding and 

present this to the Council and NHS Highland for information within such 

timescale as may be agreed. 

 

8.2.11 The draft annual budget should be prepared to take account of the 

matters set out above and uses the previous year payment as a baseline that 

will be adjusted to take account of: 

 
 Activity Changes arising from the impact on resources in respect of 

increased demand (e.g. demographic pressures and increased 

prevalence of long term conditions) and for other planned activity 

changes. 

 Cost inflation on pay and other costs. 

 Efficiency savings that can be applied to budgets. 

 Performance on outcomes. The potential impact of efficiencies on 

agreed outcomes must be clearly stated and open to challenge by the 

Council and NHS Highland. 

 Legal requirements that result in additional and unavoidable expenditure 

commitments. 

 Transfers to/from the set aside budget for hospital services set out in the 

Strategic Plan. 

 Budget savings required to ensure budgeted expenditure is in line with 

funding available including an assessment of the impact and risks 

associated with these savings. 

 
8.2.12 The Director of Finance of NHS Highland, the Section 95 Officer of the 

Page 123



24 |   

Council and the Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board will ensure a consistency of approach and application of processes in 

considering budget assumptions and proposals. 

 
8.2.13 Due diligence of the Council and NHS Highland contributions will be 

undertaken annually and the Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board will prepare a schedule outlining the agreed value of 

the payments. The schedule must be approved by Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board Chief Officer,; the Council Section 95 Officer and the NHS 

Highland Director of Finance. 

 

8.2.14 The allocations made from Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board to 

the Council and NHS Highland for operational delivery of services will be 

approved by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. The value of the payments 

will be as set out in the Strategic Plan and supporting financial plan. 

 
8.2.15 The annual direction from Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board to the 

Council and NHS Highland will take the form of a letter from the Chief Officer 

referring to the arrangements for delivery set out in the Strategic Plan and will 

include information on: 

 The delegated function/(s) that are being directed. 

 The outcomes and activity levels to be delivered for those delegated 

functions. 

 The amount of and method of determining the payment to carry out the 

delegated functions. 

 
8.2.16 Once issued these can be amended or varied by a subsequent 

direction by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.2.17 Any potential deviation from the planned outturn should be reported to 

Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board, the Council and NHS Highland at the 

earliest opportunity. 

 
8.2.18 Where it is forecast that an overspend will arise then the Chief Officer 

and Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will 

identify the cause of the forecast overspend and prepare a recovery plan 

setting out how they propose to address the forecast overspend and return to 

Page 124



25 |   

a breakeven position. The Chief Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board should consult the Section 95 Officer of the 

Council and the Director of Finance of NHS Highland in preparing the recovery 

plan. The recovery plan should be approved by Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board. The report setting out the explanation of the forecast overspend 

and the recovery plan should also be submitted to the Council and NHS 

Highland. 

 
8.2.19 A recovery plan should aim to bring the forecast expenditure of Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board back in line with the budget within the current 

financial year. Where an in year recovery cannot be achieved and then any 

recovery plan that extends into later years should ensure that over the period 

of the Strategic Plan forecast expenditure does not exceed the resources 

made available. Where a recovery plan extends beyond the current year the 

amount of any shortfall or deficit carried forward cannot exceed the reserves 

held by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board unless there is. Any recovery 

plan extending beyond in year will require prior approval of the Council and 

NHS Highland. in addition to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.2.20 Where recovery plans are unsuccessful and an overspend occurs at 

the financial year end, and there are insufficient reserves to meet the 

overspend, then the Parties will consider making interim funds available.  An 

analysis will be undertaken to determine the extent to which the overspends 

relate to either budgets delegated back to or activities managed by the Council 

or NHS Highland with the allocation of the interim funds being based on the 

outcome of this analysis. Any interim funds provided by the Council or NHS 

Highland will be repaid in future years based on a revised recovery plan 

agreed by both parent bodies, as required by either of the Parties. The NHS 

and Council will require to be satisfied that the recovery plan provides 

reasonable assurance that financial balance will be achieved.  If the revised 

recovery plan cannot be agreed by the Parties or is not approved by the 

Integration Joint Board, the dispute resolution mechanism in clause 14 hereof, 

will be followed.the Parties  will be required to make additional payments to 

Argyll and Bute Integrated Joint Board. Where there is a requirement for 

additional payments an analysis of the requirement for additional payments will 

be carried out to determine the extent to which they relate to either budgets 

delegated back to or activities managed by the Council or NHS Highland with 

Page 125



26 |   

the allocation of the additional payments being based on the outcome of this 

analysis. Any additional payments by the Council and NHS Highland will then 

be deducted from future years funding/payments. 

 

8.2.21 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board may, subject to there being no 

outstanding payments due to the partner bodies, retain any underspend to 

build up its own reserves and the Chief Financial Officer will maintaindevelop 

a reserves policy for Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.2.22 There will be arrangements in place to allow budget managers to vire 

budgets between different budget heads set out in the financial regulations. 

 
8.2.23 Redeterminations to payments made by the Council and NHS Highland 

to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board would apply under the following 

circumstances: 

 

 Additional one off funding is provided to Partner bodies by the Scottish 

Government, or some other body, for expenditure within a service area 

delegated to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. This would include 

in year allocations for NHS and redeterminations as part of the local 

government finance settlement. The payments to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board should be adjusted to reflect the full amount of 

these as they relate to the delegated services. The Parties agree that 

an adjustment to the payment is required to reflect changes to demand 

and activity levels. 

 Where either Party requires to reduce the payment to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board any proposal requires a justification to be set 

out and then agreed by both Parties and Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board. 

 
8.2.24 Where payments by the Council and NHS Highland are agreed under 

paragraphs 8.2.3 to 8.2.23 above they should only be varied as a result of the 

circumstances set out in paragraphs 8.2.16, 8.2.22 and 8.2.23. Any proposal 

to amend the payments out with the above, including any proposal to reduce 

payments as a result of changes in the financial circumstances of either the 

Council or NHS Highland requires a justification to be set out and the 

agreement of both Parties. 

Page 126



27 |   

 
8.3 Financial Systems 

 
 

8.3.1 The Chief Financial Officer will work with the Section 95 Officer of the  

Council and Director of Finance of NHS Highland to ensure appropriate systems 

and processes are in place to: 

 Allow execution of financial transactions. 

 Ensure an effective internal control environment over such  

 Maintain a record of the income expenditure, assets and liabilities 

of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 Enable reporting of the financial performance and position of Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 Maintain records of budgets, budget savings, forecast outturns, 

variances, variance explanations, proposed remedial actions and 

financial risks. 

8.4 Financial reporting to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board: 

 
 

8.4.1 The Chief Financial Officer will provide comprehensive financial 

monitoring reports to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board on a monthly 

basis. These reports will set out information on actual expenditure and budget 

for the year to date and forecast outturn against annual budget together with 

explanations of significant variances and details of any action required. These 

reports will also set out progress with achievement of any budgetary savings 

required. The Chief Financial Officer will also report to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board as appropriate in relation to: 

 
 Developing a medium and longer term financial strategy to 

support delivery of the Strategic Plan. 

 Preparation and review of the annual budget. 

 Collating and reviewing budget savings proposals. 

 Identifying and analysing financial risks. 

 Considering the proposals in relation to reserves. 

 

8.4.2 On a monthly basis the Parties will provide to the Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint BoardChief Financial Officer comprehensive financial 

Page 127



28 |   

monitoring reports. The reports will set out information on actual expenditure 

and budget for the year to date and forecast outturn against annual budget 

together with explanations of significant variances and details of any action 

required. These reports will also set out progress with achievement of any 

budgetary savings required. 

 

8.5 Financial reporting to management: 

 
 

8.5.1 The Chief Financial Officer will work with the Section 95 Officer of the 

Council and Director of Finance of NHS Highland to ensure: 

 Managers are consulted in preparing the budget of Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. 

 Managers are supported in identifying budgetary savings. 

 Managers are made aware of the budget they have available. 

 Managers are provided with information on actual income and 

expenditure. 

 Managers are provided with information on previous forecast outturns. 

 Managers are supported to provide up to date information on forecast  

outturns. 

 Managers are supported to provide explanations of significant variances. 

 Managers are supported to identify action required. 

 Managers are supported to identify and assess financial risks. 

 Managers are supported to identify and assess future medium to longer 

term budget implications. 

 
8.6 Financial Statements: 

 
 

8.6.1 The Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will 

supply any information required to support the development of the year-end 

financial statements and annual report for both the Council and NHS Highland. 

 
8.6.2 The Section 95 Officer of the Council and the Director of Finance of NHS 

Highland will supply the Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration 

Joint Board with any information required to support the development of the 

year-end financial statements and annual report of the Argyll and Bute 

Page 128



29 |   

Integration Joint Board. 

 

8.6.3 Prior to 31 January each year the Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board will agree with the Section 95 Officer of the Council 

and the Director of Finance of NHS Highland a procedure and timetable for the 

coming financial year end for reconciling payments and agreeing any balances. 

 
8.7 Capital Expenditure and Non-Current Assets 

 
 

8.7.1 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will not receive any capital 

allocations, grants or have the power to invest in capital expenditure nor will it 

own any property or other non-current assets. The Council and NHS Highland 

will: 

 Continue to own any property or non-current assets used by Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 Have access to sources of funding for capital expenditure. 

 Manage and deliver any capital expenditure on behalf of Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.7.2   The Chief Financial Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

will require to work with the relevant officers in the Council and NHS Highland 

to extract details of the prepare and maintain an asset registers of property 

and noncurrent assets used by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.7.3   The Chief Officer of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will work 

with the relevant officers in the Council and NHS Highland to prepare an asset 

management plan for Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board to be approved 

by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board within a timescale to be agreed 

annually by the Council and NHS Highland (it is expected this would normally 

be 30 September). The asset management plan will set out suitability, 

condition, risks, performance and investment needs related to existing 

property and other non-current assets identifying any new or significant 

changes to the asset base. 

 

8.7.4   Alongside the asset management plan the Chief Officer of Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board will work with the relevant officers in the Council 

Page 129



30 |   

and NHS Highland to prepare a bid for capital funding for property and other 

non-current assets used by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. This 

should be approved by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board within a 

timescale to be agreed annually with the Council and NHS Highland (it is 

expected this would normally be 30 September). A business case approach 

should be adopted to set out the need and assess the options for any 

proposed capital investment. Any business case will set out how the 

investment will meet the strategic objectives of Argyll and Bute Integrated 

Joint Board and set out the associated revenue costs. 

 
8.7.5   Whilst responsibility for managing and delivery of capital expenditure 

remains the responsibility of the Council or NHS Highland the relevant officers 

in the Council and NHS Highland will work with the Chief Officer of Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board to report quarterly on progress with capital 

expenditure related to property or other non-current assets used by Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.7.6   Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board, the Council and NHS Highland 

will work together to ensure capital expenditure and property or other non- 

current assets are used as effectively as possible and in compliance with the 

relevant legislation on use of public assets. 

 
Legacy projects will be managed by the relevant partner – either the Council 

or NHS Highland with reporting of progress as set out above. 

 
8.7.7   Depreciation of health owned property and other non-current assets 

used in the services within the scope of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board will be charged to the accounts of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board and incorporated in the budgets and payments to Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. 

 

8.7.8   Revenue costs from property and other non-current assets used in the 

services within the scope of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will be 

charged to the accounts of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board and 

incorporated in the budgets and payments to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board. 

Page 130



31 |   

 
8.7.9   Any gains or losses on disposal of property and other non-current 

assets used in the services within scope of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board will be retained within the accounts of the Council or NHS Highland and 

not charged to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
8.7.10 Capital receipts will be retained by the Council or NHS Highland. 

 
 

8.8 VAT 

 
 

8.8.1 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will not be required to be 

registered for VAT, on the basis it is not delivering any supplies that fall within 

the scope of VAT. The actual delivery of functions delegated to Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board will continue to be the responsibility of the 

Council and NHS Highland. 

 
8.8.2   Both the Council and NHS Highland will continue to adhere to their 

respective VAT arrangements which will be accounted for through respective 

financial ledgers and statements. The Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

will consult HMRC regarding any VAT issues arising from proposed transfer of 

services between the Parties (e.g. VAT leakage) taking specialist external 

VAT advice beforehand if necessary. 

 
9 Participation and Engagement 

 
 

9.1 A joint consultation took place on the revised iIntegration sScheme took place 

during December/January 2019/20. The stakeholders who were consulted in this joint 

consultation were: 

 Local communities / general public 

 Health professionals; GPs, management teams, clinical groups including 

Nursing Staff and Allied Health Professionals 

 Social work and social care professionals 

 Users of health services 

 Carers of users of health care 

 Commercial providers of health care 

 Non-commercial providers of health care 

Page 131



32 |   

 Argyll and Bute Council employees 

 Staff side / Trades Unions 

 Users of social care 

 Carers of users of social care 

 Commercial providers of social care 

 Non-commercial providers of social care 

 Non-commercial providers of social housing 

 The Highland Council 

 Argyll and Bute Public Partnership Forums 

 Community / voluntary / Third Sector organisations 

 Community Councils 

 Argyll and Bute Council - local Councillors 

 Scottish Ambulance Service 

 NHS 24 

 Scottish Health Council 

 Local MPs / MSPs 

 Dentists 

 Pharmacists 

 NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde 

 Police Scotland 

 ScottishScotland Fire & Rescue 

 Argyll and Bute Advice Network (ABAN) 

 Lomond & Argyll Advocacy Service 

 Citizens Advice Bureau / Patient Advice & Support Service (PASS) 

 Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership 
 
 

9.2 The range of methodologies used to contact these stakeholders included both 

Parties’ websites and intranets, third sector external website, e- mail and postal 

correspondence. 

 
9.3 The Parties will support Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board to 

develop a Participation and Engagement strategy by providing appropriate 

resources and support. The existing Communication and Engagement Plan 

will inform the development of the Participation and Engagement Strategy 

ensuring significant engagement with, and participation by, members of the 

public, representative groups and other organisations in relation to decisions 

Page 132



33 |   

about the carrying out of integration functions. This strategy shall be 

developed alongside the Strategic Plan and will be approved by Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board prior to consultation on the Strategic Plan. 

 
9.49.3 Key principles of the Communications and Engagement Plan 

demonstrate the value of feedback and the way it influences improvement - 

“You Said, We Did” philosophy. A range of methodologies will be employed to 

capture this including social media and web based technology e.g. Patient 

Opinion. The Communication and Engagement Strategy, along with the 

supporting Engagement Framework and Quality standards provides a 

platform for stakeholders to have their voices heard, their views considered 

and acknowledged, as well as strengthening relationships and building 

capacity.  The Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board has adopted the “You 

Said, We Did” philosophy. A wide range of engagement methods have been 

adopted. 

 
9.59.4 The Parties will carry out Equality and Socio-Economic Impact 

Assessments (EQSEIAs) / Planning for Fairness Assessments (PFFs), to 

ensure that services and policies do not disadvantage communities and staff. 

 
9.69.5 The Parties will continue to allocate responsibility to senior 

managers and their teams to support local public and staff involvement and 

communication. 

 
10 Information Sharing and Data Handling 

 
 

The Parties agree to be bound by the Data Sharing Protocol and to continuance of the existing agreement to use the Scottish 
Accord on the Sharing of Personal Information (SASPI), in respect of information sharing.  

10.1  

10.210.1 The Parties agree to be bound by the Information Sharing Protocol and to 

continuance of the existing agreement to use the Scottish Information Sharing 

Toolkit and guidance from the Information Commissioners Office, in respect of 

information sharing. 

 
10.310.2  The Parties have developed an Information Sharing Protocol which covers 

guidance and procedures for staff for sharing of information. 

 
10.410.3 All staff managed within the delegated functions will be contractually required 

Page 133



34 |   

to comply and adhere to respective local information security policies and 

procedures including data confidentiality policies of their employing organisations 

and the requirements of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board’s agreed Information 

Sharing Protocol. 

 
10.510.4 The Parties have established a group to agree the Information Sharing 

Protocol and procedures before 1st April 2016. Agreements and procedures will be 

reviewed annually by the group, or more frequently if required. The NHS Highland 

Information Assurance Group and Argyll and Bute Council Information Security 

Forum, acting on behalf of the Parties will meet annually to review the Protocol and 

will provide a report detailing recommendations for amendments, for the 

consideration of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. In the event of amendment 

being required outside of that timescale the NHS Highland Information Assurance 

Group and Argyll and Bute Council Information Security Forum acting on behalf of 

the Parties will meet, agree the recommended amendment(s) and provide this 

information to the Chief Officer, who will then appropriately inform Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. The Data Protection Officers of NHS Highland and Argyll 

and Bute Council, acting on behalf of the Parties, will meet annually, or more 

frequently, if required, to review the Information Sharing Protocol and will provide a 

report detailing recommendations for amendments, for the consideration of Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
10.610.5 With regard to individually identifiable material, data will be held in both 

electronic and paper formats and only be accessed by authorised staff, in order to 

provide the patient or service user with the appropriate service. In order to provide 

fully integrated services it may be necessary to share information within the 

delegated functions and with external agencies. Where this is the case Argyll and 

Bute Integration Joint Board will seek the consent of the service user for the sharing 

of data, unless a statutory requirement exists. In order to comply with the Data 

Protection Act 1998, Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will always ensure that 

personal data it processes will be handled fairly, lawfully and within justification. 

 

In order to comply with the Data Protection Act 1998 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board will ensure that any personal data that it holds will be processed in line with the 

Data Protection Principles contained within Schedule 1 of the Act.  

10.710.6 In order to provide fully integrated services it will be necessary to share 

Page 134



35 |   

personal information between the parties and with external agencies. Where this is 

the case Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board will apply a legal basis contained in 

Article 6 of the General Data Protection Regulations (‘the GDPR’), generally, this will 

be either public task or legal obligation but where appropriate any of the other legal 

basis contained in Article 6 will be used. 

 

10.810.7 Where the sharing consists of ‘special category’ information the legal 

basis for sharing will be consistent with the requirements of Article 9 of the GDPR 

and schedule 1 of the Data Protection Act 2018 (‘the DPA’). 

 

10.8 In order to comply with the requirements of the DPA and the GDPR, Argyll 

and Bute Integration Joint Board will always ensure that personal data it holds will 

be processed in line with the Data Protection Principles contained within Article 5 of 

the GDPR and section 35- 40 of the DPA. 

 
11 Complaints 

 
 

The Parties agree the following arrangements in respect of complaints on behalf of or 

by service users. 

 
11.1 Both Parties will retain separate complaints policies reflecting the distinct 

statutory requirements. 

 
11.1.1 There will be a single point of contact for complainants. This will be 

agreed between the Parties to co-ordinate complaints specific to the delegated 

functions to ensure that the requirements of existing legal/prescribed elements 

of health and social worksocial care complaints processes are met. 

 
11.1.2 Staff within the delegated functions will apply the complaints policy of 

the relevant Party, depending on the nature of the complaint made. Where a 

complaint could be dealt with by the policies of both Parties, the appropriate 

manager will determine whether both need to be applied separately or a single 

joint response is appropriate. Where a joint response to such a complaint is not 

possible or appropriate, the material issues will be separated and progressed 

through the respective Party’s procedures. 

 

Page 135



36 |   

11.2 In the first instance all complaints will be handled by front line staff. If they are 

unresolved they will then be passed to a relevant senior manager and thereafter to 

the Chief Officer. 

 
11.3 If the complaint remains unresolved the complainant may refer the matter to the 

Scottish Public Services Ombudsman for health or the complaints review committee 

and/or the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman for social care as appropriate. 

 

11.4 All complaints procedures will be clearly explained, well publicised, accessible, 

will allow for timely recourse and will sign-post independent advocacy services. 

 
11.5 The person making the complaint will always be informed which policies are 

being applied to their complaint. 

 
11.6 The Parties will produce a quarterly joint report, outlining the learning from 

upheld complaints. This will be provided for consideration by Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board and the Clinical and Care Governance Committee. 

 
12 Claims Handling, Liability & Indemnity 

 
 

The Parties agree the following arrangements in respect of claims handling, liability 

and indemnity: 

 
12.1 Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board, whilst having a legal personality in its 

own right has neither assumed nor replaced the rights or responsibilities of either NHS 

Highland or the Council as the employers of staff who are managed within the 

delegated functions, or for the operation of buildings or services under the operational 

remit of those staff. 

 
12.2 The Parties will continue to indemnify, insure and accept responsibility for the 

staff that they employ; their particular capital assets that the Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board uses to deliver services with or from; and the respective 

services themselves, which each Party has delegated to the Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board. 

 
12.3 Liabilities arising from decisions taken by the Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board will be equally shared between the Parties. 

Page 136



37 |   

 
13 Risk Management 

 
 

13.1 The Parties will develop a shared risk management strategy that will identify, 

assess and prioritise risks related to the delivery of services under integration 

functions, particularly any which are likely to affect Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board’s delivery of the Strategic Plan. 

 
13.2 The risk management strategy will identify and describe processes for 

mitigating those risks and set out and agree the reporting standard, which will 

include: 

 Risk Management Process 
 

 Escalation of Risks 
 

 Risk Register and Action Plans 
 

 Risk Tolerance 
 

 Training 

 

13.3 The risk management strategy will be approved by both Parties. The risk 

management strategy will allow for any subsequent changes to the strategy to be 

approved by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
13.4 The risk management strategy will include an agreed risk monitoring framework 

and arrangements for reporting risks and risk information to the relevant parties from 

the date of inception of Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. 

 
13.5 The Parties will develop an integrated risk register that will set out the key risks 

for Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board. Risk officers from each of the Parties will 

review respective procedures and formulate revised procedures which will allow 

associated risks, scoring and mitigations to be identified for inclusion in the integrated 

risk register by 01.04.2016. 

 
13.6 The Integrated Risk Register will be reported to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint 

Board on a timescale and format agreed by Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

but this will not be less that once per year. 

 

Page 137



38 |   

13.7 The risk integrated management strategy will set out the process for amending 

the integrated risk register. 

 
13.8 The Parties will make appropriate resources available to support Argyll and Bute 

Integration Joint Board in its risk management. 

 
14 Dispute resolution mechanism 

 
 

14.1 Where either of the Parties fails to agree with the other on any issue related to 

this Scheme, they will follow a process which comprises: 

 
14.1.1 A representative of NHS Highland and the Council will meet to resolve 

the issue, supported by appropriate Officers. 

14.1.2 In the event that the issue remains unresolved, the Chief Executive 

Officers of NHS Highland and the Council, and the Chief Officer, will meet to 

resolve the issue, supported by appropriate Officers. 

14.1.3 In the event that the issue remains unresolved, the Chair of NHS 

Highland and the Leader nominated representatives of the Council will meet to 

resolve the issue, supported by appropriate Officers. 

14.1.4 In the event that the issue remains unresolved, NHS Highland and the 

Council will proceed to mediation with a view to resolving the issue. 

 

14.2 With regard to the process of appointing a mediator, a representative of NHS 

Highland and a representative of the Council will meet with a view to appointing a 

suitable independent mediator. If agreement cannot be reached a referral will be made 

to the President of The Law Society of Scotland inviting the President to appoint a 

mediator. The Parties agree to share the cost of appointing a mediator. 

 
14.3 Where an issue remains unresolved following the process of mediation, the 

Chief Executive Officers of NHS Highland and the Council will communicate in writing 

with Scottish Ministers, on behalf of the Parties, informing them of the issue under 

dispute and that agreement cannot be reached.

Page 138



39 |   

 

Annex 1 

Part 1 

Functions delegated by NHS Highland to the Integration Joint Board 

 
 

Functions prescribed for the purposes of section 1 (6) of the act 

Column A Column B 
 

The National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 
 

All functions of Health Boards conferred by, or 

by virtue of, the National Health Service 

(Scotland) Act 1978 

Except functions conferred by or by virtue of— 
 

section 2(7) (Health Boards); 

section 2CB (ref footnote 1) (Functions of 

Health Boards outside Scotland); 

section 9 (local consultative committees); 

section 17A (NHS Contracts); 

section 17C (personal medical or dental 

services); 

section 17I(1) (use of accommodation); 

section 17J (Health Boards’ power to enter into 

general medical services contracts); 

section 28A (remuneration for Part II services); 

section 48 (provision of residential and practice 

accommodation); 

section 55(2) (hospital accommodation on part 

payment); 

section 57 (accommodation and services for 

private patients); 

 

section 64 (permission for use of facilities in 

private practice); 

section 75A(3) (remission and repayment of 

charges and payment of travelling expenses); 

section 75B(4)(reimbursement of the cost of 

services provided in another EEA state); 

 
 

(1) Section 17I was inserted by the National Health Service (Primary Care) Act 1997 (c.46), 

Schedule 2 and amended by the Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Act 2004 (asp 1), section 4. 

The functions of the Scottish Ministers under section 17I are conferred on Health Boards by virtue of 
S.I. 1991/570, as amended by S.S.I. 2006/132. 

(2) Section 55 was amended by the Health and Medicines Act 1988 (c.49), section 7(9) and 

Schedule 3 and the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 (c.19), Schedule 9. The 
functions of the Secretary of State under section 55 are conferred on Health Boards by virtue of S.I. 
1991/570. 

(3) Section 75A was inserted by the Social Security Act 1988 (c.7), section 14, and relevantly 

amended by S.S.I. 2010/283. The functions of the Scottish Ministers in respect of the payment of 

expenses under section 75A are conferred on Health Boards by S.S.I. 1991/570.

Page 139



40 |   

 

section 75BA (5)(reimbursement of the cost of 

services provided in another EEA state where 

expenditure is incurred on or after 25 October 

2013); 

section 79 (purchase of land and moveable 

property); 

section 82(6) use and administration of certain 

endowments and other property held by Health 

Boards); 

section 86 (accounts of health Boards and the 

Agency) 

section 88 (payment of allowances and 

remuneration to members of certain bodies 

connected with the health services); 

section 98 (7) (charges in respect of non- 

residents); and 

paragraphs 4, 5, 11A and 13 of Schedule 1 to 

the Act (Health Boards); 

and functions conferred by— 

The National Health Service (Charges to 

Overseas Visitors) (Scotland) Regulations 1989 

(8); 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
(4) Section 75B was inserted by S.S.I. 2010/283, regulation 3(3) and amended by S.S.I. 

2013/177. 
(5) Section 75BA was inserted by S.S.I. 2013/292, regulation 8(4). 
(6) Section 82 was amended by the Public Appointments and Public Bodies etc. (Scotland) Act 

2003 (asp 7) section 1(2) and the National Health Service Reform (Scotland) Act 2004 (asp 7), 

schedule 2. 
(7) Section 98 was amended by the Health and Medicines Act 1988 (c.49), section 7. The 
functions of the Secretary of State under section 98 in respect of the making, recovering, determination 

and calculation of charges in accordance with regulations made under that section is conferred on 

Health Boards by virtue of S.S.I. 1991/570. 

(8) S.I. 1989/364, as amended by S.I. 1992/411;  S.I.  1994/1770;  S.S.I.  2004/369;  S.S.I.  2005/455; 

S.S.I. 2005/572 S.S.I. 2006/141; S.S.I. 2008/290; S.S.I. 2011/25 and S.S.I. 2013/177

Page 140



41 |   

The Health  Boards (Membership and 

Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2001/302; 

The National  Health  Service  (Clinical 

Negligence and  Other   Risks Indemnity 

Scheme) (Scotland) Regulations 2000/54; 

 
The National Health Services (Primary Medical 

Services Performers Lists) (Scotland) 

Regulations 2004/114; 

The National Health Service (Primary Medical 

Services Section 17C Agreements) (Scotland) 

Regulations 2004; 

 
The National Health Service (Discipline 

Committees) Regulations 2006/330; 

 

The National Health Service (General 

Ophthalmic Services) (Scotland) Regulations 

2006/135; 

The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical 

Services) (Scotland) Regulations 2009/183; 

 

The National Health Service (General Dental 

Services) (Scotland) Regulations 2010/205; and 

The National Health Service (Free Prescription 

and Charges for Drugs and Appliances) 

(Scotland) Regulations 2011/55(9). 

 

Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986 

Section 7 

(Persons discharged from hospital) 

 

 

 
Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 

 

All functions of Health Boards conferred by, or 

by virtue of, the Community Care and Health 

(Scotland) Act 2002. 

Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 

All functions of Health Boards conferred by, or 

by virtue of, the Mental Health (Care and 

Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003. 

Except functions conferred by— 
 

section 22 (Approved medical practitioners); 

 

section 264 (Detention in conditions of 

excessive security: state hospitals); 

 
 

(9) S.S.I. 2011/55, to which there are amendments not relevant to the exercise of a Health 

Board’s functions. 

Page 141



42 |   

Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2004 

Section 23 

(other agencies etc. to help in exercise of 

functions under this Act) 

Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 
 

All functions of Health Boards conferred by, or 

by virtue of, the Public Services Reform 

(Scotland) Act 2010 

 

 

 

Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011 

All functions of Health Boards conferred by, or 

by virtue of, the Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 

2011 

 

 
Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 

2014 

 
All functions of Health Boards conferred by, 

or by virtue of, Part 4 (provision of named 

persons) and Part 5 (child's plan) of the 

Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 

2014. 

 
Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 

 
Section 12 (duty to prepare young carer 

statement)” 

 
Section 31 

(duty to prepare local carer strategy) 
 

Except functions conferred by— 
 

section 31(Public functions: duties to provide 

information on certain expenditure etc.); and 

section 32 (Public functions: duty to provide 

information on exercise of functions). 

 

 
Except functions conferred by The Patient 

Rights (Complaints Procedure and 

Consequential Provisions) (Scotland) 

Regulations 2012/36(10). 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(10) S.S.I. 2012/36. Section 5(2) of the Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011 (asp 5) provides a 

definition of “relevant NHS body” relevant to the exercise of a Health Board’s functions.

Page 142



44 |   

Part 2 

Services currently provided by NHS Highland which are to be integrated 

 
 

 Hospital inpatient (scheduled and unscheduled) 

 Rural General Hospitals 

 Mental Health 

 Pediatrics 

 Community Hospitals 

 Hospital Outpatient Services 

 NHS Community Services (Nursing, Allied Health Professionals, Mental Health 

Teams, Specialist End of Life Care, Homeless Service, Older Adult Community 

Psychiatric Nursing, Re-ablement, Geriatricians Community/Acute, Learning 

Disability Specialist, Community Midwifery, Speech and Language Therapy, 

Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy, Audiology 

 Community Children's Services - Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service, 

Primary Mental Health workers, Public Health Nursing, Health visiting, School 

Nursing, Learning Disability Nursing, Child Protection Advisors, Speech and 

Language Therapy, Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy and Audiology, 

Specialist Child Health Doctors and Service Community Pediatricians 

 Public Health 

 GP Services 

 GP Prescribing 

 General Dental, Opticians and Community Pharmacy 

 Support Services 

 Contracts and Service Level agreements with other NHS boards covering 

adults and children

Page 143



45 |   

 
 

 

Annex 2 

Part 1 

Functions delegated by the Council to Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

 
Functions prescribed for the purposes of section 1(7) of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 

2014 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

National Assistance Act 1948(11) 

Column B 

Limitation 

 

Section 48 

(Duty of councils to provide temporary 

protection for property of persons admitted to 

hospitals etc.) 
 

The Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1958(12) 

Section 3 

(Provision of sheltered employment by local 

authorities) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

(11) 1948 c.29; section 48 was amended by the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 (c.39), 

Schedule 39, paragraph 31(4) and the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007 (asp 10) 

schedule 2 paragraph 1. 

(12) 1958 c.33; section 3 was amended by the Local Government Act 1972 (c.70), section 195(6); 

the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 (c.65), Schedule 27; the National Health Service (Scotland) 

Act 1978 (c.70), schedule 23; the Local Government Act 1985 (c.51), Schedule 17; the Local 

Government (Wales) Act 1994 (c.19), Schedules 10 and 18; the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 
1994 (c.49), Schedule 13; and the National Health Service (Consequential Provisions) Act 2006 (c.43), 

Schedule 1

Page 144



46 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

The Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968(13) 

Section 1 

(Local authorities for the administration of the 

Act.) 

Column B 

Limitation 

 
 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function.

 
Section 4 

(Provisions relating to performance of functions 

by local authorities.) 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function. 

 
Section 8 

(Research.) 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function.

Section 10 

(Financial and other assistance to voluntary 

organisations etc. for social work.) 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function. 

Section 12 

(General social welfare services of local 

authorities.) 

Except in so far as it is exercisable in relation to 

the provision of housing support services.

Section 12A 

(Duty of local authorities to assess needs.) 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another integration function. 

 
 

(13) 1968 c.49; section 1 was relevantly amended by the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 

1972 (c.58), schedule 7; the Children Act 1989 (c.41), Schedule 15; the National Health Service and 

Community Care Act 1990 (c.19) (“the 1990 Act”), schedule 10; S.S.I. 2005/486 and S.S.I. 2013/211. 

Section 4 was amended by the 1990 Act, Schedule 9, the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (c.36) (“the 

1995 Act”), schedule 4; the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 (asp 13) (“the 

2003 Act”), schedule 4; and S.S.I. 2013/211. Section 10 was relevantly amended by the Children  Act 

1975 (c.72), Schedule 2; the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 (c.39), Schedule 13; the 

Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001 (asp 8) (“the 2001 Act”) schedule 3; S.S.I. 2010/21 and S.S.I. 

2011/211. Section 12 was relevantly amended by the 1990 Act, section 66 and Schedule 9; the 1995 

Act, Schedule 4; and the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 (c.33), section 120(2). Section 12A was 

inserted by the 1990 Act, section 55, and amended by the Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995 

(c.12), section 2(3) and the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 (asp 5) (“the 2002 Act”), 

sections 8 and 9(1). Section 12AZA was inserted by the Social Care (Self Directed Support) (Scotland) 

Act 2013 (asp 1), section 17. Section 12AA and 12AB were inserted by the 2002 Act, section 9(2). 

Section 13 was amended by the Community Care (Direct Payments) Act 1996 (c.30), section 5. 

Section 13ZA was inserted by the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007 (asp 10), section 

64. Section 13A was inserted by the 1990 Act, section 56 and amended by the Immigration and Asylum 

Act 1999 (c.33), section 102(2); the 2001 Act, section 72 and schedule 3; the 2002 Act, schedule 2 and 

by S.S.I. 2011/211. Section 13B was inserted by the 1990 Act sections 56 and 67(2) and amended by 

the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 (c.33), section 120(3). Section 14 was amended by the Health 

Services and Public Health Act 1968 (c.46), sections 13, 44 and 45; the National Health Service 

(Scotland) Act 1972 (c.58), schedule 7; the Guardianship Act 1973 (c.29), section 11(5); the Health 

and Social Service and Social Security Adjudications Act 1983 (c.41), schedule 10 and the 1990 Act, 

schedule 9. Section 28 was amended by the Social Security Act 1986 (c.50), Schedule 11 and the 

1995 Act, schedule 4. Section 29 was amended by the 1995 Act, schedule 4. Section 59 was amended 

by the 1990 Act, schedule 9; the 2001 Act, section 72(c); the 2003 Act, section 25(4) and schedule 4 

and by S.S.I. 2013/211. 

Page 145



47 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Section 12AZA 

(Assessments under section 12A - assistance) 

Column B 

Limitation 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function. 

 

 
Section 13 

(Power of local authorities to assist persons in 

need in disposal of produce of their work.) 
 

Section 13ZA 

(Provision of services to incapable adults.) 
 

Section 13A 

(Residential accommodation with nursing.) 
 

Section 13B 

(Provision of care or aftercare.) 
 

Section 14 

(Home help and laundry facilities.) 
 

Section 28 

(Burial or cremation of the dead.) 

 

Section 29 

(Power of local authority to defray expenses of 

parent, etc., visiting persons or attending 

funerals.) 
 

Section 59 

(Provision of residential and other 

establishments by local authorities and 

maximum period for repayment of sums 

borrowed for such provision.) 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to persons 

cared for or assisted under another integration 

function. 

 

 

 

 
 

So far as it is exercisable in relation to another 

integration function. 

The Local Government and Planning (Scotland) Act 1982(14) 

Section 24(1) 

(The provision of gardening assistance for the 

disabled and the elderly.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986(15) 

 

(14) 1982 c.43; section 24(1) was amended by the Local Government etc. (Scotland) Act 1994 

(c.39), schedule 13. 

Page 146



48 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Section 2 

(Rights   of   authorised representatives of 

disabled persons.) 

Section 3 

(Assessment by local authorities of needs of 

disabled persons.) 

Section 7 

(Persons discharged from hospital.) 

 

 

Section 8 

(Duty of local authority to take into account 

abilities of carer.) 

Column B 

Limitation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In respect of the assessment of need for any 

services provided under functions contained in 

welfare enactments within the meaning of 

section 16 and which have been delegated. 
 

In respect of the assessment of need for any 

services provided under functions contained in 

welfare enactments (within the meaning set out 

in section 16 of that Act) which are integration 

functions. 

The Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000(16) 

Section 10 

(Functions of local authorities.) 
 

Section 12 

(Investigations.) 
 

Section 37 

(Residents whose affairs may be managed.) 
 

Section 39 

(Matters which may be managed.) 

 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions. 

 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions. 

 

Section 41 

(Duties and functions of managers of authorised 

establishment.) 

Section 42 

(Authorisation of named manager to withdraw 

from resident’s account.) 

Section 43 

(Statement of resident’s affairs.) 
 

Section 44 

(Resident ceasing to be resident of authorised 

establishment.) 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions 

 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions 

 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions 

 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions 

 
 

(15) 1986 c.33. There are amendments to sections 2 and 7 which are not relevant to the exercise 

of a local authority’s functions under those sections. 

(16) 2000 asp 4; section 12 was amended by the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) 

Act 2003 (asp 13), schedule 5(1). Section 37 was amended by S.S.I. 2005/465. Section 39 was 
amended by the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007 (asp 10), schedule 1 and by S.S.I. 

2013/137. Section 41 was amended by S.S.I. 2005/465; the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) 

Act 2007 (asp 10), schedule 1 and S.S.I. 2013/137. Section 45 was amended by the Regulation of 

Care (Scotland) Act 2001 (asp 8), Schedule 3. 

Page 147



49 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Section 45 

(Appeal, revocation etc.) 

 
The Housing (Scotland) Act 2001(17) 

Section 92 

(Assistance to a registered for housing 

purposes.) 

Column B 

Limitation 

Only in relation to residents of establishments 

which are managed under integration functions 

 

 
 

Only in so far as it relates to an aid or 

adaptation. 

 
The Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002(18) 

Section 5 

(Local authority arrangements for of residential 

accommodation outwith Scotland.) 

Section 14 

(Payments by local authorities towards 

expenditure by NHS bodies on prescribed 

functions.) 
 

The Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003(19) 

Section 17 

(Duties of Scottish Ministers, local authorities 

and others as respects Commission.) 

 

Section 25 

(Care and support services etc.) 

Except in so far as it is exercisable in relation to 

the provision of housing support services. 

 

Section 26 

(Services designed to promote well-being and 

social development.) 

Except in so far as it is exercisable in relation to 

the provision of housing support services. 

 

Section 27 

(Assistance with travel.) 
 

Section 33 

(Duty to inquire.) 
 

Section 34 

(Inquiries under section 33: Co-operation.) 
 

Section 228 

(Request for assessment of needs: duty on local 

authorities and Health Boards.) 

Except in so far as it is exercisable in relation to 

the provision of housing support services.

 
 

(17) 2001 asp 10; section 92 was amended by the Housing (Scotland) Act 2006 (asp 1), schedule 
7. 
(18) 2002 asp 5. 
(19) 2003 asp 13; section 17 was amended by the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 

(asp 8), section 111(4), and schedules 14 and 17, and by the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 

2012 (asp 8), schedule 7. Section 25 was amended by S.S.I. 2011/211. Section 34 was amended by 

the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 (asp 8), schedules 14 and 17.

Page 148



50 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Section 259 

(Advocacy.) 

The Housing (Scotland) Act 2006(20) 

Section 71(1)(b) 

(Assistance for housing purposes.) 

Column B 

Limitation 

 

 

 

 

 
Only in so far as it relates to an aid or 

adaptation. 

 

The Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007(21) 

Section 4 

(Council’s duty to make inquiries.) 
 

Section 5 

(Co-operation.) 
 

Section 6 

(Duty to consider importance of providing 

advocacy and other.) 

Section 11 

(Assessment Orders.) 
 

Section 14 

(Removal orders.) 
 

Section 18 

(Protection of moved persons property.) 
 

Section 22 

(Right to apply for a banning order.) 

 

Section 40 

(Urgent cases.) 

Section 42 

(Adult Protection Committees.) 
 

Section 43 

(Membership.) 

 

 

 
Social Care (Self-directed Support) (Scotland) Act 2013 ) 

 

 

(20) 2006 asp 1; section 71 was amended by the Housing (Scotland) Act 2010 (asp 17) section 

151. 

(21) 2007 asp 10; section 5 and section 42 were amended by the Public Services Reform 

(Scotland) Act 2010 (asp 8), schedules 14 and 17 and by the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 

2012 (asp 8), schedule 7. Section 43 was amended by the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 

2010 (asp 8), schedule 14. 
(22) 2013 asp 1. 

(22 

Page 149



51 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Column B 

Limitation 

 
 

 

 

Section 5 

(Choice of options: adults.) 

 

Section 6 

(Choice of options under section 5: 

assistances.) 

Section 7 

(Choice of options: adult carers.) 
 

Section 9 

(Provision of information about self-directed 

support.) 

Section 11 

(Local authority functions.) 
 

Section 12 

(Eligibility for direct payment: review.) 
 

Section 13 

(Further choice of options on material change 

of circumstances.) 

Section 16 

(Misuse of direct payment: recovery.) 

 
Section 19 

(Promotion of options for self-directed 

support.) 

 

 

 
Carers (Scotland)Act 2016 2324 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Only in relation to a choice under section 5 or 7 

of the Social Care (Self-directed Support) 

(Scotland) Act 2013 . 

 

Section 6 

 
(Duty to prepare of adult carer support plan) 

 
Section 21 

(duty to set local eligibility criteria) 

 
 

Section 24 

(Duty to provide support) 
 

 

(23) section 21 was inserted into the Schedule of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 

2014 by paragraph 6 of the schedule of the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 (asp 9) 
 

(24) inserted by Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Prescribed Local Authority Functions etc.) (Scotland) 

Amendment Regulations 2017/190 

Page 150



52 |   

 
 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Section 25 

 
(Provision of support to carers: breaks from 

caring) 

 
Section 31 

(Duty to prepare local carer strategy) 

 
Section 34 
(Information and advice service for carers) 

Column B 

Limitation 

 
Section 35 

  (Short breaks services statements)  

Functions, conferred by virtue of enactments, prescribed for the purposes of section 1(7) of 

the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 
 

 

Column A 

Enactment conferring function 

Column B 

Limitation 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(25 ) Section 4 was amended by the Mental Health (Care and Treatment )(Scotland)Act 2003 

(asp13)schedule 4 and the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland)Act 2007 (asp 10)section 62(3) 

(26) S.S.I. 2002/265, as amended by S.S.I. 2005/445. 
 

 
 
 

 
(27 ) Section 4 was amended by the Mental Health (Care and Treatment )(Scotland)Act 2003 

(asp13)schedule 4 and the Adult Support and Protection (Scotland)Act 2007 (asp 10)section 62(3) 

(28) S.S.I. 2002/265, as amended by S.S.I. 2005/445.

 

 

Section 4(27) 

 

Page 151



53 |   

 
 

Additional Functions delegated by the Council to Argyll and Bute Integration 
Joint Board 

 

Column A     Column B 

Enactment conferring function   Limitation 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

National Assistance Act 1948 

 

Section 45 

 
 

(Recovery in cases of misrepresentation or non-disclosure.) 

 
Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958 

 

Section 11 

(Reports as to arrangements for future care and 

upbringing of children.) 

 
 

The Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 

 

Section 5 

(Powers of Secretary of State.) 

 

Section 6B 

(Local authority inquiries into matters affecting children.) 

 

Section 27 

(Supervision and care of persons put on probation or 

released from prisons etc.) 

 

Section 27ZA 

(Advice, guidance and assistance to persons arrested or on whom sentence deferred.)  

 

Section 78A 

(Recovery of contributions) 

 

Section 80 

(Enforcement of duty to make contributions.) 

 

Section 81 

(Provisions as to decrees for ailment.) 

 

Section 83 

(Variation of trusts.) 

 

Section 86 

(Adjustment between authority providing accommodation etc., and authority of area of residence.)  

 
The Children Act 1975 

 

Section 34 

(Access and maintenance.) 

 

Section 39 

(Reports by local authorities and probation officers.) 

Page 152



54 |   

 

Section 40 

(Notice of application to be given to local authority.) 

 

Section 50 

(Payments towards maintenance of children.) 

 
Health and Social Services and Social Security Adjudications Act 1983 

 

Section 21 

recovery of sums due to local authority where persons in residential accommodation have disposed of 

assets.) 

 

Section 22 

(Arrears of contributions charged on interest in land in England and Wales)  

 

Section 23 

(Arrears of contributions secured over interest in land in Scotland) 

Foster Children (Scotland) Act 1984 

 

Section 3 

(local authorities to ensure well-being of and to visit 

foster children.) 

 

Section 5 

(Notification by persons maintaining or 

proposing to maintain foster children.) 

 
Section 6 

Notification by persons ceasing to maintain 

foster children.) 

 

Section 8 

(Power to inspect premises.) 

 

Section 9 

(Power to impose requirements 

as to the keeping of foster children.) 

 

Section 10 

(Power to prohibit the keeping 

of foster children.) 

 

The Children (Scotland) Act 1995 

Section 17 

(Duty of local authority to child looked after by them.) 

 

Section19 

(Local authority plans for services for children) 

 

Section 20 

(Publication of information about services for children) 

 

Section 21 

(Co-operation between authorities) 

 

Section 22 

(Promotion of welfare of children in need) 

 

Section 23 

(Children affected by disability) 

 

Page 153



55 |   

Section 24 

(Assessment of ability of carers to provide care for disabled children) 

 

Section 24A 

(Duty of local authority to provide information to carer of disabled child) 

 

Section 25 

(Provision of accommodation for children etc.) 

 

Section 26 

(Manner of provision of accommodation to child looked after by local authority) 

 

Section 26A 

(Provision of continuing care: looked after children) 

 

Section 27 

(Daycare for pre-school and other children) 

 

Section 29 

(Aftercare) 

 

Section 30 

(Financial assistance towards expenses of education or training and removal of power to guarantee 

indentures etc.) 

 

Section 31 

Review of case of child looked after by local authority) 

 

Section 32 

(Removal of child from residential establishment) 

 

Section 36 

(Welfare of certain children in hospitals and nursing homes etc.) 

 

Section 38 

(Short term refuges for children at risk of harm.) 

 

Section 76 

(Exclusion orders.) 

 

Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995 

 

Section 51 

(Remand and committal of children and young persons.) 

 

Section 203 

Reports.) 

 

Section 234B 

(Drug treatment and testing order.) 

 

Section 245A 

(Restriction of liberty orders.) 

 
The Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 

 

Section 40 

(Supervisory bodies.) 

 

The Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002 

 

Section 4 

Page 154



56 |   

(Accommodation more expensive than usually provided.).) 

 

Section 6 

Deferred payment of accommodation costs.) 

 
Management of Offenders etc (Scotland) Act 2005 

 

Sections 10 

(Arrangements for assessing and managing risks posed by certain offenders) 

Section 11 

(Review of arrangements) 

( 

Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 

 

Section 1 

(Duty of local authority to provide adoption service.) 

 
Section 4 

(Local authority plan) 

 

Section 5 

(Guidance) 

 

Section 6 

(Assistance in carrying out functions under sections 1 and 4) 

 

Section 9 

(Assessment of needs for adoption support services) 

 

Section 10 

(Provision of services) 

 

Section 11 

(Urgent provision) 

 

Section 12 

(Power to provide payment to person entitled to adoption support service) 

 

Section 19 

(Notice under Section 18 local authorities duties) 

 

Section 26 

(looked after children - adoption is not proceeding.) 

 

Section 45 

(Adoption support plans.) 

 

Section 47 

(Family member’s right to require review of plan) 

 

Section 48 

(Other cases where authority under duty to review plan) 

 

Section 49 

(Re-assessment of needs for adoption support services) 

 
Section 51 

(Guidance) 

 

Section 71 

(Adoption allowance schemes.) 

 

Page 155



57 |   

Section 80 

(Permanence Orders.) 

 

Section 90 

(Precedence of certain other orders) 

 

Section 99 

(Duty of local authority to apply for variation or revocation.) 

 

Section 101 

(local authority to give notice of certain matters.) 

 
Section 105 

(Notification of proposed application for order) 

 
The Adult Support and Protection (Scotland) Act 2007 

 

Section 7 

(Visits) 

 

Section 8 

(Interviews) 

 

Section 9 

(Medical examinations) 

 

Section 10 

(Examination of records etc.) 

 

Section 16 

(Right to remove adult at risk) 

 
Children’s Hearings (Scotland) Act 2011 

 

Section 35 

(Child assessment orders.) 
 

Section 37 
 

(Child protection orders.) 
 

 

Section 42 

(Parental responsibilities and rights directions.) 

 
Section 44 

(Obligations of local authority.) 

 

Section 48 

(Application for variation or termination 

 

Section 49 

(Notice of an application for variation or termination.) 

 

Section 60 

(local authorities duty to provide information to Principal 

Reporter.) 

 

Section 131 

(Duty of implementation authority to require review.) 

 

Section 144 

(Implementation of a compulsory supervision order; general 

duties of implementation authority.) 

Page 156



58 |   

 

Section 145 

(Duty where order requires child to reside 

in a certain place.) 

 

Section 153 

(Secure accommodation:regulations.) 

 

Section 166 

 

(Review of requirement imposed on local authority) 

 

Section167 

(Appeal to Sheriff Principal: section 166) 

 

Section 180 

(Sharing of information: panel members.) 

 

Section 183- 

(Mutual Assistance) 

 

Section 184 

(Enforcement of obligations of health board under section 183) 

 

Social Care (Self-directed Support)(Scotland) Act 2013 

 

Section 8 

(Choice of options; children and family members.) 

 

Section 10 

(Provision of information; children under 16.) 

 
Carers (Scotland )Act 2016 

Section12 
(Duty to prepare a Young Carer Statement) 

 

 

Part 2 

Services currently provided by the Council which are to be integrated: 

All permitted Council functions apart from housing and housing support services, 

other than aids and adaptations aspects of housing support. 

 
 Social WorkSocial care Services for Adults and Older People 

 Services and Support for Adults with Physical Disabilities and Learning 

Disabilities 

 Mental Health Services 

 Drug and Alcohol Services 

 Adult Protection and Domestic Abuse 

 Carers Support Services 

 Community Care Assessment Teams 

Page 157



59 |   

 Support Services 

 Care Home Services 

 Adult Placement Services 

 Health Improvement Services 

 Housing support including Aids and Adaptions 

 Day Services 

 Local Area Co-ordination 

 Self Directed support 

 Respite Provision for adults and young people 

 Occupational Therapy Services 

 Re-ablement Services, Equipment and Telecare 
 

 Social workSocial care services for children and young people 

 Child Care Assessment and Care Management 

 Looked After and accommodated Children 

 Child Protection 

 Adoption and Fostering 

 Special Needs/Additional Support 

 Early Intervention 

 Through-care Services 

 Youth Justice Services 

 

 Social WorkSocial care Criminal JusticeCommunity JusticeJustice Services 

 Services to Courts and Parole Board 

 Assessment of offenders 

 Diversions from Prosecution and Fiscal Work Orders 

 Supervision of offenders subject to a community based order 

 Through care and supervision of released prisoners 

 Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements 

Page 158



60 |   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 
 
 

Annex 3: Systems Governance. 

System Governance Schematic 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Adult Protection 

Committee 

P
age 159



61 |   

  

Clinical Services 

Groups/Networks  

 

 

Clinical and Care Governance Committee 

 
 

 

Annex 4: Clinical and Care Governance structure. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board 

Mandatory 

Training 

Professional 

Regulation 

Infection Control Care 

Assurance 

Service User 

Feedback 

Registered 

Services 

Blood 

Transfusion 

Resuscitation 

P
age 160



  

1

Integration Joint Board Agenda item: 

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Staff Governance Report

Presented by: Charlie Gibson HR Lead (HSCP)
Jane Fowler, Head of Customer Support Services (ABC)

The Integration Joint Board/Committee is asked to: 
 Note the content of this quarterly report on the staff governance 

performance in the HSCP.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Staff Governance is defined as “A system of corporate accountability for the fair and 
effective management of all staff.”1 The Standard requires all NHS Boards to 
demonstrate that staff are:

 Well Informed;
 Appropriately Trained and Developed;
 Involved in Decisions;
 Treated Fairly and Consistently, with dignity and respect, in an environment 

where diversity is valued; and
 Provided with a continuously improving and safe working environment, 

promoting the health and wellbeing of staff, patients and the wider community.

In the context of health and social integration, we also consider the following:

 adopting best practice from both employers.
 development of joint initiatives that support integration.
 compliance with terms and conditions and employing policies.
 service change implications for the workforce and compliance with the above.

This paper sets out the on key issues and quarterly performance data from the two 
employing parent bodies for staff governance in the Health and Social Care 
Partnership. Narrative is contained in the body of the text and detail is presented in 
Appendices. The data provided is the most recent available.

1 NHS Scotland Staff Governance Standard, 4th Edition, Published 2012.

Page 161 Agenda Item 11



  

2

2. INTRODUCTION

This report provides an overview of the staff governance issues identified above as 
raised and discussed at the Strategic Leadership Team and Joint Partnership 
Forum. This report is presented to the IJB on a quarterly basis. This report includes 
updates on:

 Progress under the 5 Staff Governance themes
 Additional Integration activities relating to staff
 Spotlight on Staff Wellbeing – Analysis of Reasons for Absence and actions
 Supporting Performance Data
 Work planned over the next 3 months

The data represents Financial Quarter 2, 2019/20 (July-Sept 2019) unless otherwise 
stated.

3. PROGRESS UNDER THE 5 STAFF GOVERNANCE THEMES

3.1 Well Informed

Regular communication channels continue to provide regular updates to employees 
working in the HSCP. These include a NHS Highland CEO weekly email, Chief 
Officer’s updates, a monthly NHSH Team Brief and various service specific updates 
from managers. Key information is cascaded through huddles and Service/Locality 
team meetings.

The Council’s Intranet, the Hub and the NHS intranet continue to be key sources of 
information for staff. Local arrangements are made where possible to provide printed 
copies of key materials on noticeboards for staff who do not have access to ICT.

3.2 Appropriately Trained and Developed

Following the integration of the People and Change Team with the Council’s HROD 
team under the leadership of the Head of Customer Support Services, there is a 
current vacancy in the OD Lead post, which is currently out to advert. This is an 
essential post for taking forward OD activity in the team relating to Turas, Learnpro, 
Workforce Planning, Leadership and management development and the important 
culture work associated with the Fit For the Future Programme. 

The Chief Officer has reinforced the importance of carrying out a PDP (Personal 
Development Plan or PRD (Performance Review and Development) for staff. The 
OD team are supporting managers and staff on how to access and complete these. 
These conversations together with regular 1:1 meetings enable performance and 
attainments to be reviewed and training needs to be identified.  
  
The Council and NHS Highland offer a range of training opportunities for staff. Some 
is directly required for the individual’s role/job (e.g. professional qualifications), 
others are related to the individual’s PRD/PDP, and others are statutory or 
mandatory training requirements.  

Page 162



  

3

During FQ2 19/20, a total of 88 courses were completed by Council staff within the 
Partnership.  Further details are shown at Appendix 1.  This figure does not include 
e-learning courses, of which there are over 200 courses available on LEON, the 
Council’s e-learning platform. 

The OD team continue to support compliance in Statutory/Mandatory training for 
NHS staff. Whilst there are workload challenges with attending training, ultimately it 
is essential to the safety and quality of services that the HSCP delivers. Compliance 
for NHS staff in Statutory/Mandatory training on LearnPro, NHS Highland’s e-
learning platform is also shown in Appendix 1.

Outcomes from PRD/PDPs, along with workforce planning information (see below), 
informs training plans. As well as delivering SVQs  and supporting degree students, 
there is an increasing demand for technology and digital training to ensure that the 
workforce develops appropriate skills to maximise opportunities for new approaches 
to service delivery. This is being informed by national guidance on TES.

Leadership and management development activity

The NHS Highland group Developing Teams Leadership and Management 
Development is progressing with Argyll and Bute involvement. The Performance 
Management Focus Group has been progressing work on a corporate induction 
portal for all new staff, with representation from Argyll and Bute. A local induction for 
staff in Argyll and Bute comparing the NHS and Council induction is being explored 
and forms part of the emerging staff governance improvement plan. 

The Council has carried out induction to a further 2 cohorts of Argyll and Bute 
Manager – Managing Teams and 1 cohort of Preparing to Manage. There are HSCP 
delegates, including NHS employees, enrolled in these courses and further work is 
underway to investigate expanding this to include more HSCP managers.

The partnership is keen to explore the opportunities presented by the NHS 
Leadership Programme Project Lift and will report on this in due course.

3.3 Involved in Decisions

The Transformation Board has a number of Short-Life Working Groups (SLWG) to 
take forward change projects and service redesigns. Staff-side and HR require to be 
involved in these groups to ensure compliance with employee policies and 
procedures and to ensure that there is involvement at the early stages of redesign.

The scale of change and the complexity of redesign projects has resulted in, at 
times, a lack of clarity about which stage of the process staff side are involved. A 
recent meeting, called by the staff side NHS chair to address this has resulted in the 
development of a joint staff governance improvement plan, which, once finalised, will 
be reported regularly to SLT and the Joint Partnership Forum. The actions in the 
plan seek to simplify processes, improve information and provide training and 
support for managers.

Page 163



  

4

We remain committed to working in partnership through the HSCP Partnership 
Forum, Staff Liaison Group and Organisational Change Group.

3.4 Treated Fairly and Consistently

The main focus of attention in this area of staff governance is the post Sturrock Fit 
for the Future Action plan, which is being implemented through a range of training, 
awareness raising and train the trainer activities. The first major activity will be the 
roll out of 2 training sessions and 1 train the trainer session on Courageous 
Conversations. The SLT will participate in a full day’s training on 11th December and 
a group of managers will attend on 10th. 

The other significant issue for the IJB is the further work to be carried out in Argyll 
and Bute as a follow on from Sturrock. Detail on this is provided in a separate paper 
for the IJB, presented by the HR Director, NHSH.

3.5 Provided with a continuously improving and safe working environment

We continue to progress the co-location programme. NHS staff previously based in 
Aros have moved to Kilmory and Whitegates and have settled in well, with good 
synergies being reported. The more complex co-location of NHS and Social Work 
staff across 3-4 buildings in Oban is ongoing.

4. ADDITIONAL INTEGRATION WORK

4.1 Workforce Planning

Workforce Planning is an important feature of planning our services for the future. 
Previous reports to the IJB on workforce planning have highlighted the need to align 
integrated workforce planning for the Health and Social Care Partnership with 
developments, guidance and timescales set out nationally. Our target date for 
producing an integrated workforce plan has been affected by the delayed publication 
of the National Integrated Workforce Plan and associated guidance. Agreement on 
and publication of this has been anticipated on several dates throughout this year, 
but has as yet not been issued. This has resulted the Scottish Government 
implementing a one year extension from 31st March 2020 to 31st March 2021 for the 
completion of Integrated Workforce Plans by IJBs.

Work is well underway in the partnership between the HSCP People and Change 
Team, the Council’s HROD Team and NHS Highland workforce planning to develop 
a detailed, integrated workforce plan. 

This work will continue to progress and will be brought forward to the IJB for 
approval once the national plan and associated guidance has been published. 

4.2 Management Restructure – Heads of Adult Services 

The 2 newly appointed Heads of Adult Services will be in post on 18th November and 
16th December. In the interim, other members of the SLT have been covering Adult 
Services on an area basis.

Page 164



  

5

The next tier of management restructure is being developed through a series of 
workshops with managers and Trade Unions/Staff Side and is due to be 
implemented by April 2020. 

4.3 Integration of our HR services

The NHS HROD/People and Change team successfully moved in September 2019 
to being managed by the Head of Customer Support Services in Argyll and Bute 
Council, alongside Council HR and OD. The professional lead arrangements remain 
with NHS Highland HR. Early indications are that the arrangement is working well 
and this will continue to be monitored for performance and effectiveness.

4.4 Staff Experience

iMatter is the NHS, team based staff engagement survey. It is a process where 
teams are identified and then they complete a survey on a range of issues. Data is 
recorded in the NHS Turas system and a national snapshot is taken on 23rd 
September and reported.

This is an area that HSCP management will be focussing on for improvement action 
on in the coming year. In total 188 teams were identified for iMatter in the HSCP. 107 
or 56.9% of these teams had a response rate high enough (60% or above) to 
generate a team report, which was then issued to managers. Of the teams whose 
manager received a report, 45 or 23.9% developed an action plan to address the 
issues highlighted in the report and uploaded it to the Turas system.

Employee engagement is an important issue in measuring overall health of an 
organisation. Evidence shows that engaged employees are more productive, deliver 
higher quality services and exhibit lower levels of sickness absence.  Engagement 
through iMatter and other channels is important in our overall approach to culture 
change and building trust in our organisation. 

iMatter will be reported on again in FQ4 2019/20 to set out the approach for next 
year and the associate improvement targets.

5. SPOTLIGHT ON STAFF WELLBEING

There are two elements to the approach of Promoting Attendance/Maximising 
Attendance: Improving the application of the relevant policies and a preventative 
approach to improving staff health and wellbeing. There are benefits of improving the 
health and wellbeing of staff to the organisations, employee and service users. Both 
are needed to improve attendance at work and reduce sickness absence.

5.1 Absence Management issues

There continues to be significant scrutiny of absence staff during the last 2 quarters, 
primarily prompted by Grip and Control, but also to ensure that all managers are 
following the appropriate procedures when looking after their staff. Heads of Service 
receive detailed reports on individual council staff absences within their service, 

Page 165



  

6

including duration, cause of absence, OHP status etc. This enables more detailed 
monitoring and management of absence. Detailed information on sickness absence 
for the Council and NHS Argyll and Bute are set out in Appendix 2, showing trend 
data for a 12 month period and a breakdown between services.

NHS data for reasons for absence highlights the issue of reasons of absence not 
being specified to payroll by departments. This is being addressed by HR to ensure 
trends are identified accurately to allow for appropriate interventions to support and 
help reduce the levels of absence. As previously reported, HSCP HR Business 
Partners and Manager provide direct support to managers and heads of service on a 
case by case basis. 

The most prevalent reason for absence in Social Care is stress. This is also one of 
the most prevalent reasons on NHS side. Fit notes do not consistently determine 
either work or non-work related stress, so whilst we cannot report specifically on this, 
individual managers will determine this on a case by case basis when they are 
managing an employee’s absence. Where there are workplace issues leading to 
stress, the manager is best placed to address these and facilitate a return to work. 
Managers maintaining contact with employees throughout periods of stress related 
absence is important to this recovery and return process. Professional support is 
available through HROD, OHP and the Council’s Employee Assistance Programme 
(EAP). Access to the EAP for NHS staff is currently being explored.  Management 
and employee training on recognising and managing stress is available from both 
employers, e.g. Managing Resilience Training.

The second most prevalent reason for absence within Social Care is medical which 
has a correlation with our ageing workforce. Medical absences tend to be longer 
term, but are increasingly resulting in successful return to work following treatment. 
Again the role of the manager in maintaining contact with the employee throughout 
the absence period is important to ensuring that the employee is supported to return 
to work as soon as they are well enough to do so. The 2 highest reason within NHS 
staff is gastro and cold/flu related. This demonstrates that its vitally important that 
staff are encouraged to obtain their flu vaccinations to help maintain their health & 
wellbeing and minimise sickness absence. 

There have been some improvements in our approach to absence management, but 
there is still a considerable way to go as absence remains high and is impacting on 
teams and services. This is an ongoing focus of work for management supported by 
HROD.

The roll out of NHS “Once for Scotland” HR Policies including Promoting Attendance, 
was delayed nationally, however when this is rolled out after the New Year, it should 
have a positive impact on sickness absence within the HSCP.

5.2 Return to Work Interviews

The tables detailed at Appendix 3, show the completion rates for Return to Work 
Interviews (RTWI) across the partnership for Council staff.  The target is 100% 
completion within 3 days of the employee returning to work.  This interview may be 
conducted by phone or face to face, and is then logged on the Council’s MyView 

Page 166



  

7

system.  From the tables, it is clear that significant improvement is still required, so 
the RTWIs will continue to be monitored and reported as an important tool in 
managing absence.

For NHS staff, the roll out of eESS (Electronic Employee Support System) was 
delayed due to technical software issues. However these now appear to be resolved 
and expect the rollout to begin before the New Year to facilitate the recording of all 
absence meetings, including RTWIs, on the Manager Self Service module. 

6. SUPPORTING PERFORMANCE DATA

6.1  Recruitment and Redeployment activity

Data for both NHS and Council Social Work activity is shown in Appendix 4. 

Attracting and retaining suitable applicants predominantly within nursing and some 
AHP roles remains challenging across all areas particularly Oban, Lorn and Isles 
locality.  The Communications Team continues with uploading and sharing posts and 
information relating jobs throughout the UK to relevant groups and contacts on social 
media.  Further work is being planned to highlight health posts via ABPlace2B online 
site.

We are happy to advise that the new NHS Scotland recruitment system Jobtrain now 
has live access for NHS Highland.  It has been decided that a gradual move to this 
system will be adopted throughout NHSH and Argyll & Bute are in the process of 
engaging with relevant recruiting managers in relation to which posts we will start 
with.  

Our aim is to take a selection of posts that we have for some time struggled to recruit 
to and enter them onto Jobtrain, we are hoping that this will be Band 5 nursing 
vacancies within Lorn & Islands Hospitals, Oban within the next few weeks.    

It is anticipated once we are happy that we have successfully processed these posts 
via the new system we will start to progress new vacancies authorised via WFM via 
Job Train and again this will be undertaken on a gradual basis.  Recruiting managers 
will be supported through this transition by the Recruitment Team. This is an exciting 
and welcome change, the system will improve the user experience and will be easier 
to use, for both hiring managers and candidates.  It will be compatible with portable 
devices (such as tablets and mobile phones) and can be accessed 24/7. 

You can view a short overview video of Jobtrain as well as hiring manager guide 
here – https://www.eess.nhs.scot/hmss/

Page 167

https://www.eess.nhs.scot/hmss/


  

8

Redeployment

There are now 30 staff on the NHS primary redeployment register (an increase of 1) 
and 28 on the secondary register (a decrease of 1).  No Social Work staff are 
currently on the redeployment register.

With reference to social care staffing, we continue to promote vacancies and 
development opportunities online through #abplace2b.

6.2 Current Employee Contractual Arrangements

Combined data for NHS and Council Social Work is shown in Appendix 5.  (This also 
includes details of Council staff on Permanent contracts, Seconded contracts and 
Casual contracts for information only.)  

The number of Fixed Term Contracts within the NHS staff group continues to be 
higher than normal. This is predominately due to a bar we placed on permanent 
recruitment to administration and clinical support roles while the Admin Review 
transformation project theme was progressing; we did not wish to build in 
obsolescence into our admin structures when services were changing. As reported 
last quarter, this bar has now been lifted so we still anticipate that FTCs will drop 
significantly over the coming months.

There continues to be approximately 10% of all Council Social Work/Care 
employees in temporary or fixed term posts. This can be as a result of temporary 
cover for absence or other leave such as maternity/paternity or can be as part of a 
management approach to minimising the impact of service redesign. The number of 
fixed term contracts have significantly increased as a result of current redesign work. 
This is not ideal and brings its own challenges but this is deemed best practice given 
the financial challenges the IJB face in the short to medium term. 

As redesign of services are completed then the number of staff on Fixed Term and 
Temporary Contracts will reduce. It is important to recognise the importance of 
ongoing communication with staff in temporary posts regarding future planning, as 
uncertainty can lead to unnecessary stress and the potential for absence. 

There are automated alert systems in place for managers and employees regarding 
Council temporary contracts, giving notice of the forthcoming ending of a contract 
and requiring action to extend it. This serves as a reminder to managers to keep 
employees informed of changes. 

There is now a nugget on the Home page of the NHSH 
intranet to take managers directly to links to JobTrain 
along with information, guidance and helpful videos.

Page 168



  

9

6.3 Employee Relations Cases

Data for both NHS and Council Social Work activity is shown in Appendix 6.

Argyll and Bute HSCP is committed to managing employees with fairness and 
consistency.  If a concern arises in relation to an employee’s conduct, the approach 
is a preference to deal with this through informal action initially.  However, where 
such informal action is inappropriate or does not lead to the required improvement, 
managers will normally undertake an investigation under the terms of the appropriate 
Disciplinary Procedures

The number of ER cases within the NHS staff group has risen by nearly half since 
last quarter. This has mainly been due to bullying and harassment investigation and 
new informal capability cases. These continue to be supported by our HR Business 
Partners and HR Advisors.  

In the Council, the Employee Relations Team carries out all disciplinary 
investigations, but managers are responsible for investigating grievances. This has 
resulted in a significant improvement in the time to reach a conclusion to disciplinary 
investigations. 

7. WORK PLANNED FOR THE NEXT 3 MONTHS

 Complete recruitment to the OD Lead post
 Develop a team plan with SMART targets
 Complete and deliver the staff governance improvement plan with staffside
 Continue to support the development and implementation of local team action 

plans in response to 2019 iMatter survey results 
 Review and refresh Staff Health and Wellbeing recommendations to better 

align with NHSH and Council wellbeing activities to reduce levels of HSCP 
sickness absence

 Continue local support and delivery of Fit for the Future and support the 
further Culture work in Argyll and Bute

 Support the development and agreement of the new HSCP Management 
Structure. 

 Progress with Workforce Planning

8. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

The staff governance paper sets out the issues relating to our people that support or 
have an effect on the delivery of the HSCP strategic priorities.

9. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Financial Impact

A reduction in sickness absence will save costs.

Page 169



  

10

9.2 Staff Governance

This is the Staff Governance Report which provides an overview of work that 
contributes to this theme.

9.3 Clinical Governance

None.

10. EQUALITY and DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

Our CIRCLE framework includes ‘Respect’ and ‘Integrity’. Our Shared Values and 
Practices apply to all HSCP staff employed by NHS Highland and Argyll and Bute 
Council.

Other Equality and Diversity issues are picked up within the NHS People and 
Change and Council HROD teams as appropriate when policies and strategies are 
developed. 

11. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE

Nothing to note, this paper complies with general GDPR guidance as all data 
presented is summarised and anonymised.

12. RISK ASSESSMENT

Risks are considered medium. High levels of absence and lower than average levels 
of engagement, alongside significant service and staff change present an elevated 
level of risk to the organisation. The further culture work to be carried out post 
Sturrock has the potential to create uncertainty for staff, further elevating risk. 
Individual HROD risks identified on the Risk Register.

13. PUBLIC AND USER INVOLVEMENT AND ENGAGEMENT 

Not applicable.

14. CONCLUSIONS

It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board/committee:
 Note this quarterly Staff Governance update;
 Take the opportunity to ask any questions on people issues that may be of 

interest or concern;
 Endorse the overall direction of travel, including future topics that they would 

like further information on;
 Note that the staff governance risk level has been raised from low to medium. 

15. DIRECTIONS

Page 170



  

11

Directions to: tick
No Directions required
Argyll and Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland Health 
Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Author Name: Jane Fowler, Head of Customer Support Services (ABC); Charlie 
Gibson HR Lead (HSCP)

With input supplied by Jo McDill (Council HR), Fiona Sharples, Fiona Helbert, 
Jacqui McCann (NHS People and Change).

Page 171



  

12

Appendix 1 

Council Training Completed (FQ 2)

NHSA&B Statutory & Mandatory Training Completed on LearnPro (FQ2)

Appendix 2 

Numbers of  Council Employees Completed Training Required by Role or Requested by employee 

 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19
 Required 

for Role
(Mandatory)

Agreed at 
PRD

Required 
for Role
(Mandatory)

Agreed at 
PRD

Required 
for Role
(Mandatory)

Agreed at 
PRD

Adult Care West 11 37 3 2
Adult Care East 8 9 8
Children and 
Families and CJ 5 2 2

Strategic Planning 
and Performance 1

TOTAL 19 51 2 11 5
   
Q2  TOTAL Required for Role (Mandatory) Agreed at PRD

81 7

Localities

Moving & 
Handling – 
Module A

Fire 
Safety

Equality & 
Human 
Rights

Safe 
Information 

Handling

Why 
Infection 
& Control 
Matters

Violence & 
Aggression 

(Non Clinical)
Hand 

Hygiene
A&B Adult Service
Cowal and Bute

239 299 248 252 221 210 198
A&B Adult Service
Helnsburgh  and 
Lomond

63 88 76 77 63 54 60

A&B Adult Service
Central

2 3 4 3 2 3 3
A&B Adult Service
MAKI 376 434 387 394 384 310 349

A&B Adult Service
OLI 332 398 355 349 324 285 301

A&B Children and 
Families Central

1 1 1 1 1 0 0
A&B Children and 
Families Cowal and 
Bute

17 28 24 23 20 15 21

A&B Children and 
Helensburgh and 
Lomond

16 21 15 17 12 9 14

A&B Children and 
Families  Mid Argyll, 
Kintyre and Islay

19 32 27 28 21 15 22

A&B Children and 
Families  OLI

25 33 29 28 27 18 24
A&B Central 
Planning and 
Performance

15 29 27 30 14 23 16

A&B Central 
Corporate

57 81 65 85 60 57 55
A&B Central Dental 64 71 70 67 61 50 59
Total 1226 1518 1328 1354 1210 1049 1122

Page 172



  

13

Absence rates NHS

Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19
0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

7.00

8.00

9.00

10.00

A&B Adult Services - East A&B Adult Services - West A&B Children & Families Central Operating Unit NHS Highland

Absence Rolling Profile Oct 18 - Sep 19
A&B HSCP Operating Unit Total %

Month

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 A

bs
en

t

Council: A & B Social Care Staff – Aug 18 to Jul 19 

0.02%

0.07%

0.09%

0.33%

0.44%

0.44%

0.48%

0.67%

0.84%

1.15%

1.16%

1.42%

1.52%

2.49%

2.63%

3.85%

4.13%

4.59%

6.27%

9.03%

9.72%

11.68%

12.96%

24.03%

Substance abuse - include alcoholism & drug dependence

Skin disorders

Burns/ poisoning/ frostbite/ hypothermia

Endocrine/glandular problems (e.g. diabetes/ thyroid/ metabolic problems)

Infectious diseases

Pregnancy related disorders

Asthma

Dental & oral problems

Eye problems

Nervous system disorders - exclude headache/ migraine

Benign and malignant tumours/cancers

Heart/ cardiac & circulatory problems

Ear/ nose/ throat (ENT)

Genitourinary & gynaecological disorders - exclude pregnancy related disorders

Headache/migraine

Injury/ fracture

Other musculoskeletal problems (exclude back problems - include neck problems)

Chest & respiratory problems (exclude nose & throat …

Back problems

Anxiety/stress/depression/other psychiatric illnesses

Other known causes (nec) - not elsewhere classified in SA scheme

Cold/cough/flu - influenza

Gastro-intestinal problems (e.g. abdominal pain/ gastroenteritis/ vomiting/ …

Unknown causes/not specified

Percentages of Total Sickness for Argyll & Bute 

Appendix 3 – Return to Work Interview Data (Council Staff) FQ2

Page 173



  

14

% RTWI Complete
Jul-19

% RTWI Complete
Aug-19

% RTWI Complete
Sep-19

0%

50%

100%

150%

200%

250%

300%

350%

Total of RTWI Completions by %

Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19

 % RTWI 
Complete

Average 
time taken 

to 
complete 

(days)

% RTWI 
Complete

Average 
time 

taken to 
complete 

(days)

% RTWI 
Complete

Average 
time taken 

to 
complete 

(days)
Adult Care 
West 21% 8 37% 11 28% 3

Adult Care 
East 26% 4 40% 2 25% 2

Children and 
Families and 
CJ

38% 5 43% 3 47% 2

Strategic 
Planning and 
Performance

n/a n/a 0% - 0% -

TOTAL 28% 6 30% 5 25% 2

Page 174



  

15

Appendix 4 – Recruitment and Redeployment Activity (Q2)

Attracting and retaining suitable applicants predominantly within nursing and some 
AHP roles remains challenging across all areas particularly Oban, Lorn and Isles 
locality.  The Communications Team continues with uploading and sharing posts and 
information relating jobs throughout the UK to relevant groups and contacts on social 
media.  Further work to be done to highlight health posts via ABPlace2B online site.

Advertised vacancies:

July August September
 New Re-Ad New Re-Ad New Re-Ad
Adult 
Services 
EAST

8 4 2 3 5 3

Adult 
Services 
WEST

17 7 7 8 8 12

Children & 
Families 6 0 4 1 2 1

Corporate 
Services 3 0 1 1 1 1

34 11 14 13 16 17
Totals

45 27 33

Quali
fie

d Nursi
ng

Unquali
fie

d Nursi
ng

AHP
Admin

Su
pport 

Se
rvi

ce
s

Dental

Psyc
hology

La
borat

ory

Medica
l

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

As at end April
As at end May
As at end June
As at end July
As at end Aug
As at end Sept

% split of NHSH Advertised Vacancies in A&B HSCP 

Page 175



  

16

Quali
fie

d Nursi
ng

AHP
Admin

Su
pport 

Se
rvi

ce
s

Dental

La
borat

ory

Psyc
hology

Pharm
ac

y

Medica
l

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

As at end April
As at end May
As at end June
As at end July
As at end Aug
As at end Sept

% of Vacancies Advertised More than 3 Times

Average Time to Recruit Successful Appointees in last 6 months (figures based 
between date recruitment file opened to start date of employees):

 Internal appointments – 10 weeks (there continues to be internal posts that 
have delayed start dates due to service delivery reasons)

 External appointments – 17 weeks (there continues to be some posts that 
have been advertised multiple times that have been recruited to, this impacts 
on length of times to recruit figures)

Council Social Work/Care vacancies 

For the month of July 2019, there were 6 (4 x Temp, 2 x Perm) internal job adverts 
for HSCP Council Posts, and 9 (4 x Temp/Cas, 5 x Perm) external job adverts. 

For the month of August 2019, there were 21 (13 x Temp/Cas, 8 x Perm) internal 
job adverts for HSCP Council Posts, and 23 (11 x Temp/Cas, 12 x Perm) external 
job adverts. 

For the month of September 2019, there were 10 (7 x Temp, 3 x Perm) internal job 
adverts for HSCP Council Posts, and 18 (8 x Temp, 10 x Perm) external job 
adverts. 

Page 176



  

17

NHS Redeployment

Primary Register

NHS Employees Jul Aug Sep

A and B  Adult Services – East Total 10 10 7

A and B Adult Services – West Total 16 16 15

A and B Children and Families Total 0 0 0

Corporate Services Total 4 4 5

Totals 30 30 27

Current month:
 Adult East : 1 x Band 7-0.07wte,  1 x Band 2-0.43wte, 5 x Band 1-1.08wte
 Adult West : 1 x Band 7-1.00wte,  1 x Band 6-1.00wte, 1 x Band 5-1.00,            

4 x Band 4-3.40wte, 1x Band 3-1.00wte, 6 x Band 2-5.60wte 1x Band 1-0.54wte 
 Corporate Services : 1 x Band 8a-1.00wte, 4 x Band 4-2.20wte

Page 177



  

18

Appendix 5 – Permament, Fixed Term and Casual Contracts (Q2)

NHS and Council Social Work/Care Temporary/Fixed Term Contracts

Council Social Work/Care Permanent / Permanent Seconded Contracts

Permanent (P/PS) contracts July 2019 August 2019 September 2019

Adult Care West 361 351 350
Adult Care East 159 157 157
Children and Families and CJ 216 221 227
Strategic Planning and 
Performance 18 18 18

OVERALL TOTAL 3 3 3

Council Social Work/Care Casual Contracts

Total Number of Casual Contracts (some 
also on Perm/Temp contracts)

July 
2019

August 
2019

September 
2019

Adult Care West 474 478 479
Adult Care East 186 187 191
Children and Families and CJ 172 173 176

Strategic Planning and Performance 0 0 0

OVERALL TOTAL 832 838 846

Employees on T/FT contracts Jul 2019 Aug  2019 Sep 2019

Adult Care West (ABC) 26 26 26

Adult Care West (NHS) 28 30 33

Adult Care East (ABC) 22 22 20
Adult Care East (NHS) 25 26 27

Children and Families and CJ (ABC) 19 19 17

Children and Families and CJ (NHS) 2 2 2
Strategic Planning and Performance 
(ABC) 0 0 0

Corporate Services (NHS) 3 3 3

OVERALL TOTAL 125 128 128

Page 178



  

19

Appendix 6 – Employee Relations Cases (Q2)

NHS ER cases

Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19
Q2 
New

Q2 
Completed

Grievance 
A and B Adult Services - 
West 1 0 0 1

A and B Adult Services - 
East 1 2 2 1

A and B Children and 
Families 0 0 0

A and B Corporate 0 0 0

Conduct 
A and B Adult Services - 
West 2 2 2 1 1

A and B Adult Services - 
East 1 2 3 2

A and B Children and 
Families 0 0 0

A and B Corporate 0 0 0

Capability 
A and B Adult Services - 
West 1 1 1

A and B Adult Services - 
East 5 5 5

A and B Children and 
Families 0 0 0

A and B Corporate 0 0 0

Bullying and Harassment 
A and B Adult Services - 
West 2 1 1 1 1

A and B Adult Services - 
East 1 1 1

A and B Children and 
Families 0 0 0

A and B Corporate 0 0 0

Totals 14 14 15 5 3

Page 179



  

20

Council Social Work/Care ER cases

 Jul-19  
DISICIPLINARY REPORTS: New Completed Ongoing TOTALS

TOTALS: 1 0 6 7
A&B Adult Services - West   2  
A&B Adult Services - East 1  1  

A&B Children & Families   3  
 Aug-19  
DISICIPLINARY REPORTS: New Completed Ongoing TOTALS

TOTALS: 1 2 3 6
A&B Adult Services - West  1   
A&B Adult Services - East   1  

A&B Children & Families 1 1 2  
 Sep-19  
DISICIPLINARY REPORTS: New Completed Ongoing TOTALS

TOTALS: 1 0 5 6
A&B Adult Services - West 1  1  
A&B Adult Services - East   1  

A&B Children & Families   3  

 Jul-19  

GRIEVANCE REPORTS: New Completed Ongoing TOTALS

TOTALS 3 0 7 10
Adult Services - West 3  2  
Adult Services - East   4  

Children & Families   1  
 Aug-19  
GRIEVANCE REPORTS: New Completed Ongoing TOTALS
TOTALS 0 2 7 9

Adult Services - West   4  
Adult Services - East  2 2  

Children & Families   1  
 Sep-19  

GRIEVANCE REPORTS: New Completed Ongoing TOTALS

TOTALS 1 0 7 8
Adult Services - West 1  4  
Adult Services - East   2  

Children & Families   1  

Page 180



  

1

ARGYLL AND BUTE INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD

Date of Meeting: 27th November 2019

Title of Report: Professional Leadership Governance

Presented by: Linda Currie, Lead AHP

The  IJB is asked to:
 Approve the following recommendations from the Argyll & Bute Professional 

Leads group.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Earlier in 2019 the Chief Officer recommended a Professional 
Leadership group be established.  The Professional Leads Group is a 
senior professional advisory forum with a specific responsibility for 
providing specialist advice, guidance and input to service delivery and 
development.  This paper articulates a number of recommendations 
that have been developed by the group to ensure its function is 
supported in governance across the HSCP.

2. INTRODUCTION
2.1 The professional leadership group has been set up to deliver the following:

 Provide advice and recommendations to the HSCP in the planning and design 
of sustainable services. 

 Provide a forum for the identification of emerging risks and opportunities. 
 Provide advice and recommendations to the HSCP in the development of new 

organisational strategy with specific focus on the professional aspects of 
delivery. 

 A forum for peer support on uni-professional issues or to provide an overall 
professional view and to consider and provide guidance on issues that have a 
broader professional context. 

 Provide safeguarding, professional assurance and planning escalation

3 DETAIL OF REPORT
3.1 The group meets on a 4-6 weekly basis and is chaired by the Chief Officer    

or a deputy.

Page 181 Agenda Item 12



  

2

3.2 Boundaries and Accountabilities

The Professional Leads Group has its key working and reporting relationship with 
Argyll & Bute HSCP Senior Leadership Team. A formal view from the group e.g. 
paper/SBAR will be provided to other relevant management and governance groups 
within the HSCP for example Clinical Care Governance Group, Adult & C&F 
Management Teams as required.

3.3 Membership

The membership of the Professional Leads Group is described below. Terms of 
Reference are in development;

 Assistant Clinical Dental Director 
 Associate Director of Public health 
 Associate Medical Director 
 Chief Social Work Officer 
 Lead Allied Health Professional 
 Lead Nurse 
 Lead Pharmacist 
 Professional Lead Maternity Services 
 Professional Lead Social Work 
 Integrated Joint Board GP Lead

3.4 While the group has met a number of times it has not had a formal 
structure or a process for formally providing professional advice to the 
IJB, SLT or other management meetings. The following 
recommendations are a mechanism to support governance around any 
professional advice provided.

3.5  Recommendations;

1. Implement and embed professional advisory section in formal board 
papers, SLT papers and savings template. 

2. Professional leads should ensure their professional advice is recorded 
accurately into meeting minutes

3. Professional leads input required to attend meetings as required and 
contribute to discussions identifying transformational and savings 
proposals at an early stage

4. Professional leads will contribute to development of a Quality Impact 
Assessment (QIA) or Project Implementation Document (PID), including 
advising on the identification and mitigation of risk prior to submission to 
SLT/IJB.

5. Consensus opinion represented from professional leads group to 
Committees and IJB.

3. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS
Consideration will be given to performance reporting, local and national 
trends and the implementation of national guidelines. 

Page 182



  

3

4. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
Robust and effective mechanisms for professional advice will support all of 
our strategic and financial objectives. Advice to SLT and IJB will ensure that 
professional quality and standards can be maintained. 

Recognition is required to the importance of clinical and care engagement in 
any financial recovery programme or in delivering on our Strategic Plan.

5. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS
Formalising professional advice will support all financial, staff and clinical 
governance processes.

6. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
Provision of QIA’s and EQIA’s is standardised and monitored and robust 
professional advisory structures will support that.

7. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE 
All activity will be compliant with general data protection principles. 

8. RISK ASSESSMENT
Formalising the input of professional leadership provides additional support 
to mitigate or reduce risk in conjunction with the role of the Clinical and Care 
Governance Committee. 

9. PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT
The Professional Leads support will follow the Health and Social Care 
Partnership Engagement and Communication Strategies.  

10.CONCLUSIONS
The professional leadership group welcomes establishment of the group and 
support with the recommendations to ensure that the assurance the 
professional leadership can provide to the HSCP is formalised and 
supported.

11.DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required x
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Page 183



  

4

Author Name Linda Currie
Email  lindacurrie@nhs.net

Page 184



  

1

Integration Joint Board Agenda item: 

Date of Meeting:  27th November 2019

Title of Report: Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO) Annual Report 2018/19

Presented by: Alex Taylor CSWO and Head of Service 

The Integrated Joint Board is asked to:

 Note and comment on the report

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
 
The Chief Social Work Officer Report 2018/19 provides an overview of social 
work activity undertaken across Argyll and Bute during the year.  It outlines 
the statutory functions of the social work services, demonstrating the levels 
of activity and how the services are working to improve outcomes for the 
most vulnerable.  The report details the expenditure across all Social Work 
services, the priorities and the challenges

  
2. INTRODUCTION

The 2018/19 Chief Social Work Officer Report provides an overview of social 
work activity undertaken across Argyll and Bute during the year.  It outlines 
the statutory functions of the social work services, demonstrating the levels 
of activities and how the service is working to improve outcomes for the most 
vulnerable.  The report details the expenditure across all Social Work 
services, the priorities and the challenges.  

 

3. DETAIL

Each local authority in Scotland has a Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO) 
and each CSWO is required to produce an annual report of local activity. 
The production and format of the CSWO Annual Report is specified in 
Scottish Government guidance, Role of the CSWO: Principles, 

Page 185 Agenda Item 13



  

2

Requirements and Guidance (revised version issued in 2016).  This report 
covers the delivery of social work services within Argyll and Bute and is 
intended to support the governance and accountability of the Social Work 
service.

The Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 requires local authorities to appoint a 
single Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO) for the purposes of listed social 
work functions.  The Public Bodies (joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 
made provision for the CSWO to undertake this role for all delegated 
Social Work services within the integration scheme.  One of the key duties 
of the CSWO is to ensure the provision of appropriate professional advice 
to the Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board (IJB), Argyll and Bute 
Council and NHS Highland. 

The Argyll and Bute Social Work service is comprised of Adult Care, 
Children and Families and Justice Social Work.  The Social Work service 
sits within the Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) 
which is set out in the integration scheme under the provisions of the 
Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014.   The integration 
scheme transferred all the Argyll and Bute Council’s Social Work services 
to the Argyll and Bute HSCP on the 1st April 2016.  

The theme of this year’s report is again change and how the Social Work 
service has steered its way through the multiple challenges it has faced.  
Key to the direction of the Social Work service are our core principles 
which have informed our journey.  

These core principles include: 

 Involving service users / carers and the wider public in the 
development of quality care services

 Ensuring safe and effective services through appropriate staff 
support and training

 Striving for continuous improvement with effective polices and 
processes in place 

 Ensuring accountability and management of risk  

These principles run through the report and help evidence that the Argyll 
and Bute Social Work service continues to meet the needs and 
expectations of the communities it serves. 

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS

None. 

Page 186



  

3

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

The CSWO Annual Report promotes the strategic priorities of the HSCP.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Financial impact

None.

6.2 Staff Governance 

None.

6.3 Clinical Governance

None.

7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPICATIONS

None.

8. RISK ASSESSMENT

None.

9. PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT 

None.

10. CONCLUSION

Social Work service staff, including the staff working for our commissioned 
external partners should be proud of the provision of support, care and 
protection they have provided to our vulnerable children, young people 
and adults throughout this past year.   As the report has highlighted, we 
are working in challenging times with many challenges still ahead.  The 
increasing demand for services combined with rising public expectations in 
a context of continued financial constraint will be difficult.   The focus will 
continue to be on ensuring we maintain high standards of service delivery 
whilst reviewing and redesigning the way we work to make the best use of 
all the available resources so we can continue to support, care for and 
protect those in greatest need. 

Page 187



  

4

11. DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required X
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Alex Taylor
Chief Social Work Officer

Tel Number: 01546 604256
Mobile: 07768697805

E-mail: alex.taylor@argyll-Bute.gov.uk 

18th October 2019

Page 188

mailto:alex.taylor@argyll-bute.gov.uk


  

 

Argyll and Bute  

Health and Social Care Partnership   

Chief Social Work Officer  

Annual Report 2018/19  

 

Alex Taylor  

Chief Social Work Officer  

September 2019  

 

 

 

  

Page 189



2 
 

 

Chief Social Work Officers Report  
  

 

Foreword   

  

Welcome to the annual Chief Social Work Officer report for the year 2018/19.  

  

Each local authority in Scotland has a Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO) and each CSWO is 

required to produce an annual report of local activity.  The production of the annual CSWO 

report is covered by Scottish Government guidance, Role of the CSWO: Principles, 

Requirements and Guidance (revised version issued in 2016).  This report covers the delivery 

of social work services within Argyll and Bute and is intended to support the governance and 

accountability of the Social Work service.  

  

The Argyll and Bute Social Work service is comprised of Adult Care, Children and Families and 

Justice Social Work.  The Social Work service sits within the Argyll and Bute Health and Social 

Care Partnership (HSCP) which is set out in the integration scheme under the provisions of 

the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014.  The integration scheme transferred all 

of Argyll and Bute Council’s Social Work services to the Argyll and Bute HSCP on 1 April 2016.    

  

The preparation of the report has been a collaborative venture involving staff from across the 

Social Work service.  The report is as a consequence a composite document which reflects the 

diversity of the groups the Social Work service so skilfully supports, cares for and protects. 

The theme of this year’s report continues to be that of change and how the Social Work 

service has steered its way through the multiple challenges it has faced.  Key to the direction 

of the Social Work service are our core principles which have informed our journey.    

  

These core principles include:   

  

• Involving service users / carers and the wider public in the development of quality care 

services.  

• Ensuring safe and effective services through appropriate staff support and training.  

• Striving for continuous improvement with effective polices and processes in place.   

• Ensuring accountability and the management of risk.    

  

These principles run through the report and help evidence that the Argyll and Bute Social 

Work service continues to meet the needs and expectations of the communities it serves.   

  

  

  

Alex Taylor  

Chief Social Work Officer  

September 2019  

  

  

Page 190



3 
 

  

  

  

  

Contents:  
  

  

 

1. Service Challenges, Developments and Improvements During the Year  

  

  

2. Partnership Working – Governance and Accountability Arrangements  

  

  

3. Social Services Delivery Landscape  

  

  

4. Resources  

  

  

5. Service Quality and Performance – including Delivery of Statutory Services  

  

  

6. Workforce  

  

  

7. Conclusion   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

  

  

  

Page 191



4 
 

   

1. Service Challenges, Developments and Improvements During the Year  
  

Adult Care  

  

An overview   

  

Similar to other Health and Social Care Partnerships, Argyll and Bute faces pressures of 

demographic change and financial constraints, resulting in pressure on services throughout 

the health and social care system.  Effects of these pressures include demand on services, 

readmission to hospital, delayed discharge, and extended stays.  Specific recruitment and 

delivery challenges are present, largely because of Argyll and Bute’s geography.  These relate 

particularly to the delivery of care at home, one consequence being that services originally 

intended to provide short term input are providing longer term care which has impacted on 

capacity.  Work across the partnership to date to address these challenges has focussed on 

the development of neighbourhood-based delivery models.  Considerations of these models 

has identified opportunities around the development of a re-ablement focussed Health and 

Care Support Worker role.  Possible challenges in relation to maintaining professional identity 

and addressing support and supervision requirements for individual staff members have been 

identified.  

  

Our work has benefitted from pilot activity both locally and elsewhere.  NHS Scotland is 

operating a pilot of the Buurtzorg principles (a self-managing and joined up neighbourhood 

model) with NHS Highland.  Similarly process improvement work in Mid-Argyll has tested 

some of the approaches needed to introduce a single point for access to services.  

  

Argyll and Bute has explored workforce planning tools, including the six-step model for 

workforce change, and the use of system dynamics approaches for the development and 

monitoring of workforce change plans.  However, these tools require a shared sense of 

direction before their benefits can be maximised.  

  

The partnership’s strategic plan makes clear that improvements with service delivery will be 

locally owned, planned and delivered.  The changes proposed are intended to assist services 

to become more accessible, flexible, and responsive to clients’ needs and to drive a cultural 

shift towards managing teams in a more integrated way.  In the short term the localities have 

expressed an immediate need to develop multi-disciplinary Community Teams and ‘Single 

Point of Access’ to the services they offer.  This should better integrate services from the point 

of view of the customer, while ensuring sufficient flexibility is available to meet the needs of 

individual agencies.  

  

The consequences of our work to date are proposals for conceptually simple changes to the 

way services are presently organised and operated.    

  

These can be summarised to be:  

  

• Single point of access to Health and Social Care Partnership Community Services 

operating unique to each locality, by means of a single phone number replacing routes 

Page 192



5 
 

managed by individual disciplines (but not replacing existing referral / direct pathways 

from GP’s for example).  

• Integrated working, via frequent multi-disciplinary discussion and review to ensure 

cases are managed in coordinated ways under the care of an appropriate lead 

professional.  

• Greater focus on the opportunities for independence from service delivery, supported 

by improved links to third sector support provision and the offer of rapid response and 

re-ablement approaches.  

• Introduction of a consolidated route by which to obtain services, minimising 

duplication of administrative activity and ensuring that people are supported to get to 

the right service at the right time.  

• Improved collaborative working to ensure the needs of people requiring a 
multidisciplinary approach are met in a coordinated way.  

• Identifying and addressing bottlenecks to ensure that Rapid Response and Re-

ablement Provision offer people the best chance of recovery and independence.  

  

The effective delivery of change will require continued focus, resilience and a robust strategy 

delivered through careful planning and sensitive implementation to achieve improved 

outcomes for service users, within the context of local and national policy objectives and 

legislation.  

  

Care at Home  

  

Within Argyll and Bute a large percentage of the localities now have fully implemented the 

New Model of Care in partnership with our local Care at Home providers.  Previously Care at 

Home services were commissioned on a spot purchase basis and were time and task focused, 

which can on occasion inhibit  providers having consistency in service planning and cause 

concerns regarding compliance with employment law.  

  

The New Model of Care has implemented an outcome focused model that offers additional 

flexibility to service users and can respond to changing priorities at short notice.   

  

Advantages of the Implementation of the New Model include:  

  

• Services assessed and delivered in an outcome focused way.  

• A more logical order of service provision will reduce travel time and free up 

resource capacity.  

• Additional flexibility built in, enabling providers to respond to changing 
priorities at short notice.  

• Scope within the block provision to realign services to accommodate quick 

discharges from hospital.  

• Addresses minimum wage concerns within the sector as staff will be paid by 

block hours provided with no gaps in provision when a service user is absent for 

short periods of time.  

  

 

Page 193



6 
 

Care Homes  

  

The provision of the Care Homes, whether in-house or in partnership with independent 

providers and / or Housing Associations requires ongoing assessment and engagement.   

Nationally we know that recruitment and retention of staff in care homes is a significant 

challenge, which is further emphasised by the rurality of Argyll and Bute.  Also, it is recognised 

that the number of older people is set to rise significantly in the coming years, with the 

steepest rises being in the over 75 year age group.  Given these challenges, the HSCP 

developed a Care Home & Housing Steering Care Homes & Housing Steering Group in July 

2018 to look to assess and project the future need of Care Home and Housing for older people 

in Argyll and Bute for the next 5 to 20 years.    

  

The development of the care home modelling tool has been central to the work undertaken 

to calculate the potential future demand for 24 hour care and the development of options to 

meet that demand.  Demand for care home places is projected to increase by 85% over the 

next 20 years.  The number of funded places in January 2019 was 483 and this could increase 

to 894 by 2038 if no changes are made to care delivery models.  

  

There were 4 distinct phases to the project:  

  

Phase 1: Current scale and profile of 24/7 Nursing & Residential Care and Supported  

Accommodation for Older People  

Phase 2:  Needs Assessment  

Phase 3: Modelling Future Demand  

Phase 4: The Future Plan & Public Engagement  

Stage 4 is underway, with 3 of the 4 established project groups having progressed to 

identifying 2 shortlisted service delivery options  

  

Delayed Discharge   

  

Reducing unnecessary delays in hospital remain a priority for Argyll and Bute HSCP.  There 

have been significant challenges in terms of staff shortages in care at home services, lack of 

capacity in care homes and insufficient capacity with social work staff to complete timely 

assessments which reflects the issues across Scotland.  This has been further complicated by 

a number of patients with complex needs requiring specialist resources out with Argyll and 

Bute HSCP.  There have been challenges in the provision of care home and care at home 

services in a large geographical rural area, which has resulted in private services becoming 

unsustainable and closing their business.  Adults with incapacity has also resulted in significant 

delays in facilitating discharges when patients are medically fit.  Re-ablement teams have 

become embedded within adult services to support patients on discharge to reach as full a 

recovery as possible.  The continued aim is to ensure that there is a single point of access for 

teams that are multi-disciplinary to improve their effectiveness in order to avoid delays and 

duplications to facilitate a safe discharge or prevent admission.  Further work is planned with 

regards to using technology to support higher risk discharges.   

  

  

 

Page 194



7 
 

Adult Protection  

  

Adult Support and Protection (ASP) remains a key priority and under integration Argyll and 

Bute HSCP has improved the continuity of care and outcomes for service users due to greater 

sharing of knowledge and experience in this area.  The Adult Protection Committee now 

regularly engages with practitioners through case study and research presentations, hearing 

the real story of protection and support.  Seminars and development of activity in multiagency 

groupings on Care Home support, on financial harm, and forthcoming developments on self-

harm and hoarding, as well as examination of issues arising in Significant Case Reviews has 

sharpened the focus on practice and standards.  The training and staff development activity 

continues to be a challenge as does reach into health services and community support, within 

our remote and rural environment.  

  

The drive to bring together the public protection agenda has been progressed with child 

protection and the alcohol and drug partnership, and two joint meetings a year take place of 

the Adult and Child Protection Committees, with growing joint policy and practice events.  As 

ever the policy environment brings challenges: the Mental Health Strategy, the Suicide 

Strategy, the new Carers Act, and a range of new issues in trafficking and modern slavery, and 

the continuing struggle against Financial Harm, the demographics and conditions of ageing, 

and the impact on support arising from the current financial challenges to public bodies and 

arising from welfare changes.  

  

The protection of vulnerable and at risk people is complex, relying on robust multi-disciplinary 

working relationships between agencies.  We have a committed approach from all partners 

in Argyll and Bute which we work hard to sustain and strengthen.  

  

Self Directed Support   

  

Self Directed Support (SDS) is about having choice, control and flexibility over the care and 

support people receive.  After a person’s needs and requirements are identified they will be 

offered a choice of 4 options to ensure they have control over how their support is organised, 

delivered and managed:  

  

Option 1   

Direct payments, the supported person receives the money from the Health and Social 

Care Partnership for the provision of their own support.  The supported person can 

employ a Personal Assistant or an Organisation to meet their agreed needs and 

outcomes.  

  

Option 2   

The Health and Social Care Partnership or another appropriate organisation holds the 
money and the supported person arranges their own organisation to provide the care 
and support.   
  

Option 3   

The Health and Social Care Partnership arranges the provision of care and support.  

  

Page 195



8 
 

Option 4    

A combination of the other 3 options.  

  

At times within Argyll and Bute people can find it challenging to secure the full range of 

choices and as such the HSCP continue to work hard to provide choice to people.  In addition 

the HSCP continues to work in collaboration with our third sector, voluntary and private sector 

organisations to find the best possible solution to meet a person’s social care needs, wishes 

and outcomes.   

  

The HSCP has worked closely with other services to enable people to realise the full potential 

of Self Directed Support and as part of our collaborative approach, we provide information to 

people with regards to independent support, advocacy services and advice services.   

  

As part of our commitment to the community we endeavour to continue to support people 

to meet their needs and outcomes and to remain in control and independent in their own 

communities.  We will continue to raise awareness of the Self Directed Support choices 

people have.  Information is available by contacting either the allocated worker or by calling 

Argyll and Bute HSCP Customer Services.  

  

Mental Health   

  

In line with the Scottish Government Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027 Argyll and Bute HSCP 

recognise the importance of prevention, early intervention and physical wellbeing with 

regards to good mental health.   

  

An illustration of this is Jean’s Bothy, which is a new community mental health and wellbeing 

centre in Helensburgh.  This is a community partnership model developed between the local 

community, the HSCP, Enable Scotland and the Ministry of Defence to support people to take 

ownership of their own mental health and recovery.  The Bothy views good mental health as 

being just as important as physical health.  The Bothy achieved significant Big Lottery funding 

to support the development which aims to connect isolated people with their local 

community and prevent mental ill health.   

  

The HSCP are presently recruiting nursing and occupational therapy staff to work alongside 

GP’s with the aim to tackle anxiety and depression.  Work is also continuing to increase the 

resources in unscheduled and out of hours care.  As reported in the SSSC Mental Health 

Officers (Scotland) Report 2018, there is an ageing MHO workforce with an average age of 50 

years.  This is reflective of the 12 MHOs in Argyll and Bute HSCP.  There are two MHOs in 

training with an aim to train two MHOs every year.   

  

There continues to be challenges with regard to meeting statutory requirements in respect of 

Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 and as such there is a review of AWI legislation 

underway by Scottish Government.  The use of AWI legislation has increased substantially 

since its inception.  The Mental Welfare Commission 2017-18 states there has been a 149% 

increase rise in welfare guardianship applications.  This reflected in Argyll and Bute where 

applications for welfare guardianship applications rose from three in 2018 to seventeen in 

2019.   

Page 196



9 
 

Autism  
  

The Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Partnership recognises the importance of 

supporting people living in Argyll and Bute with autism and associated life skill disorders.   The 

Argyll and Bute Strategy for Autism was launched in February 2017 in conjunction with local 

and national partners.  The Autism Implementation Plan has focussed on the four national 

outcomes which have set the direction of travel for the next five years.    

  

1. A Healthy Life: People on the autistic spectrum enjoy the highest attainable standard 

of living, health and family life and have timely access to diagnostic assessment and 

integrated support services.  

  

2. Choice and Control: People on the autistic spectrum are treated with dignity and 

respect and services are able to identify their needs and are responsive to meet these 

needs.   

  

3. Independence: People on the autistic spectrum are able to live independently in the 

community with equal access to all aspects of society.  Services have the capacity and 

awareness to ensure that people are met with recognition and understanding.   

  

4. Active Citizenship: People on the autistic spectrum are able to participate in all 

aspects of community and society by successfully transitioning from school into 

meaningful educational or employment opportunities.  

  

It is recognised that the implementation of the strategy would benefit from dedicated 

leadership and this has been addressed in the proposed Senior Leadership Team (SLT) 

restructure in which a Head of Service will be specifically tasked to lead the implementation 

of the strategy.  The proposed management structure that will sit below the SLT will now 

include a new post of Professional Lead for Social Work which will also support the delivery 

of the implementation plan.  

  

Carers   

  

The Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 came into force on 1 April 2018 introducing new rights for 

unpaid carers and new delegated duties which have been transferred from Argyll and Bute 

Council and NHS Highland to the Health and Social Care Partnership.  In the past a carer was 

identified as someone who provided a substantial amount of care.  With the implementation 

of the Act a carer is now defined as someone who provides care no matter how much or little 

they provide.  To receive support from statutory services (e.g. replacement care or direct 

support to maintain a life alongside their caring role) a carer must meet the eligibility criteria 

as set by the HSCP.  This differs from the eligibility criteria set by the Department of Work and 

Pensions (DWP).  All carers who reside in Argyll and Bute will be able to access some form of 

support no matter if they meet eligibility criteria or not through contacting their local carer 

centre. Carers may also be offered support such as breaks from caring via a variety of 

resources.   Significantly, health staff are now required to identify carers and take account of 

their views in making decisions relating to hospital discharge in relation to the cared for 

person.  A five year Carers Strategy and Implementation plan was launched earlier this year.  

Page 197



10 
 

Alcohol and Drug Partnership   

  

Within Argyll and Bute the Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP) works to prevent and support 

recovery from the harmful use of alcohol and drugs.  In line with the Scottish Government 

priorities, their long term strategic priorities are:  

  

• Fewer people develop problem drug use.  

• People access and benefit from effective, integrated person-centred support to 

achieve their recovery.  

• Children and families affected by alcohol and drug use will be safe, healthy, included 

and supported.  

• Vulnerable people are diverted from the justice system wherever possible, and those 
within justice settings are fully supported.  

• A Scotland where less harm is caused by alcohol.  

  

Argyll and Bute Addiction Team (ABAT) primarily focus on the second of these priorities, 

supporting recovery.  Their team comprises of social workers, nurses, support workers and a 

psychiatrist and provides specialist addiction services from bases in Dunoon, Rothesay, 

Helensburgh, Oban (outreach to Mull and Tiree), Lochgilphead and Campbeltown (outreach 

to Islay).  ABAT services include Assessment, Recovery Planning, Harm Reduction, Sexual 

Health Information, Blood Borne Virus Information and Testing, Opioid Replacement Therapy 

and Naloxone Training and Supply.  Referral can be made via another professional service 

provider (e.g. GP, social worker, Addaction etc.).  In addition to ABAT, ADDACTION are 

commissioned by the Alcohol and Drug Partnership to deliver Recovery Support services 

across Argyll and Bute to those with a substance use issue and their families.  ADDACTION 

offers one to one, group work, peer support, harm reduction advice, needle exchange service, 

DTTO (Drug Treatment and Testing Orders for the courts) and advice/support to relatives and 

family members.  

  

Children & Families and Justice Social Work  

  

Overview   

  

The Children & Families and Justice Social Work Service also includes Child Health, Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and Maternity Services.   As such it is one of just 

a few fully integrated children’s services.  Importantly, integration is delivered through the 

Getting it Right For Every Child (GIRFEC) Practice Model which places the “team around the 

child”.   Whilst structures are important integration in Children’s Services will always be about 

practice.   Over the past year the Children and Families Management Team have established 

a Programme Board which has overseen a number of service reviews including Emergency 

Social Work Service, Justice Social Work, CAMHS, Care Assessment and Reviewing Officers 

(CAROs), Early and Effective Intervention (EEI), Care Leavers (Core and Cluster), Adoption and 

Fostering and Maternity Services.  More recently the Head of Service has led the review of 

the management structure to reflect the learning from the recent Joint Inspection and case 

reviews.   The model that has emerged more closely aligns management and professional / 

clinical leadership and in so doing strengthens oversight of the services and the accountability 

of managers and staff.    

Page 198



11 
 

  

Joint Inspection of Children’s Service (2018/19)  

  

Argyll and Bute Joint Inspection of Children’s Services took place between August and  

November 2018.  The Care Inspectorate and its scrutiny partners Healthcare Improvement 

Scotland, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary for Scotland and Education Scotland, 

looked at the differences the Community Planning Partnership is making to the lives of 

children and young people in need of care and protection and the lives of the children and 

young people for whom the Community Planning Partnership has corporate parenting 

responsibilities.  

  

The inspectors looked closely at the support provided to children and young people who are 

currently, or have previously been ‘Looked After’, including those living with parents, having 

short periods of respite care, in kinship care, in residential care (including schools and secure 

care) and in foster care.  The inspectors also reviewed how services work together to protect 

children where concerns have been raised about their welfare or safety, including children 

who are currently, or have previously been, on the child protection register.  

  

The quality and effectiveness of partnership services in Argyll and Bute was evaluated along 

with supporting evidence in relation to the 17 quality indicators in the quality framework, this 

information was used to answer the five key inspection questions:   

  

1. How good is the partnership at recognising and responding when children and young 
people need protection?  

2. How good is the partnership at helping children and young people who have experienced 

abuse and neglect stay safe, healthy and recover from their experiences?  

3. How good is the partnership at maximising the wellbeing of children and young people 
who are looked after?  

4. How good is the partnership at enabling care experienced young people to succeed in 
their transition to adulthood?  

5. How good is collaborative leadership?  

  

In addition to answering these five inspection questions, the inspectors used a six-point scale 

to provide a formal evaluation of three quality indicators that concern the impact of partners’ 

work on the lives of children, young people and their families, and the outcomes partners are 

achieving.  These are:  

  

1.1   Improvements in the safety, wellbeing and life chances of vulnerable children and        

young people  

  

2.1 Impact on children and young people  

  

2.2 Impact on families  

  

They also provide an overall evaluation for leadership, which comprises a suite of four quality 

indicators (9.1 to 9.4 inclusive).   

  

Page 199



12 
 

The Care Inspectorate and its scrutiny partners evaluated services in Argyll and Bute as:  

  

   9     How good is our leadership – GOOD  

2.2    Impact on families – GOOD  

2.1     Impact on Children and Young People – GOOD  

1.1    Improvements in the safety, wellbeing and life chances of vulnerable children 

and young people – ADEQUATE  

  

The inspection report was published on the Care Inspectorate website on 26 March 2019.  The 

inspectors said that they are confident the partnership in Argyll and Bute has the capacity to 

continue to improve and to address the points for action highlighted in the report.  This is 

based on:   

  

• Services working well together, underpinned by a collaborative, learning culture.  

• Staff united in a common purpose, underpinned by GIRFEC and a strong, shared 
commitment to improving outcomes.  

• Positive leadership from Chief Officers, providing direction and scrutiny to services for 
children and young people in need of care and protection.  

• Notable improvement in the partnership’s joint approach to self-evaluation  

• A willingness on the part of all partners to actively engage with children, young people 
and their families in order to share power, identify need and improve outcomes  

• Evidence of significant improvement in priority areas, including the wellbeing of care 

leavers and the recognition and immediate response to children and young people in need 

of care and protection despite challenges facing the partnership.  

  

Getting it Right for Every Child (GIRFEC)   

  

Most children and young people get all the help and support they need from their parent(s), 

wider family and community but sometimes they may need a bit of extra help.  The Getting It 

Right For Every Child (GIRFEC) framework and approach supports families by making sure 

children and young people can receive the right help, at the right time, from the right people, 

so that they can grow up feeling loved, safe and respected and realise their full potential.  

  

All children and young people and their families have access to a Named Person, who provide 

a central point of contact if they need to talk about any worries, seek support or require 

information or advice.  Through the Child’s Planning process the Named Person can also, 

when appropriate, reach out to different services who can help.  A Child's Plan is available for 

children who require extra support that is not generally available to address and improve their 

Wellbeing.  The Child's Plan is considered and developed in partnership with the child, their 

parent(s) and the services involved.    

  

Argyll and Bute has been successful in being selected as a ‘test’ site for the GIRFEC Leadership 

programme.  It is anticipated the programme will support additional GIRFEC improvement 

activity over the next 18 months, by adopting a collaborative leadership approach.    

  

 

Page 200



13 
 

Corporate Parenting  

  

The Argyll and Bute Corporate Parenting Board is the instrument through which Corporate 

Parents work together to improve outcomes for Looked After Children and Young People.  

Corporate Parenting and the current duties of Corporate Parents can be traced back to the 

publications Extraordinary Lives (2006), We Can and Must Do Better (2007),  These are our 

Bairns (2008) and more recently the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014.   

Corporate Parents now have a legal duty to work together to combat the stigma and redress 

the numerous disadvantages care experienced children and young people face in life.  In Argyll 

and Bute we aim to do this by bringing our key improvement priorities together within our 

Corporate Parenting Plan.  Central to this is:  

  

• Preventing vulnerable children and young people being accommodated.  

• Improving health and wellbeing outcomes.  

• Improving attainment and achievement.  

• Improving the availability of appropriate accommodation for care leavers.  

• Delivering a whole system approach to Youth and Justice.  

• Continuing to improve permanence outcomes.  

• Improving participation and engagement with children and young people.  

  

The Corporate Parenting Board has continued to make progress across all our priority areas 

this year.  To strengthen the strategic leadership of Corporate Parenting a Corporate 

Parenting Plan Management Group, comprised of the corporate Chief Officers, has been 

established.  The group’s mission is to drive the achievement of the plan.    

  

The Corporate Parenting Board is presently morphing into a Champions Board with a stronger 

focus on participation and engagement with our Looked After Children and Young People.  

During the past year, in conjunction with the Life Changes Trust and Who Carers Scotland, we 

have appointed a Participation Co-ordinator and two care experienced Participation 

Assistants under our Modern Apprentice Scheme.   At the time of writing we are preparing 

for a self-evaluation event to be held later in the autumn.  

  

Looked After Children   

  

All of our Children’s Houses remain graded 5 (Very Good) and our Adoption and Fostering 

services are also graded 5 (with 4 for Management and Leadership) and we will continue to 

strive for improvement and excellence.  Much progress has also been made and remains to 

be made with regard to securing our children’s futures once they are Looked After and 

Accommodated (LAAC).  Over the past year we been carrying out a number of Tests of Change 

through the CELCIS Permanence and Care Excellence (PACE) programme.  The programme 

uses data analysis to examine the care pathway and applies improvement methodology to 

streamline and refine the journey to permanence and thereby improve individual outcomes.  

The staff training and development provided by PACE has been excellent and has greatly 

improved our understanding of the pathway.   As a result our staff feel better equipped and 

more confident to pursue permanence when it is indicated.  One of the successful outcomes 

of this work is the introduction of a Kinship Panel which has been welcomed by our Kinship 

Carers and Professionals and is demonstrating that with a dedicated panel we are securing 

Page 201



14 
 

children with their families sooner while ensuring ongoing support and review.  We have fully 

embraced our commitment to Continuing Care and are now registered as an Adult Service 

with the Care Inspectorate to be in a position to support our young people in their foster or 

residential placements until 21 years of age.   

  

Through and Aftercare  

  

The Through and Aftercare services continue to develop partnership arrangements based on 

the principles set out in The Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014.  To underline this 

process there is a continued focus on the developments surrounding the messages from the 

Scottish Care Leavers Covenant.  

  

This year we have updated our operational procedures and increased our actions around the 

key themes set out the Covenant and the Agenda for Change model (Graduated and extended 

transitions, Staying Put / Continuing care and relationship based practice).  The Through and 

Aftercare service provide support to 105 young people from Argyll and Bute.  This support is 

carried out across the authority and beyond, including support to six young people in 

University placements across the United Kingdom.   

  

There are nine young people who gain support in Continuing Care Placements and the service 

works closely with residential services and our family support colleagues to ensure 

appropriate care plans are in place.  In recent weeks we have been involved with other 

partners in placing our first graduated placement within the council’s first Core and Cluster 

house. This resource was created in response to the council’s commitment to our young 

people who opt for ongoing care within existing resources.  The Core and Cluster model will 

be rolled out across Argyll and Bute and will continue to build on our commitment to the 

children and young people in our care.   

  

The Through and Aftercare Team are committed to promoting the voices of our children and 

young people and are heavily involved in the development of the Champions Board.  This is 

carried out in collaboration with our Participation Coordinator and our Participation 

Assistants who are involved in the direct delivery of this support and development.  Staff from 

Through and Aftercare services are well represented at the Corporate Parenting Board and 

are strong advocates for identified services that have grown from the direct work carried out 

with young people in our communities.   

  

We will short plan for the supports needed over the next five years.  We will then establish a 

plan based on the projected figures to enable us to more effectively support our care 

experienced young people into the future.  

  
Child Protection  

  

The past year (2018/19) saw a continued focus on the Child Protection Committee’s 

interagency priority of “doing the basics right”, in support of this we have provided 

supervision training for Practice Leads and continued to focus on improving the quality of risk 

assessments and plans.  This has been underpinned by key practice developments, in 

particular developing our systematic use of the National Risk Assessments Framework in a 

Page 202



15 
 

partnership with Herriot Watt University, expanding use of the Neglect Tool Kit and 

embedding Chronologies in day to day practice.   

  

Initial quality assurance work confirmed that we continue to make sustained progress in these 

areas.  Our services were tested in late 2018, when we were one of the 2 pilot areas of the 

Care Inspectorates new inspection programme.  The inspection highlighted that the work on 

our improvement priorities was reflected in the quality of social work inspected and in the 

views and experiences of the children, young people and families they spoke to.  Services 

were graded as Good with key strengths identified.    

  

• The wellbeing of children in need of care and protection was improving.  

• Most children and young people enjoying positive and caring relationships with staff 

and carers.  

• Children and young people were respected and listened to at both operational and 

strategic levels.  

• Overall, processes for recognising and responding to children and young people in 

need of protection were well established.  

• Children and young people in need of care and protection benefitted from well-
managed, independently chaired reviews.  

• Review meetings providing quality assurance and accountability, adding to the 

prospect of better outcomes.  

  

Further work is now required for a small but significant number of children and young people 

to improve the quality and consistency of risk assessments and planning and in continuing our 

focus on developing our first line managers and all our workforce.   

  

Young Carers  

  

Since April 2018 we have been working closely with our local third sector colleagues to 

develop Young Carers services.  Most of our Carers Centres already had funding from charities 

like Big Lottery to set services up.  With the implementation of the Carers Act we have 

increased funding to support delivery of Young Carers Statements to all those young carers 

who agree to an assessment of their carer needs and support.  Our local young carers services 

are commissioned though Helensburgh Carers Centre, North Argyll Carers centre, Mid Argyll 

Youth Development Service and Cowal Crossroads.  All services work closely with local HSCP 

teams, Education and other providers of children's services to assist young carers to have a 

life outside their caring role.    

  

Justice Social Work  

  

The Justice Social Work service has concluded a service review which will see a shift in staffing 

to meet service need and future demand.  Recruitment is ongoing and should be in place by 

the end of 2019.  

  

The Community Justice Partnership has seen partner agencies working together to deliver on 

the Community Justice Outcome Improvement Plan.  The main focus for 2019/20 is on 

pathways for prisoners from custody to the community, community sentences and improving 

Page 203



16 
 

access to Diversion from Prosecution.  The Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service are 

currently reviewing the process for Diversion from Prosecution, with the aim being to increase 

the number and types of cases that are suitable for such action.  From April 2020 it is expected 

that the number of referrals for diversion will increase.  Improvement work has already 

commenced with a renewed focus on the quality of assessment and intervention work being 

delivered by the Community Payback Officers for diversion cases.  Historically within Argyll 

and Bute, this area of work was given low priority, however it is now central to our Community 

Justice Priorities and included in the Community Justice Outcome Improvement Plan.  

  

The service continues to provide statutory supervision to offenders via Community Payback 

Orders (CPO) and assists community reintegration and rehabilitation from prison via post 

release supervision.  The service also provides assessment reports to the Courts and Parole 

Boards and participates in the Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) which 

aim to manage the risk posed by violent and sexual offenders.  The service works with other 

agencies, both within the HSCP and beyond, including Police Scotland, the Scottish Prison 

Service, NHS Highland and Greater Glasgow and Clyde and a range of third sector providers.   

  

Recent changes introduced via the Community Payback Orders Practice Guidance published 

by Scottish Government in January 2019 has a range of implications for the way that Argyll 

and Bute deliver their Justice Social Work services.  The revised practice guidance was a 

response to issues and clarity with managing compliance and the breach process, 

responsibility for breach decisions but also addresses some of the findings of the 2015 

evaluation of Community Payback Orders, Criminal Justice Social Work Reports and the 

Presumption Against Short Sentences (PASS).  Amendments have been made due to 

legislative reform in relation to the Domestic Abuse (Scotland) Act 2018 to promote 

continuous practice improvement in this area.  Revisions have also been made to the chapter 

on data protection to take account of changes in the legal framework around data protection 

and information sharing.  Changes to the language have been made throughout to reduce 

stigmatisation, including avoiding use of terms such as ‘criminal’ and ‘offender’ where 

possible.  The new guidance also introduces the terms “justice social work services” and 

“justice social worker” removing Criminal from the title.  These changes have been 

incorporated into the service review.  

  

Argyll and Bute receives a small grant from the Scottish Government as part of our settlement 

to deliver services specifically focussed on women, including bail supervision.  This area of 

work will be developed by the Community Payback Officers over the coming year.  There is 

also a renewed emphasis within the revised Community Payback Order Practice Guidance, 

Equally Safe Plan and Violence against Women Partnership on delivering high quality, 

research based intervention programmes to perpetrators of domestic violence.  The 

introduction of Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) within Argyll and Bute 

will also intensify the need for progress to be made in this area.  An intervention programme 

has been identified for use by social workers, however this will require additional resourcing 

for training of staff.  The Justice Service Manager will also be involved in MATAC, which is a 

new development for this multi-agency partnership.  Justice Social Work will continue as a 

key partner in Argyll and Bute’s Violence Against Women Partnership.  

  

 

Page 204



17 
 

Argyll and Bute continues to have a disproportionally high level of Multi Agency Public 

Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) managed cases compared to the other areas in North 

Strathclyde MAPPA region.  This work places additional demands on social workers.  The high 

number of MAPPA cases may in part be due to our rurality and the dispersed nature of our 

population as all the nationally accredited sex offender treatment programmes e.g. Moving 

Forward Making Changes (MFMC) are group work based and require two social workers.  Two 

members of staff are currently in the process of being trained in this programme, with the 

aim being to have all social workers trained over the next 18 months, subject to acceptance 

on the course.   Whilst this is a positive step and will lead to better outcomes for service users, 

it will place additional workload demands on social workers.  An integral part of being 

accredited to deliver MFMC is the requirement by the Scottish Government and Risk 

Management Authority to have a Treatment Manager who will ensure programme integrity 

and deliver clinical supervision to the practitioners.  This requires an additional resource at 

Team Leader level.  In order to assist with costs in this area, an agreement has been reached 

to share this post with East and West Dunbartonshire.  

  

Unpaid Work  

  

The Community Payback Order (CPO) requirement for unpaid work continues to be offered 

by Justice Social Work and services have been developed to meet the needs of individuals 

within the available resources.  Consultation and agreement with local communities and 

organisations continues with good publicity, projects and placements being realised.  An 

example of the contribution that Unpaid Work can make to our communities can be 

illustrated by the Chapel Hill accessible raised beds project in Rothesay run by Fyne Futures.  

They asked for assistance in renovating a piece of waste land that they were given by the 

Council.  They applied for a grant to build raised flower/vegetable beds that are accessible for 

everyone in the community to use and this was granted.  The unpaid work squad levelled the 

ground and helped in the making of new paths and laid decking.  Individual placements were 

offered there as well as squad days.  The garden was opened on 26 June 2018 by Brendan 

O’Hara MP.  On opening day a raw food cuisine demonstration was part of the launch on how 

to prepare the vegetables that the group will be growing on the site.  They described cooking 

for a vegan diet and the positive impacts it can have in reducing a carbon footprint.  This is 

important for the health and wellbeing of the community.  This garden will be used by all of 

the community to learn how to grow their own vegetables and fruit and they have now 

started group days.  

  

The revised practice guidance also has additional levels of scrutiny for stand-alone Unpaid 

Work Community Payback Orders.  This, coupled with the extension and rollout of 

Presumption against Short Sentences (PASS) will place increased demands on the Unpaid 

Work Scheme, as it is likely that a number of previous short custodial sentences will be 

converted to Community Payback Orders with Unpaid Work.  This requires additional 

resource which was included in the service review. The focus for the service will be on 

additional scrutiny of breach reports, on ensuring that the individuals placed on unpaid work 

can be inducted within statutory timescales and identification of additional work placements 

to meet demand.  The unpaid work supervisors will be expected to concentrate more on the 

delivery of squad work placements, thereby increasing the capacity for the number of hours 

completed per week as well as the number of placements.  Offering more placements will 

Page 205



18 
 

also develop skills and employability prospects for service users.  The impact of PASS will be 

monitored closely during 2019/20.  

  

  

2. Partnership Working – Governance and Accountability Arrangements  
  

The role of the Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO)  

  

The Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 requires local authorities to appoint a single Chief Social 

Work Officer (CSWO) for the purposes of listed social work functions.  The Public Bodies (Joint 

Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 made provision for the CSWO to undertake this role for all 

delegated Social Work services within the integration scheme.   

  

“The CSWO should assist local authorities and their partners in understanding the complexities 
and cross-cutting nature of social work service delivery - including in relation to particular 
issues such as corporate parenting, child protection, adult protection and the management of 
high risk offenders - and also the key role social work plays in contributing to the achievement 
of a wide range of national and local outcomes.  The CSWO also has a contribution to make in 
supporting overall performance improvement and management of corporate risk. “   
  
The Role of the Chief Social Work Officer.  Scottish Government May 2016  

  

The CSWO is a member of the Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board (IJB) and a member of 

the Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) Senior Leadership Team (SLT).  There are clear 

lines of accountability between the CSWO and the Chief Officer of the HSCP and the Chief 

Executive of the Council.  The view of the CSWO is sought on policy and strategic 

developments as well as complex operational issues.  To support this there are regular 

scheduled meetings between the CSWO, the Chief Officer of the HSCP and the Chief Executive 

of the Council.  The CSWO has a statutory role as the professional advisor and non-voting 

member of the IJB and also sits on the Clinical and Care Governance Committee which has 

widened its governance role and is refining it processes to more effectively assure itself with 

regard to the range of social care activity.   The CSWO is also a member of the Chief Officer 

Group for Public Protection (COGPP) and is the MAPPA lead.   The CSWO is also a member of 

the Child Protection and Adult Protection Committees.   

  

The CSWO is the Head of Children and Families and Justice Social Work and manages Child  

Health (including CAMHS) and Maternity Services as part of an integrated remit.   When the 

CSWO is absent or on leave the CSWO role is delegated to a Third Tier manager and this 

arrangement has worked well and has served to introduce senior social work managers to the 

role of the CSWO as part of their professional development.  

  

Argyll and Bute Health and Social care Partnership Governance Structure  

  

The Argyll and Bute HSCP operates the following formal governance arrangements as 

illustrated in the flow chart over:  

 

 

Page 206



19 
 

  

 
  
 
   

 

   

 

The Integration Joint Board   

  

The Integration Joint Board (IJB) is responsible for the governance, planning and resourcing 

of services and has full power to decide how to use resources and deliver delegated services 

to improve quality and people’s outcomes.  It works alongside NHS Highland, Argyll and Bute 

Council and community planning partnership to deliver health and social care services.    

  

The IJB has afforded the CSWO a valuable opportunity to engage with key stakeholder groups 

regarding the work of the Social Work services through its membership which includes the 

voting members, Third Sector representatives, Patients / Service Users and Carers as well as 

staff representatives.  For example, during the past year the CSWO organised development 

sessions for IJB members on Justice Social Work and the Multi Agency Public Protection 

Arrangements (MAPPA).    

 

  
 

Integration Joint Board 

Clinical & Care 

Governance 

Committee 

Strategic 

Planning Group 

Audit 
Committee 

Finance & 

Policy 

Committee 

Page 207



20 
 

Quality and Finance Plan Programme Board  

  

This board oversees the programme of work to plan to deliver financial balance including 

delivery of the service changes in the Quality and Finance Plan, develop and oversee financial 

recovery plans and develop an approach to future planning for future service change 

proposals.   

  

Clinical and Care Governance Committee   

  

This group provides assurance to the IJB that systems, processes and procedures are in place 

to ensure delivery of safe and effective person-centred health and social care services.  In 

addition it supports services to continuously improve the quality and safety of care, identify 

areas for performance improvement and to provide assurance for professional standards of 

care.    

  

Strategic Planning Group  

  

This group supports the IJB in preparing, consulting and publishing a Strategic Plan for 

integrated Health and Social Care services.  It also reviews the delivery of Strategic Plan 

through the Annual Performance Report and the locality planning process; it provides 

leadership and supports the work of the Locality Planning Groups.    

  

Audit Committee  

  

This group ensures sound governance arrangements are in place for the IJB and also ensures 

the efficient and effective performance of the HSCP in order to deliver on outcomes.  In 

addition it provides the IJB with independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk 

management framework, the internal control environment and the integrity of financial 

reporting and annual governance processes.  

  

Community Planning Partnership  

  

The Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership (CPP) is designed to provide strong 

multi-agency leadership in order to deliver the best possible outcomes for the people of Argyll 

and Bute.  The Partnership is supported to deliver outcomes through six outcome delivery 

groups which take forward the key strategic priorities of the partnership.  

  

The Outcome Delivery Groups are given direction, challenge and support from the Community 

Planning Partnership Management Committee which provides the key link between strategy 

and delivery of local outcomes for our communities.  Four Area Community Planning Groups 

consider local issues of relevance to the outcome of the Partnership and feedback on these 

to both the Outcome Delivery Groups and the Management Committee through regular 

agenda items at each.  The CPP has a Full Partnership Board which meets annually and 

considers overall progress and direction.  The CPP board is led by the Leader of Argyll and 

Bute Council.  

  

Page 208



21 
 

Chief Officer Group for Public Protection  

  

The Chief Officer Group for Public Protection (COGPP) is chaired by the Chief Executive of 

Argyll and Bute Council.  The membership includes the CSWO, the Chief Officer of the HSCP, 

the HSCP Heads of Service, the Police Scotland Divisional Commander as well as the Argyll and 

Bute public protections leads.  Over the past year COGPP have led the closer integration of 

the work of the Child Protection Committee with the Adult Protection Committee.  Having 

completed a self-evaluation exercise COGPP later draw up a Public Protection Strategy and 

has expanded its remit and focus to also include Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements 

(MAPPA), Violence Against Woman and Girls Partnership (VAWG), Community Justice and the 

Alcohol and Drugs Partnership (ADP).  The CSWO has established a Public Protection Leads 

Group which prepares the agenda and more actively supports and implements the work of 

COGPP.   

 

3. Social Services Delivery Landscape  
  

Our Places & Population  

  

The Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016 identified ten data zones in Argyll and Bute 

as being in the 15% most overall deprived data zones in Scotland.  These ten are all located in 

towns (Helensburgh, Dunoon, Rothesay, Campbeltown and Oban).  Significantly 56 of Argyll 

and Bute’s 125 data zones (45%) are amongst the 20% most geographic access deprived data 

zones in Scotland.  The authority is divided into four Administrative Areas, which are 

frequently used for service planning within the area.   

  

These are:   

  

• Bute and Cowal   

• Helensburgh and Lomond   

• Mid Argyll, Kintyre and the Islands   

• Oban, Lorn and the Isles  

  

Argyll and Bute is dealing with population changes that are likely to impact on both adults and 

children and families; we need to consider what service changes will be necessary to meet 

this challenge.  2016-based population projections, published by the National Records of 

Scotland, indicate that within Argyll and Bute a number of key changes will take place.  

  

• A decrease in the total population of 3.4% over the next 10 year projection period  

 (2016-2026).   

• A decrease of 6.4% in the number and proportion of 0 to 15 year olds.   

• A decrease of 36.3% in the number and proportion of 16 - 64 year olds - working age 

population.   

• An increase of 1.8% in the number and proportion of 65 to 74 year olds.   

• An increase of 30% in the number and proportion of individuals age 75 and over.   

          
  

Page 209



22 
 

     Source: National Records of Scotland 2016 based Population              
Projections by Council Area in Scotland  

  

Our Households & Our Health  

  

There were estimated to be 41,040 households in Argyll and Bute in 2016, with an average 

household size of 2.06 people, lower than the Scottish average of 2.16 people.  Between 2016 

and 2026, the number of households in Argyll and Bute is projected to increase from 41,040 

to 41,531.  This is a 1.2% increase, which compares to a projected increase of 6.4% for 

Scotland as a whole.  

  

The Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) have the shared vision that 

“People in Argyll and Bute will live longer, healthier, independent lives.”  The nine National 

Health and Wellbeing Outcomes describe what people can expect from the HSCP.  

  

1. People are able to look after and improve their own health and wellbeing and live in  

good health for longer.  

2. People, including those with disabilities or long term conditions, or those who are  frail, 

are able to live as far as reasonably practicable, independently and at home, or  in a 

homely setting.  

3. People who use health and social care services have positive experiences of those  

services and have their dignity respected.  

4. Health and social care services are centred on helping to maintain the quality of life  

of people who use those services.  

5. Health and social care services contribute to reducing health inequalities.  

6. People who provide unpaid care are supported to look after their own health and  

wellbeing, including to reduce any negative impact of their caring role on their own  

health and wellbeing.  

7. People using health and social care services are safe from harm.  

8. People who work in health and social care services feel engaged with the work they  

do and are supported to continuously improve the information, support, care and  

treatment they provide.  

9. Resources are used effectively and efficiently in the provision of health and social  care 

services.  

  

Communication, Engagement and Commissioning  

  

In delivering services to the people of Argyll and Bute the Health and Social Care Partnership 

(HSCP) not only endeavours to meet needs and enhance lives but also respect and hear the 

voices and opinions of users and carers.  The HSCP is currently undertaking a comprehensive 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  Only through this approach can the future need and 

demand for services be mapped, planned for and resourced.   For example, Children’s Services 

are in the process of undertaking a complementary Strategic Needs Assessment which will 

form the basis for the next Children’s Services Plan (2020-23).  Whilst a significant element of 

the assessment will be derived from the analysis of data the views and experience of service 

users is also very relevant.  The commissioning and procurement of future services will then 

more closely reflect the changing needs and aspirations of our children and their parents or 

Page 210



23 
 

carers.  More generally there is scope to extend and strengthen the joint commissioning of 

services between partners and services (including the Third Sector) and this will be supported 

by the forthcoming production of the HSCP Commissioning Strategy.  

  

  

4. Resources  
  

Financial Overview   

  

The Integration Joint Board approved the budget for 2018-19 on 28 March 2018.  At that time 

£7.7m of previously identified savings had still to be delivered and there was a remaining 

budget gap of £5.3m.  Further savings of £2.95m were identified leaving a gap of £2.39m to 

be addressed through service changes in year.  This was reduced at the end of May to £1.6m 

following agreement of a reduced repayment to the Council of £100k following the over spend 

on Social Work in 2017-18 of £1.155m.  The health related overspend for that year of £1.373m 

was covered by Scottish Government brokerage given to NHS Highland.  

The outturn for 2018-19 was an overspend of £6.681m.  Of this, £3.554m was covered by 

Scottish Government brokerage given to NHS Highland and the overspend on Social Work of 

£3.127m is due to be repaid to the Council over a 3 year period commencing in 2020-21.  

  

In summary financial balance was not achieved in 2018-19 for a number of reasons:  

  

• Unidentified savings at the start of the financial year of £1.6m, for which no recurring 

savings were identified in-year to offset.  

• Delay in delivering recurring savings included in the Quality and Finance Plan.  

• Ongoing service pressures and budget overspends in areas which have historically 

been budget pressure areas, including medical agency and locum costs, GP prescribing 

costs, high cost care packages and demand for social care services (including 

supported living and care home placements).  

• The full benefit of the financial recovery plan not being fully recognised in the financial 

outturn as service pressures and demands partly offset any benefits.  

  

Financial Challenges & Shifting Resources  

  

The difficulties with delivering savings highlights the significant challenge facing the HSCP in 

delivering further savings in future years and the requirement to implement service change 

at scale and pace to ensure the ongoing financial sustainability of the partnership.  There are 

significant cost and demand pressures across health and social care services and these are 

expected to outstrip any available funding uplifts and have a significant contribution to the 

overall budget gap.  The main pressures relate to demographic and volume pressures 

including amongst other areas healthcare packages, growth in prescribing, growth in adult 

social care services, younger adult supported living services and acute health services.   There 

are also significant costs arising from the uplift in the Living Wage rate, pay inflation costs for 

HSCP employees, inflationary increases for drugs and prescribing costs and for commissioned 

services.    

  

Page 211



24 
 

A savings plan for the budget gap shortfall for 2019-20 of £6.8m has been agreed by the 

Integration Joint Board comprising management / operational savings of £5.058m and policy 

savings of £1.736m.  Many of these savings involve right sizing of existing budgets and there 

is much more confidence that these can be delivered.  However, it should be noted that there 

are also £2.8m of previously agreed savings still to be delivered and these remain challenging 

to deliver in full.  

  

Transforming Together   

  

The Transforming Together programme includes service changes planned to deliver £10.4m 

of budget reductions through 8 transformational work streams.    

  

The ongoing programmes are as follows:  

  

• Children’s services  

• Care homes and housing  

• Learning disability services  

• Community model of care  

• Mental health services  

• Primary care services  

• Acute Hospital services  

• Corporate services  

  

These align with the Strategic Plan 2019/20 – 2021/22.  There is evidence of transformation 

taking place at a strategic and operational level within the HSCP.  However there remains a 

real challenge in disinvesting from expensive institutional based services.  The HSCP are 

focussed on directing the finite resources available to achieve Best Value, however there are 

particular challenges in achieving this in all areas due to the current arrangements for service 

delivery and the inherent cost of providing services in rural and remote areas.  The continued 

investment in community services in 2019-20 will build capacity in communities and support 

the delivery of these service changes in the future.    

  
  

5. Service Quality and Performance – including Delivery of Statutory Services  
  

National & Local Outcomes  

93% of adults tell us that they are able to look after their health 

well or quite well  

  

Within the Health and Social Care Partnership the National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes 

(NHWBOI’s) provide a strategic framework for the planning and delivery of health and social 

care services.  This suite of outcomes, together, focuses on improving the experiences and 

quality of services for people using those services, carers and their families.  These outcomes 

Page 212



25 
 

focus on improving how services are provided, as well as, the difference that integrated health 

and social care services should make, for individuals.    

  

The current Integration Joint Board (IJB) Performance Scorecard consists of 65 performance 

indicators and for May the overall performance reported 35 measures as being on track – a 

further breakdown of this noted four of the nine Health and Wellbeing Outcome Indicators 

showing as amber and five showing a red.   A snapshot of key HSCP performance success for 

2018/19 are detailed in the table below:  

  

Health & Wellbeing Outcome Performance Measure  Target  Performance  

Reduce the rate of premature mortality per 100,000 population   425.0    380.0  

Increase the percentage of Looked After & Accommodated Children in 

Family Placements   
 75 %   77 %  

Increase the percentage  of MMR1 uptake rates in children  at 5 years old   95.0 %  96.9 %  

Increase the  number of people  aged 65+ receiving homecare    1,180  1,238  

Reduce the Emergency Admissions bed day rate   123,035   108,833   

Increase the number of people in their last 6 months of life spent at home 

or in a community setting   
 88 %  90 %  

Reduce the percentage  of patients wait no longer than 4 hours in Accident 

& Emergency  
95.0 %   98.6 %  

Increase the percentage  of people with positive experience of their GP 

practice   
83 %   85 %  

Increase the percentage  of Social Work care services graded ‘good’ '4' or 

better in Care Inspectorate inspections   
83 %   86 %  

Increase the percentage  of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan    74 %   95 %  

Increase the percentage  of adults supported at home who agree they felt 

safe  
83 %  83 %  

Increase the percentage  of Adult Care users reporting they feel safe at 

assessment   
70 %  83 %  

Increase the percentage  of staff who say they would recommend their 

workplace as a good place to work   
67.0 %   71%  

Source: Pyramid IJB Scorecard data as at May 2019  

 

Early Intervention  

 

83% of people supported at home told us that they feel safe  

  

Page 213



26 
 

 

Adult Protection  

  

Across 2018/19 there were 357 Adult Protection referrals, representing a very slight decrease 

from 2017/18 with 27% coming from the Police.  Of all referrals, 52% identified an adult as 

being at risk (i.e. met the 3 point test) and 8.4% led to further Adult Protection activity.  There 

were 30 investigations during 18/19, and from these there were no requests made for 

Protection Orders.   

 

Child Protection  

  

Performance with regards to the number of child protection investigations across the 

previous 3 years notes an overall 29% reduction from 16/17 (207) to 18/19 (148).  This 

reduction has not been seen across the three year periods with regards to the number of 

investigations which are converted to child protection registrations.  The trend across the 

registration data notes over the three year period a flat performance trend with a median 

conversion rate of (31) per year.  Critically a contributing factor to this consistence in trend 

may be the robust ongoing application of child protection training across the HSCP and work 

done to support children and families ahead of the move to registration.  

  
Source: Carefirst reports as at May 2019  

  

Source: Carefirst data as at May 2019   

365 

34 18 14 

357 

30 26 11 

Referrals Investigations Initial Case Conferences Review Case Conferences 

Adult Protection Activity by Year  
(  2017/18 & 2018/19)  

2017/2018 2018/2019 

  

207 191 
148 

34 31 34 

16 / 17 17 / 18 18 / 19 

Percentage Child Protection Investigations and Registrations  

Child Protection Investigations Child Protection Registrations 

Page 214



27 
 

Closer examination of the types of concerns identified with regards to child protections notes 

that the top three concerns are: Parental Mental Health issues (17), Neglect (14) and Domestic 

Abuse (13)   

  
Source: Carefirst report May 2019  
  

Delayed Discharge  

  

Like all Health & Social Care Partnerships across Scotland, Argyll and Bute is committed to 

ensuring patients are not spending time in hospital unnecessarily while awaiting discharge. 

However, this can be challenging given the increasing older population alongside rising 

complex care requirements.  The graph below identifies the three key components with 

regard to the overall number of delays, the number awaiting a care package and the bed day 

lost.  The data notes an erratic trend across the year and this is seen clearly with the highest 

months for delay noted as April (49), May (49) and November (45) and two of the lowest 

months for delays being September (26) and February (28).  The median trend across the year 

for total number of delays notes (38) and there is a suggestion across the data that seasonal 

factors such as response to winter pressures may be influencing the data at key periods across 

the year.   

  

With regard to bed days lost across the year there has been a 25% reduction from April 18- 

March 19, however the monthly data notes that there is not always a correlation between 

reduced overall delayed discharges (DD) and reduced bed days.  Weekly DD data is being 

produced to support area managers and teams with real-time data noting reasons for delay 

and bed days used against all patients.  This local intelligence and data is being used to assist 

in both prevention of further admission and in supporting the localities in understanding the 

reasons for delay and actions required within local hospital and wards. This information is 

used in daily ward discharge briefings.  

  

 
Source: Pyramid data as at May 2019 & MSG4 Bed Day data ISD publication dated May 2019  

  

16 16 14 12 14 13 14 15 16 13 8 14 

49 49 
39 

34 34 
26 

39 
45 

38 
32 

28 

40 

985 950 

730 733 

879  

738  
848  856 

754 

608 
713  736 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Number of Delayed Discharge & Bed Days (2018/19) 

Awaiting Care Package Number of Delayed Discharges Bed Days Lost 

Page 215



28 
 

Children & Families Early Intervention Services  

  

Performance with regard to referral to the EEI group across the year note a general low level 

trend of referral numbers (median 11) the largest number of referrals reported across the 

year was May 2018 (19).  There is an identifiable trend reduction for Jan 2019 - Mar 2019 with 

a median of (13) referrals across this three month period.  The number of children referred 

affected by Domestic Abuse again shows a relatively flat median trend (3) across the total 

number of referral.  Statistically there appears to be no direct link with an increase in referrals 

and those referrals involving domestic abuse.  

  

 

Justice Services   

  

The Argyll and Bute Justice Service has offices in Dunoon, Rothesay, Campbeltown, 

Lochgilphead, Oban and Helensburgh with responsibility for assessment and supervision of 

service users, working with partners to deliver public protection, risk management, and 

interventions with a view to reducing reoffending.  Since the implementation of the new 

model for community justice on 1 April 2017, the governance arrangements of Justice Services 

in Argyll and Bute have changed.  Justice Strategic Planning and service delivery is now the 

responsibility of local Community Justice Partners which include the Argyll and Bute Council 

and the Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership.   

  

With regard to those subject to Community Payback Orders performance across the year has 

seen a steady and gradual reduction in the percentage of orders seen within 5 days.  Although 

there has been a reducing yearly data trend, overall performance remains above the 80% 

target.   

  

 

 

  

Source: Py ramid data as at May 2019   

12 

19 

6 
7 7 

12 

15 

7 
9 

14 
13 

11 

4 

1 
3  

5  
3  

4  4  
3  3  3  

6 

3 

April May June July August Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Early & Effective Interventions  

Number of children referred to the EEI Group Number of  children affected by Domestic Abuse 

Page 216



29 
 

Personalisation of Services and Coproduction  

 

77% of looked after children are accommodated in family 

placements  

Homecare  

  

Argyll and Bute Social Work services continues to support older people to live at home and 

the previous year’s data has indicated year on year increases in the number of people aged 

65+ directly in receipt of homecare.  Personal Care as a proportion of all homecare remains 

high at 98%.  

  

 

 

Residential Care  

  

Alongside the demand to support people to live at home, Social Work services continue to 

seek a reduction in the number of people across all age groups admitted to care homes.  Over 

the last year the numbers of those supported in care homes has again decreased slightly to 

534, representing a 3.2% decrease across the 2 year period from 2016/17.  The falling trend 

across this data could be indicative of successful implementation of strategies to maintain 

support to people to remain in their own homes as demonstrated in the relatively consistent 

levels outlined above.  

  

Source: Pyramid data as at May 2019   

1094  

1153  

1096  
1082  

1102  1106  

1128  
1140  1140  

1149  

1128  1133  

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

Number of Older People (65+) receiving Home Care   
April 18  - March 2019 

Page 217



30 
 

 

The proportion of care at home provision in terms of Personal Care remains high compared 

to that given in a residential setting.    

Percentage Breakdown- Number of People Receiving Homecare 

v's Number of People  in Care Homes 100% 

80% 

60% 

40% 

20% 

0% 
 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Financial Year 

  65+ Receiving Homecare  Total Number 65+  in Care Homes 

 
552 

 
545 

 
534 

 

1069 1090 1133 

Source: Pyramid data as at May 2019  

Self Directed Support  

  

Self Directed Support (SDS) enables people to be in control of and direct how, when, in what 

way and by whom, they are supported.  During 2018/19 there were 4453 adult service users 

known to have been supported by a social work team, of which 1728 were assessed for SDS.  

The numbers selecting Option1 (direct payment) fell from 159 to 123.  The largest population 

across both those under and over 65 year age groups note that Option 3 (Council provided 

services) remains the most popular, statistically this equates to 83% of the total across the 

three options excluding those not recorded.  In addition across the three options as a 

  

Source: Pyramid data as at May 2019   

529  

541  

548  
545  545  

543  

536  

540  

534  

530  

526  

534  

Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

Number of Older People (65+) in a Care Home April 18  - March  
2019 

Page 218



31 
 

percentage of the total (excluding not recorded) those under <65 years of age account for 4% 

of the total population, the 65+ age group account for 96% of SDS use across the HSCP.  

  

 

Technology Enabled Care  

  

The number of enhanced telecare packages within Argyll and Bute continued to rise across   

2018/19 which saw monthly service user numbers greatly exceed those of the previous 

financial year’s monthly totals.  Enhanced Telecare packages offer a range of sensors; alerts 

and reminders that play a key role in enabling people remain safely in their own homes and 

communities.  Some packages can be remotely monitored via web-based technology, 

reassuring relatives or alerting professional carers to specific needs e.g. wandering.  

  

 

  

 

  
Source: Carefirst Service Agreement data as at M ay 2019    

0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

1400 

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Not Recorded 
0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

Number of People  (<65 & >65)  
Where SDS is Noted as a Service Type 

<65 

>=65 

  

Source: Pyramid data as at May 2019   

733 733 733 

933 937 939 978 978 978 954 954 954 

April May June July August Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Number of Enhanced Telecare Packages (April 18  - March 2019) 

Page 219



32 
 

Alcohol and Drugs  

  

The Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP) is a partnership of statutory and 

voluntary organisations working together to achieve a reduction in the harmful effects of 

alcohol and drugs on both individuals and the wider community.  In particular performance 

with regard to the number of secondary schools delivering drugs awareness training alongside 

the Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership notes for 2018/19 delivery to be  60% 

against an overall 100% target for all schools.    

  

In relation the national referral to treatment standard for alcohol (December 2018) the Argyll 

and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership saw 90.5% of people referred and treated within 0-3 

weeks raising to 98.3% within 5 weeks.  This is against the Scotland Average of 93.9% for 0-3 

weeks and 97.3% within 5 weeks.  

  

Mental Health  

  

Mental Health Officers (MHOs) are appointed by the Chief Social Work Officer / Local 

Authority to carry out a statutory role with people with a mental disorder.  MHOs undertake 

statutory assessments, prepare applications, reports and care plans in relation to individuals 

who may be subject to compulsory care and treatment in the hospital or in the community. 

MHOs present reports and evidence to the Mental Health Tribunal of Scotland and/or Courts 

and work within a range of legislative frameworks relating to mental health, adults with 

incapacity and criminal justice.    

  

The number of Mental Health Service Users being supported in the Community has fluctuated 

slightly but remained relatively constant across 2018/19 with 99.6% of Mental Health patients 

supported in a community setting as at 31 March 2019.  This reduction noted for March is 

minimal and in itself does not identify significant causal factors which would be suggestive of 

naturally occurring data variance.  

  

 

  

Source: Pyramid data as at May 2019   

315 311 306 
289 

279 279 
296 295 301 

289 286 288 

7 
6 

6 

6 
6 6 

6 6 
5 

6 
5 1 

250 
260 
270 
280 
290 
300 
310 
320 
330 

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Number of MH Clients in Community and Residential Care  
2018/19 

Number of clients in community Number of clients in residential care 

Page 220



33 
 

Rates of Detention for period April 2018 to March 2019 under the Mental Health (Care and 

Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 are as outlined below:  

 
Source: Carefirst as at 6 June 2019, verified as accurate but with some retrospective additions which could be 

attributed to the previous financial year  

Carers   

  

The maintenance of lives that are as healthy, independent and happy as possible relies hugely 

on the efforts of many in the statutory and voluntary sectors.  Even more than this, the 

support and care provided by Carers has never been more extensive and more essential. 

Without this input, the health and social care systems would be unable to function.    

  

On 1 April 2018 the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 came into effect.  The Act extends and 

enhances the existing rights of Carers in Scotland.  This is to help improve their health and 

wellbeing so that they can continue to care, if they so wish, and support their ability to have 

a life alongside caring.  

  

The Scottish Government Carers Branch have initiated a national dataset for Carers.  Argyll 

and Bute HSCP have a responsibility to report data around implementation of the Carers Act. 

This data has been collected from our Carer’s Centres, and returned to Scottish Government. 

In 2017/18 this was an aggregated full year submission and for 2018/19 the census is a more 

detailed submission broken down to individualised (and anonymised) returned twice per 

year.   

  

Essentially the Carer’s Census is broken down to 2 key component parts:  

  

• Carer’s details & information on the Carer’s Assessment and Support Plan provision  

• Cared for person details  

  

This new census process will allow for local monitoring and performance reporting direct to 

the IJB and also opportunity to evaluate our data against a national dataset.  In addition, we 

will monitor activity and trends with the expectation of an increase in carer’s assessments 

and support offered to carers, in line with the commitments of this strategy.  
  

 

 

 

  

29 

50 

32 

0 
10 
20 
30 
40 
50 
60 

Number of Emergency Detention 
Certificates 

Number of Short Term Detention 
Certificates 

Number of Compulsory Treatment 
Orders (new applications) 

Overview of Detention and CTO's (18/19) 

Page 221



34 
 

The Carer’s Centres have reported they are in the process of a necessary exercise to transfer 

all data from one database system to another.  For this reason some of the detailed 

information returned in the 2018/19 biannual census is either unavailable or incomplete but 

the figures submitted to date are accurate.  Carer’s centres have stated they will be constantly 

be adding new information but also migrating details of each case as and when and have 

acknowledged this will take some time.    

  

For the 2018/19 Carers data submitted thus far, 15.1% (236) are 0-17 Age Band, 43.5% (678) 

Aged 18-84, 28.8% (448) 65+, and 12.6% (196) age not known or recorded.  For the 1270 Cared 

For Person data submitted thus far across 2018/19, 13.3% (169) are Age Band 0-17, 25.3% 

(321) Aged 18-84, 34.9% (444) 65+, and 26.5% (336) age not known or recorded.   

  

In gender terms, 20.7% (263) are reported as Male, 18.2% (231) as Female, and 61.1% (776) 

not known or not recorded.  It is worth noting that this initial data will be subject to variance 

in reporting as each of the Carer Centres become acclimatised to using the national reporting 

template.  Support from the HSCP Performance Team is being given to support the Carers 

Centres and it is expected that there will be an improvement across the year with data quality 

and data accuracy.  This process is recognised within the Scottish Government Team and it is 

expected that elements of the return will be further reviewed and developed as the process 

matures.  

  

Change & Community Capacity Building   

978 people are being supported to live independently at home with 

enhanced telecare packages  

  

The drivers for change are now well known and understood by the public and stakeholders.  

These drivers provide the context for the objectives and policy priorities detailed in the 

Strategic Plan, which when considered with our Locality Health Need profile and Area Profile 

has led us to conclude that doing the same things, will not be sufficient to meet future need, 

hence we must change and transform services and support people to make changes to their 

life style.     

  

Therefore we are prioritising investment and transforming our services and resources to:   

• Preventative measures  

• Anticipatory care  

• Maintenance of health and wellbeing  

  

Achieving this transformation of services requires the following:   

  

• National and local policy development and application.   

• Strategic approach to planning and delivery of service at locality, HSCP and 
regional level.  

• A focus on quality, safety and sustainability.  

• Evidence and robust performance management.  

Page 222



35 
 

• A workforce plan that details the skills and roles required to meet need.  

• A commissioning plan which identifies the gaps in current services, designs new 

service models and supports market and provider development to meet the health 

and well-being needs of all of our Communities.  

• An organisation that has at its core a continuous improvement system of operation 

and culture.  

  

HSCP Strategic Planning Group   

  

The Strategic Planning Group includes representation from the service users, the public, 

Carers and organisations that deliver, or have an interest in, adult health and social care.  It 

has the responsibility to develop the Strategic Plan including the strategic commissioning plan 

while ensuring progress is regularly measured against the outcomes for health and wellbeing, 

and associated local and national indicators.  In addition the Strategic Planning Group will also 

look to put in place effective governance and reporting structures to identify how we best 

shape and deliver our strategic commissioning priorities.   

  

Locality Planning Groups   

  

Locality Planning Groups (LPGs) are required to develop, engage, communicate and enact the 

implementation of the 3 year Strategic Plan, at locality level, by developing their own annual 

Locality implementation plan. This plan is required to:   

  

• Support the 7 areas of focus and strategic transformation objectives of the Argyll and 

Bute HSCP.   

• Deliver against the road map of what we expect to look like in 2019 – 2022.   

• Review the locality plan on an annual basis to ensure it is meeting identified need.  

• Assess progress against the locality plan and provide an annual report to the 

Strategic Planning Group Following an Option Appraisal Workshop in October 2018.  

  

The new preferred localities were identified as:   

  

• Bute & Cowal   

• Helensburgh & Lomond   

• Mid-Argyll, Kintyre & Islands  

• Oban, Lorn & Isles  

  

Partnership Arrangements with Other NHS Boards Covering Adults and Children   

  

Argyll and Bute HSCP works very closely with NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde Health Board, 

from whom we commission acute hospital and specialist services for emergency, elective and 

outpatient services. Under this arrangement 11,500 Inpatient, 7,600 Day case 17,100 

consultant outpatient and 22,500 nurse led outpatient appointments are provided to 

residents of Argyll and Bute per year.  The trend over the last few years has seen an expected 

shift from planned inpatient activity to day case procedures while emergency inpatient 

activity has remained broadly the same.  The HSCP has established regular service planning 

and operational liaison meetings to consider service and cost issues.  We continue to develop 

Page 223



36 
 

excellent working relationships to ensure seamless service provision.  Over the next three 

years our focus will be to increase value and reduce the overall spend on this contract finding 

other ways to deliver these services within our communities.   

  

Partnership with the Independent Sector   

  

Argyll and Bute HSCP also commission a wide range of services from the Independent Sector. 

We continue to work in partnership with these organisations and with Scottish Care (which 

represents a large section of independent sector health & social care providers across 

Scotland).  This enables the delivery of services throughout our area and create opportunities 

for improvement.  There is representation from Independent Sector organisations on our 

Integration Joint Board (IJB), Strategic Planning Group (SPG) and other working groups within 

Argyll and Bute HSCP.  We value their ongoing contribution and expect their ongoing support 

moving forward.  

  

Healthy Argyll and Bute - Health Improvement   

  

Argyll and Bute HSCP has a good track record for prioritising working in a preventative way to 

identify and address a range of health problems before they arise.  In April 2017 the Joint 

Health Improvement Plan (JHIP) was published and covers the 5-year period up until 2022.   

  

The plan was developed by the Health & Wellbeing Partnership in consultation with partners 

and also members of the eight Health and Wellbeing Networks.  This JHIP is purposely short 

and should be viewed as a “call to action” for communities and organisations with an interest 

in enabling the people of Argyll and Bute to lead the healthiest lives possible, thereby 

contributing to the success of Argyll and Bute.  It sets out how improving health should be 

approached and gives some practical examples of how this has worked in our local 

communities.  The health improvement approach favoured in Argyll and Bute, centres on 

building better communities with a wide range of services and activities in these communities.    

  

Transition and Success   

  

The Health & Social care partnership have developed a transformational plan focussing on 8 

key areas, key performance successes to date have been:  

  

Transitional Area  Transformational Activity  

Transformational  

Area  1  -  

Children’s  

Services  

•We have established robust multi-agency arrangements through 
which to deliver the Children and Young People’s Service Plan; this 
includes multi-agency locality Practitioner Forums.   

•Our 3 Children’s Houses as well as our Adoption and Fostering Services 
are graded 5 (Very Good).  
•The number of our Looked After and Accommodated Children (LAAC) 
cared for in family type placements continues to increase vis-à-vis 
institutional type care.    
•100% of our Young People leaving care in the last year were offered 

appropriate housing.   

 

Page 224



37 
 

 •In line with “Best Start” we provide continuity of Midwifery care to 
women across Argyll and Bute.   
•We have fully embedded all elements of the Universal Health Visitor 
Pathway.   
•We have delivered a health drama to 820 S3 pupils across Argyll and 
Bute in 2017 which included information on smoking.   
•We are using the Model for Improvement to test the use of 
assessment tools and interventions aimed at supporting Children to 
reach their developmental milestones at 13 – 15 months and 27 – 30 
months   
•We are also using the Model for Improvement to test methods to 
ensure multi-agency chronologies are in place for Children and Young. 
People following an Initial Referral Discussion (IRD) where the decision 
is to progress to child protection procedures.   
•We have initiated a redesign of the Child and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS) including the deployment of additional 
staffing which will ensure a clear and accessible pathway is available to 
all young people in secondary school.   
•We have developed GIRFEC (Getting It Right For Every Child) 

infomercials by young people for use in schools to promote 

understanding of the Named Person role and the National Well-being 

indicators.  

Transformational  

Area 2 - Care  

Home  and  

Housing  

•Completion of a Health Need profile of specialist housing. (Phase 1).  
•Completed a benchmarking exercise on care home and housing 
provision compared to other areas throughout Scotland.    
•Established local working groups to deliver the requirements of the 

project with representation from all relevant stakeholders and 

partners.  

Transformational 

Area 3 - Learning 

Disability Services  

•Developed a new Learning Disability Strategy for Argyll and Bute HSCP 
(currently at consultation stage).   
•Completed a structural review of our service (currently at 
consultation stage).   
•Improved management of care transitions via our wider Disability 
Transitions Group.   
•Reviewed our Autism Strategy and developed an implementation 
plan.   
•Initiated reviews of current care packages in relation to Resettlement, 
Supported Living and Reduce the number of professionals so provide a 
single service with a single point of contact.   
•Improved our communication and engagement with communities 
and service users, through the newly established HSCP Engagement 
Framework.   
•Developing residential care and campus style support models that do 

not rely on individual tenancies.  

Transformational  

Area  4  –  

•Co-location opportunities of multi-agency teams continue to be 

explored and developed across the Partnership area.    

 

Page 225



38 
 

Community  

Model of Care  

•Reviewed our Community Teams across A&B HSCP. Developed 
proposals for redesign of our services and are currently engaging with 
staff on the proposed changes.   
•Established a Resource Manager network across the Partnership with 
a view to further developing our homecare and re-ablement services.   
•Established Single Points of Access and ‘daily huddles’ in each of our 
community teams as a means of highlighting pressure points in our 
service provision. This is having a positive effect on delayed discharges 
across the area.   
•Reviewed and reduced the need for on- going care packages allowing 
this resource to be transferred to other users.    
•Undertaken team caseload reviews including acuity assessment to 

determine appropriate team size.  

Transformational  

Area 5 - Mental  

Health Services  

•Completed a review of our Community Mental Health Teams 
recommendations of which will be actioned via our Mental Health and 
Dementia Steering group.   
•Identified resource to deliver the Wellness Recovery Action Planning  

(WRAP) approach to enable people to self-manage their mental 
wellbeing.   
•Recent Islay trial of ‘Near Me’ the use of video consultation to support 
primary care mental health workers and clients.   
•Agreed a new locality based consultant model of care.   

•Establishment of inpatient beds within Mid Argyll Community Hospital 

(July 2018).  

Transformational  

Area 6 - Primary  

Care  

•Developed the Argyll and Bute HSCP Primary Care Improvement Plan 
(PCIP) 2018 – 2021.    
•Facilitated the federation, merger and closer working between GP 
practices across Argyll and Bute including Lochgilphead and Inveraray, 
Helensburgh and Garelochhead and Islay practices.   
•Established locality wide GP Out of Hours (OOHs) services in all 
mainland areas, centred on the local hospital. Continued to support the 
single island service on Islay.   
•Developed a Primary Care Modernisation Group reporting to the IJB 
via the HSCP senior leadership team and the Service Transformation 
Board.   
•Creation and implementation of 3 Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) 
Advanced Practice Anticipatory/Emergency Care Nurses working in 
partnership across 5 GP Practices within Helensburgh and Lomond  
Locality.    

•Developed a network of GP cluster Leads in each locality.  

Transformational  

Area 7 – Hospital  

Services  

•Developed an action plan for redesign of Community Hospitals.    

•Reviewed Medical Model in Lorn and Islands Hospital.   

•Successfully ran improvement events in each community hospital with 
a view to streamlining processes and improving efficiency.   
•Completed a scoping study of inpatient and unscheduled activity 
within all our hospitals.   
•Participated in the National Day of Care survey.   

Page 226



39 
 

 •Established the Argyll and Bute “6 Essential Actions” Group working 

NHS wide to embed best practice around.  

Transformational  

Area  8  –  

Corporate  

Services  

•In December 2018 established a secure and permanent IT network link 
between both NHS and Council. Allowing staff to access some of the 
NHS & Council systems from either location. Critical step forward for 
integrated working for integrated teams.   
•Transferring 300+ community health staff onto the Care First system 
providing a single health and care system for the community.   
•Co-located health and social care staff in Campbeltown, Oban, and Mid 

Argyll Hospitals.  

   

6. Workforce  
  

Overview  

  

Our workforce is vital to support the Health and Social Care Partnership HSCP to deliver our 

vision and need to feel valued and be skilled, motivated and flexible to support the HSCP.  

New ways of working and doing things are needed.  The HSCP workforce includes employees 

of two different organisations, Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland, as well as people in 

many organisations and individuals that contribute as part of an overall workforce delivering 

health and social care.  These include unpaid carers and volunteers and third and independent 

sector providers that together enable the delivery of good care and ultimately better 

outcomes for people in our communities.  The HSCP need to support staff as we transform 

together the way we deliver our services for the future.  We need to attract and retain our 

workforce, invest in training and development and involve our workforce in shaping how our 

future services look.  There are a range of national and local workforce challenges and 

workforce planning is more critical for success than ever before; it is dynamic and evolving 

and success depends on being integrated with financial and service planning.   

  

HSCP Workforce Planning Activity    

  

We have a workforce that is skilled and highly experienced with the majority over the age of 

50.  At the end of March 2018 there were 2,406 staff within Argyll and Bute HSCP:   

  

• 851 Council or Local Authority (LA) employees; 621 of these were Social Care Workers  

• 1,555 NHS employees  

  

Health and social integration is much wider than these organisations and includes our Primary 

Care service providers, Care at Home and Care Home providers in the independent sector, 

and third sector providers and volunteers.  Our initial Workforce Plan for 2018/19 focused on 

Adult Services, the largest area of staff who are direct employees of Argyll and Bute Council 

and NHS Highland.   

  

 

 

Page 227



40 
 

This Plan included key challenges and what is needed to Bridge the Gap from where we are 

to where we want to be:  

  

• Work was completed in July 2018 with Healthcare Improvement Scotland’s 

Improvement Hub (iHub) and its associates to test a change-based planning approach 

to support workforce change and development, introducing and utilising systems 

modelling at locality level.   

• Further consideration will be required to ensure this modelling approach could be 
used in the future as part of workforce planning, investment would be needed to 
support software, capacity and skills. At present there are other more value added 
priorities.    

• The next iteration of our Workforce Plan in 2019 will include information about other 

HSCP services; Children & Families, Mental Health, Learning Disabilities, Sexual 

Health, Public Health, Dental and Corporate services.  Workforce planning is iterative 

and emerging as we transform our services together.   

• Work is in progress around improving Staff/Employee Health & Wellbeing and draft 

recommendations have been developed following a survey utilising healthy working 

lives initiatives and the NHS Highland Staff Health and Wellbeing Framework.  Staff 

have been asked to review the results and recommendations and contribute ideas to 

improve the wellbeing of our workforce.   

• To take the learning from the Sturrock Report and implement its recommendations 

in establishing a “Culture fit for the Future”.    

  

Recruiting the Workforce – Challenges & Issues  

  

Challenges exist across all partners around recruiting the right people to a range of roles with 

health and social (NHS and Council employers) as well as with the Third and Independent 

sectors.  Other opportunities in local areas can often appear more attractive and offer more 

competitive salaries, public sector pay increases also differ from those in other sectors.  As 

part of the commissioning process the investment in partners needs to be reflected.  The 

HSCP needs to invest in the workforce to attract, retain and develop it for the future.   The 

ageing workforce is also affecting all partners so whilst we may want to look towards utilising 

volunteers more in the future, this group as also ageing and reducing in number, with the 

increased working age and caring responsibilities having an impact.     

  

Social Work specific challenges  

  

The workforce challenges facing Social Work in Argyll and Bute are in many ways similar to 

those facing Midwifery, Nursing, the Allied Health Professionals (AHPs), Health Visiting and 

Teaching.  All these professional groups share a largely aging profile and are typified by 

enduring recruitment and retention challenges.  When recruiting to these posts there may on 

occasion be no applicants or simply one applicant.  The pressure to appoint applicants who 

do not meet the full person specification or bring complexity to the appointment of one sort 

or another is considerable.  It is relevant to note that of these professional groups, the latter 

two (Health Visiting and Teaching) have recently received significant pay awards which has 

had an immediate and positive impact on recruitment and retention.  The unintended 

Page 228



41 
 

message this has given to the remaining professional groups is unfortunate with regard to the 

sustainability of a future workforce across the remaining sectors.    

  

Workforce Development  

  

With regard to workforce development the Health and Social Care Partnership (HSCP) aim to 
make working in health and social care to be a career of choice and as such we are looking at 
how we attract, retain and develop the right people.  
  

We need our workforce to be:  

  

• Valued, skilled, motivated and flexible to transform together to deliver the changes 

required.  

• Provide better and more efficient services, building stronger working and 

collaborative partnerships across health and social care, primary care and our 

independent and third sector partners, service users and carers to provide better and 

more efficient services.  

• Focus on Prevention and Early Intervention is paramount and is fundamental as part 

of Transforming Together.  

• Involved and engaged in service redesign, new ways of working and the 

transformational changes.   
  

Establishing a learning culture  

  

The CSWO and the senior leadership within the Health and Social Care Partnership are 

committed to establishing and embedding a learning culture within the partnership.  Whilst 

the principles of managerial and professional accountability apply, progress has been made 

in moving away from a blame culture to one in which we take learning from when we could 

have done better or when things may have gone wrong.  This emphasis on learning and 

improvement has been reinforced through the adoption of improvement methodology and 

the use of “tests of change”.  Examples, of this can be found in the work of Permanence and 

Care Excellence (PACE) programme and the proposed establishment of an Improvement 

Faculty to support the work of the Children’s Strategic Group.  

  

Key challenges and support for new social workers  

  

Our Employee Induction Process is designed to ensure new employees are integrated 

effectively into the Council, and that a consistent approach is taken to achieve this.  In broad 

terms, it aims to ensure new employees achieve the following 5 goals:  

  

• To become familiar with their day to day working environment and understand the 

relevant health and safety information.  

• To meet their colleagues, learn the team’s goals and understand how and where their 

job fits in.  

• To know exactly what their jobs involves, what is expected of them and what support 

the Council will provide to allow them to perform to the best of their ability.  

Page 229



42 
 

• To understand their conditions of employment, and know the relevant practical 

information about holidays, pay processes, etc. and how to access all relevant policies 

and procedures.  

• To understand how the work and goals of their team fit into the wider responsibilities 

and goals of the Service and of the Council, and be aware of other functions within the 

Council.  

  

Staff engagement, surveys and feedback  

  

Argyll and Bute Council’s Internal Audit Report (June 2019) “Organisational Culture” has a 

number of areas of focus including: Staff surveys are regularly carried out with meaningful 

analysis undertaken to allow sufficient and appropriate management response. This 

highlights staff engagement and feedback as important to the Council.    

  

An Employee Survey was carried out in March 2019.  Findings were analysed and compiled by 

an independent research organisation, to ensure clarity an objectivity.  Drawing comparisons 

from a previous staff engagement survey, on this scale, in November 2016, the overall 

conclusion was:  

  

Respondents feel increasingly positive about the employment deal, and increasingly engaged 
with the council.  
  

Overall summary of findings:  

  

• Positive progress shown in terms of the ‘balance of the deal’ i.e. how much employees 

feel their contribution to the council matches what they get back from the council.  

• Positive progress shown in senior leaders communicating the vision for the council.  

• Employees know why their work matters to Argyll and Bute, know how to put our 

values into practice and would take action to support themselves and their colleagues 

at work.  

• Uncertainty about job security is an on-going concern.  

• Employees would like more credit/recognition for their work.  

• Managers are highlighted again as being key: from acting on ideas for improvement 

to involving employees in the council by sharing information.  

  

Following these findings an “Organisational Culture and 2019 Employee Survey Action Plan” 

was produced to capture these findings, build on the strengths identified and make 

improvements where necessary.  Several of the action points focused on improving 

communication with staff and identifying to them how they have been listened to.  Sharing 

key information regarding working conditions was also highlighted, for example: “Promote 

key HR policies (i.e. flexible, homeworking and agile working).” This plan will be taken forward 

in the coming year.  

  

Professional Qualifications  

  

Employees are invited to apply for professional qualifications as agreed by the Social Work  

Training Board on an annual basis.  The undernoted qualifications were funded in 2018/2019:  

Page 230



43 
 

  

  

Qualification  Number of employees funded   

Post Graduate Certificate in Child Welfare 

and Protection  

1 employees  

Professional Development Award in Practice  

Learning  

2 employees  

MHO Award  1 employee  

  

Growing Our Own - OU BA (Hons) Social Work (Scotland)  

  

Within Argyll and Bute there is difficulty recruiting social workers and it is for this reason that 

a “growing our own” scheme was developed.  Each year the council sponsor two applicants 

to undertake the degree in social work.  The “growing our own” scheme is an opportunity for 

Argyll and Bute to support talented individuals to undertaken their social work qualification.  

Successful applicants are sponsored through Stages 2, 3 and 4 with a requirement to work for 

this authority for a further two years.  The course includes two 100 day compulsory social 

work placements which require staff to be absent from their present post during this time.  

One of the placements is external to Argyll and Bute.  Employees are supported by our own 

practice teachers during their in house placement.  We currently have 2 employees at stage 

3 and 2 employees at stage 4 of the Social Work Degree.    

  

Placements  

  

Learning Network West provide us with students to place.  We also offer 10/20 day 

observational placements.  And in addition, we hold an annual Learning Awards Ceremony 

where people who are undertaking any lengthy training are present with their certificate to 

highlight their achievement.  Mental Health Officer Training: The Council puts through a 

minimum of one qualified Social Workers per annum onto the Mental Health Officer course 

which is an essential element of the Council continuing to meet its statutory obligations.  

  

Supervision, mentoring, coaching and peer support  

  

Supervision is a key process within social work/care and the Argyll and Bute HSCP have a 

comprehensive supervision policy.  This requires that all staff have monthly supervision on a 

1 to 1 basis with their supervisor who is in most instances their manager.  The supervision 

process is reflective and examines the interventions undertaken and as such oversees practice 

whilst supporting staff in identifying their development and training needs.  Some teams 

undertake group supervision and take the learning from case studies and their shared 

experiences.  All staff participate in Performance Review Development (PRD) planning which 

is competence based and links individual performance with that of their team and service 

plan.  The personal development sections of PRDs are subsequently profiled to support the 

planning activity of the Social Work Training Board.  Within this framework staff are supported 

Page 231



44 
 

to attend conferences and short courses in relation to the Continuous Professional 

Development (CPD).   

  

Leadership   

  

Managers are being nominated via their Heads of Service to undertake the Argyll and Bute 

Manager Programme. The Management Development programme is a comprehensive 

training course made up of 16 core modules which incorporate a variety of learning methods 

split into 10 tutor based courses and 6 e-learning courses.   The programme has been designed 

to reflect our core competencies and is targeted at people with a line management 

responsibility.  It is designed to be flexible by combining face-to-face delivery and e-learning 

with other learning methods and it is anticipated that it should take 18 to 24 months to 

complete.   In March 2017 the programme the changed and is now delivered as 2 separate 

programmes, Preparing to Manage and Managing Teams.   

  

Preparing to Manage  

  

The comprehensive Management Development Preparing to Manage Programme is made up 

of an induction plus 15 core modules which incorporate a variety of learning methods:  

  

• 1 tutor based course  

• 14 e-learning courses  

  

The programme has been designed to reflect our core competencies and is targeted at people 

preparing for line management responsibility or newly appointed line managers.  It is 

designed to be flexible by combining face-to-face delivery and e-learning with other learning 

methods and it is anticipated that it will take 18 to 24 months to complete.   Employees must 

undertake all of the modules and also complete a short reflective essay demonstrating how 

Preparing to Manage has improved their effectiveness and/or how they have applied their 

learning in the workplace.   

  

Managing Teams  

  

The comprehensive Management Development Managing Teams Programme is made up of 

an induction plus 18 core modules which incorporate a variety of learning methods:  

  

• 4 tutor based courses  

• 14 e-learning courses  

  

The programme has been designed to reflect our core competencies and is targeted at people 

with a line management responsibility.  It is designed to be flexible by combining face-to-face 

delivery and e-learning with other learning methods and it is anticipated that it will take 18 to 

24 months to complete.  Employees must undertake all of the modules and also complete a 

short reflective essay demonstrating how Managing Teams has improved their effectiveness 

as a manager.  We currently have one employee undertaking the Preparing to Manage 

Programme.  We also have two employees undertaking the Managing Teams Programme.    

  

Page 232



45 
 

E-Learning  

  

LEON (Learning Electronically and On-line) is our e-learning system where employees can 

access a wide range of online courses.  It is available to all employees.  Employees can access 

these courses at a time that is convenient to them and from any computer with internet 

access.  The Talent Management Team are working towards providing a variety of easily 

accessible courses when needed which will give employees the information, knowledge and 

skills required to do their job.  Employees are able to complete courses which have been 

sourced to support employees in all roles within the organisation or that have been custom-

built by the team around our policies and procedures.  Our online courses complement our 

tutor-led training courses, helping employees to gain new knowledge and refresh on specific 

topic areas.  In addition Learn-In Bytes provides the ability to test your knowledge through 

the use of short assessments  

  

Social Work Training Board  

  

The Social Work Training Board is responsible for leading and coordinating the development 

and implementation of a learning and development strategy informed by Social Work 

principles and values, which develops professional, safe practice resulting in a competent and 

confident workforce.   

  

Specific objectives include:   

  

• To identify and agree learning and development priorities for workforce 
development.  

• To support and inform HR and OD staff.  

• To disseminate training information to staff within respective services.  

• To lead and co-ordinate learning and development within the service.   

• To deliver relationships and shared learning and development initiatives with other 

statutory and voluntary agencies in Argyll and Bute.   

• To approve Further Education Studies – Course Request Forms.  

• To co-ordinate practice learning.  

  

The board is chaired by the CSWO and is comprised of representatives from social work 

(Heads of Service, Locality Managers, representatives from adult care and children and 

families), NHS and HR and OD staff and meets every 2 months.  

  

Registration with SSSC   

   

Employees are responsible for registering with the SSSC once their register is open, if they can 

only register with conditions we ensure they are provide with the correct SVQ to enable full 

registration.  The Argyll and Bute Council Training Centre has received excellent verification 

reports from the SQA.  The Table below highlights the SVQ Courses undertaken across the 

Social Work staff group in Argyll and Bute and the employees who have completed in the 

period April 2018 – March 2019.  

  

Page 233



46 
 

SVQ - Adult Care  No.  Completed 2018/19  

SVQ2 Social Services and Healthcare  9  

SVQ3 Social Services and Healthcare  10  

SVQ4 Social Services and Healthcare  9  

SVQ4 Leadership and Management for Care Services  3  

SVQ Medication Unit  6  

SVQ – Children & Families  No. Completed 2018/19  

SVQ3 Social Services (Children and Young People)  7  

SVQ4 Social Services  (Children and Young People)  2  

  

CSWO & Strengthening Leadership  

  

The CSWO attends the Social Work Scotland Chief Social Work Officers Group and heads a 

professional leadership group within Argyll and Bute which addresses policy and strategic 

developments as well as issues of professional practice.  Professional practice has been a key 

issue for the HSCP this year with service reviews across both Adult and Children’s Services 

assessing how services are being delivered and whether professional standards are being met.  

imatters, a continuous improvement tool looking at team functioning has been rolled out and 

the need for more focused training opportunities identified.  Training has taken place in key 

issues such as Trauma Informed Practice and Child and Adult Protection.  Awareness raising 

for staff is also considered to be important, on a partnership basis and this has taken place in 

Domestic Violence Awareness, Routine Enquiry and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s).    

  

Succession Planning for Chief Social Work Officer (CSWO) Role   

  

The role of the CSWO is complex and increasingly demanding making succession planning all 

the more important.  The CSWO leads a professional leadership team and keeps the group 

updated on the work of the national CSWO Group.  Whenever the CSWO is unable to attend 

senior social work managers represent the authority.  Likewise, when the CSWO is on leave 

the CSWO duties are covered by a senior manager.   The role and duties of the CSWO are now 

more widely understood and those senior managers who aspire to the role are both 

encouraged and supported.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



47 
 

 7. Conclusion   

  

Social Work service staff, including the staff working for our commissioned services should be 

proud of the provision of support, care and protection they have provided to our vulnerable 

children, young people and adults throughout this past year.   As the report has highlighted 

we are working in challenging times with many challenges still ahead.  The increasing demand 

for services combined with rising public expectations in a context of continued financial 

constraint will be difficult.  The focus will continue to be on ensuring we maintain high 

standards of service delivery whilst reviewing and redesigning the way we work to make the 

best use of all the available resources so we can continue to support, care for and protect 

those in greatest need.  

  

  
  

Alex Taylor  

Chief Social Work Officer          

September 2019  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



The Annual Report
of the Director of
Public Health

2019

Past, Present and Future 
Trends in Health and 
Wellbeing

Page 237 Agenda Item 14



Director of Public Health Annual Report 20192

Page 238



Thanks are due to the following colleagues for their contributions to this year’s report:

Susan Birse
Margaret Brown
Jane Chandler
Barry Collard
Ian Douglas
Catherine Flanigan
Bev Green
Rebecca Helliwell
Sara Huc
Carolyn Hunter-Rowe
Dan Jenkins
Elspeth Lee
Sandra MacAllister
Val MacDonald
Karen Mackay
Sarah Mackenzie
Eve MacLeod
Fiona MacPherson
Jillian Malcolm
Alison McGrory
Noelle O’Neill
Michael Robb
Helen Sikora
Elisabeth Smart
Cameron Stark
Cathy Steer
Lynda Thomson
Ailsa Villegas

Acknowledgements and list of contributors

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 3

Page 239



Contents

Chapter One - Population            Page 6

Chapter Two - Health            Page 18

Chapter Three - Societal Inequity in Health         Page 40

Chapter Four - Impact on Dependency and Care         Page 64

Chapter Five - Realistic Medicine           Page 78

Chapter Six - Conclusion            Page 86

References              Page 88

Director of Public Health Annual Report 20194

Page 240



This year’s annual report focuses on important trends in populations, 
health and social inequity that have profound implications for the 
delivery of health and social care services. 

Planning for the future of our health and social care services requires 
a clear understanding of the factors facing our populations’ health 
and wellbeing. The health and healthcare needs of a population 
cannot be measured or met without knowledge of its characteristics. 
Demography is concerned with this and with understanding 
population dynamics - how populations change in response to birth, 
migration, aging and death1. This report recognises that information 
about population dynamics is of fundamental importance for policy-
making and planning, at both local and national level.

Analysis of the population has a long history. There is evidence of census data from over 3000 
years ago, by Hammurabi, Moses and others2. However, analysis of births and deaths arose 
in medieval Europe, for example in the Bills of Mortality in Barcelona from 14573. These were 
designed to provide objective facts during outbreaks of the plague and to reduce rumours 
and undue fear in the population. The objectivity and independence of such data from political 
influence has been an enduring principle.

Public health should be based on facts and figures and this year’s report is based upon 
detailed analyses of population health in Highland and Argyll & Bute. More extensive analyses 
are included in a series of working papers, available in the appendices to this report. 

The report provides an overview of the population of NHS Highland and considers key 
demographic trends for populations and households, as well as analysis of life expectancy, 
deaths and changes in health and disease. The report then provides continuing evidence of 
health inequalities and discusses the impact on dependency and care. Throughout the report 
are examples of current actions to improve health and wellbeing in Highland and Argyll & 
Bute, including an update on a previous report on Realistic Medicine.

Finally, I want to thank the Public Health Intelligence and Health Improvement teams that have 
contributed to the development of this report, which is the culmination of a lot of analysis, 
discussion and collaborative working. I hope you enjoy reading the report.

Preface

Professor Hugo van Woerden

Director of Public Health and Health Policy, NHS Highland 
Stiùriche na Slàinte Phoblach, Bòrd Slàinte na Gàidhealtachd

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 5

Page 241



Chapter One -  
Population

Director of Public Health Annual Report 20196

Page 242



This section of the report discusses the projected population for the NHS Highland area along 
with the age structure of the population, household changes, and the implications for care 

requirements.

Population Changes
Since the early 1990’s, deaths in the NHS Highland area have exceeded births, and the gap 
between births and deaths is expected to widen further (Figure 1.1).

Figure 1.1 - Actual and projected number of births and deaths in NHS Highland, 1991 -2041

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

This is caused by an increase in the number of deaths each year as the resident population in 
Highland ages (Figure 1.2), and families choosing to have fewer children on average (Figure 1.3).

Figure 1.2 - NHS Highland – number of deaths from all causes (all ages) and directly age  
standardised rates per 100,000 population, 2006-2018

Source: National Records of Scotland3

C
hapter 1

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 7

Page 243



Figure 1.3 - NHS Highland total fertility rate, 1991 – 2018

Source: National Records of Scotland4

Despite this, inward migration to Highland has resulted in an overall population increase over the 
last four decades (Figure 1.4). The widening gap between deaths and births is expected to exceed 
migration over the next 30 years, so a modest decrease in the total population is likely.

Figure 1.4 - Estimated and projected change in the size of the NHS Highland population

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 20198

Page 244



C
hapter 1

Area Differences
These overall figures conceal major differences by area. The number of people in the Highland 
Council area has increased, while the population of the Argyll and Bute area has declined (Figure 
1.5). National Records of Scotland, who produce Scotland’s population projections, expect the 
population increase in the Highland Council area to level off, and the population numbers in Argyll 
and Bute to decrease further. The predicted population decrease in Argyll and Bute is one of the 
largest in Scotland (Figure 1.6).

Figure 1.5 - Estimated and projected change in the size of the populations of Argyll & Bute and 
Highland

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

Figure 1.6 - Actual, estimated and projected percentage change in the populations of the Council 
Areas of Scotland, 1981-2041

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 9

Page 245



About 60% of the NHS Highland population live 
in areas that the Scottish Government class as 
‘Remote’, defining these as settlements that are 
more than 30 minutes drive time from a town 
of 10,000 people or more (Figure 1.7 and Figure 
1.8). Many of these areas are also described as 
‘Fragile’ by Highlands and Islands Enterprise 
(Figure 1.9).

Actual and projected population changes by 
smaller area are very varied (Figure 1.10). The 
Scottish Government estimates that very remote 
rural areas in Highland, and very remote small 
towns†, have lost nearly 3000 residents in 2011 
- 17, while rural areas and small towns close to 
population centres in Highland have gained over 
2,700 residents (see appendix ‘Working Paper 1: 
Population’ for more details).

Figure 1.8 - Remote rural areas in 
NHS Highland

Source: Scottish Government6

Figure 1.9 - Highland and Islands Enterprise 
Fragile Areas

Source: Highlands and Islands Enterprise7

Figure 1.7 - Population distribution in NHS 
Highland 2019

Source: NHS National Services Scotland - Practitioner 
Services5

*Fragile areas are characterised by declining population, under-representation of young people within the population, 
lack of economic opportunities, below average income levels, problems with transport, and other issues reflecting 
their geographic location7.

†Very remote areas are defined by the Scottish Government’s Urban Rural classification as being over 60 minutes drive 
time from a settlement of 10,000 people or more.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201910

Page 246



Figure 1.10 - Actual and estimated percentage change in the populations of areas within NHS 
Highland, 2001 - 2017

Source: National Records of Scotland8

As Figure 1.10 shows, Inverness has experienced a particularly large population increase. This is 
likely to continue, with an increase of a further 13,000 residents anticipated by 20329. New house 
building is expected to be largely in two areas of the city (Figure 1.11). This will place major demands 
on primary care services, with General Practices not located in the same areas of the city as the 
expected expansions.

Figure 1.11 - Inverness City General Practice Locations showing completed and future housing 
development areas

Source: NHS Highland Directorate of Public Health9 and Highland Council10 

C
hapter 1

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 11

Page 247



Changes to Population Age Structure, and to Household Composition
Life expectancy increased dramatically in Scotland in the 20th and early 21st centuries. This 
increase has stalled and even begun to reverse since 2011. This end to the previously inexorable 
improvement in life expectancy, which may be due to economic ‘austerity’ and its impact on 
vulnerable people11, has also begun to be visible in Highland (Figure 1.12). This is discussed further in 
the section on social inequity.

Figure 1.12 - Life expectancy at birth, NHS Highland and Scotland, 1981-83 to 2015-17

Source: National Records of Scotland12

Despite this recent setback, the combination of the lower birth rates seen in Figure 1.3 and the 
increased Life Expectancy demonstrated in Figure 1.12, have resulted in substantial changes to the 
age structure of the population. In only twenty years, the population of the NHS Highland area has 
changed dramatically (Figure 1.13). Inward and outwards migration has contributed to the changes 
as well as changes to birth rates and life expectancy. In 1998, 17% of people were 65 years old or 
over: this figure is now 23%.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201912

Page 248



Figure 1.13 - NHS Highland population in 1998 and 2018

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

The National Records of Scotland estimate that, in another 20 years, 31% of people in Highland will 
be aged 65 years or over, a very important change from the 17% of people only 40 years earlier 
(Figure 1.14).

Figure 1.14 - NHS Highland population in 2018 and 2038

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

While many older people are not dependent on others, it is common to compare the number of 
people aged 16 – 65 years – previously thought of as working age – to the number of people aged 
65 years and over, to identify the pool of people potentially available to offer support if required. 
Although this is outdated, and many people aged 65 years and over now work, or care for others, 
this metric – known as the Potential Population Support Ratio – does allow comparison of the 
proportion of older people over time, and is helpful in visualising changes. Figure 1.15 shows this 

C
hapter 1

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 13

Page 249



ratio for Scottish Council areas over time, and projects it forward using population estimates. The 
Highland and Argyll and Bute Council areas will, if the projections prove accurate, have particularly 
low Potential Population Support Ratios.

Figure 1.15 - Actual, estimated and projected potential population support ratios of Scottish 
Councils, 1981 to 2041

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2

The population trends in rural areas have already combined to produce lower Population Support 
Ratios in more rural areas of Highland (Figure 1.16). If this trend continues, as anticipated in Figure 
1.15, then identifying potential care staff in rural areas of Highland may be a particularly difficult task.

Figure 1.16 - Population of NHS Highland by Scottish Government Urban Rural Classification in 2017 
by broad age group highlighting potential population support ratios

Source: Scottish Government6 and National Records of Scotland13

The ratio of 2.0 in ‘Accessible Small Towns’ indicates a larger number of people of working age, 
compared to children and older people. Recruiting staff in such contexts should generally be easier. 
In contrast, the ratio of 1.4 in ‘Very Remote Rural’ areas indicates fewer individuals of working age in 
these areas, potentially leading to greater staff recruitment problems.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201914

Page 250



Socially responsible recruitment 

Having a workforce that is sustainable and resilient for the future is important for improving the 
outcomes of all people needing care. NHS Highland recognises that this can only happen with a 
committed, supported workforce that has the right skills, flexibility and support. Everyone Matters 2020 
Workforce Vision is the Scottish Governments workforce policy for those involved in the delivery of 
healthcare in Scotland14. The policy promotes having shared values across NHS Scotland; care and 
compassion, dignity and respect, openness, honesty and responsibility and quality and teamwork.

While Highland has lower than national unemployment levels, there are issues relating to under-
employment, low pay, seasonal employment and in some areas low skills in employment. This can 
present unique challenges for employers in terms of recruitment and retention, especially where there 
are unemployed individuals who are under skilled for the roles on offer.

In order to tackle some of these issues, NHS Highland is exploring how a model of socially responsible 
recruitment could be initiated. Socially responsible recruitment is about identifying the employment 
gaps within the organisation and working with local employment services to support individuals 
increase their skills for these roles. Employment services continue to support the individual after 
employment in order to achieve the best outcome for both the employer and employee.

These changes in the proportion of older people in the population are a success story: the 
combined efforts of society, until the recent adverse movement, have allowed many more people to 
live into older age. At the same time, housing patterns have changed. More people live alone than 
in the past, and this is expected to increase, particularly among older people (Figure 1.17).

Figure 1.17 - Estimated and projected numbers of single person households by older age group in 
NHS Highland, 2016-2041

Source: National Records of Scotland15

The growth in single person households is particularly marked in those aged 90 years and older. 
The absence of other people in these households who would contribute to caring roles is likely to 
increase demands on health and social services.

C
hapter 1

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 15

Page 251



Loneliness and social isolation 

A growing body of evidence reveals that in 
addition to being distressing, social isolation 
and loneliness puts people at greater risk 
of health issues such as depression, heart 
disease, high blood pressure and dementia16. 
By contrast, meaningful friendships and social 
networks can have a protective effect on 
health and wellbeing17.

Studies have suggested that loneliness increases with age, with one study suggesting that over 50% 
of those aged over 80 years experienced some loneliness18. This is particularly significant for NHS 
Highland given it is anticipated that a greater proportion of the population over 75 years of age will live 
alone in the future with very large increases projected in the numbers living alone in their eighties and 
nineties.

In response to this growing societal issue, NHS 
Highland’s Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 
in 2016 was called “Loneliness and Health”. This 
followed the launch of the organisation’s Reach Out 
campaign, which aimed to encourage citizens to 
“reach out” to those around them to counter the effects of isolation and loneliness.

Implications for Communities and Services
• Population growth will produce increased demand for services in some locations, particularly in 

and near to urban centres such as Inverness.

• Some rural areas are expected to see substantial population reductions, which will mean that 
some fixed costs of services are spread over smaller numbers of people, increasing the cost per 
person.

• The proportion of older people in the population will increase again. If the number of working 
age people decreases as anticipated, then the pool of potential staff in traditional working age 
groups will be lower, at the same time as the number of older people increases.

• The number of people living alone, particularly in older age groups, is expected to increase, 
which is likely to increase support needs.

“The most terrible poverty is 
loneliness, and the feeling of being 
unloved.”

Mother Teresa

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201916

Page 252



C
hapter 1

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 17

Page 253



Chapter Two -  
Health

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201918

Page 254



Understanding the health and wellbeing of the population of NHS Highland is valuable in 
informing longer term planning and the changing needs of health and social care services. This 

section of the report provides an overview of the main mortality and morbidity trends, and outlines 
some of the key health issues faced now and in the future. 

Life Expectancy
Although lagging behind comparable European countries, life expectancy has increased steadily in 
both men and women in Scotland1. This previously continuous increase has stalled in recent years, 
and Highland, as Scotland, has experienced a decrease in both male and female life expectancy 
(Figure 2.1). 

Figure 2.1 - Life expectancy at birth, NHS Highland and Scotland, 1981-83 to 2015-17

Source: National Records of Scotland2

Age-Standardised death rates, which take into account changes in the age distribution of the 
population, also show levelling off compared to previous trends (Figure 2.2). This change has been 
visible in the number and rate of deaths in people aged under 75 years (Figure 2.3).

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 19

Page 255



Figure 2.2 - Deaths from all causes (all ages) by gender, directly age standardised rates per 
100,000 population for NHS Highland and Scotland

Source: National Records of Scotland3

Figure 2.3 - NHS Highland under 75 years of age and age-standardised all-cause mortality rate per 
100,000 population and number of deaths

Source: National Records of Scotland3,4

NHS Scotland’s national Public Health Observatory, ScotPHO, has proposed that this recent 
adverse trend may be due to the impact of economic ‘austerity’ on service provision, and on the 
effects of austerity on health. ‘Austerity’ refers to a situation in which people’s living standards 
are reduced because of economic difficulties. The evidence for this is discussed in detail on the 
ScotPHO website5. The impact on societal inequity is discussed in the next chapter.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201920

Page 256



Causes of Death
There were 3,787 deaths registered in the NHS Highland area in 20183. As in the rest of Scotland, 
the largest causes of death in the NHS Highland area are cancers, circulatory system diseases (a 
grouping that includes ischaemic heart diseases and cerebrovascular diseases) and diseases of the 
respiratory system. Dementia is increasingly recorded as a primary cause of death6 (Figure 2.4).

Figure 2.4 - NHS Highland - number of deaths for select causes by year of registration, 2001-2018

Source: National Records of Scotland7

Looking at the leading causes of death, much of the previous reduction in death rates happened 
because of a decrease in deaths from circulatory disorders, particularly ischaemic heart disease and 
stroke (Figure 2.5). National work suggests that a slowing of improvement in circulatory disorder 
deaths is an important contributor to the recent adverse trends in life expectancy6,8.

Figure 2.5 - NHS Highland - change in the leading causes of death, 2000-2018

Source: National Records of Scotland7

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 21

Page 257



Dementia has increased as a cause of death, reflecting the higher proportion of older people in the 
population, described in Chapter 1* (Figure 2.6).

Figure 2.6 - NHS Highland - number of deaths by age group, 2018

Source: National Records of Scotland7

Some causes of death are regarded as preventable, in whole or in part (Figure 2.7). Some cancers 
and cardiovascular deaths make up the majority of these deaths, and prevention is discussed 
further in Chapter 4. There has also been a recent increase in winter deaths9, and we intend to  
report on this in more detail during 2020.

Figure 2.7 - Number and cumulative percentage of avoidable deaths of residents of NHS Highland 
by sex and broad category of cause, 2018

Source: National Records of Scotland7

External causes of death, such as accidents, suicide and drug-related deaths, are also important, 
and differences by age group are shown in Figure 2.8. suicide is a significant cause of death, 
particularly in younger people. Road traffic collisions and falls also feature as significant causes of 
death.

*Dementia can occur in younger people, but the most important population risk factor is age, so higher number of older 
people result in an increased number of people living – and dying – with dementia.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201922

Page 258



Figure 2.8 - Number of deaths in NHS Highland from external causes in NHS Highland by broad 
age group, 2018

Source: National Records of Scotland7

Suicide prevention in Highland

The Highland Community Planning Partnership has focussed on a 
‘breakthrough achievement’ for the partnership during 2018/19; to raise 
awareness of suicide and tackle the stigma associated with suicide.

NHS Highland’s Public Health Department co-ordinates delivery of the Suicide 
Intervention and Prevention Programme (SIPP) for the partnership. 

This is a half day training programme  which helps to raise awareness of 
suicide and support people to feel more confident when dealing with someone 
they think may be at risk of suicide. The training has been rolled out to more than 500 staff across the 
partnership. There are plans to develop delivery to community and staff groups in the third and private 
sector, to increase awareness and develop knowledge and skills in suicide prevention.

To accompany the SIPP training, a suicide prevention app has been developed for Highland which 
provides advice, information and support through provision of a ‘prevent suicide’ safety plan. The app 
also includes telephone numbers for local and national helplines which can offer support in some 
situations where people are feeling distressed or suicidal. There is also guidance on what members of 
the public can do to help someone they suspect is feeling suicidal.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 23

Page 259



Reducing drug-related harm and the Youth in Iceland 
Model 

Drug related harm and in particular drug related 
deaths is now considered to be a major public 
health problem. To prevent the unrelenting rise in 
drug related deaths, (45 for 2018, an increase of 13 
from 201710), and other associated harms in NHS 
Highland it is clear that current policies need to 
be reviewed. Preventing the use of problematic 
drug use is complex and a system wide approach 
encompassing community based approaches are 
required to bring about societal change.

A move away from short term, single issue programmes towards longer term integrated approaches 
that places individuals, families and communities at the heart of any action taken is likely to be 
advantageous. Key elements of a prevention programme should include shared outcomes achieved 
through partnerships and the acknowledgement that a range of interventions is necessary. In 
Highland, the Alcohol and Drugs Partnerships, Health and Social Care Partnerships, Community 
Planning Partnerships, Integrated Children Services and Justice Partnerships all have an important 
role to play in early intervention and prevention through building the resilience of individuals and 
communities.

Currently in NHS Highland we are exploring the guiding principles of the ‘Youth in Iceland Model’ 
such as enhancing the social environment, community schools as the natural hub for learning and the 
importance of data driving decisions11. The model identifies risk and protective factors and in Iceland 
this has translated into working with communities to enforce night time curfews (ages 13-16 years) 
and to provide all young people with free leisure cards. The model has contributed towards successful 
reductions in drinking, smoking and cannabis use among Icelandic adolescents over the last 20 
years12.

Source: Reproduced with kind permission Planet Youth11

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201924

Page 260



Trends in individual causes of death, including trends by age and gender in cancer, heart disease 
and stroke, and deaths in children, are presented in the supporting appendices.

Ill-Health
Many people live with ill-health, sometimes for many years. The causes of ill-health are distinct from 
causes of death, as some conditions cause reduced quality of life, without necessarily resulting 
in death. Figure 2.9 shows the main causes of morbidity in Highland, using the figures from the 
Scottish Burden of Disease Study (see the supporting appendices for information on the method). 
The top five causes of morbidity are cancers, cardiovascular disease, mental health and substance 
use problems, neurological disorders, and musculoskeletal conditions.

Figure 2.9 - Estimates of the leading causes of morbidity by broad condition group, NHS Highland, 
2016

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory13 
Percentages shown represent proportion of all Disability Adjusted Life Years

The disability adjusted life year (DALY) is a measure used to quantify the difference between 
living to old age in good health, and the situation where healthy life is shortened by illness, injury, 
disability and early death. In any given year, the DALY counts up the number of years lost due to 
people dying early in that year (years of life lost) and the proportion of that year lost due to living 
in less than ideal health (years lived with disability or disease). The latter is calculated based on 
duration, severity and the level of disability attributed to that illness13. 

For some conditions, such as mental health disorders and musculoskeletal disorders, almost the 
entire total burden results from a large number of people spending many years living in less than 
ideal health with that disorder. For other conditions, such as cancers, the majority of DALYs come 
from early death.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 25

Page 261



Figure 2.10 shows individual conditions by gender, demonstrating important differences. Low back 
and neck pain, depression and cerebrovascular disease feature in the top four individual causes of 
morbidity in both genders.

Figure 2.10 - Top 25 leading causes of DALYs by specific causes for males and females, Argyll and 
Bute and Highland, 2016

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory13 
Age-standardised DALYs (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 population 
COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Social prescribing and Community Link Workers

The role of general practice is crucial to sustaining high quality universal healthcare and improving 
population health14. GP services are increasingly seeing people with multiple conditions, including 
mental health problems. The increased reliance on GP services has been recognised nationally under 
the Primary Care modernisation programme. The programme aims to reduce pressure on general 
practice through the redesign of six key services, one of which is the introduction of a Community Link 
Worker (CLW) service. Work is underway to develop CLW services in NHS Highland.

CLWs aim to address socio-economic and personal circumstances that affect health and wellbeing 
to improve the outcomes for patients and reduce pressure on GP’s time. They are embedded in GP 
practices and follow a social prescribing model. Social prescribing is a means of linking individuals to 
non-medical support or services available in their communities, which may help address health and 
social issues.

Social prescribing services reduced GP attendance by 28% in one study15. This reduction is estimated 
to give a £83 saving per person per year16 as well as ensuring that individuals are supported to access 
a range of services and opportunities that meet their needs. If 1,000 patients access social prescribing 
support over a year this would give an estimated saving of £83,000.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201926

Page 262



Think Health Think Nature: A Green Health Partnership for 
Highland

The Highland Green Health Partnership aims to develop 
opportunities and build on existing resources to support individuals 
and communities to improve their health and wellbeing, and build 
resilience through engaging with and appreciating the natural 
environment. It is one of four area wide partnerships developed 
in Scotland as part of the national “Our Natural Health Service” 
Programme. It brings together a range of partners to promote the 
natural environment.

Green Health covers a spectrum of engagement and activities. For some people it may be about 
looking out on natural environments or bringing natural materials inside. For others, it might be 
about supporting people to be accompanied to go outside, or to go outside independently; or to 
build up to regular or daily varied experiences in the outdoor environment. Having green space is 
about supporting people along this journey, wherever their starting point might be, and as far as is 
appropriate for individuals.

There is evidence of benefits to health from engaging with the natural environment. A report by the 
University of Exeter, “A Dose of Nature”, reviewed evidence around the use of nature in the treatment of 
chronic health conditions17. It found that green space experiences can protect against cardiovascular 
disease, help to lower blood pressure, prevent and manage diabetes, bring relief from acute stress 
/ depression / anxiety, speed up recovery from illness, improve immune function, tackle loneliness, 
promote physical activity, and reduce mortality.

NHS Highland area is renowned for its natural environment and the wide range of opportunities it 
provides for people to be physically active and experience nature and the outdoors. Nature, and the 
benefits it provides, is also easily accessible in our parks, gardens and urban green spaces. Our natural 
assets have the potential to contribute to improving a range of health outcomes, helping tackle health 
inequalities, addressing issues of social isolation, and supporting the general transformation needed to 
keep people healthier for longer.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 27

Page 263



Cancers
Cancers were the largest cause of overall morbidity in Figure 2.9. Scottish estimates suggest that 
3% of men and 4% of women are living with cancer, and that over 40% of people will develop 
cancer during their lifetimes.

The rate of new cases of cancer has decreased by 5% over the last decade, but the number of 
people diagnosed with cancer for the first time continues to grow. This is because rates of cancer 
are higher in older people, so as more people live in to older age, more people overall develop 
cancer (Figure 2.11).

Figure 2.11 - All cancers excluding non-melanoma skin cancers by sex, number of new cases and 
directly age-standardised rates per 100,000 population; NHS Highland, 1993 to 2017

Source: Information Services Division 
All cancers excluding non-melanoma skin cancers (ICD-10 C00-C97 excluding C44) 
EASR: European Age-Sex Standardised Rate (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 person-years 
at risk

The commonest cancers in the NHS Highland area are breast, lung, colorectal and prostate, as in 
Scotland as a whole (Figure 2.12).

Figure 2.12 - Most common cancers in NHS Highland by sex, 2013 – 2017

Source: Information Services Division18 
All cancers excluding non-melanoma skin cancers (ICD-10 C00-C97 excl. C44)

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201928

Page 264



With larger numbers of people living in to older age, the NHS Highland area can expect 2,800 
new cases of cancer a year in 2023 – 202719, an increase of 40%. Overall five year survival in 2011 
compared to 1987 increased in men from 29% to 48%, and in women from 40% to 54%19. Larger 
numbers of people will need facilities to diagnose and treat cancer, and a higher number of people 
diagnosed will have pre-existing health problems and social care needs at the time of diagnosis. As 
a result of more people being diagnosed, and people diagnosed living longer on average, the total 
number of people living with cancer will increase.

Babies, children and young people with life-limiting conditions
The largest contributors to morbidity in babies and children under the age of 15 include congenital 
birth disorders and neonatal disorders. These conditions are often life-shortening, where there is 
little hope of a cure and from which children will ultimately die young. These children, and their 
families, have particularly complex care and support needs.

The numbers of babies, children and young people with life-limiting conditions is increasing. 
Estimates suggest that almost 800 children in the NHS Highland area are affected by conditions 
which are likely to shorten their lives. There was a 17% increase between 2010 and 2017 (Figure 
2.13). There is a strong correlation between poverty and being a child with a life-shortening 
condition.

Figure 2.13 - Number of babies, children and young people with life-limiting conditions, NHS 
Highland, 2010 – 2017

Source: Information Services Division and Children’s Hospices Across Scotland20 
Age 0-21 years, based on Scottish Birth Record (SBR), inpatient (SMR01) and community prescribing data

Mental Health and Wellbeing
The Figures 2.9 and 2.10 above demonstrate the importance of mental ill-health in overall levels of 
morbidity. Mental wellbeing and mental ill-health are two aspects of this. Mental wellbeing is often 
viewed as positive aspects of mental health, such as positive relationships, social capital, and life 
satisfaction. Good mental health allows people the resilience to cope with the normal stresses of 
life. Mental ill-health reflects the presence of a spectrum of disorders, from common conditions 
such as anxiety and depression, to less common illnesses such as schizophrenia and affective 
psychoses.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 29

Page 265



Nationally, mental well-being is measured using a questionnaire known as ‘WEMWBS’, where 
possible scores range from 14 to 70, with higher scores reflecting greater wellbeing. Highland 
scores for both men and women are generally higher than the Scottish average, although the male 
difference is not statistically significant (Figure 2.14).

Figure 2.14 - Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS) score by sex, NHS Highland 
and Scotland, 2014-2017 combined

Source: Scottish Government21

The likely presence of a mental health problem can be estimated using a questionnaire known 
as the GHQ-12. In 2014 – 17, 10% of men and 20% of women screened in Highland had results 
suggesting the presence of an illness (Figure 2.15), reflecting the high impact on health shown in 
Figures 2.9 and 2.10.

Figure 2.15 - General Health Questionnaire 12 (GHQ-12) score by sex, NHS Highland and Scotland, 
2014-2017 combined

Source: Scottish Government21

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201930

Page 266



Workplace mental health promotion

Good mental health is fundamental to our general wellbeing, and it affects our ability to work 
effectively. We also know that employment is the single most influential factor in terms of social 
inclusion. Mentally healthy workplaces and an inclusive approach to employment result in improved 
recruitment and retention practices, as well as more effective working relationships. 

Employers have an important role to play in helping create a healthier and more motivated workforce 
by ensuring that their workplace is safe and healthy, not only for the wellbeing of staff, but also for the 
future success of their business. More than a third of absences from work are mental health related 
with 1 in 4 people in Scotland experiencing a mental health problem at some point in their lives. 
Employers should expect that at any one time, nearly 1 in 6 of their employees are affected by mental 
health problems such as anxiety and depression and 77% of those who completed suicide in Scotland 
in the last 6 years were in employment22. Whatever people want to do for a living, and wherever they 
are located in Highland, our population should be given the opportunity to work in ways that allow 
them not only to sustain but also to improve their health and wellbeing.

The Mentally Healthy Workplace training programme has been developed by the Scottish Centre for 
Healthy Working Lives and delivered by local advisers throughout NHS Highland. It is designed to 
encourage good practice in promoting positive mental health and wellbeing, thereby contributing to 
a more open culture that puts mental health on the agenda alongside physical health, social inclusion 
and productivity.

Type 2 Diabetes
Each year, around 1,000 new people in NHS Highland are diagnosed as having type 2 diabetes. 
Just over 15,000 people in the NHS Highland area have the condition at present. There was a 32% 
increase between 2009 and 2017 (Figure 2.16). At least 10% of people with type 2 diabetes are 
estimated to be undiagnosed, suggesting the true number of affected people will be even higher.

Type 2 diabetes is a condition where the body either does not produce enough insulin, or becomes 
resistant to the effects of the insulin produced. It tends to be progressive, and increases the 
risk of heart disease, stroke, kidney failure, peripheral vascular disease, nerve damage and eye 
problems23.

The main risk factors for type 2 diabetes are increasing age, and being overweight or obese24,25. 
The increasing number of affected people reflects the older age distribution of the population 
discussed in detail in Chapter 1, and increases in obesity. The next section discusses risk factors for 
disease in the NHS Highland area in more detail.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 31

Page 267



Figure 2.16 - Number of people recorded with type 2 diabetes; NHS Highland, 2009 – 2017

Source: Scottish Diabetes Data Group26 

Type 2 Diabetes Framework

Across Scotland, the incidence of type 2 diabetes is increasing and one in five people are living with or 
at risk of diabetes. The NHS spends around 9% of its total health expenditure treating type 2 diabetes. 
Increasing numbers of people with diabetes mean that if no changes are made to the way type 2 
diabetes is prevented and treated then costs will rise to 17% of NHS expenditure by 2035. 

The Scottish Government published ‘A Healthier Future - Framework for the Prevention, Early 
Detection and Early Intervention of type 2 diabetes’ in July 201827. The framework provides guidance for 
delivery partners to tackle the growing prevalence of type 2 diabetes. It sets out how individuals can 
be empowered to mitigate their risk of developing type 2 diabetes and, for those recently diagnosed, to 
improve management of their condition to delay and avoid complications. 

In preparation for delivery of the framework, a needs assessment has been undertaken in NHS 
Highland and has informed implementation plans for Argyll and Bute and Highland Health and Social 
Care Partnerships. A Public Health led oversight group has been convened and priority actions for 
2019/20 identified. These include enhancing capacity within the tiered healthy weight pathways to 
increase access and availability of community-based healthy weight interventions and support early 
detection and intervention for type 2 diabetes. This programme of work will be extremely important in 
helping to prevent type 2 diabetes, reduce complications from diabetes and reduce costs to the NHS.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201932

Page 268



Disease Risk Factors
Deprivation is an important risk factor, and is considered in detail in Chapter Three. The other main 
risk factors for disease in Scotland, other than age and genetic risk, are shown in Figure 2.17.

Figure 2.17 - Top 10 risks contributing to DALYs in 2017 and percent change, 2007-2017, Scotland 

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation28 

Smoking cessation, prevention and protection

NHS Highland developed a multi-agency tobacco strategy in 2018. This sets out the collective aim in 
Highland to reduce the harm from tobacco through smoking prevention, protection and cessation, 
with an under pinning principle of reducing health inequalities and working towards the end goal of 
reducing smoking prevalence. This work is important because smoking is the leading preventable 
cause of ill-health and premature death29, and has an estimated annual cost to NHS Highland of 
between £19 million and £30 million each year30. The strategy and action plan can be found here.

ASH Scotland’s #notafavour proxy purchase campaign is one initiative to help prevent young people 
from starting to smoke. NHS Highland worked with Highland Council trading standards staff and 
Inverness College UHI to encourage adults not to buy tobacco for young people. To support the 
campaign in Highland, students at Inverness College, UHI wrote and starred in a series of short films 
to promote #notafavour. The videos were released and promoted on social media and viewed almost 
11,000 times during a two week campaign. This work won an award of excellence from ASH Scotland’s 
Tobacco Free Charter.

 

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 33

Page 269

https://www.nhshighland.scot.nhs.uk/Meetings/BoardsMeetings/Documents/NHS Board 2018 09 25/4.3 Tobacco Control Report and Strategy 2018 to 2012.pdf


The use of tobacco continues to be a leading cause of preventable disease31. In the NHS Highland 
area in 2014-2017, 21% of adults smoked regularly. Men were more likely to be regular smokers 
(24%) than women (19%). Figure 2.18 shows other common risk factors and their frequency amongst 
people in Highland.

Figure 2.18 - Prevalence of key risk factors in adults aged 16 years and over, by sex, NHS Highland, 
2014-2017 combined

Source: Scottish Government21 
Alcohol consumption: Exceeds 2016 CMO recommendations of 14 units per week 
High body mass index: ≥ 30 kg/m² 
Very low levels of physical activity: < 30 minutes of moderate activity or < 15 minutes of vigorous activity a week

Recent analyses of data on alcohol has confirmed a clear link between alcohol use and cancer, 
and suggests that alcohol use increases the risk of cancer32. The current UK guidance is that men 
and women do not regularly exceed 14 units of alcohol a week33. At present, 51,000 adults in the 
Highland Council area are thought to exceed these limits (34% of men, and 17% of women).

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201934

Page 270



Reducing the use of and harm from alcohol in Highland

Reducing the harm caused by alcohol will make a positive and sustainable change to the health of 
our population. Substance use is a complex issue and an individual’s use of substances will vary 
over their life course. Collectively the harm from alcohol use contributes to a significant proportion 
of preventable ill health in our population. The impact of substance use is not equitable across our 
population and the harm that arises from this is significant and disproportionally affects those living in 
deprived communities.

Minimum Unit Pricing

In recent years there have been a number of key actions taken to help reduce alcohol related harms 
through price and availability, for example, the introduction of minimum unit pricing34 (MUP) on May 1st 
2018 and the ban on ‘buy one get one free’ alcohol promotions35. MUP had an immediate impact on the 
availability of cheap alcohol such as cheap cider and vodka that literally disappeared overnight. NHS 
Health Scotland carried out research to see if off-trade alcohol businesses were compliant with MUP36. 
The study found that licensed premises were largely compliant with MUP legislation.

Licensing 

In Highland, joint work has been undertaken between the Directorate of Public Health and the 
Highland Alcohol and Drugs Partnership to gather and present evidence about the harms caused by 
alcohol to the Highland Licensing Board with the purpose of developing an overprovision statement. 

This work involved gathering data from a number of partners: Scottish Ambulance Service, Fire and 
Rescue, NHS Highland and Police. Health data included alcohol related deaths and alcohol related 
hospital admissions. This evidence was considered by the Licensing Board in 2018 and an alcohol 
overprovision statement was agreed for off-sales setting a limit of no more than 40 square meter 
capacity37.

Currently the Scottish Government are consulting about the role of licensing with a view to what other 
actions that may be taken by Licensing Boards, for example, the banning of alcohol at public events 
that are predominately for families, children and young people and how to tackle the regulation of 
internet sales because these are not regulated locally.

Alcohol Brief Interventions 

Alcohol Brief Interventions (ABIs) aim to help people make informed choices about alcohol to reduce 
alcohol related harm and are an evidenced based intervention to reduce population alcohol related 
harm38. Online and face-to-face training is available for staff of any organisation who might come in 
contact with people who would benefit from an ABI. A public health training for trainer session was 
recently taken up by local Police Scotland colleagues who are keen to use ABIs when dealing with 
incidences of drink-driving.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 35

Page 271



Frailty, Multi-morbidity and Dementia
The prevalence of morbidity increases markedly with age and by the time people are aged 85 years 
and over, 50% of people report that their activities are ‘limited a lot’ by long term conditions (Figure 
2.19).

Figure 2.19 - Prevalence of limiting and non-limiting long-term conditions by age; NHS Highland

Source: National Records of Scotland39 
Census 2011 Tables QS303SC, DC3101SC

The high prevalence of long-term conditions in older people is also reflected in the prevalence of 
frailty by age group. Frailty refers to an ageing process in which multiple body systems gradually 
lose their inbuilt reserves40, resulting in greater vulnerability to ill-health, and a greater impact of 
illness, and more difficulty in recovering from illness, when it occurs.

Cost by Age

NHS Highland, in line with 
a number of Scottish health 
boards, is under intense financial 
pressure, with a large savings 
target.  The graph indicates that 
across the life course costs per 
person are greatest at the two 
ends of life.  

Planning of health and social 
care will need to incorporate the 
impact of this pattern over the 
coming decade, particularly given 
the demographic shift towards an 
aging population that is outlined 
elsewhere in this report. 
     
     Source: Department of Health (Northern Ireland)41

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201936

Page 272



The proportion of frail people is expected to increase from 14.1% in 2016, to 18.1% in 2041. These 
averages conceal major differences by age group, with over 40% of people aged 85 years and over 
being frail (Figure 2.20).

Figure 2.20 - Estimated percentage of people aged 60 years and over with frailty by sex, age 
group, area and year, NHS Highland

Source: Gale et al.42 and National Records of Scotland43,44

Dementia is another important consideration in older age. The prevalence of dementia increases 
markedly with age45. The result of an older population is that, on average, more people can be 
expected to have dementia. In the NHS Highland area, around 6,600 people are currently affected 
by dementia46, and this is likely to increase to around 8,000 people by 2026, and over 10,000 
people by 2036 (Figure 2.21).

Figure 2.21 - Projected number of people aged 65 and over with dementia by age group, NHS 
Highland, 2016 to 2041

Source: Alzheimer Europe47, Harvey48 and National Records of Scotland44

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 37

Page 273



The number of people with multiple health problems also increases with age so, as with dementia 
and frailty: 81% of people aged 85 years and over have more than one long-term health condition, 
compared to 30% of people aged 45 – 64 years49. The increase in the number of older people is 
expected to result in a doubling of the number of older people with multimorbidity by 2041 (Figure 
2.22).

Figure 2.22 - Estimated and Projected number of people with multimorbidity by age group, NHS 
Highland, 2016 to 2041

Source: Barnett et al.48 and National Records of Scotland44 

Developing a NHS Highland dementia strategy 

In NHS Highland our aspiration for people affected by dementia is to access timely, skilled and well-
co-ordinated support from diagnosis to end of life. To achieve this aspiration a working group has been 
convened drawing on the expertise and interest from those with dementia, carers, organisations that 
provide care, Highland Council, Argyll and Bute COuncil, the NHS, Public Health and those delivering 
Education.  

We estimate that in NHS Highland there are at least 6,600 people living with dementia and that there 
is potentially many more that have not sought or received a diagnosis. Age is the most important risk 
factor and it is estimated that the risk of dementia doubles every five years after the age of 30. By 2026 
it is predicted the number of people with dementia in NHS Highland will be an estimated 8,000. We 
also know that the population is projected to age considerably as the numbers of older individuals 
make up proportionality larger shares of the population over time45. Simply put this means for each 
year there are increasing numbers of people who are dependent on a smaller working age population.

Services must continue to adapt in response to the increasing number of people with dementia and 
the shifting culture of care towards home and the community. The third national dementia strategy 
published by the Scottish Government in 201750 provides a framework to help progress this shift in 
culture.  

The working group has developed a draft strategy51 based on the national outcomes and is currently 
working on gathering information about the current situation. Once this information has been compiled 
there will be a series of workshops to encourage other partners to contribute.  

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201938

Page 274



Summary
•	 After decades of improvement in life expectancy, improvements have stalled and even reversed.

•	 The number of deaths attributed to dementia has increased to be the third largest cause of death 
in the NHS Highland area, after cancer and cardiovascular disease, and ahead of stroke. The 
number of people with dementia will increase by almost two-thirds by 2041, with a major impact 
on service requirements.

•	 Rates of cancer have decreased slightly, but because there are a greater number of older people, 
the number of people diagnosed will increase. Many of the people diagnosed can expect to 
live for years after diagnosis. This means services will need greater diagnostic and treatment 
capacity, and that increased methods of support will be required over the next decade.

•	 Type 2 diabetes has increased, and is predicted to continue to increase, if existing risk factors 
remain unchanged, placing an additional load on NHS services.

•	 There are likely to be substantial increases in the number of frail people, people with dementia 
and in older people with multiple conditions. This is likely to result in a substantial increase in the 
number of people who will be very dependent on care.

C
hapter 2

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 39

Page 275



Chapter Three -  
Societal Inequity in Health

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201940

Page 276



C
hapter 3

There has been significant progress made in improving the health of our population in recent 
years and people are living longer. However, the difference between those groups with the best 

and worst health in Highland, like the rest of Scotland, persist and may be worsening. This section 
of the report provides an overview of societal inequities in health in NHS Highland, and highlights 
examples of work that targets action across a broad range of determinants of health.

What are societal inequities in health?
There is a debate in public health over the use of two overlapping terms - societal inequities in 
health, which approach the issue from the perspective of justice, and health inequalities, which 
perhaps has greater emphasis on variation. The latter is open to the critique that mathematical 
variation is intrinsic to the distribution of any measurable phenomenon.

NHS Health Scotland define health inequalities as the “unjust and avoidable differences in people’s 
health across the population and between specific population groups”1. Societal inequities can 
occur by gender, income, deprivation, ethnicity, disability, and geography and other factors2. 
Societal inequities are not caused by one single issue, but the result of a complex mix of factors 
which play out in local areas and generate a social gradient3.

NHS Health Scotland highlights a cause of societal inequities as an unequal distribution of income, 
power and wealth. This can lead to poverty and marginalisation of individuals and groups, and 
affects the distribution of wider environmental influences, such as good housing, work and 
education. In turn, these influences can shape individual experiences, for example of poverty, 
discrimination, poor housing, and access to services. The effects are systematic differences in 
health outcomes across the life course (Figure 3.1).

Figure 3.1 - Health inequalities: theory of causation

Source: Reproduced with kind permission from NHS Health Scotland

Societal inequities have been documented across different population groups in a number of inter-
related dimensions: socio-economic status and deprivation, geography and place, and vulnerable 
and disadvantaged groups, for example, homeless people and people living in prison. Examples 
of population groups who are known to experience health inequalities are shown in the following 
content.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 41

Page 277



Population groups considered for health inequalities

It is important to recognise that a range of factors determine people’s health, including genetic 
inheritance, social circumstances, behavioural patterns and the health care individuals receive4. The 
risk factors reflect not only the choices that people make in life but also the ways in which choices 
are shaped by people’s social circumstances such as employment, education, housing, income, 
relationships and communities. It is clear that ‘lifestyle’ or ‘behavioural’ risk factors need to be seen 
within the context of where people live and the opportunities they have for health and well-being. 

Actions to reduce societal inequities and improve everyone’s health and wellbeing by promoting 
and supporting healthier lives from the earliest years are central to the Scottish Government’s 
Health and Social Care Delivery Plan5. The Delivery Plan shaped the Public Health priorities for 
Scotland, published by the Scottish Government in 20186.

Public Health Priorities for Scotland

Source: Scottish Government6 

Protected 
characteristics

Socio-economic 
deprivation

Geography and 
Place

High-risk individuals

e.g. age, sex, disability, 
gender reassignment, 
race, pregnancy & 
maternity, religion 
or belief, sexual 
orientation

e.g. poverty, 
unemployment, low 
income, multiple 
deprivation

e.g. urban, rural and 
island communities and 
neighbourhoods

e.g. homeless people, 
people living in prison, 
people with problem 
substance use, people 
with mental health 
problems

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201942

Page 278



C
hapter 3

The NHS Highland public health team have aligned inequalities work to five key drivers for action: 

• Assess the impact of all our work on identified target groups and communities

• Take action to reduce inequalities by undoing the root causes and preventing environmental 
consequences in life circumstances

• Support communities to identify what is important to them and to develop solutions

• Challenge inequity and discrimination and support people to have their voice heard

• Identify those most at risk and target our work and services accordingly.

Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) process 

Under the Equality Act 2010 public sector organisations must assess their policies and practice, 
proportionately, to reduce inequality. The Fairer Scotland Duty 2018 introduced a new duty on 
organisations to produce written assessments showing how they have shown ‘due regard’ to reducing 
inequality caused by socio-economic disadvantage.

Equality impact assessment is a practical tool used by many public sector organisations to analyse 
policy and practice to identify any adverse impacts that might occur as a result of changes or 
decisions.

Using this framework helps organisations consider who might be impacted and whether any groups 
of people might be impacted disproportionately both positively and negatively. It also encourages 
organisations to engage with stakeholders and provides an opportunity to address any potential 
consequences.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 43

Page 279



Partnership work to reduce poverty

Welfare Support

Increasing uptake of welfare benefits can make a big difference to individuals and families who 
are struggling to make ends meet and can make a difference to their capacity to engage in healthy 
behaviours and play an active part in their community. Work is underway with local authorities to 
facilitate the roll-out of welfare advice within primary care settings. As of July 2019, this has resulted 
in providing advice sessions in six GP practices. These sessions provide a method for patients and 
their families to be signposted to advice and support around benefit eligibility and access to income 
maximisation services. An event is also planned in Raigmore hospital for staff to receive the same 
access to Citizens Advice Bureau, Home Energy Scotland and the Welfare Support Team. If this proves 
successful the intention is to make it more widely available to staff elsewhere in the organisation. 

Department of Work and Pensions

Work is underway with job centres to develop an initiative that aims to 
increase the number of opportunities for health conversations through 
developing the role of work coaches. Work coaches support clients, and 
move them forwards towards employment with the recognition that 
this might not be a feasible outcome for some. A health and wellbeing 
questionnaire is being piloted to give work coaches a structure to have 
a conversation and advise on support services clients can assess. As 
work coaches have on-going conversations with individuals, there is an 
opportunity for a follow-up conversation and support. 

To date, the pilot has identified anxiety/stress and loneliness/isolation as 
the top concerns for clients. Through developing robust pathways and 
engaging with support agencies, this initiative provides opportunities 
to access vulnerable groups who are disproportionately at risk of poor 
health outcomes7. 

Highland Affordable Warmth Partnership 

Living in fuel poverty and cold housing impacts directly and indirectly upon physical and mental health 
and wellbeing7 and housing is an important determinant of health. The Highland Affordable Warmth 
Partnership undertakes work to support fuel poor households. A recent pilot project is underway in 
Sutherland where NHS Highland staff make referrals to Home Energy Scotland. This initiative is now 
being considered in other areas. It is an important example of where NHS services can work with 
partners to mitigate the impact on health and wellbeing of the wider determinants of health.

Your Health and Wellbeing

A guide to who can offer help, 
support and advice, whenever you may need it.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201944

Page 280



C
hapter 3

Life course perspective to societal inequity
Societal inequities begin before birth, can adversely impact health throughout adult life, and can 
persist across generations8,9.

In the model below income impacts on two average hypothetical trajectories by comparing the 
functional capacity of organs and systems (such as the circulatory or respiratory systems) in 
individuals from low (red) and high (blue) income settings (Figure 3.2)10.

Figure 3.2 - Developmental model of a life course for people from low (red) and high income 
settings (blue) 

Source: Reproduced with kind permission from Hanson M, Cooper C, Sayer A et al.10

The next section of this chapter provides examples of health inequalities in NHS Highland. There 
is a lack of comprehensive data for many aspects of health inequalities11. The examples mainly 
concentrate on socio-economic deprivation using the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 45

Page 281



Social stratification in healthy early childhood development
The adverse circumstances that lead to increased risk of chronic disease and early mortality can 
begin during gestation and continue throughout childhood and onwards. The social circumstances 
in which parents live can be a barrier to healthy choices and behaviours that result in less optimal 
child development12. Importantly the literature does not suggest that inequalities in outcomes are 
inevitable, but rather that for the majority, outcomes can be improved13.

Poor maternal nutrition and health behaviours such as smoking, drinking and substance misuse 
can impact on the likelihood of having a baby whose weight is outside either ends of the ideal birth 
weight range. Both low and high birth weights are associated with an increased risk of childhood 
obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular disease later in life12.

As in the rest of Scotland, low birth weights are more prevalent in more disadvantaged socio-
economic groups than in more advantaged groups in NHS Highland (Figure 3.3).

Figure 3.3 - Percentage of low birth weight births (<2,500g) of singleton births by national quintiles 
of deprivation in NHS Highland, 2016/17 – 2018/19

Source: Scottish Morbidity Recording (SMR02) and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201946

Page 282



C
hapter 3

Breast feeding has a positive impact on later health outcomes, but is less common in more deprived 
areas (Figure 3.4).

Figure 3.4 - Children born in NHS Highland between April 2018 and March 2019 exclusively 
breastfed at time of 6-8 week review

Source: Child Health Systems Programme Pre-School and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016

Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding saves lives, improves health and cuts costs. There 
is strong evidence that breastfeeding protects children from a 
range of illnesses including infections, diabetes, asthma, heart 
disease and obesity as well as sudden infant death syndrome (cot 
death)14,15. It has also been shown to have a positive impact on the 
brain development of babies. In addition, prolonged breastfeeding 
protects mothers from breast and ovarian cancers and lowers 
postmenopausal risk for heart disease14,16. Breastfeeding also supports the mother-baby relationship 
and the mental health of both baby and mother.

The benefits are seen in both high and low income countries. A 2016 study found that increasing 
breastfeeding rates around the world to near universal levels could prevent an estimated 823,000 
deaths in children younger than five years and 20,000 maternal deaths from breast cancer every year14.

Eight out of ten women stop breastfeeding before they want to, which is having a serious impact on 
the future health and wellbeing of babies and their mothers. 

NHS Highland is working to embed the UNICEF Baby Friendly Initiative Standards to protect and 
support women in Highland to make a fully informed choice and when they choose to breastfeed, 
support them to do so. The standards also help to create an environment that supports staff to help 
women make informed choices and deliver a high standard of support for breastfeeding through 
provision of training, resources and other tools.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 47

Page 283



By the time children start primary school one in four are overweight or obese17. The prevalence of 
obesity in primary 1 children is higher in deprived areas of NHS Highland (Figure 3.5). This highlights 
how early in a child’s life differences in obesity can result in greater risk of cardiovascular disease 
and diabetes in later life.

Figure 3.5 - Percentage of NHS Highland children in primary 1 epidemiologically classed as 
overweight or obese by national quintile of deprivation, school year 2017/18

Source: Information Services Division (ISD). Body mass index of primary 1 children in Scotland. School Year 2017/18.

Child Healthy Weight

The target set by Scottish Government is to halve childhood obesity by 2030 and 
to significantly reduce diet-related inequalities. This requires a strong focus on 
prevention, including approaches to influence and shape the food environment where 
children live, learn and play. This includes not just their home but also early years and 
childcare settings, schools, shops and retail premises. 

The early years is a critical time for establishing good nutrition and healthy eating 
habits to reduce the likelihood of children becoming overweight or experiencing 
obesity in later life. Like adult healthy weight services, a tiered approach is advocated. 
The interventions promote best practice in relation to child healthy weight including 
body confidence and eating well for children aged one to five years. A range of 
resources has been developed, including online training modules, professional 
guidance, and resources for families and professionals working with families.

Poverty and child health
There is good evidence that babies, children and young people living and growing up in low-
income households experience many disadvantages which can have negative consequences 
throughout their life.  

Poverty is defined in either relative or absolute terms18. Absolute poverty is when someone does 
not have enough money to meet basic needs such as food, shelter and clothing. In recent years 
it has been widely accepted that poverty is relative to the place and time you live in. Most official 
definitions of poverty use relative income to measure who is in poverty. An income threshold is set 
and those who fall below it are viewed as being ‘in poverty’. The key UK government measures take 
60 per cent of median income as the ‘poverty line’. 

Everyday Eating 
for Child Health 

& Wellbeing 

The picture above shows a variety of ‘everyday’ food.  This means foods such as fruit, 
vegetables, bread, protein, etc, that we may eat every day. There are other foods that we do 
not need so often. We call these ‘sometimes’ foods. They may be foods which are high in 
sugar or fat.
Your plate does not need to look like this every meal. Eating each of these groups everyday 
will help children feel good, have energy, and grow in a way that is right for them.

The Highland Food Plate

Issue 1 Date: July 2019 Date of Review: July 2021Sarah MacKenzie, Public Health Department, Larch House, Stoneyfield, Inverness, IV2 7PA

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201948

Page 284



C
hapter 3

The mathematical weakness of this approach is that it is more influenced by the income of the 
wealthiest than by initiatives to bring up the income of the poorest in society.

NHS Highland along with local authority partners in Highland and Argyll and Bute are tasked with 
developing a child poverty action report that sets out activities that have been undertaken during 
the previous year to reduce child poverty and contribute to the delivery of national child poverty 
targets and outline planned future activities.  Public sector agencies need to ensure that families 
are sufficiently supported financially, emotionally and in terms of employment and benefits rights to 
promote good health in the early years that will have a positive impact later in life.

Child poverty, health impact and health inequalities

Poverty has negative impacts on children’s health, social, emotional and cognitive development, 
behaviour and educational outcomes.

Poverty puts an additional strain on families, which can lead to parental mental health and relationship 
problems, financial problems and substance misuse. This can have a negative impact on parenting 
behaviours, which in turn impact on children’s outcomes. Disadvantaged adults may have an increased 
risk of their own children experiencing poverty.

Children born into poverty are more likely to experience a wide range of health problems – including 
poor nutrition, chronic disease and mental health problems – than those born into more affluent 
families.

Inequalities in screening uptake
Screening programmes identify apparently healthy people who may be at increased risk of a 
disease or condition, enabling earlier referral, diagnosis, treatment and informed decisions about 
care19.

Some of the conditions targeted by population screening disproportionately affect individuals 
from deprived backgrounds20,21. Screening programmes therefore have an important role to play in 
reducing health inequalities.

Overall participation in national screening programmes across NHS Highland is relatively high, but 
significant variation exists, with people living in the most deprived communities least likely to take 
part in screening. Reducing variation in screening participation therefore has an important role to 
play in reducing societal inequity in incidence and outcomes associated with the conditions being 
screened for.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 49

Page 285



The Scottish abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) screening programme aims to reduce deaths 
associated with aneurysm rupture among men aged 65 and over by identifying aneurysms early 
so that they can be monitored or treated. The screening test is a simple ultrasound scan of the 
abdomen which takes around 10 minutes. Analysis by deprivation category (SIMD 2016) shows that 
men experiencing social deprivation are less likely to attend and participate in screening (Figure 
3.6).

Figure 3.6 - Percentage of NHS Highland men offered AAA Screening who are tested before age 
66 years and 3 months of age; by national quintile of deprivation measured by the Scottish Index of 
Multiple Deprivation 2016 (SIMD 2016) (Year ending 31 March 2018) 

Source: Information Services Division22

Actions to reduce undue variation in AAA screening

Researchers from the Scottish AAA Inequalities Project Group published a systematic review of factors 
influencing attendance at screening and interventions to reduce inequalities that recommended23:

Once men have been invited for screening it may be useful to provide extra support and personal 
reminders to those less likely to attend. Services should give increased consideration to travel time to 
clinics, particularly for men less likely to attend, and public transport use.

It may help to work alongside colleagues who share an interest in improving men’s engagement with 
healthcare. For example, services may be able to use times when men attend other health or social 
care services, such as GP or acute hospital services, to discuss screening.

Interventions to reduce inequalities implemented locally should be evaluated and the results widely 
disseminated, so effective interventions can be implemented elsewhere and ineffective ones can be 
stopped.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201950

Page 286



C
hapter 3

Bowel (colorectal) cancer is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in both men and women in 
Scotland with the majority (95%) of cases occurring in people over 50 years of age. It is the second 
most common cause of cancer death for men and women24.

Bowel screening can help pick up early stage bowel cancer in men and women who have no 
symptoms. Treatment at this stage is usually very effective. In the most recent two year period of 
report the overall uptake in men and women in NHS Highland was 63.7% (men 60.8% and women 
66.6%). The greater uptake in females is consistent across Scotland. Analysis by deprivation 
category (SIMD 2016) shows a clear deprivation gradient with greatest uptake of screening in 
the least deprived quintile to the lowest in the most deprived quintile for both males and females 
(Figure 3.7)25.

Figure 3.7 - Overall uptake of bowel screening by national quintile of deprivation (SIMD 2016) in 
NHS Highland 

Source: Information Service Division27 
Percentage of people with a final outright screening test result for which a valid postcode is available (invitations 
between the 1st of November 2016 and 31st of October 2018)

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 51

Page 287



A similar social gradient is observable in the uptake of cervical screening (Figure 3.8). In the latest 
NHS Highland data for 2018-19 the uptake was 82.2% for women aged 25 to 64 years in the least 
deprived areas compared with 66.1% in the most deprived. The uptake is poorest in the youngest 
and oldest who live in the most deprived areas26.

Figure 3.8 - Percentage uptake* of cervical screening in the most and least deprived quintiles of 
national deprivation in NHS Highland (SIMD 2016) by five year age band, 1 April 2018 to 31 March 
2019

Source: Information Service Division28 
*Uptake is age-appropriate based on being screened within the specified period (within the last 3.5 or 5.5 years for 
women aged 25-49 and 50-64 respectively)

The NHS Highland Public Health team plays a role in the organisation and oversight of local 
screening services and in engaging with communities to address barriers to participation that may 
further increase societal inequity. Factors shown to act as barriers to screening participation include 
low perception of risk, embarrassment, lack of knowledge and understanding about the process 
and benefits of screening, fear of screening test or diagnosis, and levels of trust in the service 
provider27. 

The Public Health team has worked to integrate these approaches into a number of targeted 
interventions and have been successful in implementing a number of projects aimed at reducing 
variation in screening participation.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201952

Page 288



C
hapter 3

Targeted interventions to reduce variation in screening 
participation in NHS Highland 

Bowel - Implementation of a GP endorsement and reminder project aimed at increasing participation 
among individuals who have not taken up the opportunity to be screened after receiving their 
invitation. The initial findings have been encouraging.

Bowel – Development and delivery of a Peer Led Bowel Health and Screening awareness session 
designed for people with a learning disability. 

Cervical - Successful implementation of pilot project to increase the accessibility of cervical 
screening for NHS staff. 

All Screening – Development of a community “screening awareness volunteer” role and screening 
champion programme, with 7 volunteers trained to deliver key screening messages in the community.

This work, combined with targeted interventions to address the modifiable barriers to screening, 
supports NHS Highland in implementing Scottish Government strategy:

Beating Cancer: Ambition and Action28 which outlines a commitment to act on inequalities in 
cancer outcomes by tackling equalities in access to screening. 

The Detect Cancer Early programme29 including “To improve informed consent and participation in 
national cancer screening programmes”. 

Deprivation and ill-health
There are substantial gradients in emergency admission rates for asthma (Figure 3.9 and Figure 
3.10) and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) (Figure 3.11 and Figure 3.12). The trends 
suggest that the gap between deprived and more affluent areas in Highland has not narrowed.

Figure 3.9 - Patients hospitalised with asthma: NHS Highland, 2015/16 – 2017/18

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 53

Page 289

https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2016/03/9784
https://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Services/Cancer/Detect-Cancer-Early


Figure 3.10 - Patients hospitalised with asthma: change over time by deprivation group in NHS 
Highland

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Figure 3.11 - Patients hospitalised with COPD: NHS Highland, 2015/16 – 2017/18

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Figures 3.10 and 3.11 show a marked social gradient for COPD.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201954

Page 290



C
hapter 3

Figure 3.12 - Patients hospitalised with COPD: change over time by deprivation group in NHS 
Highland

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Mental health admissions show a similar social pattern (Figure 3.13 and Figure 3.14). 

Figure 3.13 - Patients with a psychiatric admission: NHS Highland, 2015/16 – 2017/18

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 55

Page 291



Figure 3.14 - Patients with a psychiatric admission: change over time by deprivation group in NHS 
Highland

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

There are also substantial gradients in acute admissions for long term conditions which are 
identified, using a national classification, as potentially preventable (Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.16).

Figure 3.15 - Patients with a preventable emergency admission for a chronic condition, NHS 
Highland, 2015/16 – 2017/18

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201956

Page 292



C
hapter 3

Figure 3.16 - Patients with a preventable emergency admission for a chronic condition, change over 
time by deprivation group in NHS Highland

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory30

Inequalities in life expectancy and mortality
Life expectancy varies markedly according to the deprivation levels in the areas people live. There 
are differences in life expectancy between the least and most deprived areas in Highland. The 
difference in average female life expectancy between areas with the best and the worst health is 
10.4 years, and for men it is 16.3 years (Figure 3.17).

Figure 3.17 - Variation in life expectancy at birth (years) in the period 2013-2017 across NHS 
Highland intermediate geographies associated with income deprivation, for men and women

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory31 and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016 
Ranked in descending order of income deprivation, most deprived to least deprived (female values for Inverness Inshes 
and Inverness Drakies not shown due to small number of events in the five year period)

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 57

Page 293



This reflects a clear gradient in death rates, adjusted for age and gender differences between areas 
(Figure 3.18).

Figure 3.18 - Variation in age and sex adjusted all-cause (all ages) mortality rates per 100,000 
population in the period 2015-2017 across NHS Highland intermediate geographies associated with 
income deprivation

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory31 and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016

The death rates in the most deprived areas of Highland have been consistently high (Figure 3.19). 
The error bars in the chart represent the 95% confidence intervals, or the range which will contain 
the ‘true’ value of the indicator 95% of the time. Where the lower end of the confidence interval 
does not contain the overall NHS Highland rate, the difference between the two rates is considered 
to be statistically significant.

Figure 3.19 - Age and sex adjusted all-cause (all ages) mortality rates per 100,000 population in the 
periods 2011-2013 and 2015-2017 across the 10 most income deprived NHS Highland intermediate 
geographies 

Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory31 and Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016 
The largest change is an increase in the mortality rate in Merkinch, Inverness between 2011-13 and 2015-17

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201958

Page 294



C
hapter 3

Other Inequalities 
This section provides some other examples of the impact of inequality on the health of population 
groups who are known to experience disadvantage. 

• Scottish research examining differences in the health of ethnic groups in Scotland found that 
Gypsy/Travellers in Scotland had by far the worst health, reporting over three and a half times 
higher rates of ‘poor general health’ than their ‘White: Scottish’ counterparts32.

• Existing evidence shows that health outcomes are generally worse for those who identify as 
lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBTQI+) people compared to the rest of the population, 
with one in seven LGBTQI+ people (14%) in Scotland avoiding seeking healthcare for fear of 
discrimination from staff33.

• The Institute for Health Equity highlights that some of the most vulnerable people in society 
- people with learning disabilities - die 15 to 20 years sooner on average than the general 
population, and are more likely to experience low incomes, poor housing, social isolation and 
loneliness, bullying and abuse34.

Examples of initiatives to reduce inequalities

Languge interpretation and communication support 

Communication difficulties can be a barrier for people whose first language is not English or for 
people who require communication support, for instance people who are deaf, hard of hearing, blind 
or deafblind. Reducing barriers to accessing services is an important aspect of improving population 
health. Between April 2017 to December 2018 NHS Highland provided interpretation for almost 8,000 
health, care and support appointments. This includes the following commissioned services:  

• Face to face interpretation of foreign language

• Telephone interpretation of foreign language

• Communication support – British Sign Language/English interpreters, lip speakers, note takers

Gender identity and orientation

NHS Highland’s Public Health team have undertaken work to ensure that people who identify as 
LGBTQI+ feel valued and respected and have easy access to health services.

Supporting transgender staff in the workplace

NHS Highland has a protocol and guidance document which defines the term transgender and gender 
reassignment and clearly sets out NHS Highland’s responsibilities as an employer of trans people and 
people who are undergoing a transitioning journey.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 59

Page 295



Gender based violence  
Gender based violence is both a cause and a consequence of gender inequality and includes various 
forms of abuse such as sexual violence, domestic abuse, child sexual abuse, commercial sexual 
exploitation. Factors such as age, financial dependence, poverty, disability, homelessness, and 
insecure immigration status can heighten women’s vulnerability to abuse or entrap them further in 
it. Experiencing abuse or violence as an adult or when a child can have a wide ranging effect on an 
individual’s life. The impacts may be physical, psychological, sexual or a combination of these. Other 
impacts may include financial difficulties, becoming homeless or roofless35. 

NHS Highland introduced a Gender Based Violence Policy in 2017 which aims to support staff 
experiencing gender based violence, guide managers to respond and guides staff to use confidential 
contacts. Two training sessions have been held with the Human Resources Team to raise their 
awareness of gender inequality, its’ impact and how to provide support and advice to managers who 
are supporting staff. 

Tackling societal inequity and health inequality needs partnership work and actions across public 
policy areas alongside actions to specifically target disadvantaged groups and areas. An overview 
of work currently being undertaken to improve the health of people involved in the justice system is 
shown in the box on people in the care of the prison. 

People in the care of the prison

Those living within a prison setting, in general, have poor health for a number of reasons such as socio 
economic disadvantage and lifestyle, and behavioural factors, for example, problematic substance use, 
smoking and poor nutrition36. There is evidence to show that many living in the Prison setting have 
been in the care system, have experience physical, emotional or sexual abuse and have difficulties 
forming and maintaining relationships. Levels of educational attainment are low and unemployment 
high. Furthermore, homelessness is common. In general this population group engage less with care 
services in the community but once in the Prison setting the demand can be high.

The recent ‘Hard Edges Scotland’ report described a five-dimensional profile of severe and 
multiple disadvantages (SMD) in Scotland37. The disadvantages are: domestic violence and abuse, 
homelessness, mental health, offending and substance dependency. The report highlights that people 
who are engaged in offending are also likely to experience overlapping experiences of problem 
substance use and homelessness.   

Within NHS Highland, men in the care of the prison service are most likely to be incarcerated either 
in Inverness Prison or for men in Argyll and Bute they may be sent to Her Majesty’s Prison (HMP) 
Barlinnie in Glasgow or HMP Greenock. HMP Inverness and HMP Barlinnie take men on remand 
or short term sentence’s. HMP Greenock is a mixed Prison environment, and women and Young 
Offenders usually go to HMP & Young Offenders Institution Cornton Vale, in Stirling38.

For those in the care of the prison the time spent can be an opportunity to improve their health 
and wellbeing, for example, engaging with services, and maintaining contact with families. These 
actions are important to support those in the care of the prison, particularly where there are multiple 
sentences, to break the cycle of offending39. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201960

Page 296



C
hapter 3

Given the poor health of those in the prison setting, the Public Health Directorate is supporting a 
partnership to conduct a health and healthcare needs assessment. This work will be important for the 
ongoing improvement of health and health care services as well as contribute to developing services 
in the new prison due 2023. The Health Needs Assessment will be available from Spring 2020.

Key facts40:

•	 Scotland has one of the highest imprisonment rates in Western Europe although the prison 
population has fallen by 8% since 2011/12.

Those in the care of the prison service40:

•	 are predominately young, male, white and from disadvantaged backgrounds

•	 76% tested positive for illegal drugs on admission to prison and 30% tested positive on release

•	 two in five reported being drunk at the time of their offence (41%), a decrease of 4% since 2013

•	 72% smoke regularly

•	 1 in 5 are estimated to be Hepatitis C positive

Figure 3.20 - HMP Inverness

Source: Reproduced with kind permission Scottish Prison Service41 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 61

Page 297



Living Well

Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Partnership’s Living Well Strategy was 
launched in October 2019 and highlights the importance of self management, 
enablement and prevention. The strategy sets out our intentions to support 
people to live healthy and well lives in Argyll and Bute. The development process 
involved engagement activity with people, communities and our workforce. In 
total over 450 people were involved in the engagement process that then fed 
into the strategy and 5 year action plan. The 5 year action plan will link to several 
other current and relevant work streams to ensure more effective and joined up 
planning and delivery.

Four outcomes were identified from this engagement activity are the areas of focus for a 5 year action 
plan: “People” - people in Argyll and Bute have the tools and support they need to help them to Live 
Well; “Communities” - there are a wide range of local services to support people to Live Well; “Our 
Workforce” - staff are able and motivated to support the people they see to Live Well; “Leadership” - 
effective leadership to support delivery of Living Well Strategy.

Health and Wellbeing Networks

Health and Wellbeing Networks work to improving health outcomes of 
people living in Argyll and Bute. The eight networks enable:

• An opportunity for people to come together, network and share 
experiences and plans for health and wellbeing.

• Joint action planning for activity to make their local community 
better.

• Support local activity with the devolved health and wellbeing small grant funding.

• Partnership working between Community Planning partners and community members.

The past year saw the Networks exploring a new approach to investing grant funding by trialling a 
method called Participatory Budgeting (PB). This allows locals community members to score projects 
and to prioritise investment in activities that they value the most. Projects bid for funding in a short 
“Dragon’s Den” style pitch and the audience votes for their top initiatives.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201962

Page 298



C
hapter 3

Summary
• There are important differences in rates of low birth weight babies, breastfeeding and childhood 

obesity between deprived and more affluent areas in Highland.

• The uptake of national screening programmes, such as abdominal aortic aneurysm, bowel, and 
cervical screening is lower in people from deprived areas in Highland. 

• There are pronounced differences in admission rates for conditions such as asthma, COPD, and 
admissions to a psychiatric hospital.

• Higher rates of people from deprived areas in Highland are admitted to hospital with potentially 
avoidable exacerbations of long term conditions.

• There are substantial differences in life expectancy and death rates between deprived and more 
affluent areas in Highland. The life expectancy gap between areas of the Highlands is 16 years for 
men and 10 years for women.

• Tackling societal inequity and health inequality is not just down to Public Health staff or NHS 
Highland alone. It needs partnership work and actions across public policy areas alongside 
actions to specifically target disadvantaged groups and areas. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 63

Page 299



Chapter Four -  
Impact on Dependency and 
Care

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201964

Page 300



C
hapter 4

C
hapter 4

Two key concepts affect the impact of the population changes presented in the earlier chapters: 
Compression of Mortality, and Compression of Morbidity1.

Compression of Mortality
Some people die very young, while other people live into extreme old age. Average life expectancy 
can increase without markedly affecting this variation in mortality2. The aspiration for more people 
to live to older ages, and for the marked variance in life expectancy to decrease3, is termed 
‘compression of mortality’. The alternative, whereby everyone, on average, lives longer, but with a 
continuation of the existing large spread in ages at death, is termed ‘shifting mortality’.

Average age at death increased markedly in many countries in the twentieth century. For many 
years, this was driven by a decline in deaths at younger ages. This produced a reduction in the 
average variation in death rates, supporting the compression of mortality. After infant and child 
mortality improved, however, further improvements began to depend on improvements in survival in 
older age groups4.

Figure 2.1 in Chapter 2 demonstrated that average life expectancy increased steadily for decades 
until recently. The differences in average life expectancy between different socio-economic groups 
have been tenacious (Figure 3.17 Chapter 3). Compression of mortality has not happened as much 
as was expected, a finding replicated in other countries5.

Compression of Morbidity
Compression of morbidity is as aspiration for people to spend less time in a state of ill-health6, 
whether or not as part of an increased lifespan. Increased lifespans, of themselves, do not 
necessarily result in compression of morbidity7. If people live longer, but disease onset happens at 
the same age as in the past, or the rate of improvement does not keep pace with improvements 
in life expectancy, then the period of life spent in ill-health can increase (known as ‘extension of 
morbidity’). Alternatively, the period spent in ill-health could occur later in life, but be no shorter. This 
would result in people living longer, but spending the same length of time in poor health (known as 
the ‘dynamic equilibrium’ model)8. 

For compression of morbidity to occur, the population needs to have either or both: 

• Lower rates of onset of disease.

• Increased recovery rates.

These changes then need to happen at a faster rate than increased lifespan, to avoid longer period 
being spent in a state of ill-health (termed ‘extension of morbidity’). 

There is considerable debate about how these factors come together in different populations. 
Many international studies have not found convincing evidence of compression of morbidity9,10,11,12 
although findings vary between countries13, and between study methods14. Analysis of data from 
Scotland by the Scottish Public Health Observatory (ScotPHO) found no persuasive evidence of 
compression of morbidity in either gender15. Overall, the time spent in a healthy state has tended to 
increase, but the percentage of life spent in ill-health has changed little or may even have increased 
in men in Scotland. There are uncertainties over estimates, and these are discussed in a detailed 
methods paper16.

There are very substantial differences by deprivation status, with people in the most deprived 
areas, on average, both dying earlier and spending longer in a state of ill-health17 before their death. 
In summary, there is some suggestion that fewer people live with very severe morbidity than in the 
past, but that more people live with moderate levels of disability, for longer periods18,19. Mental ill-
health and distress may also be increasing20. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 65

Page 301



Diagramatic representations of possible changes to 
morbidity and mortality

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201966

Page 302



C
hapter 4

Impact on Service Requirements
The effect of these competing trends – longer life but limited compression of morbidity, and the 
increase in the number of older people described earlier in the report, has important effects on 
service requirements. The reason the possible scenarios for morbidity described above matter in 
practice is that they produce different estimates of future service requirements. 

The ScotPHO work cited above suggests limited evidence of compression of morbidity in Scotland, 
so it seems likely that many people will continue to live with long term non-communicable 
conditions21 such as cancer, heart disease and the effects of stroke and dementia22. A considerable 
proportion of the cost of care for older people is associated with care around the time of death, and 
closer proximity to death is associated with higher care costs23. Multi-morbidity24, dementia25 and 
frailty26 are also associated with higher costs of care, particularly in deprived communities27,28. There 
are, however, important opportunities to intervene, both to prevent illness, and to mitigate its effects 
on health, and on functional decline29. 

The Public Health implications of these trends are that the Highlands, like all parts of Scotland, 
needs to work to:

• Reduce the rate at which long-term health problems manifest, particularly in deprived areas.

• Reflect the greater requirements, and greater opportunities for health improvement, in deprived 
communities30.

• Mitigate the impact of health problems through early detection and intervention.

• Create services and systems which adapt to long-term conditions, and allow people to function 
as well as possible, for as long as possible, promoting resilience and resilient systems31,32.

• Ensure that health and social care systems are designed to support older people, who will often 
have multiple long-term conditions rather than one single illness33.

• Communicate clearly to professionals and the public on the opportunities for managing functional 
decline34.

• Consider how to best integrate end of life care35.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 67

Page 303



Eco mapping

Our aging population and rural landscape puts ever increasing challenges on the adequate provision 
of health and social care services. People often have a network of support which when understood by 
practitioners can help to plan and co-ordinate efforts to ensure that patients have the right support to 
improve their health, manage their condition and maintain independence36,37.

Eco-mapping is a tool that can help practitioners plan what support patients might need by addressing 
the person’s whole network of support and therefore enhancing the practitioners understanding of the 
care giving context38.

Eco mapping has been used mainly in social work addressing family networks in order to provide 
support to children and their families39. An ecomap is a visual mapping tool to record a person’s social 
and personal connections to their environments. It also depicts to quality of these connections and 
what is meaningful to the person. 

Through the Health Promoting Health Service initiative, the eco mapping tool is being piloted in a 
number of settings throughout NHS Highland. Although it is early days, practitioners are already 
reporting benefits in identifying connections to community, connections to support, strength of 
relationships, availability of services and duplication of services.

Community teams also report that eco mapping can help with care planning, discharge planning and 
service planning. Staff using the tool report that an ecomap reaffirms the support networks available 
to an individual and highlights areas of additional support that may be required. It encourages 
relationship building between the patient and the practitioner and identifies what is important to the 
individual, bringing information together on a visual display.

Source: NHS Highland Public Health 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201968

Page 304



C
hapter 4

Highland Compassionate Communities

Supporting people to stay well as long as possible, and to manage with disabilities, is an essential 
action. In 2017 the Highland Compassionate Communities initiative was developed to support the 
roll out of the community led ‘Circle of Support’ model that was developed in Helmsdale to four rural 
communities in Highland. 

The model supports development of a range of activities and services for vulnerable people in rural 
communities when they need it. The model is community led and allows people to dip in and out of the 
‘Circle of Support’ as necessary, supporting people to stay at home and lead a life of quality for as long 
as possible. It is supported by a framework and guidance that has been developed from learning to 
date. 

Harnessing the assets, skills and enthusiasm of communities and their capacity to deliver services 
and support that are tailored to local need can make a huge difference to an individual’s health and 
wellbeing, allowing them to stay in their community for as long as possible, as well as supporting 
communities to be resilient and responsive to local needs.

Source: NHS Highland Public Health 

STATUTORY SERVICES

COMMUNITY RUN SERVICES/ACTIVITES

LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE

CARE AT HOME

Volunteers

Community
 Co-o

rd
ina

to
rO

rganising Committee

Su
pp

or
t W

orkers

Bank of 

Br
id

ge
 ov

er
 

tr
ou

bl
ed

 
w

at
er

s

the W
orld

 

Window to

RepairCare and
Shops 

Community

Befriending

Ch
oi

r

Com
m

unity 

Garden

Art and 

Blether

SDS Brokerage

G
roup 

W
alking

Hub

Dinner to

your door

Prim
ary

 Care/GP

Local NHS Support
Community Planning Par

tn
er

sh
ip

Acute/Hospital Care

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 69

Page 305



Estimating Dependency
As the introduction above illustrates, there are uncertainties on the true level of future need. Several 
published studies use UK research to estimate the number of people living with different levels of 
dependency by age group, and to then project future numbers of people by levels of dependency. 
These projections are uncertain, because they require estimates of life expectancy, dementia, and 
prevalence of risk factors such as obesity, extended into the future.

Local classification of dependency used in NHS Highland40

NHS Highland has piloted the following categorisation of dependency.

High dependency (24 hour care)

At least one of the following: unable to get to or use the toilet (self-report), bed bound or chair bound 
(interviewer observed), needs help feeding (self-report or proxy rated), be often incontinent and need 
help dressing (self-report or proxy rated), or have severe cognitive impairment (mini-mental state 
examination score <10).

Medium dependency (care at regular times each day)

Either needs help preparing a meal (self-report) or putting on shoes and socks (self-report).

Low dependency (care less than daily)

At least one of the following: needs help to wash all over or bath (self-report), cut toenails (self-report), 
shop (self-report), or do light or heavy housework (self-report), or have considerable difficulty with 
household tasks, for example making a cup of tea (informant report).

Independent

Not classified as high, medium, or low dependency.

Previously, NHS Highland Public Health team applied estimates from a study by Kingston et 
al.41 to the Highland population42. More recent work43 uses a larger pool of information, across a 
wider range of settings. The effect of applying different models, and different assumptions, to the 
projections obtained are compared in an appendix.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201970

Page 306



C
hapter 4

All models predict that the majority of older people will continue to live independently. Figure 4.1 
shows the estimated changes by 2035 under the different models. All the models predict increases 
in the number of the people most dependent on care, ranging from 21% to 86% increases. Two 
of three models also predict an increase in the number of people with moderate care needs. The 
differences between the models relate to the underlying assumptions. For a detailed discussion of 
the models, please see the appendix.

Figure 4.1 - Comparison of estimated and projected dependency states of older people living in the 
NHS Highland area

Source: Kingston et al.42,44 and National Records of Scotland44,45

Carers

As the total number of people in poor health has increased, the number of people providing 
informal care for relatives and friends also increases. Estimates suggest that in 2018 over 40,000 
people in Highland provided informal care. Much of this care is provided by women, with the 
highest number of carers being in people aged 45 – 64 years of age (Figure 4.2).

Figure 4.2 - Estimated caring prevalence by age and gender in NHS Highland

Source: Scottish Government46 and National Records of Scotland45

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 71

Page 307



The Carers (Scotland) Act 2016

The Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 that came into force in April 2018 sets out a range of measures 
intended to improve the support given to carers. It gives carers the right to a plan that identifies their 
needs and provides them with information about support available, and puts a duty on local authorities 
to support carers whose identified needs meet local eligibility criteria. Local authorities and health 
boards are required to jointly prepare a local carers strategy47,48,49,50. Work is underway across the NHS 
Highland population to seek to consider the needs of carers.

Based on the 2017 Scottish Health Survey47, in NHS Highland, around a third of informal unpaid 
carers (approximately 13,000) will be providing regular care for up to 4 hours a week and another 
third for between 5 and 19 hours a week. 15% of all carers (approximately 6,000) indicate that they 
provide more than 50 hours per week; this proportion reaches around a quarter of the population 
for carers aged 65 years and over (Figure 4.3).

Figure 4.3 - Hours spent each week providing help or unpaid care by age

Source: Scottish Government47

The expected change to the ratio of younger to older people, and the dependence of the Highland 
population on inward migration, suggests that informal care may be less available in the future, and 
will result in an increased need for service support.

End of Life Care
Approximately 3,700 people die in NHS Highland each year. Many deaths follow a period, 
sometimes prolonged, of illness and/or frailty, which has implications for the type of care that may 
be required. Population ageing, and the growing numbers of people in the older age groups, means 
that the number of deaths are anticipated to increase. There is a growing recognition that there will 
be a rising demand for palliative and end of life care needs in the future51, a theme reflected in the 
2017 report from the NHS Highland Director of Public Health52.

The World Health Organisation (WHO) have defined palliative care as an approach to treatment, 
care and support that improves the quality of life of people with a life-limiting illness, and their 
caregivers53. End of life care is an important part of palliative care and involves the care and support 
of people who are likely to die within the next 12 months54. This includes people whose death is 
imminent (expected within a few hours or days), people with advanced, progressive, incurable 
conditions and people with life-threatening acute conditions.    

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201972

Page 308



C
hapter 4

The Scottish Action Plan for palliative and end of life care identified three trajectories to death, 
apart from sudden deaths55. These are a short period of decline (e.g. some cases of cancer), a long 
term illness with intermittent serious episodes (e.g. heart or other organ failure), and a prolonged 
dwindling (e.g. physical or cognitive frailty). This suggests that many deaths can be anticipated, 
enabling a planned approach to end of life care in ways which reflect, as far as possible, the needs 
and wishes of patients, carers and their families.

A recent study defines a set of diagnoses where people are likely to benefit from palliative 
care56. These include cancers, heart disease, renal disease, liver disease, respiratory disease, 
neurodegenerative disease, and dementia. The authors estimated that between 69% and 82% of 
people who die have palliative care needs.

Estimates of the number of people who had potential palliative care needs in NHS Highland, based 
on analysis of local death registration data, are shown in Table 4.1. Between 2013 and 2017 there 
were over 13,000 deaths where people were likely to benefit from palliative care. This is equivalent 
to 2,660 people each year, or three in every four deaths (76.2%) in the health board area. The trend 
in the proportion of deaths likely to require palliative care has remained fairly constant over the last 
two decades.

Table 4.1 - Estimated number of people with potential palliative care needs, 2013-2017

Area Number of deaths 
(5 year total)

Number of deaths 
(annual)

Percent of all 
deaths

95% Confidence 
Intervals

Argyll and Bute 4,070 810 75.9% 73.9%, 77.9%
Highland 9,220 1,840 76.3% 74.9%, 77.6%
NHS Highland 13,290 2,660 76.2% 75.0%, 77.3%

Source: Murtagh et al.57  

Selected International classification of Diseases 10th revision (ICD-10) diagnosis codes applied to National Records of 
Scotland (NRS) mortality records, rounded to nearest 10

For most people the majority of care at the end of life is delivered by family members and informal 
carers at home or in community settings. Published data shows that, of the 3,473 residents of NHS 
Highland who died in 2017-18, 90.1% of their last six months of life was spent either at home or in the 
community and 8.9% was spent in hospital. This is equivalent to each person spending an average of 19 
days in hospital and 164 days at home in the six months prior to their death57. These data highlight the 
importance of a public health approach to palliative and end of life care that begins with people and 
communities58.

The place of death for people with potential palliative care needs is shown in Figure 4.4. In the five 
year period 2013 to 2017, 46% of people estimated to have palliative care needs died in hospital, 
21% in a care home and 30% at home. Over the last decade the proportion of people dying at home 
has increased and the number of people dying in hospital has fallen. However, 31% of palliative care 
deaths still occurred in an acute hospital in 2013-17.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 73

Page 309



Figure 4.4 - Proportion of potential palliative care deaths occurring in different care settings, NHS 
Highland, 2003-2007 and 2013- 2017

Source: Murtagh et al.57 
Place of death for selected International classification of Diseases 10th revision (ICD-10) diagnosis codes applied to 
National Records of Scotland (NRS) mortality records

The ‘place of death’ for people likely to benefit from palliative care varies with age. Figure 4.5 
shows that among children and young people under the age of 25, 62% died in hospital and 38% 
died at home. The number and proportion of people with palliative care needs who died in a care 
home increased with age. One third (32%) of people aged 85 to 89 years likely to benefit from 
palliative care died in this setting, increasing to almost half (46%) of people aged 90 years and over.

Figure 4.5 - Proportion of potential palliative care deaths occurring in each care setting by age, 
NHS Highland, 2013-2017

Source: Murtagh et al.57 
Place of death for selected International classification of Diseases 10th revision (ICD-10) diagnosis codes applied to 
National Records of Scotland (NRS) mortality records

33% 31%

20%
15%

26%
30%

18% 21%

3% 3%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2003-2007 2013-2017

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 p
al

lia
tiv

e 
ca

re
 d

ea
th

s

5 year period

Hospice
Care Home
Home
Other Hospital
Acute Hospital  

n = 13,199 n = 13,286

54%

35% 35% 37% 33%
27%

20%

8%

8% 11%
14% 18%

17%

13%

38%

48% 45% 38%

28%

23%

20%

2% 2% 6%
18%

32%

46%

7% 7% 5% 3% 1% 1%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

<25 25-44 45-64 65-74 75-84 85-89 90+

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 p
al

lia
tiv

e 
ca

re
 d

ea
th

s

Age Group

Hospice
Care Home
Home
Other Hospital
Acute Hospital  

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201974

Page 310



C
hapter 4

Projections of palliative care need
The future numbers of people likely to benefit from palliative care are estimated from the projected 
number of deaths for NHS Highland residents developed by the National Records of Scotland. 
Overall, the number of deaths is projected to increase by 25% from 3,579 in 2018 to 4,473 in 2041. 
Assuming that the current proportion of all deaths likely to benefit from palliative care remains 
constant, the number of people needing palliative care is projected to increase from 2,730 in 2018 
to 3,410 in 2041. These projections of the absolute numbers of deaths do not reflect the recent 
mortality and life expectancy trends highlighted earlier in this report.

Figure 4.6 - Projected number of deaths (total deaths and deaths with palliative care needs), NHS 
Highland, 2018 to 2041

Source: Murtagh et al.57 and National Records of Scotland59

Last Aid Course

In the field of palliative care and in recognising the value of adopting a Compassionate Communities 
approach60, NHS Highland’s Public Health team is currently supporting the Highland Hospice to 
evaluate a Last Aid Course.

Based on the assumption that everyone should have basic knowledge of palliative care, Last Aid is 
a programme, derived from the concept of First Aid, for educating the general public about death 
and dying61. Its aim is to support individuals, whether that be family, friends, or the wider community 
to support those who are coming towards the end of their lives or those who have experienced 
bereavement62. Last Aid courses are held on a single day and comprise four modules covering themes 
relating to: care at the end of life, advance care planning and decision making, symptom management, 
and cultural aspects of death and bereavement.

The original Last Aid Course was developed in German and hence revision of Course material is 
required to optimise the Course’s relevance within an English-language, local (NHS Highland) and 
national (Scotland and UK) context.

3,579

4,473

2,730
3,410

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

2018 2041

Nu
m

be
r 

of
 d

ea
th

s

Year

All deaths Palliative care deaths

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 75

Page 311



Summary
• Compression of mortality and compression of morbidity are important concepts because they 

influence future estimates of service requirements. This is particularly apparent when considering 
the cost of care for older people associated with functional decline and end of life.

• Predictions of future levels of dependency suggest that the majority of older people will continue 
to live independently but that there will be substantial increases in the number of people most 
dependent on care.

• Large numbers of people currently provide informal care, but changes in the ratio of younger to 
older people, and dependence on inward migration, suggest that the availability of informal care 
will decrease in future. This will mean an increased need for service support.

• There will be substantial increases in the number of people requiring end of life care, with major 
impacts on care demands.

• The public health implications of these trends are that NHS Highland, like all parts of Scotland, 
needs to work to:

 ― Reduce the rate at which long-term health conditions manifest, with a focus on prevention, early 
detection and early intervention, particularly in deprived communities.

 ― Develop systems and services which can adapt to the changing profile of multiple long-term 
health conditions and functional decline.

 ― Develop methods of identifying those who need intensive input towards the end of their lives 
and plan service provision around these needs.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201976

Page 312



C
hapter 4

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 77

Page 313



Chapter Five -  
Realistic Medicine: a 
personal and population 
approach to value and 
equity

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201978

Page 314



C
hapter 5

This chapter provides an update to the NHS Highland Director of Public Health Annual Report 
2017 on the theme of Realistic Medicine1. Realistic Medicine offers a person focussed approach 

to providing healthcare where as an organisation and as individuals we aim to provide care of the 
best possible value, both to individuals and to the whole population we serve.

Creating and encouraging practice influenced by Realistic Medicine to flourish NHS Highland 
should allow individual patients the benefit of better value care appropriate for them, and enable 
clinicians to become more people focussed. At a population level it should allow us to manage 
our limited resources as appropriately as possible by reducing waste in our systems, encouraging 
ownership and improvement and raising awareness of inequities and variation which prevents high 
quality care being accessible to all our population.

Over the last few years the approach Realistic Medicine advocates is spreading throughout NHS 
Highland and we are using its principles to guide us in individual interactions with patients but also 
in the development of our clinical strategy.

Figure 5.1 - Practising Realistic Medicine

Source: Reproduced from Scottish Government2

Personalising Realistic Medicine
In 2019-2020 the Chief Medical Officer (CMO) has asked health boards to concentrate on 
Personalising Realistic Medicine3. The focus on best care for each individual recognises the need to 
take into account best clinical practice, people as individuals and clinicians as professionals.

Personalised planning requires staff to use shared decision making- improved decision making 
bringing professional knowledge and the individual’s needs and priorities together. Staff in NHS 
Highland are being supported to develop skills in shared decision making and people using 
services are being encouraged to get involved. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 79

Page 315



It’s OK to Ask Week in Lochgilphead

One example of promoting shared decision 
making in NHS Highland this year was 
“It’s OK to Ask” week in Lochgilphead. 
Staff and patients tested three simple 
questions enabling better patient centred 
communication during consultations in 
a variety of clinical settings in Mid Argyll 
Community Hospital. 163 service users and 
21 staff gave us feedback on their experience. 
This clearly showed that the vast majority of 
patients want to be involved with decisions 
about their care, about a third used the 
questions to help in their consultation, and 
overall the attitude of openness was a positive 
influence for professionals and patients alike. 

A major project across NHS Highland in 
2019-20 is to encourage the practice of writing 
clinic letters to patients from outpatient 
clinics.  There is good evidence that this 
practice increases person focussed consulting 
and communication, improved patient 
understanding and does not detract from 
the clinic letter being a useful professional 
communication4.

We also need to try to make the way we strive 
to deliver services “kinder” to those using 
the services. “Near Me” video consulting services have reduced the personal cost of visits and greatly 
improved access to outpatient clinics. The spread and improvement of these services shows great 
promise in the coming year, extending clinic coverage and in primary care, enabling more patients 
to benefit. The efficiencies this system introduces also have the potential to reduce travel time for 
clinicians, thus reducing waste of valuable clinical time.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201980

Page 316



C
hapter 5

NHS Highland Personalising Realistic Medicine plan for 
2019-20

Source: Reproduced from Scottish Government2

Focus on creating the conditions for Personalising Realistic Medicine to thrive....

 

Engaged Patients Supported workforce Compassionate 
Leaders

Culture of 
Stewardship

“OK to Ask” spread
Progress NHSH wide 
plan to copy outpatient 
letters to patients.
Spread Near Me and 
similar tech solutions 
share learning - example 
of “kind care”.
Champion co-production 
in service design and 
decision making.
House of Care models 
and how they might 
apply here.

Consent work in 
Obstetrics Raigmore
Shared decision making 
training for different staff 
groups.
Projects using our 
different skills and 
expertise to better 
support individual plans 
- oncology workshop 
and new Project ECHO 
‘communities of practice’ 
developments

Contribute to 
organisational work 
under the ‘Culture Fit for 
Future’ programme.
Raise awareness 
amongst leaders – GP 
Cluster Quality Leads, 
Board, department leads, 
etc of Realistic Medicine 
concepts and ethos- 
presentations etc to 
spread

Supporting the 
development of 
the NHSH clinical 
strategy with 
Realistic Medicine 
values.
Encourage 
development of  
more supportive 
forums for all staff 
- Schwartz round/
Values Based 
Reflective Practice, 
etc.
Link with existing 
work about the 
whole patient 
experience e.g. 
booking/ access/
appointments/ to 
help ‘kind care’ be 
the norm.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 81

Page 317



Personalised care is where healthcare professionals work with their patients to provide care based 
on what matters most to them. Care of high personal value is not solely “value” based on cost, 
measurable outcomes, and efficiency metrics.

Healthcare professionals are the stewards of healthcare resources. Demand for health and care 
services is increasing and in order to meet that demand the health and social care service must 
consider how to make optimal use of the resources it has to ensure the best possible care for the 
individuals who need help and also the population of NHS Highland we serve. The quality and 
safety, effectiveness and cost effectiveness of care remain vitally important.

Value based healthcare: the triple value tool
Triple value is an emerging tool Realistic Medicine brings in order to help decide where our efforts 
achieve best value. Clinical teams across NHS Highland are being introduced to the concept of 
triple value to help address planning, and as we progress towards the development of a clinical 
strategy its ethos will be right at the centre of what we do.

The value of an intervention can be assessed in three ways: personal, technical and allocative.

Personal Value must be defined around the person receiving care. Care should include the 
patient’s personal goals and what matters to them. With high-quality care for advanced illness, 
these goals may diverge from simple treatment of disease, which may begin to feel less relevant. 
Instead, a more complex set of objectives, including comfort, quality of life, and family support, 
may take precedence. There is a risk of providing interventions of high quality and which are safe, 
effective and cost effective, but if provided to the ‘wrong’ patients at the ‘wrong time’ they will be of 
low value.

We know that both overuse and underuse of investigation and treatment can result in harm to 
patients. By talking to people to find out what matters to them, we can seek out and eliminate 
‘harm’ and ‘waste’ and provide care that is in tune with what people value. 

Technical value: improve the quality and safety of healthcare to increase the value derived from 
resources allocated to particular services. This may involve reducing the ‘waste’ or inefficient 
processes associated with a particular service, or improving safety and unintended harms. It also 
means ensuring that the people most likely to benefit are given some priority. Too often the people 
seen are not those who would benefit most, compared with people who have not sought help or 
been referred, and often this mismatch is associated with deprivation, so technical value includes 
the need to mitigate inequity as well as increase efficiency. 

Allocative value: allocate resources to different groups equitably and in a way that maximises value 
for the whole population. For example, is the balance of resources allocated for people with cancer, 
for people with mental health problems or for people living with heart disease optimal? This is a 
complex decision and clinicians need to act as the stewards of those resources and decide whether 
the balance is right between different services for their population. For example, is the balance of 
resources within the cardiovascular population the right balance spread across heart failure, rhythm 
disorders and coronary heart disease?

We need to ensure the prevention of harm and ‘waste’ from overuse and overtreatment 
(unwarranted medical interventions), freeing up resources currently used with little or no benefit to 
clinical outcomes, in order to address under-provision of appropriate care elsewhere.

Identifying and tackling unwarranted variation
Variation in healthcare exists for all sorts of understandable reasons; health systems are complex 
and the population has differing needs.  Some variation can be explained by the characteristics of 
the people being treated, or by their geographical setting. 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201982

Page 318



C
hapter 5

Unwarranted variation is variation in healthcare that cannot be explained by need, or by explicit 
patient or population preferences. Identifying and tackling unwarranted variation is essential to 
improving outcomes derived from healthcare across Scotland and practicing Realistic Medicine. 

Exploring unwarranted variation might lead us to identify areas where there is: 

• Underuse of higher value interventions i.e. under-treatment;

• Overuse of lower value interventions; and

• Overuse of interventions which may result in increasing risk of ‘harm’.

There may be a need to shift resources to areas which provide the greatest benefit. By engaging 
multidisciplinary teams in quality improvement and directing strategic decisions we can improve 
equity and access for all people. There is some evidence that a shift of resources to primary care 
from specialist high cost secondary care would provide better care overall.

Understanding variation (random, warranted or unwarranted), through the engagement of clinicians, 
users and service providers, is key to providing value based healthcare within NHS Scotland. In 
2018, online maps providing a data source on particular procedures were published by the Scottish 
Atlas of Healthcare variation team. In NHS Highland these maps have started to provide us with a 
means of engaging clinicians and management in identification of areas of unwarranted variation in 
order to drive service development and change.

Example of the Scottish Atlas of Variation

Maps highlight each NHS Board in a colour 
indicating how significantly different the 
standardised rate is from the Scotland value, 
and in which direction. 

Significance is based on whether the Scotland 
value falls within the confidence interval of the 
value for the NHS Board, at two confidence 
levels: 95% and 99.8%.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 83

Page 319



Summary
Two major themes in Chief Medical Officers reports have been taken forward in NHS Highland: 
valuing people (personalised plans, shared decision making, supporting innovation and valuing 
staff) and secondly getting better value (reducing harm and waste, reducing risk, reducing variation). 
These guiding principles have started to influence conversations, drive improvements and will form 
the underpinning for our developing Clinical and Care Strategy. We hope to continue to thread the 
Realistic healthcare message throughout health and social care to guide us towards better value for 
the population of NHS Highland.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201984

Page 320



C
hapter 5

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 85

Page 321



Chapter Six -  
Conclusion

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201986

Page 322



C
hapter 6

This report has drawn together a range of published and local evidence on important 
demographic trends, population health and social inequalities that have profound implications 

for the planning and delivery of health and social care services.  

National population projections predict that the population of the Highland Council area will 
increase slightly, and then remain level. The same projections anticipate that the Argyll and Bute 
Council area will experience population decline. Deaths have outpaced births in both areas for 
many years, and populations are sustained and increased by inward migration. Population change 
is not evenly distributed, and the Inverness region in the Highland Council area has had the largest 
population increases. 

The evidence presented in this report has highlighted that people are living longer on average, and 
people tend to have longer periods of their life free of disability than would have been expected in 
the past. The expansion in disease free life is probably less than the expansion in life expectancy, 
so paradoxically, people may also spend more time with health problems than in the past. 

The combination of a larger number of older people – a good news story – but with more diseases 
associated with ageing for longer periods of their life will have significant impacts on service needs. 
Palliative care needs can be also expected to increase because of the large cohort of people born 
in the ‘baby boom’ who are entering older age. This will have implications for hospital, community, 
social care, and hospice care. 

Much of the care currently provided to people is informal care from families and friends. Workforce 
and migration trends mean that fewer people may be able to offer support in the future, particularly 
when the children themselves may be over 60 years of age. These secular trends, combined with 
trends in one-person households, are likely to increase service care requirements, which will be 
challenging to meet, particularly in some of the Highland areas with declining populations. 

All health and social care systems in Scotland are confronted with the same challenge: improve 
health and decrease morbidity while at the same time delivering care to an increasing number of 
people who may be experiencing frailty, dementia and multi-morbidity. 

There are important partnership issues on supporting migration to Highland, and encouraging 
settlement in areas further from Inverness. NHS Highland and its partner agencies, particularly Local 
Authorities, also need to work to:

• Minimise the health inequity caused by poverty

• Reduce risk factors and increase community resilience to improve the health of people as they 
age

• Ensure that health and social care systems are responsive to the needs of people with multiple 
conditions, frailty and often cognitive impairment, as well as to people with acute one-system 
illnesses

• Make it as easy as possible for communities to offer support to their members, and for families to 
provide ‘informal’ care

Rising to these challenges will be essential to improve the sustainability of services for the future 
and sustaining communities across NHS Highland.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 87

Page 323



Preface
1 Grundy E, Murphy M. Demography and public health. In: Oxford Textbook of Global Public Health. 6 ed. 

Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015

2 Mendenhall GE. The Census Lists of Numbers 1 and 26. Journal of Biblical Literature. 1958; 1:52-66

3 Smith RS. “Barcelona “Bills of Mortality” and Population, 1457-1590”. Journal of Political Economy. 1936:44(1): 
84-93. https://doi.org/10.1086/254886

Chapter One
1 National Records of Scotland. Population estimates time series data. 2019. Available from: https://www.

nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-
population-estimates/population-estimates-time-series-data [Accessed September 2019].

2 National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - detailed tables. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/
population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 
2019].

3 National Records of Scotland. Deaths Time Series Data. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/
statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data [Accessed August 
2019]

4 National Records of Scotland. Births Time Series Data. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/
statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/births/births-time-series-data [Accessed August 
2019]

5 NHS National Services Scotland - Practitioner Services. Community Health Index (CHI) General Practice 
registrations at April 2019 held by NHS Highland. 2019

6 Scottish Government. Scottish Government Urban Rural Classification 2016. 2018. Available from: https://www.
gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-urban-rural-classification-2016/pages/2/ [Accessed September 
2019]

7 Highlands and Islands Enterprise. Review of fragile areas and employment action areas in the Highland 
and Islands. Executive Summary. 2014. Available from: http://www.hie.co.uk/common/handlers/download-
document.ashx?id=25176545-481d-4be7-a747-0d0e34062df3 [Accessed June 2019]

8 National Records of Scotland. Small Area Population Estimates - Time Series Data to 2017. 2018. Available 
from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-
estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/time-series 
[Accessed July 2019]

9 NHS Highland Directorate of Public Health. Population change in Inverness and the location of General 
Practices, Health Intelligence Team Briefing Paper. 2019

10 Highland Council. Housing land information. 2019. Available from: https://www.highland.gov.uk/info/205/
planning_-_policies_advice_and_service_levels/556/housing_land_information [Accessed February 2019]

11 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Recent Mortality Trends. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.
uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/ [Accessed August 2019]

12 National Records of Scotland. Life Expectancy in Scottish Areas - Time series data and Archive. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/
life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas [Accessed September 2019]

13 National Records of Scotland. Mid-2017 Small Area Population Estimates for 2011 Data Zones. 2018. Available 
from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-
estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/mid-2017 [Accessed 
September 2019]

14 NHS Scotland. Everyone Matters: 2020 workforce vision. The Scottish Government; 2013. Available from: 
https://www2.gov.scot/resource/0042/00424225.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

References

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201988

Page 324

https://doi.org/10.1086/254886
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/population-estimates-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/population-estimates-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/population-estimates-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/births/births-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/births/births-time-series-data
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-urban-rural-classification-2016/pages/2/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-urban-rural-classification-2016/pages/2/
http://www.hie.co.uk/common/handlers/download-document.ashx?id=25176545-481d-4be7-a747-0d0e34062df3
http://www.hie.co.uk/common/handlers/download-document.ashx?id=25176545-481d-4be7-a747-0d0e34062df3
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/time-series
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/time-series
https://www.highland.gov.uk/info/205/planning_-_policies_advice_and_service_levels/556/housing_land_information
https://www.highland.gov.uk/info/205/planning_-_policies_advice_and_service_levels/556/housing_land_information
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/mid-2017
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/mid-2017
https://www2.gov.scot/resource/0042/00424225.pdf


15 National Records of Scotland. Household Projections for Scotland, 2016-based. 2018. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/households/household-
projections/2016-based-household-projections [Accessed September 2019]

16 Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB (2010) Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: A Meta-analytic Review. 
PLOS Medicine 7(7): e1000316. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316

17 Wilkinson R. and Marmot M. (eds) Social determinants of health – the Solid Facts 2nd edition. Denmark: World 
Health Organisation; 2003. Available from: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/98438/
e81384.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

18 Age UK. Loneliness and isolation evidence review. London: Age UK; 2010. Available from: https://www.
ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/evidence_review_loneliness_and_isolation.pdf?dtrk=true 
[Accessed October 2019]

Chapter Two
1 Fenton L, Minton J, Ramsay J, Kaye-Bardgett M, Fischbacher C, Wyper GMA, et al. Recent adverse mortality 

trends in Scotland: comparison with other high-income countries. bioRxiv. 2019. Available from: https://doi.
org/10.1101/542449

2 National Records of Scotland. Life Expectancy in Scottish Areas - Time series data and Archive. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/
life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas [Accessed September 2019]

3 National Records of Scotland. Deaths Time Series Data. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/
statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data [Accessed August 
2019]

4 National Records of Scotland. Age-standardised death rates calculated using the European Standard 
Population. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/vital-events/deaths/age-standardised-death-rates-calculated-using-the-esp [Accessed August 2019]

5 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Recent Mortality Trends. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.
uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/ [Accessed August 2019]

6 Ramsay J, Minton J, Fischbacher C, Fenton L, Kaye-Bardgett M, Wyper GMA, et al. How have changes 
in death by cause and age group contributed to the recent stalling of life expectancy gains in Scotland? 
Comparative decomposition analysis of mortality data, 2000-02 to 2015-17. SocArXiv. 2019. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/q8rme

7 National Records of Scotland. Vital events files held by NHS Highland. 2019

8 Scottish Public Health Network. Public Health Mortality Monitoring. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotphn.
net/groups/public-health-mortality-monitoring/mortality-sig-introduction/ [Accessed August 2019]

9 National Records of Scotland. Winter Mortality in Scotland 2017/18. 2018. Available from: https://www.
nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/winter-mortality/2018/winter-mortality-17-18-pub.pdf [Accessed August 2019]

10 National Records of Scotland. Drug Related Deaths in Scotland 2018.  Available from: https://www.nrscotland.
gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/drug-related-deaths-in-scotland 
[Accessed August 2019]

11 Planet Youth. Icelandic model 2018. Available from: https://planetyouth.org/ [Accessed August 2019]

12 Kristjansson A, Mann M, Sigfusson J, Thorisdottir I, Allegrante J, Sigfusdottir I. Development and Guiding 
Principles of the Icelandic Model for Preventing Adolescent Substance Use. Health Promotion Practice. 2019. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839919849032

13 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Scottish Burden of Disease Study - Local area burden of disease profiles 
2016. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.uk/media/1852/sbod2016-local-profiles-june19.xlsm 
[Accessed September 2019]

14 Scottish Government. The 2018 General Medical Services Contract in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish 
Government; 2017. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/gms-contract-scotland/ [Accessed 
October 2019]

15 Polley M, Bertotti M, Kimberlee R, Pilkington K, Refsum C. A review of the evidence assessing impact of social 
prescribing on healthcare demand and cost implications. University of Westminster; 2017. Available from: 
https://westminsterresearch.westminster.ac.uk/item/q1455/a-review-of-the-evidence-assessing-impact-of-
social-prescribing-on-healthcare-demand-and-cost-implications [Accessed July 2019]

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 89

Page 325

https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/households/household-projections/2016-based-household-projections
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/households/household-projections/2016-based-household-projections
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/98438/e81384.pdf
http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/98438/e81384.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/evidence_review_loneliness_and_isolation.pdf?dtrk=true
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/evidence_review_loneliness_and_isolation.pdf?dtrk=true
https://doi.org/10.1101/542449
https://doi.org/10.1101/542449
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/age-standardised-death-rates-calculated-using-the-esp
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/age-standardised-death-rates-calculated-using-the-esp
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/
https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/q8rme
https://www.scotphn.net/groups/public-health-mortality-monitoring/mortality-sig-introduction/
https://www.scotphn.net/groups/public-health-mortality-monitoring/mortality-sig-introduction/
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/winter-mortality/2018/winter-mortality-17-18-pub.pdf
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/winter-mortality/2018/winter-mortality-17-18-pub.pdf
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/drug-related-deaths-in-scotland
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-events/deaths/drug-related-deaths-in-scotland
https://planetyouth.org/
https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839919849032
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/media/1852/sbod2016-local-profiles-june19.xlsm
https://www.gov.scot/publications/gms-contract-scotland/
https://westminsterresearch.westminster.ac.uk/item/q1455/a-review-of-the-evidence-assessing-impact-of-social-prescribing-on-healthcare-demand-and-cost-implications
https://westminsterresearch.westminster.ac.uk/item/q1455/a-review-of-the-evidence-assessing-impact-of-social-prescribing-on-healthcare-demand-and-cost-implications


16 Social Care Institute for Excellence.  Scaling up community based models of care in Northern Ireland. SCIE 
Highlands No 6. London: Social Care Institute for Excellence; 2019. Available from: https://www.scie.org.uk/
transforming-care/innovation/community-based-models [Accessed January 2019]

17 Bloomfield D. A Dose of Nature: Addressing chronic health conditions by using the environment. University of 
Exeter. Available from: https://nhsforest.org/sites/default/files/Dose_of_Nature_evidence_report_0.pdf [Accessed 
October 2019]

18 Information Services Division. Annual Cancer Incidence [dataset]. NHS Scotland Open Data; 2019. Available from: 
https://www.opendata.nhs.scot/dataset/annual-cancer-incidence [Accessed September 2019]

19 Information Services Division. Cancer Incidence Projections for Scotland 2013-2027. 2015. Available from: https://
www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2015-08-18/2015-08-18-Cancer-Incidence-Projections-
Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

20 Children’s Hospices Across Scotland. Children in Scotland requiring Palliative Care (ChiSP) 2. 2018. 
Available from: https://chas-assets.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/sites/59dde5b10f7d33796f8cd11b/
assets/5c9e29910f7d334e6823390a/ChiSP2-Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

21 Scottish Government. Scottish Health Survey: results for local areas 2014 to 2017. 2018. Available from: https://
www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-health-survey-results-local-areas-2014-2015-2016-2017/pages/6/ [Accessed 
September 2019]

22 Information Services Division. A profile of deaths by suicide in Scotland 2011-2017: A report from the Scottish Suicide 
Information Database (ScotSID). 2018. Available from https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Public-Health/
Publications/2018-12-04/2018-12-04-ScotSID-Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

23 World Health Organization. Diabetes [Fact sheet]. 2018. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/
detail/diabetes [Accessed September 2019]

24 Sharma M, Nazareth I, Petersen I. Trends in incidence, prevalence and prescribing in type 2 diabetes mellitus 
between 2000 and 2013 in primary care: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2016;6(010210). Available from: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010210

25 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Type 2 diabetes prevention: population and community-level 
interventions. Public Health guideline [PH35]. 2011. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph35 
[Accessed September 2019]

26 Scottish Diabetes Data Group. Scottish Diabetes Survey 2017. NHS Scotland; 2018. Available from: http://www.
diabetesinscotland.org.uk/Publications/SDS%202017.pdf [Accessed August 2019]

27 Scottish Government. A Healthier Future: Framework for the Prevention, Early Detection and Early Intervention of 
type 2 diabetes. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/healthier-
future-framework-prevention-early-detection-early-intervention-type-2/ [Accessed October 2019]

28 Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. United Kingdom - Scotland profile. Seattle, WA: IHME, University of 
Washington; 2018. Available from: http://www.healthdata.org/united-kingdom-scotland [Accessed August 2019]

29 Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Online Profiles Tool v2.0 - Tobacco Control Profile. 2019. Available 
from: https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/ [Accessed September 2019]

30 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Smoking Ready Reckoner. 2012. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.uk/
publications/reports-and-papers/smoking-ready-reckoner/ [Accessed September 2019]

31 Scarborough P, Bhatnager P, Wickramasinghe KK, Allender S, Foster C, Rayner M. The economic burden of ill health 
due to diet, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol and obesity in the UK: an update to 2006-07 NHS costs. Journal of 
Public Health. 2011;33(4): 527-535. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdr033

32 International Agency for Research on Cancer. Consumption of Alcoholic Beverages (Monograph). Personal Habits 
and Indoor Combustions. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Volume 100E. Lyon: 
IARC; 2012. p. 373-499. Available from: https://publications.iarc.fr/122 [Accessed September 2019]

33 Department for Health. Alcohol Guidelines Review - Report from the Guidelines development group to the UK Chief 
Medical Officers. 2016. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/545739/GDG_report-Jan2016.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

34 Scottish Government. Minimum Unit Pricing 2018. Available from: https://www.mygov.scot/minimum-unit-pricing/ 
[Accessed August 2019]

35 Scottish Government. Alcohol etc. (Scotland) Act 2010 Guidance for Licensing Boards.  Available from: https://www.
gov.scot/publications/alcohol-etc-scotland-act-2010-guidance-licensing-boards/pages/3/ [Accessed August 2019]

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201990

Page 326

https://www.scie.org.uk/transforming-care/innovation/community-based-models
https://www.scie.org.uk/transforming-care/innovation/community-based-models
https://nhsforest.org/sites/default/files/Dose_of_Nature_evidence_report_0.pdf
https://www.opendata.nhs.scot/dataset/annual-cancer-incidence
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2015-08-18/2015-08-18-Cancer-Incidence-Projections-Report.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2015-08-18/2015-08-18-Cancer-Incidence-Projections-Report.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2015-08-18/2015-08-18-Cancer-Incidence-Projections-Report.pdf
https://chas-assets.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/sites/59dde5b10f7d33796f8cd11b/assets/5c9e29910f7d334e6823390a/ChiSP2-Report.pdf
https://chas-assets.s3.eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/sites/59dde5b10f7d33796f8cd11b/assets/5c9e29910f7d334e6823390a/ChiSP2-Report.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-health-survey-results-local-areas-2014-2015-2016-2017/pages/6/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-health-survey-results-local-areas-2014-2015-2016-2017/pages/6/
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Public-Health/Publications/2018-12-04/2018-12-04-ScotSID-Report.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Public-Health/Publications/2018-12-04/2018-12-04-ScotSID-Report.pdf
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes
http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010210
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph35
http://www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk/Publications/SDS%202017.pdf
http://www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk/Publications/SDS%202017.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/healthier-future-framework-prevention-early-detection-early-intervention-type-2/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/healthier-future-framework-prevention-early-detection-early-intervention-type-2/
http://www.healthdata.org/united-kingdom-scotland
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/publications/reports-and-papers/smoking-ready-reckoner/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/publications/reports-and-papers/smoking-ready-reckoner/
https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdr033
https://publications.iarc.fr/122
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/545739/GDG_report-Jan2016.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/545739/GDG_report-Jan2016.pdf
https://www.mygov.scot/minimum-unit-pricing/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/alcohol-etc-scotland-act-2010-guidance-licensing-boards/pages/3/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/alcohol-etc-scotland-act-2010-guidance-licensing-boards/pages/3/


36 Dickie E, Mellor R, Myers F and Beeston C. Minimum Unit Pricing (MUP) Evaluation: Compliance (licensing) study. 
Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland; 2019. Available from: http://www.healthscotland.scot/publications/minimum-unit-
pricing-evaluation-compliance-study [Accessed August 2019]

37 Highland Alcohol and Drugs Partnership & NHS Highland Public Health Directorate 2018. Alcohol Overprovision 
Statement 2018. Available from: https://www.highland.gov.uk/directory_record/738772/liquor/category/500/liquor_
licence [Accessed August 2019]

38  NHS Education for Scotland. Delivery of Alcohol brief Interventions: A Competency Framework. Edinburgh: NHS 
Education for Scotland; 2010. Available from: https://www.nes.scot.nhs.uk/media/3125/Delivery_of_Alcohol_brief_
Interventions_spring_2010.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

39  National Records of Scotland. Scotland’s Census - Census Data Explorer. Available from: https://www.
scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-web/home.html [Accessed September 2019]

40  British Geriatrics Society. Fit for Frailty - consensus best practice guidance for the care of older people living in 
community and outpatient settings. London: British Geriatrics Society; 2014. Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/
sites/default/files/content/resources/files/2018-05-23/fff_full.pdf [Accessed June 2019]

41 Systems, Not Structures - Changing Health and Social Care - Available from: https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/
default/files/publications/health/expert-panel-full-report.pdf 

42  Gale CR, Cooper C, Aihie Sayer A. Prevalence of frailty and disability: findings from the English Longitudinal Study 
of Ageing. Age and Ageing. 2015;44(1): 162-165. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afu148

43  National Records of Scotland. Mid-2017 population estimates by administrative area, Scotland. 2018. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-
year-population-estimates/mid-2017 [Accessed July 2019]

44  National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - detailed tables. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-
projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 2019]

45  Stark C, Connelly P. Dementia Health Care Needs Assessment. Glasgow: Scottish Public Health Network; 2013. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4493.2807

46  Alzheimer Scotland. Statistics - Understanding the prevalence of dementia in Scotland and Dementia Incidence. 
2019. Available from: https://www.alzscot.org/our-work/campaigning-for-change/scotlands-national-dementia-
strategy/statistics

47  Alzheimer Europe. Prevalence of dementia in Europe. 2013. Available from: https://www.alzheimer-europe.org/
EN/Research/European-Collaboration-on-Dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia-in-Europe 
[Accessed June 2019]

48  Harvey RJ. The Impact of Young Onset Dementia. London: Imperial College School of Medicine; 1998. Available 
from: http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1317905/1/298764.pdf [Accessed June 2019]

49  Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for 
health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. The Lancet. 2012;380(9836): 37-43. Available 
from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60240-2

50  Scottish Government. Scotland’s National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2017. 
Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy-2017-2020/ [Accessed 
October 2019]

51  NHS Highland Dementia Strategy Group. Highland Dementia Draft Strategy 2018-2022 V5. Internal NHS Highland 
report: unpublished

Chapter Three
1  NHS Health Scotland. Health Inequalities: what are they? How do we reduce them? Edinburgh: NHS Health 

Scotland; 2016. Available from: http://www.healthscotland.scot/media/1086/health-inequalities-what-are-they-how-
do-we-reduce-them-mar16.pdf

2  McCartney G, Collins C, Mackenzie M. What (or who) causes health inequalities: theories, evidence and 
implications? Health Policy. 2013;113(3): 221-7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2013.05.021

3  Beeston C, McCartney G, Ford J, Wimbush E, Beck S, MacDonald W, and Fraser A. Health Inequalities Policy Review 
for the Scottish Ministerial Task Force on Health Inequalities. Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland; 2014. Available from: 
http://www.healthscotland.scot/publications/health-inequalities-policy-review [Accessed September 2019]

4  Awosogba T, Betancourt J, Conyers F, Estape E, Francois F, Gard S, et al. Prioritizing health disparities in medical 
education to improve care. Ann. N.Y. Acad.Sci. 2013;1287:17-30. Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12117 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 91

Page 327

https://www.highland.gov.uk/directory_record/738772/liquor/category/500/liquor_licence
https://www.highland.gov.uk/directory_record/738772/liquor/category/500/liquor_licence
https://www.nes.scot.nhs.uk/media/3125/Delivery_of_Alcohol_brief_Interventions_spring_2010.pdf
https://www.nes.scot.nhs.uk/media/3125/Delivery_of_Alcohol_brief_Interventions_spring_2010.pdf
https://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-web/home.html
https://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-web/home.html
https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/resources/files/2018-05-23/fff_full.pdf
https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/resources/files/2018-05-23/fff_full.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/expert-panel-full-report.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/health/expert-panel-full-report.pdf
https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/publications/systems-not-structures-changing-health-and-social-care-full-report
https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afu148
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2017
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2017
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4493.2807
https://www.alzscot.org/our-work/campaigning-for-change/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy/statistics
https://www.alzscot.org/our-work/campaigning-for-change/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy/statistics
https://www.alzheimer-europe.org/EN/Research/European-Collaboration-on-Dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia-in-Europe
https://www.alzheimer-europe.org/EN/Research/European-Collaboration-on-Dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia-in-Europe
http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1317905/1/298764.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60240-2
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-national-dementia-strategy-2017-2020/
http://www.healthscotland.scot/media/1086/health-inequalities-what-are-they-how-do-we-reduce-them-mar16.pdf
http://www.healthscotland.scot/media/1086/health-inequalities-what-are-they-how-do-we-reduce-them-mar16.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2013.05.021
http://www.healthscotland.scot/publications/health-inequalities-policy-review
https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12117


5  Scottish Government. Health and Social Care Delivery Plan. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2016  http://www.gov.
scot/Resource/0051/00511950.pdf

6  Scottish Government. Public Health Priorities for Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from: 
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-public-health-priorities/ [Accessed September 2019]

7  Marmot Review Team. The Health Impacts of Cold Homes and Fuel Poverty. London: Friends of the Earth & the 
Marmot Review Team; 2011. Available from: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/the-health-
impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty.pdf [Accessed October 
2019]

8 Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish D, Grady M, Geddes I. Fair society, healthy lives: The Marmot 
review; strategic review of health inequalities in England post-2010. London: The Marmot Review; 2010. Available 
from: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-
society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf

9  Jacob CM, Baird J, Barker M, Cooper C, Hanson MA. The Importance of a Life Course Approach to Health: Chronic 
Disease Risk from Preconception through Adolescence and Adulthood. 2017. Available from: https://www.who.int/
life-course/publications/importance-of-life-course-approach-to-health/en/ [Accessed September 2019]

10  Hanson MA, Cooper C, Aihie Sayer A, Eendebak RJ, Clough GF, Beard JR. Developmental aspects of a life 
course approach to healthy ageing. The Journal of Physiology. 2016;594(8): 2147-2160. Available from: https://doi.
org/10.1113/JP270579

11  Scottish Public Health Observatory. Health inequalities: data introduction. 2019. Available from: https://www.
scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/health-inequalities/data/data-introduction/ [Accessed October 2019]

12  Institute of Health Equity. Local action on health inequalities: Good quality parenting programmes and the home 
to school transition. Health Equity Evidence Review 1. Public Health England; 2014. Available from: https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355764/Review1_Early_
intervention_health_inequalities.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

13  Cotter NM. Interventions with Parents in the Early Years for improved health outcomes: A focus on behavious and 
cognitive development/school readiness. Institute of Public Health in Ireland; 2013. Available from: https://www.
researchgate.net/publication/328784186_Interventions_with_Parents_in_the_Early_Years_for_improved_health_
outcomes_A_focus_on_behaviour_and_cognitive_developmentschool_readiness [Accessed September 2019]

14  Victora C, Bahl R, Barros A, Franca G, Horton S, Krasevec J, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, 
mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet Series: Breastfeeding 1. 2016; 387 (10017) p475–490. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7 

15  World Health Organization. Special Issue: Impact of Breastfeeding on Maternal and Child Health. Acta Paediatrica. 
2015; 104, S467, Pages 1–134. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/toc/16512227/104/S467 [Accessed 
October 2019]

16  Luan N, Wu Q, Gong T, Vogtmann E et al. Breastfeeding and ovarian cancer risk: a meta-analysis of epidemiologic 
studies. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2013; 98 (4): 1020–31. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.062794 

17  Information Services Division. Body Mass Index of Primary 1 Children in Scotland - School Year 2017/18. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Child-Health/Publications/2018-12-11/2018-12-11-P1-BMI-
Statistics-Publication-Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

18  Joseph Rowntree Foundation. What is Poverty. Available from: https://www.jrf.org.uk/our-work/what-is-poverty 
[Accessed October 2019]

19  Scottish Public Health Observatory. Health Wellbeing and Disease: Screening. 2018. Available from: https://www.
scotpho.org.uk/health-wellbeing-and-disease/screening/introduction/ [Accessed October 2019]

20  NHS Health Scotland. Health Topics: Screening. 2019. Available from: http://www.healthscotland.scot/health-topics/
screening/screening-overview [Accessed October 2019]

21  Public Health England. Supporting the health system to reduce inequalities in screening: PHE Screening inequalities 
strategy. London: Public Health England; 2019. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816245/PHE_Screening_inequalities_strategy_2018__1_.pdf 
[Accessed October 2019]

22  Information Services Division. Scottish Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) Screening Programme Statistics: 
Key Performance Indicator 1.3. 2019. Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Public-Health/
Publications/2019-03-05/2019-03-05-AAA-KPIs.xlsx?12:36:42 [Accessed October 2019]

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201992

Page 328

http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0051/00511950.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0051/00511950.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-public-health-priorities/
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
https://www.who.int/life-course/publications/importance-of-life-course-approach-to-health/en/
https://www.who.int/life-course/publications/importance-of-life-course-approach-to-health/en/
https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270579
https://doi.org/10.1113/JP270579
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/health-inequalities/data/data-introduction/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/health-inequalities/data/data-introduction/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355764/Review1_Early_intervention_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355764/Review1_Early_intervention_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/355764/Review1_Early_intervention_health_inequalities.pdf
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328784186_Interventions_with_Parents_in_the_Early_Years_for_improved_health_outcomes_A_focus_on_behaviour_and_cognitive_developmentschool_readiness
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328784186_Interventions_with_Parents_in_the_Early_Years_for_improved_health_outcomes_A_focus_on_behaviour_and_cognitive_developmentschool_readiness
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328784186_Interventions_with_Parents_in_the_Early_Years_for_improved_health_outcomes_A_focus_on_behaviour_and_cognitive_developmentschool_readiness
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01024-7
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/toc/16512227/104/S467
https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.113.062794
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Child-Health/Publications/2018-12-11/2018-12-11-P1-BMI-Statistics-Publication-Report.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Child-Health/Publications/2018-12-11/2018-12-11-P1-BMI-Statistics-Publication-Report.pdf
https://www.jrf.org.uk/our-work/what-is-poverty
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/health-wellbeing-and-disease/screening/introduction/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/health-wellbeing-and-disease/screening/introduction/
http://www.healthscotland.scot/health-topics/screening/screening-overview
http://www.healthscotland.scot/health-topics/screening/screening-overview
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816245/PHE_Screening_inequalities_strategy_2018__1_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816245/PHE_Screening_inequalities_strategy_2018__1_.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Public-Health/Publications/2019-03-05/2019-03-05-AAA-KPIs.xlsx?12:36:42
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Public-Health/Publications/2019-03-05/2019-03-05-AAA-KPIs.xlsx?12:36:42


23  Davies E, Crilly M, Manson P. Factors influencing attendance at Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) Screening and 
interventions to reduce inequalities. AAA Inequalities Project Group; 2017. Available from: https://phescreening.blog.
gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/152/2018/03/Factors-influencing-AAA-screening-attendance-systematic-review.pdf 
[Accessed October 2019]

24  Information Services Division. Scottish Bowel Screening Programme. 2019. Available from: https://www.isdscotland.
org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Bowel-Screening/index.asp?Co=Y [Accessed October 2019]

25  Information Services Division. Scottish Bowel Screening Programme Key Performance Indicators. 2019. Available 
from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2019-08-06/2019-08-06-Bowel-Screening-KPI-
Report.xlsx [Accessed October 2019]

26  Information Services Division. Scottish Cervical Screening Programme: Key Annual uptake data by deprivation up 
to 31st of March 2019 by NHS Board of Residence. 2019. Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/
Cancer/Publications/2019-09-03/Cervical_Uptake_Deprivation.xlsx [Accessed October 2019]

27  Young B, Bedford L, Kendrick D, Vedhara K, Robertson J, NairYoung R. Factors influencing the decision to attend 
screening for cancer in the UK: a meta-ethnography of qualitative research. Journal of Public Health. 2018;40(2);315-
339. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdx026

28  Scottish Government. Beating Cancer: Ambition and action. Edinburgh: The Scottish Government; 2016. Available 
from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/beating-cancer-ambition-action/ [Accessed August 2019]  

29  Scottish Government. Detect Cancer Early. 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/news/detect-cancer-early/ 
[Accessed October 2019]

30  Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Online Profiles Tool v2.0 - Health Inequalities. 2019. Available from: 
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/scotpho-health-inequalities/ [Accessed August 2019].

31  Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Online Profiles Tool. 2019. Available from: https://scotland.shinyapps.
io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/ [Accessed October 2019]

32  Hunter J. Which ethnic groups have the poorest health? An analysis of health inequality and ethnicity in Scotland. 
Edinburgh: The Scottish Government; 2015. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/ethnic-groups-
poorest-health/ [Accessed October 2019]

33  Bachmann C, Gooch B. LGBT in Britain: Health Report. London: Stonewall; 2018. Available from: https://www.
stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf

34  Donkin A, Rickard W. A Fair, Supportive Society: Summary report. London: Institute of Health Equity; 2018. Available 
from: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/a-fair-supportive-society-summary-report [Accessed 
October 2019]

35  Highland Violence Against Women Partnership. Quick Guide Introduction. Available from https://www.hvawp.scot.
nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Quick-Guide-1.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

36  Brutus L, Mackie P, Millard A, Fraser A, Conacher A, Hardie S, et al. Better Health Better Lives for Prisoners:  A 
framework for improving the health of Scotland’s prisoners. Glasgow: Scottish Public Health Network; 2012. 
Available from: https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/A-framework-for-improving-the-health-of-
Scotlands-prisoners-Volume-1.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

37  Bramley G, Fitzpatrick S, Wood J, Sosenko F, Blenkinsopp J, Littlewood M, et al. Hard Edges Scotland: Mapping 
severe and multiple disadvantage. London and Glasgow: Lankelly Chase and The Robertson Trust; 2019. Available 
from: https://lankellychase.org.uk/resources/publications/hard-edges-scotland/

38  Scottish Prison Service. Prisons. Available from: https://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/Prisons/Prisons.aspx  [Accessed 
October 2019]

39  Gillies M, Knifton L, Dougall R. Prison Health in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde: A health needs assessment. NHS 
Greater Glasgow and Clyde; 2012. Available from: https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/media/226237/FINAL%20PRISON%20
HNA%20REPORT%202012.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

40  Scottish Public Health Observatory. Prisoners: key points. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.uk/
population-groups/prisoners/key-points/ [Accessed October 2019]

41  Scottish Prison Service. HMP Inverness. Available from: https://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/Prisons/Inverness/HMP-
Inverness.aspx [Accessed October 2019]

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 93

Page 329

https://phescreening.blog.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/152/2018/03/Factors-influencing-AAA-screening-attendance-systematic-review.pdf
https://phescreening.blog.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/152/2018/03/Factors-influencing-AAA-screening-attendance-systematic-review.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Bowel-Screening/index.asp?Co=Y
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Bowel-Screening/index.asp?Co=Y
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2019-08-06/2019-08-06-Bowel-Screening-KPI-Report.xlsx
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2019-08-06/2019-08-06-Bowel-Screening-KPI-Report.xlsx
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2019-09-03/Cervical_Uptake_Deprivation.xlsx
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2019-09-03/Cervical_Uptake_Deprivation.xlsx
https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdx026
https://www.gov.scot/publications/beating-cancer-ambition-action/
https://www.gov.scot/news/detect-cancer-early/
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/scotpho-health-inequalities/
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/ethnic-groups-poorest-health/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/ethnic-groups-poorest-health/
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf
https://www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/a-fair-supportive-society-summary-report
https://www.hvawp.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Quick-Guide-1.pdf
https://www.hvawp.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Quick-Guide-1.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/A-framework-for-improving-the-health-of-Scotlands-prisoners-Volume-1.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/A-framework-for-improving-the-health-of-Scotlands-prisoners-Volume-1.pdf
https://lankellychase.org.uk/resources/publications/hard-edges-scotland/
https://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/Prisons/Prisons.aspx
https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/media/226237/FINAL%20PRISON%20HNA%20REPORT%202012.pdf
https://www.nhsggc.org.uk/media/226237/FINAL%20PRISON%20HNA%20REPORT%202012.pdf
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-groups/prisoners/key-points/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-groups/prisoners/key-points/
https://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/Prisons/Inverness/HMP-Inverness.aspx
https://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/Prisons/Inverness/HMP-Inverness.aspx


Chapter Four
1  Fries JF. Aging, natural death, and the compression of morbidity. The New England Journal of Medicine. 

1980;303(23): 1369-1370. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198012043032317

2  Bergeron-Boucher M-P, Ebeling M, Canudas-Romo V. Decomposing changes in life expectancy: Compression 
versus shifting mortality. Demographic Research. 2015;33(14): 391-424. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4054/
DemRes.2015.33.14

3  Keilman N, Pham D Q, Astri S. Mortality shifts and mortality compression. The case of Norway, 1900-2060. Statistisk 
sentralbyrå Discussion Papers No. 884. 2018. Available from: http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2571220

4  Christensen K, Doblhammer G, Rau R, Vaupel JW. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. The Lancet. 
2009;374(9696): 1196-1208. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61460-4

5  Brønnum-Hansen H. Socially disparate trends in lifespan variation: a trend study on income and mortality 
based on nationwide Danish register data. BMJ Open. 2017;7: e014489. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/
bmjopen-2016-014489 

6  Stallard E. Compression of Morbidity and Mortality: New Perspectives. North American Actuarial Journal. 2016;20(4): 
341-354. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/10920277.2016.1227269 

7  Crimmins E, Beltrán-Sánchez H. Mortality and morbidity trends: Is there compression of morbidity? The Journals of 
Gerontology: Series B. 2011;66B(1): 75-86. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq088

8  Fries JF, Bruce B, Chakravarty E. Compression of Morbidity 1980-2011: A Focused Review of Paradigms and 
Progress. Journal of Aging Research. 2011;261702. Available from: https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/261702 

9  Beltrán-Sánchez H, Jiménez MP, Subramanian SV. Assessing morbidity compression in two cohorts from the Health 
and Retirement Study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2016;70:1011-1016. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/
jech-2015-206722

10  Walter S, Beltrán-Sánchez H, Regidor E. et al. No evidence of morbidity compression in Spain: a time series study 
based on national hospitalization records. International Journal of Public Health. 2016;61: 729. Available from: https://
doi.org/10.1007/s00038-016-0829-5 

11  Murray CJL, Barber RM, Foreman KJ, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) 
for 306 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 188 countries, 1990–2013: quantifying the 
epidemiological transition. The Lancet. 2015;386(10009): 2145–2191. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-
6736(15)61340-X 

12  Vos T, Barber RM, Bell B et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability 
for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global 
Burden of Disease Study 2013. The Lancet. 2015;386: 743–800. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-
6736(15)60692-4

13  Bardenheier BH, Lin J, Zhuo X, et al. Compression of disability between two birth cohorts of US adults with 
diabetes, 1992-2012: a prospective longitudinal analysis. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2016;4(8): 686–694. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30090-0

14  Chatterji S, Byles J, Cutler D, Seeman T, Verdes E. Health, functioning, and disability in older adults - present status 
and future implications. The Lancet. 2015;385: 563-575. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-
8

15  Scottish Public Health Observatory. Healthy Life Expectancy: Scotland. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotpho.
org.uk/population-dynamics/healthy-life-expectancy/data/scotland/ [Accessed October 2019]

16  Lawder R, Gordon R, Elliott V. Healthy life expectancy: technical paper (Version 11). Scottish Public Health 
Observatory, NHS Information Services (ISD), NHS Scotland, December 2017. Available from: https://www.scotpho.
org.uk/media/1584/hle-technical-paper-2017-v11.docx [Accessed October 2019]

17  National Records of Scotland. Healthy Life Expectancy in Scotland, 2015-17. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.
gov.uk/files//statistics/nrs-visual/healthy-le-15-17/healthy-le-15-17-info.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

18  Muschik D, Icks A, Tetzlaff J. et al. Morbidity compression, morbidity expansion, or dynamic equilibrium? The time 
trend of AOK-insured patients with type 2 diabetes in Lower Saxony, Germany. Journal of Public Health. 2017;25: 19. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-016-0756-1

19  Khan SS, Ning H, Wilkins JT, et al. Association of Body Mass Index With Lifetime Risk of Cardiovascular Disease 
and Compression of Morbidity. JAMA Cardiology. 2018;3(4): 280–287. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/
jamacardio.2018.0022

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201994

Page 330

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198012043032317
https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2015.33.14
https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2015.33.14
http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2571220
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61460-4
https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014489
https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014489
https://doi.org/10.1080/10920277.2016.1227269
https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbq088
https://doi.org/10.4061/2011/261702
http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech-2015-206722
http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech-2015-206722
https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-016-0829-5
https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-016-0829-5
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61340-X
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61340-X
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60692-4
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60692-4
https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30090-0
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-8
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-8
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/healthy-life-expectancy/data/scotland/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/healthy-life-expectancy/data/scotland/
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/media/1584/hle-technical-paper-2017-v11.docx
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/media/1584/hle-technical-paper-2017-v11.docx
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/nrs-visual/healthy-le-15-17/healthy-le-15-17-info.pdf
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/nrs-visual/healthy-le-15-17/healthy-le-15-17-info.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-016-0756-1
https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2018.0022
https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2018.0022


20  Ploubidis GB, Sullivan A, Brown M, Goodman A. Psychological distress in mid-life: evidence from the 1958 and 
1970 British birth cohorts. Psychological Medicine. 2017;47(2): 291-303. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/
S0033291716002464 

21  Prince MJ, Wu F, Guo Y, et al. The burden of disease in older people and implications for health policy and practice. 
The Lancet. 2015;385(9967): 549-562. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61347-7

22  Dufouil D, Beiser A, Chêne G, Seshadri S. Are Trends in Dementia Incidence Associated With Compression 
in Morbidity? Evidence From The Framingham Heart Study. The Journals of Gerontology:Series B. 2018;73(s1): 
S65-S72. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gby001

23  Townsend M. The Impact of an Ageing Population on End of Life Care Costs. PSSRU Discussion Paper 2912. 
London: Personal Social Services Research Unit, London School of Economics; 2016. Available from: https://www.
pssru.ac.uk/pub/5204.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

24  McPhail SM. Multimorbidity in chronic disease: impact on health care resources and costs. Risk Management and 
Healthcare Policy. 2016;9: 143–156. Available from: https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S97248

25  Åkerborg Ö, Lang A, Wimo A, et al. Cost of Dementia and Its Correlation With Dependence. Journal of Aging and 
Health. 2016;28(8): 1448-1464.Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264315624899

26  Bock J-O, König H-H, Brenner H, et al. Associations of frailty with health care costs - results of the ESTHER cohort 
study. BMC Health Services Research. 2016;16: 128. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1360-3

27  Lawson KD, Mercer SW, Wyke S, et al. Double trouble: the impact of multimorbidity and deprivation on preference-
weighted health related quality of life a cross sectional analysis of the Scottish Health Survey. International Journal 
for Equity in Health. 2013;12(67). Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.1186%2F1475-9276-12-67

28  Marshall A, Nazroo J, Tampubolon G, et al. Cohort differences in the levels and trajectories of frailty among older 
people in England. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2015;69: 316-321. Available from: http://dx.doi.
org/10.1136/jech-2014-204655

29  Silberman J, Wang C, Mason ST, et al. The Avalanche Hypothesis and Compression of Morbidity: Testing 
Assumptions through Cohort-Sequential Analysis. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(5): e0123910. Available from: https://doi.
org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123910

30  Thavorn K, Maxwell CJ, Gruneir A, et al. Effect of socio-demographic factors on the association between 
multimorbidity and healthcare costs: a population-based, retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2017;7: e017264. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017264

31  Cosco TD, Howse K, Brayne C. Healthy ageing, resilience and wellbeing. Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences. 
2017;26(6): 579-583. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796017000324

32  Tesch-Römer C, Wahl H-W. Toward a More Comprehensive Concept of Successful Aging: Disability and Care Needs. 
The Journals of Gerontology: Series B. 2017;72(2): 310–318. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw162

33  BanerJee S. Multimorbidity - older adults need health care that can count past one. The Lancet. 2015;385(9968): 
587-589. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61596-8

34  Gore PG, Kingston A, Johnson GR, Kirkwood TBL, Jagger C. New horizons in the compression of functional decline. 
Age and Ageing. 2018;47(6): 764-768. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy145

35  Howdon D, Rice N. Health care expenditures, age, proximity to death and morbidity: Implications for an ageing 
population. Journal of Health Economics. 2018;57: 60-74. Available from:  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.11.001 

36  Jenson K, Cornelson BM. Eco-maps: a systems tool for family physicians. Canadian Family Physician. 1987;33: 172-
177. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2218299/ [Accessed October 2019] 

37  Miller VJ, Fields NL, Adorno G, Smith-Osborne A. Using the Eco-Map and Ecosystems Perspective to Guide Skilled 
Nursing Facility Discharge Planning. Journal of Gerontological Social Work. 2017;60: 6-7. Available from: https://doi.
org/10.1080/01634372.2017.1324548 

38  Rempel G, Neufeld A, Kushner K. Interactive use of genograms and ecomaps in family caregiving research. Journal 
of Family Nursing. 2007;13(4): 403-419. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/1074840707307917 

39  Hartman A. Diagrammatic Assessment of Family Relationships. Families in Society. 1995;76: 111-122. Available from: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/104438947805900803 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 95

Page 331

https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716002464
https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716002464
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61347-7
https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gby001
https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/5204.pdf
https://www.pssru.ac.uk/pub/5204.pdf
https://doi.org/10.2147/RMHP.S97248
https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264315624899
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1360-3
https://dx.doi.org/10.1186%2F1475-9276-12-67
http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech-2014-204655
http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech-2014-204655
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123910
https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123910
https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017264
https://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796017000324
https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbw162
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61596-8
https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afy145
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.11.001
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2218299/
https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2017.1324548
https://doi.org/10.1080/01634372.2017.1324548
https://doi.org/10.1177/1074840707307917
http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/104438947805900803


40 NHS Highland. Board meeting 27 May 2018 - Item 4.7. A commissioning policy and process in relation to 
establishments delivering care to patients with medium and/or high levels of dependency. APPENDIX 1: Assessing 
the needs of individuals with high levels of dependency and care needs across NHS Highland. 2018. Available 
from: https://www.nhshighland.scot.nhs.uk/Meetings/BoardsMeetings/Documents/Board%20Meeting%20March%20
2018/4.7%20Care%20Commissioning%20Policy%20Board%20paper%20v%208%2020%2003%2018.pdf [Accessed 
September 2019

41  Kingston A, Wohland P, Wittenberg R, Robinson L, Brayne C, Matthews FE, et al. Is late-life dependency increasing 
or not? A comparison of the Cognitive Function and Ageing Studies (CFAS). The Lancet. 2017;390(10103): 1676-1684. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31575-1

42  Vaughan S, Steer C, MacPherson F. Estimating the current and future need for care for older people in Highland 
Health and Social Care Partnership by dependency status and by setting. NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence & 
Epidemiology Team; 2017.

43  Kingston A, Comas-Herrera A, Jagger C. Forecasting the care needs of the older population in England over the 
next 20 years: estimates from the Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) modelling study. The Lancet. 
2018;3(9): e447-e455. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30118-X

44  National Records of Scotland. Mid-2018 population estimates by administrative area, Scotland. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-
year-population-estimates/mid-2018 [Accessed September 2019]

45  National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - detailed tables. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-
projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 2019]

46  Scottish Government. Scottish Health Survey 2017: supplementary Tables - Part 2 - Caring. 2018. Available from: 
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Health/scottish-health-survey/Publications/Supplementary2017 
[Accessed September 2019]

47  Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe). Carers (Scotland) Bill. Briefing 15/24. 2015. Available from: http://
www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S4/SB_15-24_Carers_Scotland_Bill.pdf [Accessed 
September 2019]

48  Scottish Parliament. Carers (Scotland) Bill 2015. SP Bill 61-PM. Edinburgh: Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body; 
2015. Available from: http://www.parliament.scot/largePDFfiles/SPPB230.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

49  Scottish Government. Carer’s charter. Your rights as an adult carer or young carer in Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish 
Government; 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/carers-charter/ [Accessed September 2019]

50  Scottish Parliament. Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 - asp 9. Available from: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/9/
section/1 [Accessed September 2019]

51  Scottish Government. Strategic Framework for Action on Palliative and End of Life Care 2016-2021. Edinburgh: 
Scottish Government; 2015. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/strategic-framework-action-palliative-
end-life-care/ [Accessed September 2019]

52  NHS Highland. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2017: Realistic Medicine. Inverness: NHS Highland Public 
Health; 2017. Available from: https://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/DPH-Annual-
Report-2017-web-version.pdf [Accessed June 2019]

53  World Health Organisation. WHO fact sheet on palliative care. 2018. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/
fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care [Accessed September 2019]

54  National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. End of life care for adults Quality Standard [QS13]. NICE; 2011. Last 
updated 2017. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs13  [Accessed June 2019]

55  Scottish Government. Living and Dying Well: a national action plan for palliative and end of life care in Scotland. 
Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2008. Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/239823/0066155.pdf 
[Accessed June 2019]

56  Murtagh F, Bausewein C, Verne J, Groeneveld E, Kaloko Y, Higginson I. How many people need palliative care? A 
study developing and comparing methods for population-based estimates. Palliative Medicine. 2014;28(1): 49-58. 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216313489367

57  Information Services Division. Percentage of End of Life Spent at Home or in a Community Setting. National 
Services Scotland; 2018. https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/
Publications/2018-10-09/2018-10-09-End-of-Life-Report.pdf 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201996

Page 332

https://www.nhshighland.scot.nhs.uk/Meetings/BoardsMeetings/Documents/Board%20Meeting%20March%202018/4.7%20Care%20Commissioning%20Policy%20Board%20paper%20v%208%2020%2003%2018.pdf
https://www.nhshighland.scot.nhs.uk/Meetings/BoardsMeetings/Documents/Board%20Meeting%20March%202018/4.7%20Care%20Commissioning%20Policy%20Board%20paper%20v%208%2020%2003%2018.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31575-1
https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30118-X
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2018
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/mid-2018
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Health/scottish-health-survey/Publications/Supplementary2017
http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S4/SB_15-24_Carers_Scotland_Bill.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S4/SB_15-24_Carers_Scotland_Bill.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/largePDFfiles/SPPB230.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/carers-charter/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/9/section/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/9/section/1
https://www.gov.scot/publications/strategic-framework-action-palliative-end-life-care/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/strategic-framework-action-palliative-end-life-care/
https://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/DPH-Annual-Report-2017-web-version.pdf
https://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/DPH-Annual-Report-2017-web-version.pdf
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/palliative-care
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs13
https://www2.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/239823/0066155.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0269216313489367
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/Publications/2018-10-09/2018-10-09-End-of-Life-Report.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/Publications/2018-10-09/2018-10-09-End-of-Life-Report.pdf


58  Scottish Public Health Network. Palliative and end of life care in Scotland: The rationale for a public health 
approach. Glasgow: ScotPHN, NHS Health Scotland; 2016. Available from: https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/
uploads/2016/03/2016_02_26-PELC-FINAL.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

59  National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - detailed tables. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-
projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 2019]

60  Bollig G, Brandt F, Ciurlionis M, Knopf B. Last Aid Course. An Education For All Citizens and an Ingredient 
of Compassionate Communities. Healthcare (Basel). 2019;7(1): 19. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/
healthcare7010019

61  Bollig G, Heller A. The last aid course - A Simple and Effective Concept to Teach the Public about Palliative Care 
and to Enhance the Public Discussion about Death and Dying. Austin Palliative Care. 2016;1(2): 1010. Available from: 
https://www.letztehilfe.info/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/BolligHeller-Austin-Pall-Care-2016.pdf [Accessed October 
2019]

Chapter Five
1  NHS Highland. The Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2017: Realistic Medicine. NHS Highland Public 

Health; 2017. Available from: http://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/DPH-Annual-
Report-2017-web-version.pdf [Accessed October 2019]

2  Scottish Government. Practising Realistic Medicine: Chief Medical Officer for Scotland’s Annual Report 2016-17. 
Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/practising-realistic-
medicine/ [Accessed September 2019]

3  Scottish Government. Personalising Realistic Medicine: Chief Medical Officer for Scotland’s Annual Report 2017-18. 
Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2019. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/personalising-realistic-
medicine-chief-medical-officer-scotland-annual-report-2017-2018/ [Accessed September 2019]

4  Academy of Medical Royal Colleges. Writing outpatient clinic letters to patients (Guidance). London: Academy of 
Medical Royal Colleges; 2018. Available from: https://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Please_write_
to_me_Guidance_010918.pdf [Accessed September 2019]

Images
Cover image photo by Krisjanis Mezulis of the ‘West Highland Way’ as found on Unsplash - 
https://unsplash.com/photos/b-KPFD8eFLQ

Other photos found throughout the report have been provided by and are used under licence from the NHS Scotland 
Photo Library and Adobe Stock.

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 97

Page 333

https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/2016_02_26-PELC-FINAL.pdf
https://www.scotphn.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/2016_02_26-PELC-FINAL.pdf
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-projections/2016-based/detailed-tables
https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare7010019
https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare7010019
https://www.letztehilfe.info/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/BolligHeller-Austin-Pall-Care-2016.pdf
http://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/DPH-Annual-Report-2017-web-version.pdf
http://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/DPH-Annual-Report-2017-web-version.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/practising-realistic-medicine/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/practising-realistic-medicine/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/personalising-realistic-medicine-chief-medical-officer-scotland-annual-report-2017-2018/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/personalising-realistic-medicine-chief-medical-officer-scotland-annual-report-2017-2018/
https://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Please_write_to_me_Guidance_010918.pdf
https://www.aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Please_write_to_me_Guidance_010918.pdf
https://unsplash.com/photos/b-KPFD8eFLQ


Notes

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201998

Page 334



Notes

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 99

Page 335



Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 
 
Public Health Directorate 
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness  
IV2 7PA 
 
Publication produced and published by NHS Highland Public Health, 13 November 2019

ISBN: 978-1-901942-20-0

Page 336



The Annual Report
of the Director of
Public Health 2019

Past Present and Future Trends 
in Health and Wellbeing – 
Appendices 1-7

Page 337



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 - Appendices

Page 338



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 - Appendices

The appendices to this report contain a series of papers written by the Public Health Intelligence 
team. The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 

Highland and provide an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and population health 
information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and presentation of data 
and evidence.

The series of papers contain more detailed information about the analyses that have contributed to 
the development of the NHS Highland Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019.

Supplementary paper 1: Population changes in NHS Highland

Supplementary paper 2: Changes in how we live in NHS Highland

Supplementary paper 3: Mortality in NHS Highland

Supplementary paper 4: Life Expectancy in NHS Highland

Supplementary paper 5: Health Status in NHS Highland

Supplementary paper 6: Care dependency in the older population of NHS Highland

Supplementary paper 7: Informal care provision in NHS Highland

Page 339



 

 

 

Population changes in NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 1 to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

 

Page 340



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704939 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 

 

Page 341



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 ....................................................................... 3 
Population change ................................................................................................................. 4 
Components of population change: natural change and migration ........................................ 5 
Population ageing .................................................................................................................13 
Conclusion ...........................................................................................................................16 
References ...........................................................................................................................17 
 

 

 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

This is the first paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland Director of Public 
Health Annual Report 2019. 

A subsequent series of supporting papers are planned that will look at, generational change, 
mortality, life expectancy, morbidity, dependency and informal care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 342



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Population change 

Demographic changes in the population of NHS Highland are having a significant and 
increasing impact on the provision of health and social care services in the area as the size 
and age structure of the population changes. Many remote, rural and island communities are 
experiencing acute service challenges with ageing populations and decreasing numbers of 
people of working age. In more urban and accessible areas, particularly those of the Inner 
Moray Firth, services that were designed or evolved historically to look after smaller 
populations with younger age profiles are experiencing increasing demand from population 
growth that is compounded by population ageing. 

Figure 1: Estimated and projected change in the size of the NHS Highland population 
The latest available population projection 
for NHS Highland suggests that the total 
population of 321 thousand will decrease 
by 1.3 percent to around 318 thousand 
over the next 20 years with net migration 
numbers not sufficient to replace natural 
population loss as deaths increasingly 
exceed births over the period1,2.  

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2  

 

 

 

Within the Board area, the population of the Highland Council area is projected to continue to 
slowly grow while the number of people resident in Argyll and Bute further declines (Figure 
2). Figure 3 compares the local population trends to the other 30 Council areas in Scotland 
highlighting the major period of population growth in Highland between 2001 and 2011.  

Figure 2: Estimated and projected change in the size of the populations of Argyll and 
Bute and Highland  

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2 

Page 343



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

Figure 3: Actual, estimated and projected percentage change in the populations of the 
Council Areas of Scotland, 1981-2041 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2  

 

Components of population change: natural change and migration 

Population change is primarily the result of the interaction of two factors, natural change 
(births minus deaths) and net migration (the difference between the number of people 
coming to and leaving the area). Deaths have outnumbered births in the NHS Highland area 
since the early 1990s (Figure 4). The gap between the number of births and deaths is 
projected to increase in future years because of smaller cohorts of women of child bearing 
age, continued reductions in fertility rates and increases in the number of deaths, as larger 
cohorts in the population age.  

Future population growth is therefore dependent on a net migration balance that attracts new 
residents and retains existing population to offset what is a long-term trend in the gap 
between births and deaths (Figure 5).  

 

 

Page 344



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Figure 4: Actual and projected number of births and deaths in NHS Highland, 1991 -
2041 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2  

 

Figure 5: Natural population change and net migration in NHS Highland, 2003-04 to 
2017-18 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland3,4  

 

 

Page 345



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

Figure 6: Actual and estimated percentage change in the populations of areas within 
NHS Highland, 2001 - 2017 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland5  

The dot density map (Map 1) provides a visual impression of population change across the 
NHS Highland area. The categories are based upon the annual growth rate of the population 
over the last six year period from 2011. The dark blue areas have lost population, while the 
light blue areas saw population increase. Dots are placed randomly within small area 
geographies and each represents a single person joining or leaving the population in a year. 
At small map scales these points may overlap. 

Page 346



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

Map 1: Dot density map of population change in NHS Highland 2011-2017 

 

Data source: NHS National Services Scotland – Practitioner Services6 

 

 

 

Page 347



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   9 

As highlighted in Map 1 and Figure 6, population growth is a major driver of the need for 
service change within the wider Inverness area. Over the period between 2002 and 2018 the 
population registered with the twelve Inverness City General Practices increased by over 18 
percent. This population growth has been absorbed by the existing practice structure of the 
area that is largely concentrated in the core of Inverness City. Continued house building at 
scale is anticipated on the outskirts of the City in areas often adjacent to recently completed 
large developments7. By 2032 a further increase of the order of 13,000 people is projected 
with 70 percent of this population growth occurring in two areas of the City (Map 2). In 
addition to the impact on General Practices, the continued population growth has 
implications for a range of community services including Health Visitors, Community Nurses 
and Allied Care Professionals. The increasing population demand for primary care will also 
cause increased demand for out-of-hours care, acute hospital beds and A&E services8. 

Map 2: Inverness City General Practice Locations showing completed and future 
housing development areas 

 

Data source: NHS Highland Directorate of Public Health8 and Highland Council7 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 348



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   10 

In contrast to the population growth associated with the Inverness and Inner Moray Firth 
areas, other parts of NHS Highland are recognised as being economically and 
demographically disadvantaged. Fragile areas are a measure used by Highlands and Islands 
Enterprise (HIE) to classify rural areas for targeting resource. These are highlighted in Map 3 
and are characterised by declining population, under-representation of young people within 
the population, lack of economic opportunities, below average income levels, problems with 
transport, and other issues reflecting their geographic location9. 

Map 3: Highlands and Islands Enterprise Fragile Areas 

 

Data source: Highlands and Islands Enterprise9 

 

 

 

Page 349



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   11 

While most of the Scottish land mass is rural, most of the population lives in urban areas. 
The Scottish Government has adopted a standard definition of urban and rural settlement for 
small area statistical geographies (SGURC)10. This ascribes an urban – rural description 
across an 8-fold classification based upon settlement size and the accessibility of an area. 
The proportion of the NHS Highland population living in each category of the 8 fold typology 
is outlined below and compared to Scotland. 

Figure 7: Percentage of the population by Scottish Government Urban Rural 
Classification 2016 

 
Data Source: Scottish Government10 and National Records of Scotland11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

 1 - Large
Urban Areas

 2 - Other
Urban Areas

 3 -
Accessible

Small Towns

 4 - Remote
Small Towns

 5 - Very
Remote

Small Towns

 6 -
Accessible

Rural

 7 - Remote
Rural

 8 - Very
Remote Rural

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Scotland NHS Highland

RRURALLUURBAN

Figure 8  

Page 350



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   12 

 

 

 

Nearly 50 percent of the NHS 
Highland population lives in an area 
characterised as rural and 60 
percent live in areas that would be 
consider remote. In the current 
version of the SGURC (2016) only 
Inverness, Fort William and 
Helensburgh are included in the 
category of ‘Other urban’ 
settlements having populations of 
over 10,000 people.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

There were declines in the population of very remote towns and very remote rural areas in 
NHS Highland over the six year period from 2011. Population growth was largely in 
accessible rural and small towns within a 30 minute drive time of a settlement of 10,000 
people. Within the other urban area category that includes larger settlements, population 
growth occurred in the Inverness area over the period. 

Figure 9: Percentage change in the population of NHS Highland by SGURC, 2011 – 
2017  

 

Estimates of absolute change in population numbers shown at bar series end (rounded to nearest 100 people) 
based upon small area population estimates for data zones. 

Data Source: Scottish Government10 and National Records of Scotland11,13 

Map 4: Remote rural areas in NHS Highland 

 Data Source: Scottish 
Government10 

Page 351



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   13 

Map 5: Population distribution in NHS Highland 20196 

The differing geographic characteristics of the 
area and population distribution have important 
implications for service accessibility (Map 5). The 
natural barriers of the extensive coastline, 
mountains, lochs and islands, and the limitations 
of the transport infrastructure increase the 
peripherality of many Highland settlements. The 
location of a high number of settlements on the 
coast also reduces the potential to achieve 
economy of scale. 

Rural populations generally experience 
decreased accessibility and diminished 
availability of specialist health care services, 
particularly as distance from major urban centres 
increases and local population size decreases. 
While not unique to NHS Highland, these 
challenges often operate at the extreme within 
the area. A result is higher unit cost for services 
in very sparsely populated areas and in those 
that are distant from service centres. The 
geography and the settlement pattern of the area 
makes efforts to deliver equity of access to 
health and social care services difficult.  

Population ageing 

In 2018 the population structure of NHS Highland has fewer younger people, more older 
people and fewer people of working age than the national average. The Highland population 
is ageing, and the proportion of older people is increasing (Figure 10). 

Figure 10: Proportion of the population by age band, Scotland and NHS Highland, 2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland2 

Page 352



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   14 

Between 1998 and 2018, the 16 to 24 age group saw the largest percentage decrease (-
23.1%). The 65-74 age group saw the largest percentage increase (+67.5%) (Figure 11). 

Figure 11: Percentage change in the NHS Highland population by age group between 
1998 and 2018 

 

Data Source: National Records of Scotland14 

 

Figure 12: NHS Highland population in 1998 and 2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2 

Page 353



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   15 

All the variants of the population projections for the NHS Highland area indicate that the 
population is likely to continue to age considerably, with older individuals making up 
proportionately larger shares of the population over time1. Figure 13 shows the principal 
population projection for NHS Highland with the top heavy structure becoming increasingly 
pronounced as the ‘baby boom’ cohort approach peak ageing  

The numbers of people aged over 65 in the area is expected to be over 100,000 by 2038, an 
increase of 35 percent from 2018. In 2018 about one in ten people are aged over 75 years 
old, but by 2038 this figure will be over one in six. Figure 13 highlights the large anticipated 
increase in the population aged over 90 years old by 2038. 

Figure 13: NHS Highland population in 2018 and 2038 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2 

Increasingly the population structure includes a smaller and older workforce. Over time the 
larger cohorts at working age have themselves aged and have been replaced by smaller 
numbers of people. Consequently further potential decreases are anticipated in Potential 
Population Support Ratios (PPSRs). In Figure 14 and 15 the PPSRs are calculated as the 
number of people aged sixteen to sixty-four years divided by the sum of the number of 
children aged less than sixteen years of age and the number of people aged 65 years and 
older. The ratio of people of traditional working age to older people is expected to be lower in 
Highland than the Scottish average, and to be particularly low in Argyll & Bute. 

Page 354



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   16 

Figure 14: Actual, estimated and projected potential population support ratios of 
Scottish Councils, 1981 to 2041 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland1,2 

Within NHS Highland there are significant variations in the population structures of areas. 
The most remote and rural communities have large cohorts at older ages with limited 
numbers of people at working ages available to provide support for services (Figure 15).  

Figure 15: Population of NHS Highland by SGURC in 2017 by broad age group 
highlighting potential population support ratios 

 

Data Source: Scottish Government10 and National Records of Scotland11  

Conclusion 

Maintenance of the Highland population depends on inward migration. Deaths exceed births, 
and older people in the future are likely to have fewer younger people available to provide 
formal and informal support. 

Trends in population movement within Highland result in sparse populations in rural areas, 
with a consequent increase in unit care costs, and a marked increase in demand in more 
urban areas. 

Page 355



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   17 

References 

1. National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - 
detailed tables. 2018. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-
projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 2019]. 

2. National Records of Scotland. Population estimates time series data. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/population-estimates-
time-series-data [Accessed September 2019]. 

3. National Records of Scotland. Vital events files held by NHS Highland. 2019. 

4. National Records of Scotland. Local Area Migration 2018. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/migration/migration-statistics/local-area-migration [Accessed September 2019]. 

5. National Records of Scotland. Small Area Population Estimates - Time Series Data to 
2017. 2018. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-
population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/time-series [Accessed July 2019]. 

6. NHS National Services Scotland - Practitioner Services. Community Health Index (CHI) 
General Practice registrations at April 2019 held by NHS Highland. 2019. 

7. Highland Council. Housing land information. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.highland.gov.uk/info/205/planning_-
_policies_advice_and_service_levels/556/housing_land_information [Accessed February 
2019]. 

8. NHS Highland Directorate of Public Health. Population change in Inverness and the 
location of General Practices, Health Intelligence Team Briefing Paper. 2019. 

9. Highlands and Islands Enterprise. Review of fragile areas and employment action areas in 
the Highland and Islands. Executive Summary. 2014. Available from: 
http://www.hie.co.uk/common/handlers/download-document.ashx?id=25176545-481d-4be7-
a747-0d0e34062df3 [Accessed June 2019]. 

10. Scottish Government. Scottish Government Urban Rural Classification 2016. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-urban-rural-
classification-2016/pages/2/ [Accessed September 2019]. 

11. National Records of Scotland. Mid-2017 Small Area Population Estimates for 2011 Data 
Zones. 2018. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-
population-estimates/small-area-population-estimates/mid-2017 [Accessed September 
2019]. 

12. National Records of Scotland. Small Area Population Estimates, Mid-2011 to Mid-2014 - 
Detailed Data Zone Tables - Mid-2011. 2015. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/population/population-estimates/2011-based-special-area-population-estimates/small-
area-population-estimates/mid-2011-to-mid-2014/detailed-data-zone-tables-mid-2011 
[Accessed February 2019]. 

13. National Records of Scotland. Mid-2018 population estimates by administrative 
area, Scotland. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-
estimates/mid-2018 [Accessed September 2019]. 

  

Page 356



 

 

 

Changes in how we live in NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 2 to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

 

Page 357



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704939 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 
 

Page 358



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 ....................................................................... 3 
Changes in how we live ......................................................................................................... 4 
References ............................................................................................................................ 8 
 

 

 

 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

This is the second paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland Director of 
Public Health Annual Report 2019. 

The first report looked at the demography and population dynamics of the area using 
available population estimates and projections. A subsequent series of supporting papers are 
planned that will look at, mortality, life expectancy, morbidity, dependency and informal care. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 359



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Changes in how we live  

Demographic trends relating to ageing – falling fertility, 
falling mortality and increasing longevity – have 
important implications for the way we live in families and 
provide care and support. Low mortality rates have 
resulted in an increase in the number of living 
generations, a process referred to as ‘verticalisation’ of 

family structures. However, at the same time, postponement in childbearing, changes in 
choices about family size and an increasing number of women not having children has 
resulted in a decrease in the number of living relatives within each generation – a reduction 
in horizontal family structures1.  

Figure 1: NHS Highland total fertility rate, 1991 - 2018 

 

The total period fertility rate (TFR) is 
the average number of children per 
woman that would be born to a 
group of women if they experienced 
the current year's age specific 
fertility rates for each year of their 
childbearing years. A TFR of 2.1 
children per woman is often quoted 
as the level at which a European 
population replaces itself from one 
generation to the next, without 
migration. In Highland the TFR is 
now 1.6 (Figure 1). The trends for 
smaller numbers of children in 
families are anticipated to continue 
in the future.  

Data source: National Records of Scotland2 

At the same time that population ageing is changing family structures the way that we live as 
families is also changing with an increasing plurality of structures, roles and relationships. 
Behavioural and societal trends have seen shifts in attitudes about marriage, cohabitation, 
single parenthood, divorce and childlessness. The consequences are that families have 
become increasingly diverse, multi-generational and geographically dispersed3,4. 

The ageing of the population will increase the demands for informal care but there is limited 
evidence about how the interrelated trends contributing to an increasing complexity of family 
types will impact on the future supply of intergenerational support. Most informal care for 
older people is currently provided by partners and adult children with later life caring 
responsibilities particularly falling to women. The trends towards smaller family size suggest 
a reduction in the number of children potentially available to be the carers of the future, but 
this may be at least partially offset by increasing male life expectancy and greater numbers 
of people living longer. 

The care given by older people will be increasingly important for the families of the future. 
Longer life has already resulted in an increased probability of people having four living 
grandparents at birth, as well as at the time of transition to adulthood. The availability of 
grandparents to provide childcare helps younger people, particularly women to remain in 

The population trends are for an 
increase in the number of living 
generations, but a decrease in 
the number of living relatives.  

Page 360



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

employment or pursue educational opportunities. As workforce numbers in the population 
decrease the importance of informal care to support those directly in work will increase.  

The ageing population and the changes in the way we live in families also has implications 
for the demand for housing and particularly for housing adapted to meet the care needs of 
more older people who want to live independently at home. Over the next 25 years the 
number of households in NHS Highland is expected to increase by nearly 5 percent to 
around 156 thousand with the average household anticipated to consist of two people*. 

Figure 2: Projected percentage change in population and household numbers in 
Scotland and NHS Highland, 2016 to 2041 

 
Data source: National Records of Scotland5,6 

Particularly large increases are projected in households where the oldest person is aged 75 
years and over and also in single occupancy households (Figures 3 and 4). 

Figure 3: Estimated and projected number of households by age group in NHS 
Highland, 2016 and 2014 

 
Data source: National Records of Scotland5 

                                                
* A household is one person living alone, or a group of people (not necessarily related) living at the same address. 
A household can consist of more than one family, or no families in the case of a group of unrelated individuals. 

Page 361



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Figure 4: Estimated and projected number of households by type in NHS Highland, 
2016 and 2041 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland5 

As a consequence of population ageing and the social trends contributing to long term 
changes in family structures, it is very likely that a greater proportion of the population over 
75 years of age will live alone in the future (Figure 5). Significantly for both informal and 
formal care, very large increases are projected in the numbers living alone in their eighties 
and nineties with the majority of these people being women (Figure 6). 

Figure 5: Estimated and projected numbers of single person households by older age 
group in NHS Highland, 2016-2041 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland5 

 

 

 

Page 362



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

Figure 6: Percentage of the NHS Highland population projected to live alone by age 
band and sex in 2041 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland5 

  

Page 363



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

References 

1. Mabry BJ, Giarrusso R, Bengston VL. Generations, the Life Course, and Family Change. 
In: Scott J, Treas J, Richards M (eds.) The Blackwell Companion to the Sociology of 
Families. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2004. p. 85-108. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470999004.ch6 [Accessed September 2019]. 

2. National Records of Scotland. Births Time Series Data. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-
events/births/births-time-series-data [Accessed August 2019]. 

3. Centre for Policy on Ageing. Changing family structures and their impact on the care of 
older people. 2014. Available from: https://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-
professionals/Research/CPA-Changing_family_structures.pdf?dtrk=true [Accessed 
September 2019]. 

4. McNeil C, Hunter J. The generation strain: Collective solutions to care in an ageing 
society. Institute for Public Policy Reform (IPPR); 2014. Available from: 
https://www.ippr.org/files/publications/pdf/generation-strain_Apr2014.pdf [Accessed 
September 2019]. 

5. National Records of Scotland. Household Projections for Scotland, 2016-based. 2018. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/households/household-projections/2016-based-household-projections [Accessed 
September 2019]. 

6. National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - 
detailed tables. 2018. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-
projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 2019]. 

  

Page 364



 

 

 

 

Mortality in NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 3 to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

 

Page 365



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704939 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 

Page 366



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 ....................................................................... 3 
Mortality ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Context .............................................................................................................................. 4 
Mortality trends ...................................................................................................................... 5 
Comparative All-Cause Mortality in NHS Highland ................................................................ 7 
Causes of death .................................................................................................................... 8 
Premature mortality ..............................................................................................................13 
Avoidable mortality ...............................................................................................................15 
Winter deaths .......................................................................................................................17 
References ...........................................................................................................................22 
 

 

 

 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

This is the third paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland Director of Public 
Health Annual Report 2019. 

The first report looked at demography and population dynamics while the second considered 
increasing numbers of living generations and changes in how we live. A subsequent series of 
supporting papers are planned that will look at life expectancy, morbidity, dependency and 
informal care. 

  

Page 367



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Mortality 

Mortality data provides valuable insights into registered deaths and cause of death. This 
information can be used as an indicator of general health of an entire population. It can also 
highlight numbers of premature deaths, life expectancy and identify trends and differences 
between populations in causes of deaths. The main source of deaths data in Scotland (death 
registrations) is the National Records of Scotland1* (NRS). At the time of writing the latest 
complete year of mortality data published by NRS is for the calendar year 2018†. 

Context 

Scotland has one of the highest rates of death (mortality) in Western Europe and this is 
reflected in the country's comparatively low life expectancy2,3. As in a number of other 
countries, including England, Wales and Northern Ireland, gains in life expectancies that had 
been improving stalled in Scotland around 2012 and are now in reverse3. The status of no 
improvement or deterioration in this key indicator of population health constitutes a major 
public health concern. Assumptions based upon expectations of continuous improvement in 
population health, the case since after the Second World War, are now cast in doubt. Those 
most affected by the increases in mortality rates live in our most deprived areas and the 
consequence is further widening of the gap in health inequalities in our society3.  

The Scottish Public Health Observatory is co-ordinating work for the Directors of Public 
Health to understand these trends and to make recommendation to government about what 
should be done. There is close collaboration with equivalent bodies across the UK and 
Ireland that brings together statistical and epidemiological expertise4,5.  

The analysis to date highlights that nationally, men and women, most age groups and almost 
every cause of death have been affected by these trends. In particular the improvement in 
deaths from circulatory causes such as stroke and coronary heart disease that had been the 
major drivers of life expectancy improvement have dropped to a much lower level in recent 
years. Additionally, drug related deaths have been increasing rapidly in Scotland, particularly 
amongst an established cohort of users aged 35-55 years. The impact of influenza on the 
trends remains unclear but there were particularly severe flu seasons in 2015 and 2018 with 
an excess of winter deaths recorded in these years6-8. Deaths attributed to dementia have 
increased as the population ages. Detailed causes of death are discussed later. 

It is much easier to describe these current trends than to explain why these changes are 
occurring. Life expectancy has continued to improve in other countries whose populations 
already experience additional years of life compared to Scotland. This indicates that a natural 
limit in life span has not been reached in Scotland. The best evidence currently available 
suggests that the recent Scottish mortality trends are due to austerity and pressures on 
health and social care services that have particularly affected people who live in deprived 
areas4. This suggests that the observed downward trends are not irreversible, but much 
more needs to be done to address the social determinants of health that create such 
inequalities. 
                                                

* The National Records of Scotland (NRS) is a non-ministerial department of the devolved Scottish 
Government responsible for producing statistics about Scotland’s population. 

† In this chapter we follow national reporting conventions for death data that provide figures on the 
basis of the underlying cause of death. The underlying cause of death is defined as the disease or 
injury which initiated the chain of events leading directly to death, or the accident /act that produced 
the fatal injury. For deaths registered from the 1st of January 2000, the causes of death are coded 
with the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (Tenth 
Revision) which is commonly referred to as ICD-10.  

Page 368



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

Mortality trends  

To explore all-cause mortality trends over time and to adjust for changes in the age 
distribution of the population, directly age standardised death rates were calculated with the 
2013 European Standard Population (Figure 1). If two area populations have different age 
distributions, a comparison of the number of deaths and their crude rates (calculated by 
dividing the total number of deaths by the total population) may be misleading9.  

Figure 1: Deaths from all causes (all ages), directly age standardised rates per 
1000,000 population for Local Authorities and Scotland, 2006-2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland10 

All-cause mortality rates in Argyll and Bute and Highland are generally very similar and both 
areas have been consistently lower than that of Scotland over the period. The slowdown in 
the national rate of improvement can be seen in the data from 2012 onwards. The trends for 
the Local Authority areas of NHS Highland, while showing greater annual variation, largely 
mirror the national trend from 2012 with no recent improvement in mortality. 

Figure 2 shows that over the period 2006 to 2018 the absolute number of deaths in the NHS 
Highland area increased while the age adjusted all-cause mortality rate improved. The 
increase in the absolute number of deaths would be anticipated to continue given that larger 
cohorts of people are moving into older age ranges. However, as discussed above, the 
trajectory of recent mortality rates is a major concern indicating additional deaths and years 
of life lost.  

In 2018 there were over 3,750 deaths to NHS Highland residents with 1,121 deaths recorded 
for the Argyll & Bute area and 2,666 in Highland. 

 

Page 369



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Figure 2: NHS Highland - number of deaths from all causes (all ages) and directly age 
standardised rates per 100,000 population, 2006-2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland10 

Male and female mortality rates in NHS Highland are both consistently lower than those 
nationally and both exhibit the pattern of the slowdown in improvement observed. Males 
continue to die at younger ages and the age standardised death rate for men in NHS 
Highland is still 25 percent higher. 

Figure 3: Deaths from all causes (all ages) by gender, directly age standardised rates 
per 100,000 population for NHS Highland and Scotland. 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland10 

Page 370



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

Comparative All-Cause Mortality in NHS Highland 

Figure 4 reports the all cause and all age mortality rates across 79 intermediate geographies‡ 
in NHS Highland ranked by an indicator of income deprivation from the Scottish Index of 
Multiple Deprivation 2016 for the three year period 2015 to 201711,12. There are higher 
mortality rates in more deprived areas in NHS Highland consistent with the evidence for 
systematic differences in health between people in poorer and in more affluent communities. 
The extreme outlying point with the highest mortality rate is the Merkinch area of Inverness.  

Figure 4: Variation in age and sex adjusted all-cause (all ages) mortality rates per 
100,000 population in the period 2015-2017 across NHS Highland intermediate 
geographies associated with income deprivation 

 

Data Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory11 and Scottish Government12 

 

Between 2011-2013 and 2015-2017 all cause and all age mortality in the Merkinch area 
increased by 30 percent to a rate of 1,824 per 100,000 population. In absolute terms this is 
an increase of eight deaths a year compared to the period 2011-2013. Other than Merkinch, 
the Inverness Ballifeary & Dalneigh area also shows a significant increase above the 
Highland average with the all age and all-cause mortality rate for the other most deprived 
areas in NHS Highland showing no significant improvements (Figure 5). 

Premature rates of death in those aged under 75 years of age are also higher in the poorer 
areas of NHS Highland as shown in figure 14 below. 

                                                

‡ There are 79 intermediate geographies in NHS Highland – areas with a population between 2,300 and 6,900 
with an average population of 4,100. These areas are ‘intermediate’ between small areas such as data zones and 
larger areas such as Local Authority areas.   

Page 371



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

Figure 5: Age and sex adjusted all-cause (all ages) mortality rates per 100,000 
population in the periods 2011-2013 and 2015-2017 across the most 10 income 
deprived NHS Highland intermediate geographies  

 

Data Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory11 and Scottish Government12 

Causes of death 

Leading causes of death 
The leading cause of death in 2018 in NHS Highland was ischaemic heart disease, which 
accounted for 11.8% of all deaths. This was closely followed by dementia and Alzheimer’s 
disease which accounted for 11.2% of deaths. The leading cause differed by sex, with 
females being most likely to die from dementia and Alzheimer’s disease (14.4% of female 
deaths) and males most likely to die from ischaemic heart disease (13.4% of male deaths). 

The leading cause of death analysis is based on causes categorised by the World Health 
Organisation (WHO)13,14. There are over 60 categories in total and cancers are grouped 
according to site. This means that lung; breast and bowel are assigned and counted 
separately. If all cancers are grouped together, cancer would account for the largest cause of 
death. 

Page 372



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   9 

Figure 6: NHS Highland - leading causes of death, 2018  

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland15 

In NHS Highland Ischaemic heart disease was the leading cause in 2000 and 2018 but 
numbers have almost halved over the period. Dementia and Alzheimer’s deaths were three 
times greater in 2018 than in 2000, making them the second most common cause of death in 
2018. Cerebrovascular disease deaths have fallen by almost 40%. Lung cancer was the 
fourth most common cause of death in 2018. Influenza and pneumonia was fifth in 2000 but 
dropped to sixth by 2018. 

Figure 7: NHS Highland - change in the leading causes of death, 2000 -2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland15 

Page 373



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   10 

Causes of death vary greatly by age, with external causes of death being the major reason 
for death in younger age ranges, as discussed further below. Cancer, ischaemic heart 
disease and stroke are increasingly the cause of death in those aged 45 years and over with 
dementia and Alzheimer’s disease for those aged 75 year and older. 

Figure 8: NHS Highland - number of deaths by age group, 2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland15 

External causes accounted for about 7% of all deaths in NHS Highland in 2018. Within this 
grouping, deaths from intentional self-harm and accidental poisoning are more common in 
younger adults than in older adults while injury from falls dominate deaths in older adults.  

Figure 9: Number of deaths in NHS Highland from external causes in NHS Highland by 
broad age group, 2018 

  

Data source: National Records of Scotland15 

Page 374



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   11 

Age-standardised mortality rates by selected cause, 2006-2018 

The number of cancer deaths has increased over time (Figure 10). Age-standardised cancer 
death rates have decreased, so the higher numbers of deaths are mainly a result of larger 
proportions of older people in the population. Death rates from circulatory diseases have 
reduced greatly and have substantially driven improvement in all-cause mortality rates over 
the last thirty years (Figure 11). Rates in NHS Highland have continued to reduce in recent 
years, but as with the national rate the improvement has slowed. The age-standardised 
death rates for respiratory diseases at all ages have not altered dramatically over the period. 
The largest increase in rates has been in ‘other’ causes of death. This change reflects the 
considerable increase in dementia and Alzheimer’s deaths, particularly in those aged over 85 
years of age, and in deaths from external causes as noted earlier. Deaths from external 
causes that tend to occur at younger ages have greater impact on mortality rates and life 
expectancy.  

Page 375



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   12 

Figure 10: NHS Highland -selected causes of death, numbers and age-standardised 
rates, 2008, 2013 and 2018 

  All  Under75  

Cause Year Number 
of  

deaths 

Age 
standardised  

death rate 

Number 
of  

deaths 

Age 
standardised  

death rate 

All 2008 3458 1188.1 1323 448.8 

 2013 3353 1035.3 1199 377.2 

 2018 3787 1076 1343 400.2 

      
Cancer C00-C97 2008 954 309.1 494 166 

 2013 1024 303 482 148.1 

 2018 1034 280.9 497 143.3 

      
Circulatory I00-I99 2008 1127 393.7 321 108.1 

 2013 1026 320 288 89.7 

 2018 1014 287.2 266 76.3 

      
Respiratory J00-
J99 

2008 381 136.8 94 32.4 

 2013 377 119.3 95 29.3 

 2018 435 123.9 110 31.1 

      
Other 2008 996 348.5 414 142.2 

 2013 926 293 334 110.1 

 2018 1304 384.1 470 149.6 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland10 

Page 376



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   13 

Figure 11: NHS Highland - age-standardised mortality rates for select cause, 2006-
2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland10 

 

Premature mortality 

Premature mortality is a national quality outcome indicator that is based on the age-
standardised mortality rate (using the European Standard Population) per 100,000 people 
aged less than 75 years.  

Around 1,300 people in NHS Highland died before the age of 75 in 2018. Premature mortality 
in NHS Highland was 16 percent lower in 2018 than it was in 2006, falling from a rate of 475 
per 100,000 people in 2006 to 400 per 100,000 people in 2018 (Figure 12). However, from 
2013 there has been a reversal in the trend in improvement with rates in 2018 at their highest 
level since 2011. 

  

Page 377



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   14 

Figure 12: NHS Highland under 75 years of age and age-standardised all-cause 
mortality rate per 100,000 population and number of deaths 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland9,10 

Nationally, in the period 2006-2018, the premature mortality rate fell by 17 percent (Figure 
13). Figure 13 also shows the change over time by NHS Highland constituent council area. 
Both areas have premature mortality rates that are consistently lower than the national rate, 
but the reductions in mortality observed in the early part of this period have not been 
sustained in more recent years. 

Figure 13: Age-standardised all-cause mortality rate per 100,000 population (under 
75s) for residents of Highland council area, Argyll and Bute council area and Scotland 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland9 

Page 378



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   15 

Premature mortality rates remain consistently higher in the most deprived areas of NHS 
Highland over time (Figure 14) with rates 1.75 times higher in the most deprived areas 
compared to the least deprived16. The Global Burden of Disease project has investigated 
premature mortality, disability and risk factors across the UK and found that half of all 
premature deaths are linked to factors such as alcohol and drug use, obesity, tobacco, diet, 
low physical activity and high blood pressure. These risk factors are known to correlate 
closely with deprivation17.  

Figure 14: Differences in all-cause premature mortality between deprivation groups in 
NHS Highland 

 

Data source: ScotPHO online profiles tool16 

 

Avoidable mortality 

Avoidable§ and premature mortality are closely related indicators of population health; for 
most causes of death considered as avoidable there is an upper age limit of 74 years. These 
deaths are considered avoidable in the presence of ‘timely and effective healthcare’ or ‘public 
health interventions’11,12. Included in the list are deaths from conditions such as heart 
disease, some cancers, respiratory diseases and type 2 diabetes – where lifestyle and 
environment may have contributed to early death. The list also includes those deaths that 
could have been prevented such as HIV/AIDS, accidental and self-inflicted injuries, rubella 
and various infections and drug use disorders18. 

                                                

§ The measures of avoidable mortality presented in this report use the definitions and ICD10 codes 
developed by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) for their statistical bulletin ‘Avoidable mortality in 
the UK’18. There are a number of differences in the measure of avoidable mortality calculated by ONS 
and NRS. NRS include deaths of non-residents of Scotland and neonatal deaths. These are excluded 
from the ONS methodology and in our local calculations19. 

Page 379



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   16 

A particular condition may be avoidable, but this does not imply that every death from that 
condition can be prevented. Factors such as lifestyle, age of the person, the extent of 
disease progression at diagnosis and the potential contribution of other medical conditions 
are not taken into account by the metric. 

NHS Highland has a lower rate of avoidable deaths compared to Scotland (Figure 15). 

Figure 15: Avoidable mortality European age-sex standardised rates (EASR) per 
100,000 population for residents of Argyll & Bute, Highland, NHS Highland and 
Scotland in 2016 

 

Data source: NHS National Services Scotland20 

In 2018 in NHS Highland, 972 deaths (a quarter of all deaths) were classified as avoidable; 
61 percent were male. Around a third of all male deaths in NHS Highland were counted as 
avoidable (597 out of 1,830 or 33 percent) in 2018, compared with a little under a fifth of 
female deaths (375 out of 1,955 or 19 percent). The difference between the sexes arises in 
part because women live longer than men and only a small proportion of deaths aged 75 or 
older are included in the definition. 

Page 380



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   17 

Figure 16: Number and cumulative percentage of avoidable deaths of residents of NHS 
Highland by sex and broad category of cause, 2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland15 

Winter deaths 

More people die in the winter than in the summer with women, the elderly and those with 
underlying health conditions at greater risk8. Both temperature and levels of influenza in the 
population are important predictors of additional winter deaths but the relationship between 
these factors and mortality is complicated21. Temperature only explains a small amount of the 
annual variance in winter mortality and higher levels of death can occur during relatively mild 
winters22.  

Colder weather directly contributes to increased risk of death due to falls, fractures and road 
traffic accidents and indirectly by worsening existing chronic conditions, particularly 
circulatory complaints and respiratory diseases. The level of influenza circulating in the 
population increases in the winter and in vulnerable groups, influenza can lead to life 
threatening complications such as bronchitis or secondary bacterial pneumonia8,23,24. 
Conditions directly relating to cold, such as hypothermia are rarely the main cause of death8. 

An excess of all-cause winter mortality, particularly in the elderly, was recorded nationally in 
2014-15 and in 2017-18 with moderate to high level of influenza activity observed in the 
population25.  

The long term winter mortality trend in Scotland has been generally downward (shown in 
Figure 17 by the 5-year moving average series), but the annual difference has fluctuated in 
recent years. There were about 4,800 ‘additional’ deaths in Scotland during winter 2017/18 
which is the largest values since 1999/2000 when there were 5,190 additional deaths**. The 
figure of 1,420 deaths in 2011/2012 was the lowest of the whole series. 

                                                

** The seasonal increase in mortality in the winter is measured by National Records of Scotland (NRS) 
as the difference between the number of deaths in the four month ‘winter’ period (December to March, 
inclusive) and the average number of deaths in the two periods before and after8. 

Page 381



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   18 

Figure 17: Seasonal increase in mortality all ages (all causes) in the winter in 
Scotland, 1951/52 to 2017/18 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland8  

In NHS Highland the additional winter mortality trend is subject to considerable annual 
variation. The recent upward direction is heavily influenced by the higher number of deaths in 
the last three years. 

Figure 18: Seasonal increase in mortality all ages (all causes) in the winter in NHS 
Highland, 2000-2001 to 2017-2018 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland8 

 

 

 

Page 382



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   19 

Over this three year period there have an average of an additional 234 deaths in the winter.  

Figure 19: Seasonal increase in winter deaths in NHS Highland – Average of 3 years 
2015/16 to 2017/18 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland8 

The increase in the number of additional winter deaths in more recent periods in NHS 
Highland has largely been driven by the increase in the death rate of those aged over 75 
years of age (Figure 20). 

Figure 20: Annual seasonal increase in additional winter deaths per 1000 population†† 
by broad age group – average over 3 years 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland8 

                                                

†† Calculated at the mid-year before the winter – there is a minor discrepancy between the numerator 
and denominator, because they cover slightly different populations. However, this should not greatly 
affect the rates or main patterns. 

Page 383



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   20 

People in the 75 and over age groups accounted for over 81 percent (n=190) of all additional 
winter deaths on average in the period 2015/16 to 2017/18. Over 50 percent (n=123) of all 
additional winter deaths in the same period were amongst the population aged 85 and over 
(Figure 21). 

Figure 21: Number of additional winter deaths in NHS Highland by age group (3 year 
average - 2015/16 to 2017/18) 

 

Data source: National Records of Scotland8 

A large share of excess winter death is attributable to the preventable problem of living in a 
cold home. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) has recognised 
excess winter deaths and illness, and the health risks associated with cold homes as a 
priority for health and social care26. 

Poor energy performance in homes that are difficult 
and / or expensive to heat particularly exacerbate 
the risks of respiratory and circulatory problems 
and poor mental health making a significant 
contribution to the number of excess winter 
deaths27. Those who are already vulnerable such 
as young children, older people and those with pre-
existing health problems will be particularly 
susceptible to cold.  With lower income households 
more likely to be at risk of fuel poverty than high 
income households, this is likely to contribute to 
social and health inequalities27,28.  

Public Health England cite studies that indicate 10 
percent of excess winter deaths are directly 
attributable to fuel poverty, and a fifth are 
attributable to the coldest quarter of homes27. 
These estimates are regarded as conservative by 
the authors and the World Health Organisation 
suggest that 30 percent is the best estimate of 
excess winter deaths that can be considered as 
attributable to cold housing conditions in Europe.  

NICE guidance26 
Public health and other goals served 
by reducing risk of death and ill health 
associated with living in a cold home. 

 Reducing preventable excess 
winter deaths 

 Improving health and wellbeing 
among vulnerable groups 

 Reducing pressure on health and 
social care services 

 Reducing fuel poverty and the risk 
of fuel debt or being disconnected 
from energy supply 

 Improving the energy efficiency of 
homes and reducing unnecessary 
energy consumption 

Page 384



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   21 

These different measures of excess winter deaths are overlapping. However, based on the 
average number of 234 excess winter deaths that were observed in NHS Highland over the 
last three year period, this would suggest that there are currently about 20 deaths a year 
attributable to fuel poverty, 40 deaths a year in the coldest quarter of homes and 60 deaths 
each winter from living in cold housing conditions.  

Figure 20 indicates that people aged 75 years and over are subject to the greatest increase 
in excess winter deaths of any age group. There should be concerns that with continued 
population ageing that there is the potential for a significant increase in the number of people 
who are vulnerable to cold living conditions and at risk of avoidable winter death.  

Winter deaths attributable to cold homes are just one part of a picture that encompasses 
opportunities to improve public health. In the majority of cases there are preventative 
measures that can be taken to avoid such outcomes. The NICE guidance highlights the 
opportunities to best identify those who may be vulnerable in periods of cold weather and 
how to best look after those who are in contact with health, social care and housing 
services26. 

  

Page 385



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   22 

References 

1. National Records of Scotland. Vital Events - General Background Information. 2019. 
Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/vital-events/general-background-information [Accessed September 2019]. 

2. National Records of Scotland. Variation in life expectancy between areas in Scotland. 
2017. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/news/2017/variation-in-life-expectancy-
between-areas-in-scotland [Accessed June 2019]. 

3. Fenton L, Minton J, Ramsay J, Kaye-Bardgett M, Fischbacher C, Wyper GMA, et al. 
Recent adverse mortality trends in Scotland: comparison with other high-income countries. 
bioRxiv. 2019; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1101/542449. 

4. Scottish Public Health Observatory. Recent Mortality Trends. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/ [Accessed August 
2019]. 

5. Scottish Public Health Network. Public Health Mortality Monitoring. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.scotphn.net/groups/public-health-mortality-monitoring/mortality-sig-introduction/ 
[Accessed August 2019]. 

6. Ramsay J, Minton J, Fischbacher C, Fenton L, Kaye-Bardgett M, Wyper GMA, et al. How 
have changes in death by cause and age group contributed to the recent stalling of life 
expectancy gains in Scotland? Comparative decomposition analysis of mortality data, 2000-
02 to 2015-17. SocArXiv. 2019; Available from: https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/q8rme. 

7. National Records of Scotland. Drug-related deaths in Scotland 2018. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-
events/deaths/drug-related-deaths-in-scotland/2018 [Accessed August 2019]. 

8. National Records of Scotland. Winter Mortality in Scotland 2017/18. 2018. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/winter-mortality/2018/winter-mortality-17-18-
pub.pdf [Accessed August 2019]. 

9. National Records of Scotland. Age-standardised death rates calculated using the 
European Standard Population. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-
events/deaths/age-standardised-death-rates-calculated-using-the-esp [Accessed August 
2019]. 

10. National Records of Scotland. Deaths Time Series Data. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/vital-
events/deaths/deaths-time-series-data [Accessed August 2019]. 

11. Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Online Profiles Tool v2.0. 2019. Available 
from: https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/ [Accessed August 2019]. 

12. Scottish Government. The Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016. 2019. Available 
from: https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/SIMD [Accessed May 2019]. 

13. National Records of Scotland. Causes of Death - summary lists. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files/statistics/vital-events/ve-deaths-Causes-summarylists.pdf 
[Accessed September 2019]. 

14. World Health Organization. Classifications. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.who.int/classifications/en/ [Accessed September 2019]. 

15. National Records of Scotland. Vital events files held by NHS Highland. 2019. 

Page 386



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   23 

16. Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Online Profiles Tool v2.0 - Health 
Inequalities. 2019. Available from: https://scotland.shinyapps.io/scotpho-health-inequalities/ 
[Accessed August 2019]. 

17. Steel N, Ford JA, Newton JN, Davis ACJ, Vos T, Naghavi M, et al. Changes in health in 
the countries of the UK and 150 English Local Authority areas 1990–2016: a systematic 
analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet. 2018;392(10158): 1647-
1661. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32207-4. 

18. Office for National Statistics. Avoidable mortality in the UK: 2017. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/
bulletins/avoidablemortalityinenglandandwales/2017 [Accessed June 2019]. 

19. Information Services Division. NSS Discovery - metadata - Avoidable Mortality. 2017. 
Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Products-and-
Services/Discovery/Metadata/AvoidableMortality.pdf [Accessed August 2019]. 

20. NHS National Services Scotland. Discovery [information system for approved NHS 
users]. 2019. Available from: https://www.nssdiscovery.scot.nhs.uk/ [Accessed August 2019]. 

21. Office for National Statistics. Excess Winter Mortality in England and Wales: 2017 to 
2018 (provisional) and 2016 to 2017 (final). 2018. Available from: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bu
lletins/excesswintermortalityinenglandandwales/2017to2018provisionaland2016to2017final 
[Accessed August 2019]. 

22. Brown G, Fearn V, Wells C. Exploratory analysis of seasonal mortality in England and 
Wales, 1998 to 2007. Health Statistics Quarterly 48. Office for National Statistics; Winter 
2010. p. 1-23. Available from: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/hsq/health-statistics-
quarterly/no--48--winter-2010/exploratory-analysis-of-seasonal-mortality-in-england-and-
wales.pdf [Accessed August 2019]. 

23. Public Health England. Seasonal influenza: guidance, data and analysis. 2014. Available 
from: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/seasonal-influenza-guidance-data-and-
analysis [Accessed August 2019]. 

24. Health Protection Scotland. Influenza. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.hps.scot.nhs.uk/a-to-z-of-topics/influenza/ [Accessed August 2019]. 

25. Public Health England. Surveillance of influenza and other respiratory viruses in the UK: 
Winter 2017 to 2018. 2018. Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat
a/file/740606/Surveillance_of_influenza_and_other_respiratory_viruses_in_the_UK_2017_to
_2018.pdf [Accessed August 2019]. 

26. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Preventing excess winter deaths and 
illness associated with cold homes. Quality standard [QS117]. 2016. Available from: 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs117 [Accessed October 2019]. 

27. Institute of Health Equity. Local action on health inequalities: Fuel poverty and cold 
home-related health problems. Health Equity Evidence Review 7. London: Public Health 
England; 2014. Available from: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_dat
a/file/357409/Review7_Fuel_poverty_health_inequalities.pdf [Accessed October 2019]. 

28. Marmot Review Team UCL and Friends of the Earth. The Health Impacts of Cold Homes 
and Fuel Poverty. 2011. Available from: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-
reports/the-health-impacts-of-cold-homes-and-fuel-poverty/the-health-impacts-of-cold-
homes-and-fuel-poverty.pdf [Accessed October 2011]. 

  

Page 387



 

 

 

Life Expectancy in NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 4 to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

 

Page 388



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704813 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 

Page 389



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 ....................................................................... 3 
Life Expectancy ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Trends in life expectancy at birth ........................................................................................... 4 
Life expectancy at age 65 ...................................................................................................... 5 
Inequalities in life expectancy ................................................................................................ 6 
Comparison with other areas ................................................................................................. 8 
Healthy life expectancy.......................................................................................................... 9 
Recent life expectancy trends...............................................................................................10 
References ...........................................................................................................................11 
 

 

 

 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

This is the fourth paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland Director of Public 
Health Annual Report 2019. 

The first report looked at demography and population dynamics, the second considered 
increasing numbers of living generations and changes in how we live while the third reviewed 
mortality. Subsequent supporting papers will look at morbidity, dependency and informal 
care. 

  

Page 390



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Life Expectancy 

Life expectancy is an important summary measure of the health of the population, reflecting 
the mortality rates experienced in a population over a given period of time. There are a 
number of measures commonly used to describe life expectancy. Life expectancy at birth is 
an estimate of the number of years a newborn child would live if they experienced current 
mortality rates throughout their life, while healthy life expectancy is an estimate of how many 
years they could expect to live in good health1. Both measures reflect the mortality trends 
discussed in the previous paper. 

Trends in life expectancy at birth 

The most recent estimates for 2015-2017 show that life expectancy at birth in NHS Highland 
was 77.6 years for men and 82.5 years for women (Figure 1). Life expectancy in NHS 
Highland has steadily increased over time for both males and females, with only minor 
variation from year to year. However, in line with Scotland, the rate of improvement in life 
expectancy has recently stalled, with decreases observed in male life expectancy between 
2013-2015 and 2015-2017 and female life expectancy between 2014-2016 and 2015-2017. 
Although female life expectancy has always been higher than male life expectancy, male life 
expectancy has increased faster than that for females. The gap in life expectancy between 
males and females has narrowed from 7.7 years in 1981-83 to 4.8 years in 2015-17. 
 
Figure 1: Life expectancy at birth, NHS Highland and Scotland, 1981-83 to 2015-17 

 
Source: National Records of Scotland, Life expectancy for administrative areas within Scotland Time 
series data by NHS Board2  

Page 391



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

Life expectancy at age 65 

Similar to life expectancy at birth, the trend in life expectancy at age 65 years has also been 
increasing. In 2015-2017, males resident in NHS Highland aged 65 years lived a further 18.0 
years (up from 13.8 years in 1991-1993) and females an additional 20.7 years (up from 17.6 
years in 1991-1993). 
 
There are some differences in life expectancy trends at age 65 in Highland and Argyll and 
Bute council areas (Figure 2). In Highland, life expectancy for men aged 65 years in 2015-
2017 was 18.3 years, while women of this age could expect to live for an additional 20.8 
years. In Argyll and Bute, life expectancy for men and women aged 65 years was 17.5 years 
and 20.7 years respectively. 
 
There is a notable difference in the rate of improvement in male life expectancy at age 65 
years between 1991-93 and 2015-17. The increase over the period was 4.5 years in 
Highland compared with 3.7 years in Argyll and Bute. This means that the gap in male life 
expectancy between both council areas has increased from 0.1 year in 1991-93 to 0.7 years 
in 2015-17. 
 
Figure 2: Life expectancy at age 65 years, Highland and Argyll and Bute, 1991-93 to 
2015-17  

 
Source: National Records of Scotland, Life expectancy for administrative areas within Scotland Time 
series data by council area3 

  

Page 392



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Inequalities in life expectancy  

While life expectancy overall has increased, there has been little improvement in health 
inequalities (Figure 3). In 2011-2015 the difference in life expectancy between the least 
deprived and the most deprived areas in Argyll and Bute was 6.0 years for men (78.8 years 
compared to 72.8 years) and 4.1 years for women (82.4 years compared to 78.3 years). In 
Highland, the gap was 6.5 years for men and 5.2 years for women (78.6 years compared to 
72.1 years and 83.1 years compared to 77.9 years respectively). People living in the most 
deprived areas are only just approaching the levels of life expectancy that those in the least 
deprived areas experienced in two decades ago4. 

Figure 3: Life expectancy at birth split by level of deprivation (where MD=most 
deprived 15% and LD = least deprived 85%), Highland and Argyll and Bute, 2011-2015 

 
Source: National Records of Scotland, Life Expectancy in Scottish Council areas split by deprivation 
2003-2007 to 2011-20154 
Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals around life expectancy estimates 

 

A comparison of life expectancy at birth for small areas in NHS Highland for the five-year 
period 2013 to 2017 is shown in Figure 4. Life expectancy varies markedly according to the 
deprivation levels in the areas people live. In 2013-2017, male life expectancy was highest in 
Nairn Rural (84.7 years) and lowest in Inverness Merkinch (68.4 years). For females, life 
expectancy was highest in Cowal South (87.6 years) and lowest in Inverness Merkinch (77.2 
years). These estimates represent a life expectancy gap of 16.3 years and 10.4 years for 
men and women respectively. Female estimates for two areas (Inverness Inshes and 
Inverness Drakies) are not available due to the small number of deaths in the period. 

Page 393



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

Figure 4: Estimated life expectancy at birth by intermediate zone; NHS Highland, 2013 
to 2017  

 
Source: Scottish Public Health Observatory online profiles tool5  
Ranked in ascending order of income deprivation, least deprived to most deprived.  Female values for Inverness 
Inshes and Inverness Drakies not shown due to small number of events in the five year period 

Page 394



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

Comparison with other areas 

A comparison of life expectancy at birth across local authority areas in the UK in the three-
year period 2015 to 2017 is shown in Figure 5. The area with the highest life expectancy for 
males was the Hampshire district of Hart at 83.3 years. For females, the London Borough of 
Camden had the highest life expectancy at birth at 86.5 years. Glasgow City had the lowest 
life expectancy at birth for both males and females at 73.3 years and 78.7 years respectively. 
 
In Argyll and Bute and Highland, male life expectancy is doing comparatively worse than 
female life expectancy when compared with the rest of the United Kingdom. Among the 389 
local authority areas in 2015-2017, Argyll and Bute was ranked 288th for female life 
expectancy but only 345th for male life expectancy, where rank 389 represents the lowest life 
expectancy. Similarly, Highland was ranked 329th for male life expectancy and 249th for 
female life expectancy. 
 
A similar pattern is observed for male and female life expectancy in Argyll and Bute and 
Highland when compared with the rest of Scotland alone. In 2015-2017, Highland females 
ranked 5th highest and males ranked 16th among the 32 local authority areas in Scotland. In 
Argyll and Bute the relative ranking of life expectancy was 12th for females and 17th for 
males. 
 
Figure 5: Life expectancy at birth by sex across local authorities in the UK, 2015-17  

 
Source: Office for National Statistics6 
Local areas include lower tier local authorities (LTLAs) in England, unitary authorities in Wales, council areas in 
Scotland and local government districts in Northern Ireland 
 

Page 395



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   9 

Healthy life expectancy 

Healthy life expectancy measures the difference between overall life expectancy and the 
number of years a person could expect to live in good health. By default, the difference 
between the two provides an estimate of the number of years a person could expect to live in 
poor health. 
 
In 2015-17, healthy life expectancy at birth in NHS Highland for males was 65.6 years and 
for females was 63.1 years. A male could expect to live for a further 12.1 years in poor health 
compared to a further 19.3 years for females. Females therefore spent a greater proportion 
of life in poor health, 23.5 years compared to 15.5 years respectively. Figure 6 shows that 
there was more variation in healthy life expectancy in males than females in 2015-17.  
 
Figure 6: Healthy life expectancy at birth, selected areas, 2015-17  

 
Source: National Records of Scotland, Healthy life expectancy in Scottish Areas 20157 

 
A comparison of life expectancy, healthy life expectancy and the proportion of remaining life 
expected to be in poor health for men and women of different ages in NHS Highland is 
shown in Figure 7. Although females live longer than males, in 2015 to 2017 there was little 
difference in healthy life expectancy between the sexes. Females, therefore, spent more 
years in poor health than males (19.3 years compared with 12.1 years for males) and a 
greater proportion of life in poor health (23.5 percent compared with 15.5 percent). At age 65 
to 69 years, males spent 6.9 years in poor health (38 percent of remaining life) compared to 
8.5 years (41 percent of remaining life) for females. The proportion of life from age 85 spent 
in poor health was 52.2 percent for males and 56.3 percent for females in 2015 to 2017. 
 

Page 396



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   10 

Figure 7: Life expectancy, healthy life expectancy and proportion of life in poor health, 
NHS Highland, 2015-17  

 
Source: National Records of Scotland, Healthy life expectancy in Scottish Areas 20157 

Recent life expectancy trends  

Life expectancy improvement rates for men and women in Scotland have been slower since 
2012-14, and in some areas and age groups life expectancy has actually fallen. Recent 
research has shown that life expectancy gains due to cardiovascular diseases have declined,   
particularly in people aged 55 to 74 years. Life expectancy gains have also fallen in people 
aged 30 to 54 years due to drug-related deaths, and in people aged 90 years and over, 
largely associated with dementia and Alzheimer’s disease8. The slowdown in life expectancy 
improvement has particularly affected people living in the most deprived areas of Scotland, 
leading to widening health inequalities9. 
 
These changes have been almost without precedent in the 20th century and are of major 
public health concern. While some European countries, including Northern Ireland, England, 
Wales, and the Netherlands, have experienced similar slowdowns in life expectancy, many 
other countries with higher life expectancy than Scotland have seen continuing 
improvements. This suggests that the slowdown is not due to a natural limit in life span being 
reached10. 
 
The latest national evidence suggests that a wide range of factors may be contributing, 
including the effects of austerity, pressure on health and social care services, winter deaths, 
mental health problems and obesity11. A large programme of work to investigate these trends 
is being co-ordinated through the Scottish Public Health Observatory, including a more 
detailed review of life expectancy changes within administrative areas of Scotland. 

Page 397



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   11 

References 
 
1 National Records of Scotland. Life Expectancy Statistics across the UK. NRS; 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/life-expectancy-areas-in-scotland/life-expectancy-across-
uk-march19.pdf [Accessed September 2019] 
2 National Records of Scotland. Life Expectancy in Scottish Areas -Time series data and Archive. 
2018. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/life-expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas [Accessed September 2019]. 
3 National Records of Scotland. Abridged life tables, by sex, age and council area, Scotland: 1991-
1993 to 2015-2017. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/files//statistics/life-expectancy-
areas-in-scotland/15-17/life-expectancy-15-17-council.xlsx [Accessed September 2019] 
4 National Records of Scotland. Life Expectancy in Scottish Council areas split by deprivation 2003-
2007 to 2011-2015. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas/life-expectancy-in-
scottish-council-areas-split-by-deprivation [Accessed September 2019] 
5 Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Profiles Tool. Available from: 
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/ [Accessed July 2019] 
6 Office for National Statistics. Health state life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas, UK 
Available from: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancie
s/datasets/healthstatelifeexpectancyatbirthandatage65bylocalareasuk [Accessed September 2019] 
7 National Records of Scotland. Healthy Life Expectancy for Scottish Areas, 2015-2017. Available 
from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/life-
expectancy/life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas/healthy-life-expectancy-in-scottish-areas-2015-2017 
[Accessed September 2019] 
8 Ramsay J, Minton J, Fischbacher C, Fenton L, Kaye-Bardgett M, Wyper G, et al. How have changes 
in death by cause and age group contributed to the recent stalling of life expectancy gains in 
Scotland? Comparative decomposition analysis of mortality data, 2000-02 to 2015-17. SocArXiv, 
2019. Available from: https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/q8rme 
9 Fenton L, Wyper G, McCartney G, Minton J. Socioeconomic inequality in recent adverse mortality 
trends in Scotland. bioRxiv 542472; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1101/542472 
10 Fenton L, Minton J, Ramsey J, Kaye-Bardgett M, Fischbacher C, Wyper G, McCartney G. Recent 
adverse mortality trends in Scotland: comparison with other high-income countries. bioRxiv 542449; 
Available from: https://doi.org/10.1101/542449  
11 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Recent mortality trends. Available from: 
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/population-dynamics/recent-mortality-trends/ [Accessed September 2019]  

Page 398



 

 

 

Health status in NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 5 to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

 

Page 399



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704813 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 

Page 400



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 ....................................................................... 3 
Health status ......................................................................................................................... 4 
Long-term conditions ............................................................................................................. 4 
Leading causes of morbidity .................................................................................................. 5 
Morbidity by area and sex ..................................................................................................... 7 
Morbidity by age and sex ....................................................................................................... 9 
Cancer .................................................................................................................................10 
Cardiovascular conditions ....................................................................................................12 
Type 2 diabetes ....................................................................................................................14 
Mental health ........................................................................................................................16 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health ........................................................................18 
Children and Young People with Life-shortening Conditions ................................................19 
Multimorbidity .......................................................................................................................20 
Frailty ...................................................................................................................................21 
Dementia ..............................................................................................................................22 
Common risk factors ............................................................................................................23 
What this means for the future ..............................................................................................26 
References ...........................................................................................................................27 
 

 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

This is the fifth paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland Director of Public 
Health Annual Report 2019. 

The first report looked at demography and population dynamics, the second considered 
increasing numbers of living generations and changes in how we live, the third reviewed 
mortality which was followed by a fourth on life expectancy. The final supporting papers will 
look at dependency and informal care. 

  

Page 401



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Health status 

Over the last decade there have been improvements in life expectancy and survival rates for 
a number of conditions such as coronary heart disease, stroke and some cancers. The 
demographic trends summarised in this report mean that there will be increasing demands 
for care from people with long-term conditions and other support needs. At the same time, 
people are living longer in less than ideal health and with increasingly complex needs.  
These challenges are recognised in the Scottish Government’s Health and Social Care 
Delivery Plan1 and latest Financial Framework2. This paper provides an overview of morbidity 
in NHS Highland and highlights some of the key health issues faced now and in the future. 

Long-term conditions 

The National Institute for Clinical Excellence define a long-term health condition as one 
which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months3. Conditions can include: defined 
physical and mental health conditions such as diabetes or schizophrenia, ongoing conditions 
such as learning disability, symptom complexes such as frailty, sensory impairment such as 
sight or hearing loss, and problem substance use. 
 
The overall prevalence of long-term health conditions in NHS Highland is available from self-
reported health status collected as part of the 2011 Census, which asked respondents how 
they rate their health at the point of survey. Almost 19 percent of the population (61,000 
people) reported that they had one or more long-term health condition. Eleven percent 
reported that day to day activities were ‘limited a little’ and 8 percent reported they were 
‘limited a lot’. 
 
Figure 1: Prevalence of limiting and non-limiting long-term conditions by age and 
deprivation quintile; NHS Highland  

 
Source: Census 2011 Table QS303SC, DC3101SC4 
Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2012 Health Board population weighted datazones 
 
Figure 1 shows the point prevalence of limiting and non-limiting long-term conditions by age 
and deprivation quintile in NHS Highland. The proportion of people reporting a long-term 
condition increased with each five-year age band, with people over the age of 85 significantly 

Page 402



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

more likely to report that day to day activities were ‘limited a lot’. The prevalence of long-term 
conditions was also socially patterned and significantly associated with levels of area 
deprivation. Figure 1 shows that 23 percent of people in the most deprived quintile reported 
having a long-term health condition compared to 16 percent in the least deprived quintile. 

Leading causes of morbidity 

The leading causes of morbidity, or poor health, in the NHS Highland area can be 
summarised from estimates published in the Scottish Burden of Disease (SBoD) study for 
20165. Burden of disease studies aim to estimate the impact that different diseases, 
conditions and injuries have on a populations’ health at a specific point in time.  
 
A single measure known as the disability adjusted life year (DALY) is used to quantify the 
difference between living to old age in good health, and the situation where healthy life is 
shortened by illness, injury, disability and early death6. The concept, used extensively by the 
World Health Organisation, is summarised in Figure 2. 
 
Figure 2: Components of the Disability Adjusted Life Year (DALY) measure  

 

Source: Adapted from Wikimedia Commons7 

The SBoD study approach is based upon counts of people identified as having different 
conditions, using data from a range of health information systems. These include death 
records, hospital, GP and prescribing recording systems, disease registers and surveys. 
Conditions are presented in a three level hierarchy. The first groups conditions into 
communicable diseases, non-communicable diseases, and injuries. The second level 
consists of broad condition groups, for example, cancers and cardiovascular diseases. The 
third level sub-divides these broad condition groups into more specific causes, such as lung 
cancer and ischaemic heart disease. All three levels are used in the following analyses. 
 
Figure 3 shows estimates of the leading causes of morbidity by broad condition group in 
2016. Cancers (19 percent), cardiovascular diseases (16 percent) and mental health and 
substance use disorders (14 percent) are the leading causes of DALYs, followed by 
neurological disorders (11 percent) and musculoskeletal disorders (10 percent). Together, 
these five condition groups accounted for over two thirds (69 percent) of morbidity in NHS 

Page 403



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Highland in 2016. In most cases these conditions may be long term or chronic, and have a 
significant impact on demand for healthcare services and reduced quality of life. 
 
Figure 3: Estimates of the leading causes of morbidity by broad condition group, NHS 
Highland, 2016 

 

Source: Scottish Burden of Disease local area data, 20168 
Percentages shown represent proportion of all DALYs 
  

Page 404



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

Morbidity by area and sex 

Estimates of the leading causes of morbidity by broad condition group for Argyll and Bute 
and Highland council areas are shown in Figure 4. Of the total number of DALYs estimated 
for NHS Highland, 29 percent were in Argyll and Bute residents and 71 percent were in 
Highland residents. This compares to a population distribution of 27 percent and 73 percent 
respectively. The overall proportion of DALYs in each broad condition group within both 
areas was very similar. 

Figure 4: Proportion of DALYs by broad condition group, Argyll and Bute and 
Highland, 2016 

 
Source: Scottish Burden of Disease local area data, 20168 
  

Page 405



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

Figure 5 shows estimates for the top 25 specific conditions for males and females in 2016. 
The 25 conditions shown covered over three quarters (76 percent) of the burden of disease 
in NHS Highland in 2016. 

For females, the leading causes of morbidity were low back and neck pain, migraine, 
depression, cerebrovascular disease (stroke) and Alzheimer’s disease and other dementias. 
For males, the leading causes of morbidity were ischaemic heart disease, depression, 
cerebrovascular disease, low back and neck pain, and lung cancer.  

Notable differences include rates of problem drug and alcohol use, transport injuries and 
suicide, self-harm and interpersonal violence which were higher in men than women. 
Sensory conditions, such as cataract, macular degeneration and hearing loss, were also a 
common cause of disability in both males and females. 

Figure 5: Top 25 leading causes of DALYs by specific causes for males and females, 
Argyll and Bute and Highland, 2016 

 

Source: Scottish Burden of Disease local area data, 20168 
Age-standardised DALYs (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 population 
COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
 

  

Page 406



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   9 

Morbidity by age and sex 

The leading causes of morbidity for males and females by age group are shown in Figure 6. 
The age pattern shown reflects that morbidity from many conditions increases with age, in 
particular, cancers, cardiovascular diseases, neurological diseases (including Alzheimer’s 
disease and other dementias), diabetes and chronic respiratory diseases. These condition 
groups were the major contributors to ill health in both men and women aged 65 years and 
over. 

Mental health and substance use disorders have a different pattern, as the greatest impact 
was in those aged 15 to 24 and 25 to 44 years. Rates were higher in men than women, 
mainly due to the increased prevalence of substance use disorders in males of this age. 
Rates of transport, unintentional and unknown causes of injury (including suicide, self-harm 
and interpersonal violence) were also higher in males aged 15-24 than females. In females 
aged 15 to 44 years the leading causes of DALYs were migraine, neck and lower back pain, 
depression and anxiety. 

Among babies and children aged 0-14 years the largest contributors to morbidity in this age 
group come under the grouping of non-communicable diseases (congenital birth disorders, 
sensory conditions and neonatal disorders), injuries, neurological disorders (migraine) and 
chronic respiratory diseases (asthma). These five conditions accounted for approximately 
half (51 percent) of all DALYs in this age group.  

Figure 6: Leading causes of morbidity by broad condition group, age group and sex, 
NHS Highland, 2016 

 
Source: Scottish Burden of Disease local area data, 20168 
Age-standardised DALYs (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 population 

Page 407



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   10 

Cancer 

Although there have been significant advances in improving mortality and survival rates from 
cancer in recent years, cancer remains a national clinical priority for the Scottish 
Government. The national strategy ‘Beating Cancer: Ambition and Action’ highlights the 
increasing demands on cancer care arising from the continued growth in incidence, 
complexity and acuity of the disease9. The latest national estimates suggest that three 
percent of men and four percent of women in Scotland are living with cancer, and that over 
40 percent of people will be diagnosed with cancer during their lifetime10. 

Trends in cancer incidence rates for males and females in NHS Highland between 1993 and 
2017 are shown in Figure 7. Although cancer incidence rates have fallen by five percent over 
the last decade, the number of people diagnosed each year continues to rise. Between 1993 
and 2017, the number of cases of cancer (excluding non-melanoma skin cancer) in NHS 
Highland has increased from 1,400 to over 2,000 cases a year, a rise of 40 percent. 

Figure 7: All cancers excluding non-melanoma skin cancers by sex, number of new 
cases and directly age-standardised rates per 100,000 population; NHS Highland, 1993 
to 2017  

 

Source: Scottish Cancer Registry, ISD Scotland11 
All cancers excluding non-melanoma skin cancers (ICD-10 C00-C97 excluding C44). 
EASR: European Age-Sex Standardised Rate (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 
person-years at risk 
 
These trends in cancer incidence are, for the most part, a result of the population growing 
older. The risk of developing cancer increases strongly with age: one in eleven people (9 
percent) will develop some form of cancer by the age of 65, increasing to one in three people 
(32 percent) by the age of 8410. They also reflect health inequalities, including the effects of 
living in poverty, variations in screening uptake and the social patterning of risk factors 
associated with cancer such as smoking, poor diet, alcohol consumption and obesity going 
back many years. Evidence from the long-term monitoring of inequalities in Scotland reports 
that cancer incidence rates have typically been 30% to 50% higher in the most deprived 
areas compared to the least deprived areas of Scotland12. 

Page 408



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   11 

Figure 8 shows the numbers of new cases for the most common cancers in males and 
females in NHS Highland over the last five years. Breast cancer was the most common 
cancer with 1,495 cases diagnosed between 2013 and 2017, 14.6 percent of all cancers. 
There were 1,420 cases of lung cancer (13.8 percent), 1,297 cases of colorectal cancer 
(12.6 percent) and 1,208 cases of prostate cancer (11.7 percent). These four tumour types 
accounted for over half (52.7 percent) of all cancers diagnosed. 

Figure 8: Most common cancers in NHS Highland by sex, 2013 – 2017 

 

Source: Scottish Cancer Registry, ISD Scotland11 
All cancers excluding non-melanoma skin cancers (ICD-10 C00-C97 excluding C44). 
 
Projections of cancer incidence published by ISD Scotland estimate that the number of new 
cases of cancer in Scotland is expected to increase by 33.5 percent between 2008-12 and 
2023-2713. Assuming a similar trend, incidence in NHS Highland is predicted to reach 14,000 
cases in 2023-27, a 40 percent increase. Improvements in cancer survival are also expected 
to impact on future needs for cancer care. Five-year survival rates for people diagnosed with 
cancer between 1987 and 2011 have increased in men from 29 percent to 48 percent in 
men, and from 40 percent to 54 percent in women.   

The National Clinical Strategy for Scotland highlights that increased incidence and survival, 
developments in medical technology and the rapidly changing range of investigations and 
treatments for cancer will have a significant impact on the services required to deliver cancer 
care in the future14. The increasing age-profile also means that people using these services 
will most likely be presenting with multiple health conditions and complex health needs. A 
key challenge will be for health, social care and third sector services to develop sustainable 
and innovative approaches to cancer care which meet the changing requirements of people 
with cancer to support them to live healthy lives at home. 

 

  

Page 409



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   12 

Cardiovascular conditions 

Cardiovascular disease is a general term describing diseases of the heart and blood vessels 
whereby blood flow to the heart, brain or body is restricted. Its main components are 
coronary heart disease (CHD, or ischaemic heart disease) and cerebrovascular disease 
(CVD, or stroke). The risk factors for cardiovascular conditions include the following: high 
blood pressure, high blood cholesterol, smoking, high body mass index (obesity), poor diet, 
physical inactivity, alcohol consumption above the recommended limits and diabetes. 
Cardiovascular conditions are leading contributors to morbidity in NHS Highland and are 
linked to inequalities in health. 

Data reported as part of the Scottish Health Survey shows that the prevalence of CHD and 
stroke are significantly associated with area deprivation. In 2017, the age standardised 
prevalence of CHD was three times higher in the most deprived quintile than in the least 
deprived quintile (9 percent compared to 3 percent). A similar pattern was reported for stoke, 
where the prevalence of adults reporting stroke in the most deprived quintile more than twice 
as high as those in the least deprived quintile (5 percent compared to 2 percent)15. 

Trends in coronary heart disease and cerebrovascular disease incidence rates in NHS 
Highland and Scotland between 2009 and 2018 are shown in Figure 9. The age and sex 
adjusted incidence rate for CHD in NHS Highland decreased by 24 percent from 478 per 
100,000 population in 2008/09 to 359 per 100,000 in 2017/18. There was a small increase 
in age-standardised incidence rates for CHD between 2016/17 and 2017/18. For CVD, 
the age and sex adjusted incidence decreased from 289 per 100,000 population in 2008/09 
to 225 per 100,000 in 2017/18, a fall of 21 percent. 

Figure 9:  Trend in incidence rates for coronary heart disease and cerebrovascular 
disease, NHS Highland and Scotland, 2008/09 to 2017/18 
 

 
Source: SMR01, ISD Scotland  
Coronary Heart Disease: ICD-10 codes I20-I25 
Cerebrovascular disease: ICD-10 codes I60-I69, G45 
European Age-Sex Standardised Rate (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 population 
 

Page 410



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   13 

Although incidence rates have decreased, the number of new cases of cardiovascular 
disease diagnosed each year has not changed at the same rate. For CHD, the number of 
new cases has decreased by 11 percent from 1,450 cases in 2008/09 to 1,300 cases in 
2017/18. The number of new cases of CVD has been relatively stable with 850 cases in 
2008/09 compared to 820 cases in 2017/18. 

There are notable differences in the incidence of cardiovascular conditions by age and 
gender in NHS Highland. Figure 10 shows that the risk of a new diagnosis of CHD is higher 
in males than females. In 2017/18 the age adjusted incidence rate for males was 493 per 
100,000 population compared to 237 per 100,000 in females. Incidence increases sharply 
with age for both men and women. 

Figure 10: Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease by age group and sex, NHS Highland, 
2008/09 to 2017/18 

 

Source: SMR01, ISD Scotland 
Coronary Heart Disease (ICD-10 I20-I25).  
European Age-Sex Standardised Rate (using the 2013 European Standard Population) per 100,000 population 
 

  

Page 411



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   14 

Type 2 diabetes 

Type 2 diabetes is an important cause of morbidity. The term refers to a long term and 
chronic metabolic condition that occurs when the body either stops producing enough insulin 
for its needs or becomes resistant to the effect of insulin produced16. The condition is 
progressive and increases the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, renal (kidney) failure, 
peripheral vascular disease (poor circulation, usually in the legs), neuropathy (damage to 
nerves) and visual problems, including blindness16. Type 2 diabetes is within the leading 15 
causes of early death and disability for both men and women5. 

The main source of data for type 2 diabetes in Scotland is the Scottish Diabetes Survey. The 
survey reports on population-based data for people with diabetes and combines information 
from primary and secondary care in each health board. In 2017, the prevalence rate of type 2 
diabetes in NHS Highland was reported as 4.7 percent, or 15,134 people. There are 
approximately 1,000 new cases of type 2 diabetes in NHS Highland diagnosed each year17. 

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes has increased over the last ten years. The Scottish 
Diabetes Survey recorded an increase in the number of people recorded with type 2 diabetes 
between 2009 and 2017 of 32 percent increase, as shown in Figure 11. In addition, it is 
estimated that around 10% of cases of diabetes remain undiagnosed18. 

Figure 11: Number of people recorded with type 2 diabetes; NHS Highland, 2009 – 
2017 

 

Source: Scottish Diabetes Survey, 2009 - 2017 
 
The main risk factors for type 2 diabetes relate to increasing age and being overweight or 
obese. Prevalence of type 2 diabetes is more common after the age of forty19, and in people 
with a high body mass index in the overweight or obese range20. The distributions of these 
two risk factors in people with type 2 diabetes in NHS Highland are shown in Figure 12. 

Page 412



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   15 

Figure 12: Age and Body Mass Index distribution for people recorded with type 2 
diabetes in NHS Highland, 2019 

 
Source: SCI-diabetes 
BMI: Body mass index 
Underweight BMI <18.5 kg/m2, Healthy weight BMI 18.5 - 24.9 kg/m2, Overweight BMI ≥ 25 kg/m2, Obese BMI ≥ 
30 kg/m2, Severely obese BMI ≥ 40 kg/m2 
 
Estimates of the future number of people diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, based on current 
age and sex specific prevalence rates for NHS Highland, are shown in Figure 13. The 
projections suggest that the number of people with type 2 diabetes will continue to increase, 
mainly related to the aging of the population and that there is no change in the underlying 
prevalence of risk factors such as deprivation and obesity. 

Figure 13: Projected number of people with type 2 diabetes and prevalence rate in 
NHS Highland, 2016 to 2041 

 
Source: SCI-diabetes. NHS Highland age-sex specific prevalence rates applied to National Records of 
Scotland Health Board Population Projections 2016-based 

Page 413



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   16 

Mental health 

Mental health and wellbeing are increasingly recognised as a major public health concern21.  
Estimates suggest that 15 percent of men and 18 percent of women experienced symptoms 
of a common mental health condition in 201715 and that mental health and substance use 
disorders grouped together were the third largest contributor to morbidity in Scotland in 
20165. Mental health problems can occur at any age, but are increasingly common among 
younger people and those experiencing poverty and social disadvantage22. 

The Mental Health Strategy for Scotland 2017-27 outlines that good mental health is 
associated with better physical health, positive interpersonal relationships and more 
equitable and productive societies23. The Scottish Government’s Health and Social Care 
Delivery Plan, reinforces the equal importance of mental and physical health and the need to 
address the underlying conditions that affect health1. The inequalities that drive differences in 
physical health outcomes are the same inequalities that affect mental wellbeing and 
incidence of mental health problems24. 

Mental wellbeing and mental health problems are two different facets of health. Mental 
wellbeing is often viewed as the positive dimension of mental health and includes aspects 
such as positive relationships, social capital and life satisfaction. Good mental health allows 
people the resilience to cope with the normal stresses of life. Mental ill-health reflects the 
presence of a spectrum of disorders, from common conditions such as anxiety and 
depression, to less common illnesses such as schizophrenia and affective psychoses. 

Mental wellbeing in the general population is reported in the Scottish Health Survey using the 
Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS). Scores range from 14 to 70 with 
higher values indicating greater wellbeing. Figure 14 shows that the mean WEMWBS score 
in NHS Highland in the period 2014 to 2017 was 51.0, which was significantly higher than the 
Scottish average of 50.2. Women had a slightly higher mean score compared to men, 51.2 
and 50.9 respectively25. 

The prevalence of common mental health disorders, as measured using the General Health 
Questionnaire 12 (GHQ-12), is also shown in Figure 14. The GHQ-12 is a widely used 
standard measure of mental distress and mental ill-health. Scores range from zero to 12 
where a score of zero indicates good psychological wellbeing and a score of four or more 
indicates the presence of a common mental health condition. In 2014-17, 66 percent of 
adults in NHS Highland had a GHQ-12 score of zero, 19 percent had a GHQ-12 score of one 
to three, and 15 percent had a score of four or more. Prevalence of common mental health 
problems differ by gender and in 2014-17 were significantly higher in women than men, 20 
percent compared to 10 percent respectively. 

The most common mental health disorders comprise different types of depression and 
anxiety. These can cause marked emotional distress and interfere with daily function, but do 
not usually affect insight or cognition. The trend for prevalence is increasing and Figure 15 
shows that since 2010 there has been an increase in the number of people prescribed drugs 
for anxiety and depression from 43,000 to over 55,000 in 2018. 

Page 414



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   17 

Figure 14: WEMWBS and GHQ-12 scores by sex, NHS Highland and Scotland, 2014-
2017 combined 

        
Source: Scottish Health Survey Health Board Tables 2014-1725 
WEMWBS: Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale 
GHQ-12: General Health Questionnaire 12, where a score of 4 or more indicates signs of the presence of a 
possible psychiatric disorder 
 

 

Figure 15: Estimated number of people being prescribed drugs for anxiety, depression 
or psychosis, NHS Highland, 2011 to 2018. 

 

Source: ISD Scotland (Prescribing Information System), Scottish Public Health Observatory Online 
Profiles26  
  

Page 415



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   18 

Children and Young People’s Mental Health 

There is growing evidence that exposure to trauma and adversity, particularly in the early 
years, increase the risk of later development of poor mental health, adverse behavioural 
responses, and increased risk of a range of physical illnesses. 

The term adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) is used to describe a wide range of 
stressful or traumatic experiences that babies, children and young people can be exposed to 
whilst growing up. Adverse childhood experiences range from experiences that directly harm 
a child (such as abuse and neglect), to those that affect the environment in which a child 
grows up (including parental separation, domestic violence, mental illness, problematic 
alcohol or drug use, and a family member being in prison).  

A number of population surveys have been undertaken to measure the prevalence of 
adverse childhood experiences. The results of two nationally representative population 
surveys in England27 and in Wales28 found that almost half (47 percent) of the adult 
population aged 18 to 69 years have experienced at least one type of adversity and over 11 
percent have experienced four or more. Assuming a similar prevalence in NHS Highland, this 
equates to 97,000 adults with at least one and 22,000 adults with four or more adverse 
childhood experiences. 

Population studies show a risk relationship between the experience of multiple adversity and 
poorer outcomes in terms of physical and mental health and adopting health harming 
behaviours. A 2018 systematic review reported that people experiencing higher numbers of 
adverse childhood experiences have poorer outcomes in a number of areas, including 
increased risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, anxiety, depression, problematic 
alcohol and drug use, violence and self-harm29. A model depicting the impact of adverse 
childhood experiences on outcomes across the life course is shown in Figure 16. 

Figure 16: Impact of adverse childhood experiences across the life course  

 
Source: Based on Felitti et al.30  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 416



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   19 

Children and Young People with Life-shortening Conditions 

An important aspect of the health needs of babies, children and young people are the 
number of children living with life-shortening conditions.  Life-shortening conditions are 
defined as both life-limiting conditions where there is no reasonable hope of a cure and from 
which children or young people will ultimately die prematurely, and life-threatening conditions 
where curative treatment may be feasible but may fail31.  These children, and their families, 
are increasingly living with complex care and support needs.   
 
Research commissioned by Children’s Hospices Across Scotland (CHAS) shows that there 
is an increasing number of children in Scotland with life-shortening conditions. The report 
also highlights that prevalence is higher in areas of deprivation: 25 percent of children and 
young people aged 0 to 21 years identified as having a life-limiting condition lived in the most 
deprived areas compared to 18 percent in the least deprived areas in 2016/17.  
 
Estimates of the prevalence of life-limiting conditions among children and young people in 
NHS Highland are shown in Figure 17.  Between 2009/10 and 2016/17 prevalence rates 
have increased from 88 per 10,000 population aged 0 to 21 years to 107.2 per 10,000.  The 
number of children identified with life-limiting conditions was 675 in 2009/10 and almost 800 
in 2016/17, a 17 percent increase.  Hospital-based and overall prevalence was notably 
higher in the Highland council area than in Argyll and Bute.  These data reflect both 
increased incidence and survival from life-limiting conditions.    
 
Figure 17: Prevalence of life-limiting conditions among children and young people 0-
21 years, NHS Highland, 2003-04 to 2016-17

 
Source: ISD Scotland, Children’s Hospices Across Scotland, 201831 
Hospital-based prevalence based on Scottish Birth Record (SBR) and inpatient (SMR01) data 
Complete prevalence based on Scottish Birth Record (SBR), inpatient (SMR01) and community prescribing data 

 
 

Page 417



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   20 

Multimorbidity 

Multimorbidity is commonly defined as the coexistence of two or more long-term health 
conditions within an individual.  The estimates of disease prevalence outlined earlier in this 
chapter focus on single conditions, whereas in practice many people have multiple health 
conditions.  These require coordination of care, understanding of multiple treatment 
programs and the management of complex drug regimens32. 

Recent estimates suggest that multimorbidity is common, affecting between one in four (23 
percent) and one in six (27 percent) of people32,. A 2012 study, based on Scottish general 
practice data, reported that the number of health conditions and prevalence of multimorbidity 
is strongly associated with age and socio-economic deprivation33.  Almost one third of people 
(30 percent) in the 45 to 64 age group were multimorbid, increasing to 81 percent by the age 
of 85.  Research also shows that the prevalence of mental health conditions in an individual 
increase with the number of physical health conditions they have34. 

Projections of multimorbidity from the Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) 
study in England, suggest that there will be greater numbers of older people with 
multimorbidity in the future34. Furthermore, the authors report that the prevalence of complex 
multimorbidity (four or more conditions) will increase, and that the majority of people with four 
or more conditions will also have mental ill-health. 

Projections of multimorbidity for the NHS Highland population, based on Scottish age-
specific rates, are shown in Figure 18.  The prevalence of multimorbidity is estimated to 
increase from 86,500 (27 percent) in 2016 to 101,000 (32 percent) in 2041.  The estimated 
numbers of people aged 85 years and over with multiple health conditions will more than 
double, though the absolute numbers will remain higher in those aged 65 to 84 years.       
 
Figure 18: Estimated and Projected number of people with multimorbidity by age 
group, NHS Highland, 2016 to 2041 

 
Source: Barnett et al.33 age-specific multimorbidity (2 or more conditions) prevalence rates applied to 
National Records of Scotland Health Board Population Projections 2016-based   

 
 

 

Page 418



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   21 

Frailty 

Frailty is a term used to describe a health state related to the ageing process in which 
multiple body systems gradually lose their in-built reserves35.  Characteristics can include 
unintentional weight loss, reduced muscle strength, exhaustion, reduced walking speed and 
low levels of activity36.  There is some evidence that older people with frailty are vulnerable to 
a sudden change in their physical and mental health and wellbeing and a range of adverse 
outcomes including falls, delirium and fluctuating levels of disability35. Frailty is therefore an 
important condition within the context of health status and an aging population. 

Although age is the strongest risk factor for frailty, not all old or even very old people are frail.  
Findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Aging estimated that around 14 percent of 
people aged 60 years or over have frailty, rising to 65 percent in those aged 90 years or 
over37.     

Estimates of the prevalence of frailty for different population groups and settings in NHS 
Highland are shown in Figure 19.  In 2017, 13,500 people aged 60 years and over were 
estimated to have frailty, equivalent to 14.1 percent of the population in this age group.  
Prevalence was higher in females (16.8 percent) compared to males (11.2 percent), 
reflecting the higher number of women in the older age groups.  If prevalence by age and sex 
remain constant, the number of people aged 60 years and over with frailty in NHS Highland 
is expected to increase to 21,500, or 18.1 percent of the population in this age group.      

Figure 19:  Estimated percentage of people aged 60 years and over with frailty by sex, 
age group, area and year, NHS Highland 

 

Source: Gale C et al.37 age-sex specific community frailty prevalence rates applied to National Records of 
Scotland Council Area Population Estimates 2017 and Health Board Population Projections 2016-based   
  

Page 419



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   22 

Dementia 

Alzheimer’s disease and other types of dementia is a major cause of disability and 
dependency among older people, recognised by the World Health Organisation as a public 
health priority38.  Dementia mainly affects older people, although there is recognition that it 
can occur in people of all ages39.  Evidence from the European Collaboration on Dementia 
(EuroCoDe) suggests that dementia affects 1.8 percent of men and 1.4 percent of women 
aged 65 to 69 years.  Rates of dementia increase exponentially with age, so that around 29.2 
percent of men and 44.4 percent of women aged 90 to 94 are estimated to have the 
condition40.  Approximately 50 to 65 percent of people with dementia will have a formal 
diagnosis at a given point in time. 

A recent estimate carried out by Alzheimer Scotland suggests that there were 6,600 people 
with dementia in NHS Highland in 201741.  Of that number, approximately 2,000 (30 percent) 
are resident in Argyll and Bute and 4,600 (70 percent) are resident in Highland.  Almost two 
thirds (64 percent) of those affected by dementia are women, reflecting the higher number of 
women in the population aged 65 years and over. 

The increasing age of the population is likely to have a significant impact on the number of 
people affected by dementia.  Projections of the future number of people with dementia, 
based upon current age and gender specific prevalence rates, suggest that there will be an 
estimated 8,000 people with dementia in NHS Highland by 2026 and over 10,000 people by 
2036.  An increasing proportion of people with dementia will be aged 85 years and over, as 
illustrated in Figure 20. 

Figure 20: Projected number of people aged 65 and over with dementia by age group, 
NHS Highland, 2016 to 2041 
 

 

Source: EuroCoDe40 and Harvey42 age-sex specific dementia prevalence rates applied to National Records 
of Scotland Health Board Population Projections 2016-based   

 

 

Page 420



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   23 

The increasing prevalence of dementia in an older population has considerable implications 
for future support needs.  Symptoms of dementia can range from some memory loss and 
confusion to complete dependence on others for all aspects of personal care.  An estimate 
carried out by the Alzheimer’s Society suggests that the severity of dementia at any given 
point in time is 55.4 percent mild, 32.1 percent moderate and 12.5 percent severe 
dementia43.  While the majority of people with dementia manage to live independently in the 
community, with input from family members and informal carers, those with more progressive 
dementia are likely to require a higher level of care.  Symptoms linked to dementia 
profoundly affect the quality of life of people with dementia and their caregivers.   

 

Common risk factors 

The causes of ill health are well established, with a small set of common risks associated 
with the main causes of morbidity44.  A model by the World Health Organisation shows these 
include common modifiable risks such as tobacco use, unhealthy diet and physical inactivity 
and non-modifiable risks such as age and genetics.  These are interconnected with the 
underlying social determinants of health: poverty, deprivation, inequality, social exclusion and 
other factors. People living in adverse circumstances have greater exposure to risks and 
psychosocial stress.  The World Health Organisation model is conceptualised in Figure 21.   

Figure 21: Risk factors associated with chronic diseases 

 
Source: World Health Organisation44 

 

Another model reported in the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017 grouped risk factors 
that drive the leading causes of morbidity into three broad categories: metabolic, 
environmental and behavioural risks.  The study estimated that the five leading risk factors in 
Scotland were tobacco, diet, high body mass index, high blood pressure and high fasting 
plasma glucose (high blood sugar).  Alcohol use and problem drug use also play a role. The 
top 10 risks in 2017 and the change from 2007 are shown in Figure 22. Although the 
approach may underestimate the role of socio-economic, cultural and psychosocial factors, it 
is a useful model for comparative purposes45.  

Page 421



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   24 

Figure 22: Top 10 risks contributing to DALYs in 2017 and percent change, 2007-2017, 
Scotland 

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). United Kingdom-Scotland profile46 

 
The Scottish Governments ambitions to address the underlying conditions that affect health 
and the key public health issues of alcohol and tobacco misuse, diet, obesity and physical 
inactivity are set out in the 2016 Health and Social Care Delivery Plan1 and 2018 Public 
Health Priorities for Scotland21. The prevalence of these factors in NHS Highland, using 
aggregated data from the Scottish Health Survey for 2014 to 2017, are summarised below.  

Alcohol consumption 
In 2016, the UK Chief Medical Officers published new guidelines on alcohol consumption, 
updated in the light of recent evidence that establishes a clear link between alcohol and 
cancer.  This means there is no amount that a person can drink without there being a risk to 
their health.  The new weekly guideline for ‘low risk’ drinking is for both men and women not 
to exceed 14 units per week on a regular basis.  In 2014-2017, almost one in three men (34 
percent) of men and one in six women (17 percent) exceeded the usual weekly alcohol 
consumption guidelines.  This equates to over 51,000 adults drinking alcohol at 
hazardous/harmful levels.   

Obesity      
In 2014-17, over a quarter of adults (27 percent) in NHS Highland were classified as having a 
BMI in the obese (BMI ≥30 kg/m2) range.  Prevalence of obesity is higher in women than 
men, 29 percent compared to 25 percent.  Prevalence of high BMI has been relatively stable 
since 2008.  High BMI is also associated with increasing levels of area deprivation, 
particularly in women15.  

Smoking  
Smoking remains one of the leading causes of preventable disease and premature death in 
the UK47.  Nationally, current smoking prevalence fell significantly from 28 percent of adults 
in 2003 to 18 percent in 2017.  In NHS Highland, the prevalence of regular smoking in 2014-
2017 was 21 percent.  Men were more likely than women to identify as current smokers, 24 
percent and 19 percent respectively.    

 
 
 

Page 422



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   25 

Physical inactivity 
Realistic physical activity is good for overall health and wellbeing.  The UK Chief Medical 
Officers’ guidance on physical activity recommends that adults should meet 
moderate/vigorous physical activity (MVPA) guidelines of at least 150 minutes of moderately 
intensive physical activity or 75 minutes vigorous activity per week or an equivalent 
combination of both.  Very low activity is defined as less than 30 minutes of moderate activity 
or less than 15 minutes of vigorous activity or combination of these. Locally, 67 percent of 
adults met the MVPA guidelines compared to 64 percent in Scotland as a whole.  In NHS 
Highland 16 percent of males and 21 percent of females reported very low levels of physical 
activity. 

Figure 23: Prevalence of key risk factors in adults aged 16 years and over, by sex, 
NHS Highland, 2014-2017 combined  

 

Source: Scottish Health Survey Health Board tables 
Alcohol consumption: Exceeds 2016 CMO recommendations of 14 units per week 
High body mass index: ≥ 30 kg/m2 
Very low levels of physical activity: < 30 minutes of moderate activity or < 15 minutes of vigorous activity a week 
 

The main risk factors are socially patterned and influenced by socio-economic, cultural and 
psychological factors across the life course.  Living in poverty and relative deprivation is 
linked to increased risk of poor health outcomes at all stages of life, with evidence suggesting 
it can be particularly harmful before birth and in early childhood48. Research shows that 
people in the most deprived areas were more likely to smoke, have a high BMI and very low 
levels of physical activity than adults in the least deprived areas15. In addition, men living in 
the most deprived areas were more likely to drink alcohol at harmful levels and have possible 
alcohol dependence than those in the least deprived areas.  

 

 
 
 
 

Page 423



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   26 

What this means for the future 

There are considerable challenges to improving health and wellbeing and providing services 
to meet the needs of the population of NHS Highland.  While people are, on average, 
healthier than ever before, the increasing numbers of older people in the population will 
inevitably lead to an increased demand for health and care services. 

Evidence shows that the main impact of population aging will be increasing demands for care 
from people with long-term conditions and other support needs.  The risk of developing long 
term conditions increases as people age.  This means that there will be more cases of 
certain conditions associated with older age, for instance, cancer, cardiovascular disease, 
type 2 diabetes, frailty and dementia. There will also be more people with complex 
multimorbidity (four or more conditions), combining both physical and mental health ill health.    

Established adult risk factors put people at relatively greater risk of developing certain 
conditions at older ages.  For example, a recent evidence review highlights that while age is 
the strongest known risk factor for cognitive decline, dementia is not an inevitable 
consequence of ageing49.  Studies have shown a relationship between the development of 
dementia with risk factors such as tobacco use, physical inactivity, unhealthy diets, harmful 
use of alcohol, social isolation and cognitive inactivity. This highlights the importance of 
taking a life course approach to prevention and early intervention treatment.    

Research is also increasingly showing that the origins of risk for many chronic conditions, 
such as diabetes and heart disease, begin before birth and in early childhood.  Challenges 
such as poverty, deprivation, discrimination and adverse childhood experiences are linked to 
poor health outcomes at all stages of life, with evidence suggesting they can be particularly 
harmful in the early years.        

A life course approach to prevention and the proactive management of modifiable risk factors 
in mid and later life promotes healthy aging. Healthy or active aging is a concept promoted 
by the World Health Organisation that considers the ability of people at all ages to live a 
healthy, safe and socially inclusive life50.  Healthy aging values the contribution that older 
people make to society, and aims to extend the quality of life for all people as they age, 
including those who are frail, disabled or with other support needs.       
 
These health issues are reflected in the 2016 Health and Social Care Delivery Plan1 and the 
Public Health Priorities for Scotland21 published in 2018. These outline a comprehensive 
approach to improving health based on supporting healthier lives from the earliest years; 
recognising the equal importance of physical and mental health; reducing health inequalities 
by addressing the underlying conditions that affect health, and taking a life course approach 
to prevention and early intervention treatment.  

  

Page 424



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   27 

References 

 
1 Scottish Government. Health and Social Care Delivery Plan. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2016  
Available from: http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0051/00511950.pdf [Accessed September 2019] 
2 Scottish Government. Medium Term Health and Social Care Financial Framework. Edinburgh: 
Scottish Government; 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-
medium-term-health-social-care-financial-framework/ [Accessed September 2019] 
3 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and 
management (NG56). NICE; 2016. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng56 [Accessed 
September 2019] 
4 National Records of Scotland. Scotland's Census - Census Data Explorer. Available from: 
https://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-web/home.html [Accessed September 2019] 
5 Scottish Public Health Observatory. The Scottish Burden of Disease Study, 2016. Edinburgh: NHS 
Health Scotland; 2018. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.uk/media/1733/sbod2016-overview-
report-sept18.pdf [Accessed September 2019] 
6 Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. The Global Burden of Disease: a critical resource for 
informed policymaking. 2019. Available from: http://www.healthdata.org/gbd/about [Accessed 
September 2019] 
7 Wikimedia Commons. DALY disability affected life year infographic. 
https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/19/DALY_disability_affected_life_year_infographic.
svg 
8 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Scottish Burden of Disease Study - Local area burden of disease 
profiles 2016. 2019. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.uk/media/1852/sbod2016-local-profiles-
june19.xlsm [Accessed September 2019] 
9 Scottish Government. Beating Cancer: Ambition and Action. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2016. 
Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/beating-cancer-ambition-action/ [Accessed 
September 2019] 
10 Information Services Division Scotland. Cancer Incidence and Prevalence in Scotland (to December 
2017). 2019. Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2019-04-
30/2019-04-30-Cancer-Incidence-Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019] 
11 Information Services Division. Annual Cancer Incidence [dataset]. NHS Scotland Open Data; 2019. 
Available from: https://www.opendata.nhs.scot/dataset/annual-cancer-incidence [Accessed September 
2019] 
12 Scottish Government. Long-term Monitoring of Health Inequalities Report. 2018. Available from: 
https://www.gov.scot/publications/long-term-monitoring-health-inequalities-december-2018-report/ 
[Accessed September 2019] 
13 Information Services Division. Cancer Incidence Projections for Scotland 2013-2027. 2015. 
Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Cancer/Publications/2015-08-18/2015-08-
18-Cancer-Incidence-Projections-Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019] 
14 Scottish Government. A National Clinical Strategy for Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 
2016. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/national-clinical-strategy-scotland/ [Accessed 
September 2019] 
15 Scottish Government. The Scottish Health Survey 2017: volume one - main report. Edinburgh: 
Scottish Government; 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-health-survey-
2017-volume-1-main-report/ [Accessed September 2019] 
16 World Health Organisation. Diabetes [Fact sheet]. 2018. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-
room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes [Accessed September 2019] 
17 Scottish Diabetes Data Group. Scottish Diabetes Survey 2017. NHS Scotland; 2018. Available from: 
http://www.diabetesinscotland.org.uk/Publications/SDS%202017.pdf [Accessed August 2019] 

Page 425



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   28 

 
18 Scottish Public Health Observatory. Diabetes: data introduction. Available from: 
https://www.scotpho.org.uk/health-wellbeing-and-disease/diabetes/data/data-introduction/ [Accessed 
August 2019] 
19 Sharma M, Nazareth I, Petersen I. Trends in incidence, prevalence and prescribing in type 2 
diabetes mellitus between 2000 and 2013 in primary care: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 
2016;6(010210). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010210. 
20 National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Type 2 diabetes prevention: population and 
community-level interventions. Public Health guideline [PH35]. NICE; 2011. Available from: 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph35 [Accessed September 2019] 
21 Scottish Government. Public Health Priorities for Scotland. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2018. 
Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-public-health-priorities/ [Accessed 
September 2019] 
22 McManus S, Bebbington P, Jenkins R, Brugha T. (eds.) Mental health and wellbeing in England: 
Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2014. Leeds: NHS Digital, 2016. Available from: 
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/pdf/q/3/mental_health_and_wellbeing_in_england_full_report.pdf [Accessed 
September 2019] 
23 Scottish Government. Mental Health Strategy: 2017-2027. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2017. 
Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/mental-health-strategy-2017-2027/ [Accessed 
September 2019] 
24 NHS Health Scotland. Scotland’s mental health: Adults 2012. Edinburgh: NHS Health Scotland; 
2012. Available from: https://www.scotpho.org.uk/publications/reports-and-papers/scotland-s-mental-
health-adults-2012/ [Accessed September 2019] 
25 Scottish Government. Scottish Health Survey: results for local areas 2014 to 2017. 2018. Available 
from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scottish-health-survey-results-local-areas-2014-2015-2016-
2017/pages/6/ [Accessed September 2019] 
26 Scottish Public Health Observatory. ScotPHO Online Profiles Tool. Available from: 
https://scotland.shinyapps.io/ScotPHO_profiles_tool/ [Accessed September 2019] 
27 Bellis M et al. National household survey of adverse childhood experiences and their relationship 
with resilience to health-harming behaviors in England. BMC Medicine 2014;12:72. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-12-72 
28 Public Health Wales. Adverse Childhood Experiences and their impact on health-harming 
behaviours in the Welsh adult population. Public Health Wales NHS Trust; 2015. Available from: 
http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PRIDDocs.nsf/7c21215d6d0c613e80256f490030c05a/d488a385
2491bc1d80257f370038919e/$FILE/ACE%20Report%20FINAL%20(E).pdf [Accessed August 2019] 
29 Hughes et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review 
and meta-analysis. Lancet Public Health 2017; 2:e356–66. Available from: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4 
30 Felitti V et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading 
causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study. Am J Prev Med 1998; 
14:245–258. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8 
31 Children’s Hospices Across Scotland. Children in Scotland requiring Palliative Care (ChiSP) 2. 
Edinburgh: CHAS; 2018. Available from: https://chas-assets.s3.eu-west-
1.amazonaws.com/sites/59dde5b10f7d33796f8cd11b/assets/5c9e29910f7d334e6823390a/ChiSP2-
Report.pdf [Accessed September 2019] 
32 Casell et al. The epidemiology of multimorbidity in primary care: a retrospective cohort study. British 
Journal of General Practice 2018; 68(669):e245-e251. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp18X695465  
33 Barnett K, Mercer S, Norbury M et al. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health 
care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. Lancet 2012; 380:37–43. Available 
from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60240-2 

Page 426



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   29 

 
34 Kingston A, Robinson L, Booth H, Knapp M, Jagger C; MODEM project. Projections of multi-
morbidity in the older population in England to 2035: estimates from the Population Ageing and Care 
Simulation (PACSim) model. Age Ageing 2018;47(3):374–380. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afx201 
35 British Geriatric Society. Fit for Frailty - consensus best practice guidance for the care of older 
people living with frailty in community and outpatient settings. London: BGS; 2014. Available from: 
https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/resources/files/2018-05-23/fff_full.pdf [Aaccessed 
June 2019]  
36 Fried L, Tanggen C, Watson J, et al. Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a Phenotype. Journal of 
Gerentology 2001;56(3):M146-M156. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/56.3.m146 
37 Gale C, Cooper C, Sayer A. Prevalence of frailty and disability: findings from the English 
Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Age Ageing. 2015;44(1):162–165. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afu148 
38 World Health Organisation and Alzheimer’s Disease International. Dementia: A Public Health 
Priority. Geneva: WHO; 2012. Available from: 
https://www.who.int/mental_health/publications/dementia_report_2012/en/ [Accessed June 2019] 
39 Stark C, Connelly P. Dementia Health Care Needs Assessment. Scottish Public Health Network; 
2013. Available from: https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.4493.2807 
40 Alzheimer Europe. Prevalence of dementia in Europe. 2013. Available from: https://www.alzheimer-
europe.org/EN/Research/European-Collaboration-on-Dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia/Prevalence-
of-dementia-in-Europe [Accessed June 2019] 
41 Alzheimer Scotland. Number of People with dementia in Scotland 2017. Available from: 
https://www.alzscot.org/campaigning/statistics [Accessed June 2019] 
42 Harvey P. Young onset dementia: epidemiology, clinical symptoms, family burden, support and 
outcome. London: Imperial College; 1998. Available from: 
http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1317905/1/298764.pdf [Accessed June 2019] 
43 Alzheimer’s Society. Dementia UK: Update. Second edition. 2014. Available from: 
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/migrate/downloads/dementia_uk_update.pdf 
[Accessed June 2019] 
44 World Health Organisation. Facing the Facts: Chronic Disease and Their Common Risk Factors. 
Available from: https://www.who.int/chp/chronic_disease_report/media/Factsheet1.pdf [Accessed 
September 2019] 
45 GBD 2017 Risk Factors Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment 
of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 
countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 
2017. Lancet 2018; 392:1923–94. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32225-6 
46 Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME). United Kingdom-Scotland profile. Seattle, WA: 
IHME, University of Washington, 2018. Available from: http://www.healthdata.org/united-kingdom-
scotland [Accessed August 2019] 
47 Scarborough P, Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe K, et al. The economic burden of ill health due to 
diet, physical inactivity, smoking, alcohol and obesity in the UK: an update to 2006–07 NHS costs. J 
Public Health (Oxf). 2011;33(4):527-35. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdr033  
48 Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity 
through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social 
Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008. Available from: 
https://www.who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/en/ [Accessed September 2019] 
49 World Health Organisation. Risk reduction of cognitive decline and dementia: WHO guidelines. 
Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2019. Available from: 
https://www.who.int/mental_health/neurology/dementia/guidelines_risk_reduction/en/ [Accessed June 
2019] 

Page 427



NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   30 

 
50 World Health Organisation. Active Aging: A Policy Framework. Geneva: WHO; 2002. Available 
from: https://www.who.int/ageing/publications/active_ageing/en/ [Accessed September 2019] 

Page 428



 

 

 

 

Care dependency in the older population of 
NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 6 to the Director of Public Health report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

Page 429



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704939 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 
 

Page 430



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health report 2019 ..................................................................................... 3 
Estimating care dependency in the older population of NHS Highland .................................. 4 

Background ....................................................................................................................... 4 
What assessing dependency tells us ..................................................................................... 5 
Assessing care dependency in older people .......................................................................... 7 
Comparing estimated dependency from PACSim modelling to benefits, care homes 
occupancy and survey data ..................................................................................................12 
Summary ..............................................................................................................................14 
References ...........................................................................................................................15 
Appendix ..............................................................................................................................17 
 

 

 

 

Director of Public Health report 2019 

This is the sixth paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland Director of Public 
Health report 2019. 

The first report looked at demography and population dynamics, the second considered 
increasing numbers of living generations and changes in how we live, the third and fourth 
reviewed mortality and life expectancy and the fifth discussed health status. The final 
supporting paper will look at informal care. 

  

Page 431



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Estimating care dependency in the older population of NHS Highland 

This paper updates estimates of the number of older people in NHS Highland who will 
require health and social care at various levels of intensity by 2035. The projected 
prevalence of dependency from a larger population model is used. An assessment is made 
of how appropriately these prevalence rates can be applied in NHS Highland. The estimates 
are compared to current Department of Work and Pensions Attendance Allowance payments 
and numbers of Care Home occupants.  

Background 

The proportion of older people 
within the NHS Highland population 
is forecast to continue to increase 
over time as the ‘baby boom’ cohort 
approach peak ageing (Figure 1).  

 The number of people aged over 
65 years is expected to be over 
100,000 by 2038, an increase of 35 
percent from 2018. Projections 
suggest about one in six people 
living in the NHS Highland area will 
be over 75 years old by 2038. 

At the same time the number of 
people of working age is in decline. 

Figure 1: NHS Highland population 2018 and 2038 

 

Source: National Records of Scotland1,2  

Key points 
� Over the next 20 years it is anticipated that the 

number of older people who are able to live 
independently will increase 

� As more people live to be 85 years and older who 
have dementia and comorbidities, the number of 
individuals with 24 hour complex care needs are 
projected to increase 

� Projections indicate that by 2035 7,000 people 
living in NHS Highland will require 24 hour care 
compared to 5,800 today 

� The figure of 7,000 highly dependent people by 
2035 is likely to be an underestimate of future 
need  

Page 432



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

What assessing dependency tells us 

Dependency states indicate the amount of help and supervision a person will need. The 
required delivery of care can be used to group dependency as high (24 hour care), medium 
(daily care at regular intervals), low (care less than daily) or independent (no help or 
supervision necessary). 

The World Health Organisation (WHO) defines intrinsic capacity as “the combination of the 
individual’s physical and mental, including psychological, capacities”; and functional ability as 
“the combination and interaction of intrinsic capacity with the environment a person 
inhabits”3. Care dependence “arises when functional ability has fallen to a point where an 
individual is no longer able to undertake the basic tasks that are necessary for daily life 
without the assistance of others”4. As people reach the oldest-old age they tend to move from 
robustness to frailty and care dependence. This is illustrated in Figure 2. 

Figure 2: World Health Organisation – cycle of frailty 

 

Source: World Health Organisation3 

Most of the disease burden in older age is due to chronic conditions and multimorbidity with 
increasing rates of obesity and common risk factors, such as the harmful use of alcohol, 
tobacco, unhealthy diets, and physical inactivity and poor mental health4.  

The World Health Organisation illustrates their vision of healthy ageing in Figure 3. 

Page 433



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Figure 3: World Health Organisation – Ageing and Health 

 

Source: World Health Organisation5 

 

 

 

Page 434



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

Assessing care dependency in older people 

Audit Scotland recommended in 2014 the use of a consistent tool to assess dependency in 
older people6. In 2017 NHS National Services Scotland endorsed the redesigned data 
collection and assessment tool ‘Indicator of Relative Need (ioRN2)’7. Data from this tool were 
not yet available in NHS Highland therefore alternative methods of estimating care needs 
based on dependency in later life were considered to inform the strategic planning of health 
and social care services.  

In 2017 results from Cognitive Function and Ageing Studies (CFAS) in England were 
published in the Lancet8. Data were collected during 1991 (CFAS (i)) and 2011 (CFAS (ii)) 
from two cohorts of people, aged 65 years and over, registered with three general practices 
in England. The data allowed the assignment of four levels of care dependency to 
populations aged 65 and over. The profiles are based on Isaacs’ and Neville’s ‘interval of 
need’9. The four groups categorise people based on their cognitive status, continence status 
and time elapsed between people requiring help with activities of daily living (ADLs): 

� High dependency (24h care): Help may be required at any time or constant 
supervision needed 
 

� Medium dependency (care at regular times each day): help required at regular 
intervals each day 
 

� Low dependency (care less than daily): Requires help less often than daily 
 

� Independent: Supervision or help for any activity is not essential 

In 2017, NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence and Epidemiology Team10 applied the age 
and sex specific proportions, by dependency status of the studies’ cohorts, to the estimated 
and projected populations of the Highland Council area. This assumes the local dependency 
profile is similar to the English cohorts; analysis of life expectancies suggests this method 
may underestimate medium and high dependency estimates in Highland. Forecasts were 
calculated based on two scenarios: 

� Scenario 1:  The age and sex specific proportions by dependency status of the CFAS 
(ii) 2011 study cohort were applied to the projected population of Highland Council. 
This assumes that dependency rates stay the same, and that only the proportion of 
people by age group changes. 
 

� Scenario 2:  The changes in the dependency rates between the two cohort studies, 
one in 1991 (CFAS (i)) and one 20 years later in 2011 (CFAS (ii)) were applied to the 
projected populations in Highland. A linear projection from 2015 to 2035 applied 50 
percent of the change to 2025. This assumes that the prevalence of dependency 
states in the study cohorts would be relevant to the Highland population and also that 
the trends seen in the previous 20 years would continue over the next 20 years. 

The results of the analysis undertaken in 2017 are not included in this report as it applied to 
the Highland Council area only and was based on superseded population projections. 
However the CFAS dependency state rates, for the two scenarios described above, will be 
applied as a comparison in this updated analysis. 

 

 

Page 435



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

In 2018 Kingston et al published a revised forecasting model in The Lancet titled Population 
Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim)11. Unlike CFAS this study did not look at care delivery 
setting (community or care home). PACSim combined three studies – Understanding Society 
(wave 1)12, the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (wave 5)13 and CFAS (ii)8 – enabling it 
to be more generalisable. The resulting pooled dataset and the English population in 2014 
were used to create a base population. Simulations applying sociodemographic, health 
behaviour, chronic disease and geriatric condition variable probabilities to the base 
population aged 35 years and over were incremented monthly for the period 2014 to 2042. 
The article notes that in recent years some risk factors, including dementia, have changed 
positively while others, such as obesity and multimorbidity at younger ages, have changed 
negatively.  

The PACSim models the prevalence of dependency of older adults in England in 2015, 2025 
and 2035 by age group and gender. The study authors validated the model against the 
Health Survey for England 201414 and report that PACSim modelling may underestimate 
obesity prevalence by around 8 percent. They go on to note that obesity is an underlying risk 
factor for several conditions which increase the likelihood of dependency. The authors also 
discuss how technological advances may change the morbidity symptoms which require 
carer intervention in future and therefore alter the allocation to dependency groupings. 

The overall findings of the PACSim study suggests “the proportion of independent older 
people will increase between 2015 and 2035 although absolute numbers with low or high 
dependency will still rise by around a third”.  

Table 1 and Figure 4 compare the application of CFAS and PACSim models on forecast 
dependency classifications of people aged 65 years and over in the NHS Highland area 
using the most recent population estimates (2018) and projections (2016-based). 

Table 1: Estimated and projected number of older people by dependency level living in 
NHS Highland by model applied 

 

Data sources: Kingston et al (2017)8, Kingston et al (2018)11, National Records of Scotland15 2 

Page 436



NHS Highland  Public Health Intelligence        9 

Figure 4: Comparison of estimated and projected dependency states of older people living in the NHS Highland area 

 

Data sources: Kingston et al (2017)8, Kingston et al (2018)11, National Records of Scotland15 2 

These calculations assume a similar local health and life expectancy profile to the study population in England. Although Life Expectancy for 
residents of NHS Highland is higher than for Scotland overall, it remains lower than in England. Similarly, morbidity rates are worse in NHS 
Highland and Scotland than in England16. This suggests the forecasts in Figure 4 overestimate dependency because life expectancy is lower 
in NHS Highland and underestimate for increased morbidity because people are relatively less healthy.  

Figure 5 shows the differing PACSim forecast trends between genders and age groups. It illustrates in particular, the forecast compression of 
dependency for men aged 65-74 years and to a lesser extent for those aged 75-84 years. There is expected to be some expansion of 
dependency for the oldest women. 

P
age 437



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   10 

Figure 5: PACSim model estimated and projected proportions of the older population 
by dependency status by sex and age group 

 

 

Data sources: Kingston et al (2018)11, National Records of Scotland15 2 

Table 2 is supplementary to Figure 5 and details the estimated and projected numbers for 
both council areas with a total for NHS Highland. 

Page 438



 

NHS Highland  Public Health Intelligence        11 

Table 2: PACSim model estimated and projected number of the NHS Highland population aged 65 years and over by dependency 
status 

 

Data sources: Kingston et al (2018)11, National Records of Scotland15 2 

P
age 439



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   12 

Comparing estimated dependency from PACSim modelling to benefits, care homes 
occupancy and survey data 

To validate the numbers of dependents calculated by applying the PACSim prevalence to the 
NHS Highland population we compare the results with current disability benefit claims and 
care home residency in the area. Attendance Allowance is a claimable benefit contributing 
towards disability-related extra costs of severely disabled, physically or mentally, people who 
are aged 65 and over. To qualify, people must have needed help with personal care for at 
least 6 months, unless terminally ill when there is no qualifying period17. The benefit is paid at 
a ‘lower’ or ‘higher’ rate. The higher rate is paid when help or supervision is required 
throughout both day and night or the person is terminally ill. The lower rate is for those 
requiring frequent help or supervision either during the day or at night. The Attendance 
Allowance statistics are available as two distinct datasets. One includes people currently 
receiving benefit payments (in payment) and the other contains cases with entitlement i.e. it 
includes people where payment is suspended as they are being looked after in a hospital or 
care home (with entitlement). The numbers in each dataset are detailed in Table 3.  

Not all qualifying people claim benefits, therefore the data reported in Table 3 are likely to 
understate the numbers of severely disabled people aged 65 and over in NHS Highland.  

Table 3: Attendance Allowance entitled cases; average of 4 quarters to February 2019 
for residents of NHS Highland* 

 

Data source: Department for Work & Pensions17 

Over 80 percent of people claiming Attendance Allowance in NHS Highland are aged 75 
years and over. 

The main disabling condition when claiming Attendance Allowance is recorded. This is 
reported in Appendix 1. Over 40 percent of claims in payment cite musculoskeletal conditions 
and 10 percent dementia as the main disease. Within the female cohort claiming the higher 
rate allowance, around half report a musculoskeletal condition as the principle reason. 
                                                
* Numbers are rounded so may not add exactly to the total 

Page 440



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   13 

Older people living in care homes do not qualify for Attendance Allowance benefit. In March 
2018 there were around 2,000 care home residents in NHS Highland aged 65 years and 
over18. Assuming these residents would be classified as high or medium dependency then 
Table 4 compares the PACSim estimate numbers to the sum of Attendance Allowance 
claimants and care home residents. 

The PACSim baseline estimate of 9,800 medium and highly dependent older people is very 
close to the number of people aged 65 years and over in NHS Highland who are either being 
paid attendance allowance or living in a care home. Table 4 suggests the difference is 
around 200 (2 percent). The small under-estimate is likely to be larger if non-uptake of 
benefits is taken into consideration. No published estimates of the percentage uptake of 
attendance allowance in the UK have been sourced.  

Table 4: Comparison of PACSim modelling estimates and sum of benefit claimants 
and care home residents in NHS Highland 

 

Data sources: Kingston et al (2018)11, National Records of Scotland15, Department for Work & Pensions17 
and Information Services Division18 

Applying the proportions from the UK Family Resources Survey 2017/1819 to the NHS 
Highland population indicates around 8,500 people aged 65 years and over receive care 
(formal and/or informal) while living in the community; 6,200 of whom receive care once or 
twice a day (n=1,600), several times a day (n=1,850) or continuously (n=2,700). The sum of 
these three categories approximates to a dependency status of medium or high. This 
estimate of 6,200 medium or highly dependent people in NHS Highland, derived from UK 
wide rates, is lower than that suggested by Attendance Allowance data and the PACSim 
model. 

In the Balance of Care file associated with the 2019 ISD18 Insights report on Social Care 
there were 1,064 older people living in NHS Highland who received at least 10 hours formal 
home care per week in 2018 which was funded by health and social care partnerships. 

Carer’s Allowance benefit is payable to adults who look after severely disabled people for 
over 35 hours per week20. In 2018, around 6,000 people in NHS Highland were entitled to 
this benefit21. This covers unpaid carers providing informal care for people of all ages and 
one carer may be providing care to more than one person. 

Page 441



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   14 

Conclusion 

Comparing with the normative data detailed above suggests that the baseline estimates of 
dependency status derived using prevalence from the PACSim model in NHS Highland can 
be used with some confidence. However, reliability over the projection course to 2035 will 
depend on the future morbidity profile of the NHS Highland population. The PACSim study 
authors also note that the methods for defining dependency levels are likely to change as 
technological advances replace carer interventions8. 

Summary 

A key message from the PACSim model is that the number of people aged 65 years and 
over who can live independently will increase over the next 20 years.  

These numbers represent a success story for public health, medical science and for the 
broader socio-economic determinants of health with older people reaching the age of 75 
without long-term conditions preventing independent living. In the Census levels of self-
reported good health remain high in older age groups22.  

However, not everyone shares in this experience and there are major inequalities in healthy 
life expectancy with age and those more socially deprived are at greater risk of living with 
multiple long-term conditions at earlier age23.  

The PACSim model also reports an increase in the total number of people living with 
substantial additional care needs with increasingly larger number requiring 24 hour care. 
Within the projection, trends for women and men are different, with women aged 85 years 
and over seeing an expansion of years lived with low and high dependency while older men 
will experience a compression in the years lived with dependency.  

Our figure of 7,000 highly dependent people by 2035 is likely to be an underestimate of 
future need. 

Considering the major impact of increasing population dependency on individuals, families 
and health and social care systems, prevention programmes that promote independence and 
social inclusion are required in addition to those aimed at the prevention of chronic conditions 
through risk factor management and encouraging lifestyle changes. 

Over the period modelled the age of retirement is to be increased but the number of people 
of working age is anticipated to reduce. These trends are likely to result in a decline in 
informal care within families from adult children. There are concerns that there may not be 
sufficient numbers of unpaid carers in the future to meet demand, particularly from older 
people in an ageing population24. 

In recent years the number of people in NHS Highland in long-term residential care has 
decreased, despite the ageing of the population and the greater numbers living with 
dependency18. The number of older people anticipated to depend on high levels of care 
support for complex needs in the near future requires that integrated Health and Social care 
services and housing provision across NHS Highland must continue to adapt.  

  

Page 442



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   15 

 References 

1. National Records of Scotland. Population estimates time series data. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-data/statistics/statistics-by-
theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-estimates/population-estimates-
time-series-data [Accessed September 2019]. 

2. National Records of Scotland. Population projections for Scottish areas (2016-based) - 
detailed tables. 2018. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-projections/sub-national-population-
projections/2016-based/detailed-tables [Accessed September 2019]. 

3. World Health Organization. WHO Clinical Consortium on Healthy Ageing. Report of 
consortium meeting 1-2 December 2016 in Geneva, Switzerland. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 
IGO. 2017. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/272437/WHO-
FWC-ALC-17.2-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y [Accessed September 2019]. 

4. World Health Organization. World Report on Ageing and Health. 2015. Available from: 
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/186463/9789240694811_eng.pdf?sequence
=1. 

5. World Health Organization. Healthy Ageing infographic. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO. 
2019. Available from: https://www.who.int/ageing/en/ [Accessed September 2019]. 

6. Audit Scotland. Reshaping care for older people. 2014. Available from: https://www.audit-
scotland.gov.uk/docs/central/2014/nr_140206_reshaping_care.pdf [Accessed September 
2019]. 

7. NHS National Services Scotland. Outcomes Count - redesigning the community Indicator 
of Relative Need (ioRN2). 2017. Available from: https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-
Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/Publications/2017-07-25/2017-07-25-IORN2-
Report.pdf?40417116881 [Accessed September 2019]. 

8. Kingston A, Wohland P, Wittenberg R, Robinson L, Brayne C, Matthews FE, et al. Is late-
life dependency increasing or not? A comparison of the Cognitive Function and Ageing 
Studies (CFAS). The Lancet. 2017;390(10103): 1676-1684. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31575-1. 

9. Isaacs B, Neville Y. The needs of old people. The 'interval' as a method of measurement. 
British Journal of Preventative and Social Medicine 1976;30: 79-85. 

10. Vaughan S, Steer C, MacPherson F. Estimating the current and future need for care for 
older people in Highland Health and Social Care Partnership by dependency status and by 
setting. NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence & Epidemiology Team. 2017. 

11. Kingston A, Comas-Herrera A, Jagger C. Forecasting the care needs of the older 
population in England over the next 20 years: estimates from the Population Ageing and 
Care Simulation (PACSim) modelling study. The Lancet. 2018;3(9): e447-e455. Available 
from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30118-X. 

12. Understanding Society. The UK Household Longitudinal Study (wave 1). 2011. Available 
from: https://www.understandingsociety.ac.uk/ [Accessed September 2019]. 

Page 443



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   16 

13. Banks J, Batty G, Coughlin K, Deepchand K, Marmot M, Nazroo J, et al. English 
Longitudinal Study of Ageing: Waves 0-8, 1998-2017. [data collection]. 30th Edition. UK Data 
Service. SN:5050. 2019. Available from: http://doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-5050-17. 

14. Health and Social Care Information Centre. Health Survey for England 2014 Adult Trend 
Tables. 2015. Available from: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/health-survey-for-england-2014-
trend-tables#related-links [Accessed September 2019]. 

15. National Records of Scotland. Mid-2018 population estimates by administrative 
area, Scotland. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-
estimates/mid-2018 [Accessed September 2019]. 

16. NHS Highland. 2019. The Annual Report of the Director of Public Health. 2019. Available 
from: https://nhshighland.publichealth.scot.nhs.uk/resources/ [Accessed December 2019]. 

17. Department for Work & Pensions. Stat-Xplore: Attendance Allowance datasets - data 
from May 2018. 2019. Available from: https://stat-
xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/tableView/tableView.xhtml [Accessed September 2019]. 

18. Information Services Division. Insights into Social Care in Scotland - support provided or 
funded by health and social care partnerships in Scotland 2017/18. 2019. Available from: 
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-
Care/Publications/2019-06-11/2019-06-11-Social-Care-Report.pdf [Accessed September 
2019]. 

19. Department for Work & Pensions. Family Resources Survey, 2017/18. 2019. Available 
from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-
201718 [Accessed September 2019]. 

20. GOV.UK. Carer's Allowance. 2019. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/carers-allowance 
[Accessed September 2019]. 

21. Department for Work & Pensions. Stat-Xplore: Carers Allowance datasets - data from 
May 2018 . 2019. Available from: https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk [Accessed September 2019]. 

22. National Records of Scotland. Scotland's Census 2011: Table LC3102SC - General 
Health by age. 2014. Available from: https://www.scotlandscensus.gov.uk/ods-web/standard-
outputs.html [Accessed September 2019]. 

23. Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of 
multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-
sectional study. The Lancet. 2012;380(9836): 37-43. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60240-2. 

24. Colombo F, Llena-Nozal A, Mercier J, Tjadens F. Help Wanted? Providing and Paying for 
Long-term Care. OECD Policy Brief. 2011. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/health/health-
systems/Help-Wanted-Policy-Brief.pdf [Accessed September 2019]. 

  

 

Page 444



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   17 

Appendix 1: Attendance Allowance entitled cases; average of the 4 quarters to 
February 2019 for residents of NHS Highland† 

  

Data source: Department for Work & Pensions17 

                                                

† Numbers are rounded so may not sum to total. Statistical disclosure control has been applied with Stat-Xplore 
therefore some counts may be suppressed. 

Lower 
Rate

Higher 
Rate Total Lower 

Rate
Higher 
Rate Total

Arthritis 799         1609 2412 889 1789 2,681      
Spondylosis 35          55 89 34 63 94            
Back Pain - Other / Precise Diagnosis not Specified 92          181 275 109 201 309         
Disease Of The Muscles, Bones or Joints 195         333 526 222 360 585         
Trauma to Limbs 32          76 108 37 80 118         
Blindness 161         133 293 177 154 331         
Deafness 22          17 38 24 18 41            
Heart Disease 236         419 656 263 465 729         
Chest Disease 167         302 471 175 321 494         
Asthma 11          32 43 14 32 45            
Cystic Fibrosis
Cerebrovascular Disease 167         332 499 180 376 554         
Peripheral vascular Disease 21          35 59 28 38 65            
Epilepsy 14          12 25 15 12 25            
Neurological Diseases 59          95 155 64 107 173         
Multiple Sclerosis 10          20 32 10 23 35            
Parkinsons Disease 42          178 220 51 210 262         
Motor Neurone Disease 4 4
Chronic Pain Syndromes 7            13 19 7 16 20            
Diabetes Mellitus 32          69 103 37 80 114         
Metabolic Disease 6 7 6 10            
Traumatic Paraplegia/Tetraplegia 6 7 6 7              
Major Trauma Other than Traumatic Paraplegia/Tetraplegia 7            1 6 7 1 6              
Learning Difficulties 7            8 11 3 13            
Psychosis 39          43 79 47 50 96            
Psychoneurosis 18          28 48 24 32 57            
Personality Disorder
Dementia 317         443 758 463 710 1,173      
Behavioral Disorder
Alcohol and Drug Abuse 9            12 21 13 17 31            
Hyperkinetic Syndrome
Renal Disorders 26          48 71 28 51 79            
Inflammatory Bowel Disease 8 8 9 9              
Bowel and Stomach Disease 5            22 30 5 26 35            
Blood Disorders 5            6 10 5 5 11            
Haemophilia
AIDS
Multi System Disorders 16          24 41 17 25 45            
Multiple Allergy Syndrome
Skin Disease 12          10 22 12 10 22            
Malignant Disease 103         207 309 109 221 329         
Severely Mentally impaired
Double Amputee
Deaf/Blind
Haemodialysis
Frailty 21          43 65 24 55 79            
Total Parenteral Nutrition
Infectious diseases: Bacterial disease - Tuberculosis
Infectious diseases: Bacterial disease - precise diagnosis not specified
Infectious diseases: Protozoal disease - Malaria
Infectious diseases: Protozoal disease - other / precise diagnosis not specified
Infectious diseases - other / precise diagnosis not specified
Cognitive disorder - other / precise diagnosis not specified 51          53 105 74 76 149         
Terminally Ill 172 172 188 188         
Unknown 68          97 165 81 121 202         
Total 2,807      5152 7958 3267 5961 9,230      

with entitlementin payment
Main Disabling Condition

Page 445



 

 

 

 

Informal care provision in NHS Highland 

 
Supplementary paper 7 to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Health Intelligence 

Directorate of Public Health 

NHS Highland 

 

 

October 2019 

 

Page 446



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Public Health Intelligence team are part of the Directorate of Public Health of NHS 
Highland. The team provides an expert resource on epidemiology, demography and 
population health information. We support decision making by the analysis, interpretation and 
presentation of data and evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Public Health Intelligence 
Directorate of Public Health  
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness 
IV2 7PA 
 
Telephone: 01463 704939 
 
Email: High-UHB.HealthIntelligence@nhs.net  
 

Page 447



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   3 

Contents 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 ....................................................................... 3 
Informal Care ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Prevalence of unpaid care ................................................................................................. 4 
References ............................................................................................................................ 7 
 

 

 

 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 

This is the seventh and final paper in a series that will contribute to the NHS Highland 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019. 

The first report looked at demography and population dynamics, the second considered 
increasing numbers of living generations and changes in how we live, the third and fourth 
reviewed mortality and life expectancy, the fifth discussed health status and sixth analysed 
the modelling of care dependency in the older population.  

 

  

Page 448



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   4 

Informal Care 

Like the rest of Scotland, NHS Highland depends on informal care providers. The 2011 
Census indicates that nearly thirty thousand people spend at least an hour a week on a 
regular basis providing unpaid care and support to a family member, friend or neighbour to 
enable that person to live in their own community1. The provision of unpaid care makes a 
vital contribution to the supply of care and this will be increasingly important factor as the 
population continues to age and people’s care needs become more complex2.  

Between 2001 and 2011 the provision of unpaid care in NHS Highland increased by 10 
percent, faster than population growth, with the greatest percentage increase in caring 
among those providing over 20-49 hours a week of unpaid care1. Research by the charity 
Carers UK reports that three in five people are expected to need to provide care at some 
point in their lives4.  

Prevalence of unpaid care 

It is now eight years since Census 2011 collected valuable results about carers and more 
recent in-depth surveys such as research using the Understanding Society data suggest that 
the figures of the number of carers and time spent 
caring have increased5,3. Recent research by 
Carers UK on work and unpaid care suggest that 
one in seven people in work are juggling unpaid 
care commitments, compared with previous 
Census based figures of one in nine workers6.  
 
At the same time, many carers do not self-identify 
as a carer and studies have shown under-
reporting of the amount of support provided 
compared with responses from care recipients7,8. 
 
While likely to be an underestimate of the number 
of carers and time provided in caring, the Scottish Health Survey of 2017 provides more up 
to date figures of adults looking after sick, disabled or frail people. Women make up 60% of 
carers. Many carers are older people themselves. With about 1 in 9 of people aged 75 and 
over providing care, older people are more likely to be carers than the population as a whole. 
Older carers are also amongst those most likely to care at higher levels of intensity, 
especially those caring for a co-resident partner.  
 
Figure 1: Estimated numbers of people, by age band and gender, in NHS Highland 
providing any regular help or care for any sick, disabled or frail person in 2018 
 Age band      All 

 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+  

Males 
       
1,524  

     
1,302  

     
1,826  

     
3,570  

     
3,772  

     
2,606  

     
1,307  

    
15,907  

Females 
       
2,160  

     
2,061  

     
3,069  

     
6,328  

     
5,289  

     
3,265  

     
2,390  

    
24,562  

Total 
       
3,761  

     
3,392  

     
4,899  

     
9,872  

     
9,078  

     
5,882  

     
3,706  

    
40,590  

 

Data sources: Scottish Health Survey9 and National Records of Scotland10 

Understanding the health of the carers’ 
population is important both in relation 
to the ability to provide support and in 
terms of their own care needs. 
Research from the British Household 
Panel Survey and Understanding 
Society found that full-time carers often 
become poorer and experience lower 
wellbeing and health, the longer they 
provide care3. 

Page 449



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   5 

 

Figure 2: Estimated caring prevalence by age and gender in NHS Highland 

 

Data sources: Scottish Health Survey9 and National Records of Scotland10  

 

Figure 3: Hours spent each week providing help or unpaid care by age 

 

Data source: Scottish Health Survey9  

Page 450



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   6 

Based on the 2017 Scottish Health Survey caring proportions, in NHS Highland around a 
third of informal unpaid carers (n~13,000) will be providing regular care for up to 4 hours a 
week and another third for between 5 and 19 hours a week. 15 percent of all carers 

(n~6,000) indicate that they provide more than 50 
hours per week; this reaches around a quarter for 
carers aged 65 years and over.  

When the level of multiple deprivation in the area 
where the carer lives is considered, 20 percent of 
those living in the most deprived quintile (SIMD16) 
are likely to be spending 50 or more hours a week 
providing regular care compared to around 10 
percent in the least deprived quintile.  

Around 90 percent of carers have been providing 
care for more than a year. 13 percent of carers in 
Scotland who are aged 75 years and over have 
been providing care for 20 years or more. 

The scale of the contribution made by family and friends as informal carers suggests that 
even a small shortfall in this provision can have a large impact on demand for formal care 
services and public finances.  

There are concerns that there may not be sufficient 
numbers of unpaid carers in the future to meet demand, 
particularly from older people in an ageing population15. 
Factors such as increasing female employment, fewer 
children, and higher divorce rates amongst men over 60 
years may affect the future availability of unpaid care16-18. 

Supporting informal carers effectively is therefore 
important. Care recipients generally prefer to be looked 
after by family and friends, but without support, informal 
care-giving is associated with a reduction in the supply of 
labour, higher risks of poverty and greater risk to carers’ 
own health.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 that 
came into force in April 2018 sets out a 
range of measures intended to improve 
the support given to carers. It gives 
carers the right to a plan that identifies 
their needs and provides them with 
information about support available, 
and puts a duty on local authorities to 
support carers whose identified needs 
meet local eligibility criteria. Local 
authorities and health boards are 
required to jointly prepare a local 
carers strategy11-14. 

Types of support for carers can 
include:  

� financial support 

� employment support 

� respite care (temporary 
provision of care by people 
other than the primary 
caregiver, such as day 
centres) 

� education and training (for 
example, on nutrition or 
using hoists and other 
mobility equipment), and  

� emotional and social 
support, such as counselling.  

Page 451



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   7 

References 

1. Health Intelligence and Knowledge Team. Census 2011: Unpaid care in NHS Highland. 
2015. 

2. Kingston A, Wohland P, Wittenberg R, Robinson L, Brayne C, Matthews FE, et al. Is late-
life dependency increasing or not? A comparison of the Cognitive Function and Ageing 
Studies (CFAS). The Lancet. 2017;390(10103): 1676-1684. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31575-1 [Accessed September 2019]. 

3. Carmichael F, Ercolani MG. Unpaid caregiving and paid work over life-courses: Different 
pathways, diverging outcomes. Social Science & Medicine. 2016;156: 1-11. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.03.020 [Accessed September 2019]. 

4. Carers UK. It could be you: a report on the chances of becoming a carer. 2001. 

5. Age UK. Age UK analysis of Marmot, M., Oldfield, Z., Clemens, S., Blake, M., Phelps, A., 
Nazroo, J., Steptoe, A., Rogers, N., Banks, J., Oskala, A. (2016). English Longitudinal Study 
of Ageing: Waves 0-7, 1998-2015. [data collection]. 25th Edition. UK Data Service. SN: 5050, 
http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-5050-12. 2017. Available from: 
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/Documents/EN-GB/For-
professionals/Research/The_Health_and_Care_of_Older_People_in_England_2016.pdf?dtrk
=true [Accessed September 2019]. 

6. Carers UK. Juggling work and unpaid care. A growing issue. 2019. Available from: 
http://www.carersuk.org/images/News_and_campaigns/Juggling_work_and_unpaid_care_re
port_final_WEB.pdf [Accessed September 2019]. 

7. Carduff E, Finucane A, Kendall M, Jarvis A, Harrison N, Greenacre J, et al. Understanding 
the barriers to identifying carers of people wth advanced illness in primary care: triangulating 
three data sources. BMC Family Practice. 2014;15(48)Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-15-48 [Accessed September 2019]. 

8. Rutherford AC, Bu F. Issues with the measurement of informal care in social surveys: 
evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. Ageing & Society. 2017;38(12): 
2541-2559. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X17000757 [Accessed 
September 2019]. 

9. Scottish Government. Scottish Health Survey 2017: supplementary Tables - Part 2 - 
Caring. 2018. Available from: https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Health/scottish-
health-survey/Publications/Supplementary2017 [Accessed September 2019]. 

10. National Records of Scotland. Mid-2018 population estimates by administrative 
area, Scotland. 2019. Available from: https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/statistics-and-
data/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/population-estimates/mid-year-population-
estimates/mid-2018 [Accessed September 2019]. 

11. Scottish Parliament Information Centre (SPICe). Carers (Scotland) Bill. Briefing 15/24. 
2015. Available from: 
http://www.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefingsAndFactsheets/S4/SB_15-
24_Carers_Scotland_Bill.pdf [Accessed September 2019]. 

Page 452



 

NHS Highland Public Health Intelligence   8 

12. Scottish Parliament. Carers (Scotland) Bill 2015. SP Bill 61-PM. Available from: 
http://www.parliament.scot/largePDFfiles/SPPB230.pdf [Accessed September 2019]. 

13. Scottish Government. Carer's charter. Your rights as an adult carer or young carer in 
Scotland. 2018. Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/carers-charter/. 

14. Scottish Parliament. Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 - asp 9. Available from: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2016/9/section/1 [Accessed September 2019]. 

15. Colombo F, Llena-Nozal A, Mercier J, Tjadens F. Help Wanted? Providing and Paying for 
Long-term Care. OECD Policy Brief. 2011. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/health/health-
systems/Help-Wanted-Policy-Brief.pdf [Accessed September 2019]. 

16. Hoff A. Current and future challenges of family care in the UK. Future of an ageing 
population: evidence review. Foresight, Government Office for Science. 2015. Available 
from: https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/24148/1/gs-15-18-future-ageing-family-care-er09.pdf [Accessed 
September 2019]. 

17. Pickard L, Wittenberg R, Comas-Herrera A, King D, Malley J. Mapping the Future of 
Family Care: Receipt of Informal Care by Older People with Disabilities in England to 2032. 
Social Policy and Society. 2012;11(4): 533-545. Available from: 
https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474746412000346 [Accessed September 2019]. 

18. Haberkern K, Schmid T, Neuberger F, Grignon M. The role of the elderly as providers 
and recipients of care. In: OECD, ed. The Future of Families to 2030. Paris: OECD; 2011. p. 
180-257. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264168367-en [Accessed September 
2019]. 

  

Page 453



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 - Appendices

Page 454



Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 
 
Public Health Directorate 
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness  
IV2 7PA 
 
Publication produced and published by NHS Highland Public Health, 13 November 2019

Page 455



The Annual Report
of the Director of
Public Health

2019

Appendix 8: Update on NHS Highland 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 
2018 - Adverse Childhood Experiences

Page 456



Director of Public Health Annual Report 20192

Page 457



The lens of adverse childhood experience, as explored in the 2018 Director of Public Health 
Annual Report: Adverse Childhood Experiences, Resilience and Trauma Informed Care, 

challenges accepted norms and responses to understanding and responding to experiences of 
adversity at an individual, family and community level. The report asks for a shift in understanding 
and response from “What is wrong with you?” to “What Happened to you?”, “Who was there for 
you?” and “Who is there for you now?”.

Since being published in November 2018, the report has received wide spread attention and 
positive commentary, including the Scottish Chief Medical Officer and the Director of the Violence 
Reduction Unit in Glasgow. It also came second in the United Kingdom Director of Public Health 
Report awards for 2018.

The report has been well received in both the Argyll & Bute and Highland Health & Social Care 
Partnerships and has prompted a wide range of interest and activity as detailed in the summary 
tables below.

Moving ahead, the opportunities presented by the World Health Organisation Trauma informed 
cities and communities initiative will be explored further in the Sutherland and Caithness Community 
Partnerships through the Community Justice Partnership and with the support of the Violence 
Reduction Unit. This will involve a whole system approach to understanding the impact and 
influence of adversity, in a community, that accords with the whole system thinking being developed 
by the emergent Public Health Scotland body.

Further details of the report are available on the NHS Highland website: 
https://www.nhshighland.scot.nhs.uk/Publications/Documents/DPH-Annual-Report-2018_(web-
version).pdf

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 3

Page 458



Argyll and Bute HSCP: Mid-Year Summary 2018/19

Leadership 
Work across Argyll and Bute in relation to Adverse Childhood Experiences began in  May 2017 The development of the  NHS Highland Director 
of Public Health Annual Report 2018 further developed the thinking and further supported the innovative work undertaken in the HSCP.
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
The Health Improvement 
Team delivered a Health 
Development Day in May 
2017 which focussed upon 
ACEs with guest speakers 
and workshops.

Around 130 people 
attended this event and an 
event report was written 
and published in June 
2017 which identified nine 
recommendations.

The HSCP ACE Working 
Group was established 
to progress the work and 
continues to meet.

Work is progressing across 
the nine recommendations 
as detailed in this summary.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Building relationships 
with national and regional 
networks. 

Leadership has been 
provided by the Health 
Improvement Team and 
relationships built with the 
NHS Health Scotland team 
and the national ACE Hub. 

ACEs informed approaches 
including disseminating 
evidence based practice; 
link with national work 
streams and organisations 
to support implementation 
of all recommendations in 
this and other ACEs report.

Increased awareness of 
the nature and influence 
of adversity on individuals, 
families and communities.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Presentation of the NHS 
Highland Director of Public 
Health Annual Report 2018 
to Argyll and Bute IJB, 
Argyll and Bute Council and 
Argyll and Bute Community 
Planning Partnership. 

Presentation and 
discussion by the CHC and/
Health Improvement Senior.

Support from Senior 
Management who set aside 
time at IJB meeting to 
discuss ACEs.

Health Improvement 
Senior invited to present 
report from ACEs events 
in 2019 at Argyll and 
Bute Children’s Strategic 
Committee.

Nov 2018 – May 2019.

P
age 459



Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Use of social media to 
raise awareness promoting 
events and provide 
additional information 
via Twitter account (@
aceargyllbute)

NES animations 
Opening Doors https://
vimeo.com/274703693

Growing Seeds 
https://vimeo.
com/334642616

Maintaining Twitter site.

 

Raise awareness of 
animations.

Increase in Twitter 
followers.

Viewings of the animations 
Emailed to networks – 
summer 2019.  Shared on 
Healthy Argyll and Bute 
facebook page Oct 2019.

Raised awareness.

As above 
Reach 466 for Sowing 
Seeds Animation and 
reached 703 for Opening 
Doors animation.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Primary Prevention/Intervention  
Developing  a community of interest among young people by:
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Working with young people 
to develop approaches to 
understanding adversity 
and supporting resilience, 
for example, through 
matching the UNCRC 
with adverse childhood 
experiences.

ACEs action identified 
within the Argyll and Bute 
Children’s Services Action 
Plan 2017-2020.  

Discussion initiated 
regarding inclusion in CPP 
actions.

Develop a methodology 
to involve young people in 
discussion about adversity 
through strength and 
rights based approaches 
that support a relational 
approach to resilience. 

A greater awareness of the 
origins of adversity and the 
impact and the importance 
of self care and skills to 
look after oneself and 
peers.

Where and how to seek 
help and support.

Spring 2019/20.

P
age 460



Developing communities of interest Argyll and Bute by: 
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Hosting of Resilience 
screenings and follow up 
discussion with community 
involvement.

Coordination of screenings 
and panel representation. 

Various across the HSCP 
with highlight events in 
Dunoon Jan 2019 (180 
attendees) and Oban 
March 2019 (50 attendees). 

Event delivered in Islay Oct 
2019. 

Local Partnership event 
planned for Bute March 
2020.

Local partnership event 
planned for Helensburgh 
Feb 2020.

A licence for the 
documentary Resilience 
was brought and the 
film has been screened 
extensively across 
the HSCP with panel 
discussions.

Additional awareness 
raising events with 
guest presenters, panel 
discussion and a range 
of professional and lay 
audiences.
Final summary reports 
written.
Resilience Film screened. 
Event well attended.

Increased awareness of 
the impact of adversity 
and how to best respond 
through safe nurturing 
relationships.

 As above.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Nurture Principles and 
Compassionate Classroom 
materials being delivered 
by Educational Psychology 
in primary/secondary 
schools.

Training and awareness 
raising across schools.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to create whole 
school relational safety.

P
age 461



Secondary Prevention/Intervention 
Building awareness amongst Community Planning partners of the origins of adverse childhood experiences and the associated effects, impacts 
and costs across the life course in different services and settings.
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG 
Consideration of  trauma 
informed policy and 
practice

To develop a Trauma 
Informed Workforce across 
children’s services and 
inculcate culture change 
that is embedded into 
practice.

Secure NES funding to 
support a trauma informed 
approach to services 
through training 
£40k received from 
NES to implement this 
development.

Funding to support a 
trauma informed journey 
and awareness raising 
across Argyll and Bute
Train and develop staff 
to be Trauma Informed, 
Skilled & Enhanced as 
appropriate to their role.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to support 
children young people 
families communities and 
services to understand and 
make sense of trauma and 
its impact.

Spring/Summer 2019.

Service and team 
awareness raising and 
associated assessment of 
skills and training needs.

Sub group of ACE 
Awareness Working Group 

Trauma Training Pilot Bid 
agreed with NES and 
funding released.

A more trauma informed 
and trauma aware and 
responsive workforce.

Spring/Summer 2019.

Explore options and 
funding to undertake 
routine enquiry.

Develop proposal and 
explore/agree funding 
opportunities 

Proposal developed and 
funding identified.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to respond to 
adversity.

Autumn 2019.

Work with the Health 
and Wellbeing Network 
to support and promote 
trauma informed services.

Time of staff to participate 
and support/ undertake  
awareness raising.

Additional capacity to 
support wellbeing through 
a trauma informed lens.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to understand 
and make sense of trauma 
and its impact.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Promotion and delivery of 
Psychology of Parenting 
Programme and the 
Incredible Years in Argyll 
and Bute.

Time of staff to undertake  
training and deliver 
programmes.

Increased skilled 
workforce. 

High quality support for 
children and families 

Ongoing 2019/20.

P
age 462



Guided Self Help Study in 
Secondary School.  First 
school completing June 
2019.  Two further schools 
pilots planned.

Development and piloting 
of approach with key 
stakeholders bespoke to 
the setting and culture.

Resources aligned to 
service/team  to underpin 
delivery.

Increased confidence to 
respond to need.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Stress and Resilience 
sessions delivered to 
staff in the HSCP 2018-19 
arranged by Public Health.

Public Health Team input to 
staff wellbeing events.

Resources to support staff 
wellbeing.

Increased awareness 
and skills to look after 
wellbeing.

2019.

Tertiary Prevention 
Developing a community of interest around the development of trauma informed vision and values across Public Protection Committees 
including:
Action Input Output Outcome Timescale/Brag 
Child Protection. Trauma Training Pilot will 

inform the work of the 
Committee.

Training will be available for 
members and practitioners.

Increased awareness of the 
opportunities presented 
by taking a trauma 
informed and responsive 
approach to the work of the 
committee.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Adult Care and Protection.  Trauma Training Pilot will 
inform the work of the 
Committee.

Training will be available for 
members and practitioners.

Increased awareness of the 
opportunities presented 
by taking a trauma 
informed and responsive 
approach to the work of the 
committee.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Alcohol and Drugs 
Partnership.

Trauma Training Pilot will 
inform the work of the 
Committee.

Training will be available for 
members and practitioners.

Increased awareness of the 
opportunities presented 
by taking a trauma 
informed and responsive 
approach to the work of the 
committee.

Ongoing 2019/20.

P
age 463



Violence Against Women 
Partnership.

Trauma Training Pilot will 
inform the work of the 
Committee.

Training will be available for 
members and practitioners.

Increased awareness of the 
opportunities presented 
by taking a trauma 
informed and responsive 
approach to the work of the 
committee.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Community Justice 
Partnership.

Trauma Training Pilot will 
inform the work of the 
Committee.

Training will be available for 
members and practitioners.

Increased awareness of the 
opportunities presented 
by taking a trauma 
informed and responsive 
approach to the work of the 
committee.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Highland HSCP : Mid-Year Summary 2018/19

Leadership 
Work across Highland in relation to Adverse Childhood Experiences began in  May 2017 The development of the  NHS Highland Director of 
Public Health Annual Report 2018 further developed the thinking and further supported the innovative work undertaken in the HSCP.
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
The Public Health 
Directorate supported 
a screening of the 
documentary film 
Resilience: The Biology of 
Stress and the Science of 
Hope as part of a Scotland 
wide tour.

Around 70 people attended 
this event with a panel 
discussion.

The value of a public health 
approach to understanding 
and responding to adverse 
childhood experiences 
was noted and further 
discussions were held 
across the Public Health 
Directorate.

The 2018 Director of 
Public Health Annual 
Report addressed Adverse 
Childhood Experiences, 
Resilience and Trauma 
Informed Care: A Public 
Health Approach to 
Understanding and 
Responding to Adversity.

Ongoing 2019/20.

P
age 464



ACE Hub meets monthly to 
share developments and 
best practice in relation 
to Adverse Childhood 
Experiences.

Key stakeholders. Representation at Glasgow 
Roundtable Event March 
2018.

Attending ACE Aware 
Nation Glasgow Dr Gabor 
Mate.

Visit from NHS Health 
Scotland colleagues in Sep 
2019.

Planning regional ACE Hub 
event autumn 2019 with 
Health Scotland.

Input to refresh Polishing 
the Diamonds ScotPHO 
Report 2017.

Growing awareness of 
opportunities and learning 
from the DPH Report.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Building relationships 
with national and regional 
networks. 

Leadership has been 
provided by the Public 
Health Directorate and 
relationships built with the 
NHS Health Scotland team 
and the national ACE Hub. 

ACEs informed approaches 
including disseminating 
evidence based practice; 
link with national work 
streams and organisations 
to support implementation 
of all recommendations 
in this and other ACEs 
reports.

Increased awareness of 
the nature and influence 
of adversity on individuals, 
families and communities.

Ongoing 2019/20.

P
age 465



Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Presentation of the NHS 
Highland Director of Public 
Health Annual Report 2018 
to the NHS Highland Board, 
Highland Council, Highland 
Health and Social Care 
Partnership, Area Clinical 
Forum, MNAHP Committee.

Presentation and 
discussion by the CHC.

Increased awareness 
and wider discussion 
over trauma informed 
approaches.

Nov 2018 – May 2019.

Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Use of social media to 
raise awareness promoting 
events and provide 
additional information via 
Twitter (@acehighland).

NES animations 
Opening Doors https://
vimeo.com/274703693
Growing Seeds 
https://vimeo.
com/334642616

Maintaining Twitter site.

Raise awareness of 
animations.

Increase in Twitter 
followers.

Promotion of the Report.

Viewings of the animations.

Raised awareness.

As above.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Primary Prevention/Intervention  
Developing a community of interest among young people by:
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
A series of workshops to 
look at trauma informed 
approaches and rights 
based approaches with 
young people are being 
explored for later 2019 into 
2020.

Working with HighLife 
Highland and partners 
involved in workshops 
as part of preparing the 
DPH report: Inverness Fort 
William, Golspie.

Develop a methodology 
to involve young people in 
discussion about adversity 
through strength and 
rights based approaches 
that supports a relational 
approach to resilience.

A greater awareness of the 
origins of adversity and the 
impact and the importance 
of self care and skills to 
look after oneself and 
peers.

Where and how to seek 
help and support.

Spring 2019/20.

P
age 466



Developing communities of interest across north Highland by:
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG
Hosting of Resilience 
screenings and follow up 
discussion with community 
involvement.

Coordination of screenings 
and panel representation 
with teams and services 
including: Spirit of 
Advocacy, The Bridge, 
Phoenix Service, The Pines, 
Caithness, Fort William.

Discussion to support 
further work in Fort William 
and Skye.

A licence for the 
documentary Resilience 
was brought and the 
film  has been screened 
extensively across 
the HSCP with panel 
discussions.

Increased awareness of 
the impact of adversity 
and how to best respond 
through safe nurturing 
relationships.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Nurture Principles and 
Compassionate Classroom 
materials being delivered 
by Educational Psychology 
in primary/secondary 
schools.

Training and awareness 
raising across schools.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to create whole 
school relational safety. 

Secondary Prevention/Intervention 
Building awareness amongst Community Planning partners of the origins of adverse childhood experiences and the associated effects, impacts 
and costs across the life course in different services and settings.
Activity Input Output Outcome Timescale/BRAG 
Consideration of  trauma 
informed policy and 
practice with presentation 
and discussion NHS Board 
Development session 
re Adverse Childhood 
Experiences and Trauma 
Informed approaches.

Involvement of Executive 
and Non Executive 
Directors.

Further discussion with 
Communications Director 
and Director of HR.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to support 
children young people 
families communities and 
services to understand and 
make sense of trauma and 
its impact.

Spring/Summer 2019.

P
age 467



Exploring trauma informed 
approaches with paediatric 
diabetes tea, Special Care 
Baby Unit, Maternity teams  
Occupational Health team.

Key stakeholders, various. Trauma Informed self 
evaluations and tests of 
change: in development.

A more trauma informed 
and trauma aware and 
responsive workforce.

Spring/Summer 2019.

Work with the Health 
and Wellbeing Working 
to support and promote 
trauma informed services.

Time of staff to participate 
and support/ undertake  
awareness raising.

Additional awareness and 
skills to support wellbeing 
through a trauma informed 
lens.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to understand 
and make sense of trauma 
and its impact.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Screening of Resilience 
with presentation of the 
DPH Report and discussion 
over trauma informed 
approaches with Inverness 
Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service.

Time of staff to participate 
and support/ undertake  
awareness raising.

Additional awareness and 
skills to support wellbeing 
through a trauma informed 
lens.

A more trauma informed 
and trauma aware and 
responsive workforce.

Summer 2019.

Screening of Resilience 
with presentation of the 
DPH Report and discussion 
over trauma informed 
approaches with Family 
Mediation Highland.

Time of staff to participate 
and support/ undertake  
awareness raising.

Additional awareness and 
skills to support wellbeing 
through a trauma informed 
lens.

A more trauma informed 
and trauma aware and 
responsive workforce.

Summer 2019.

Tertiary Prevention 
Developing a community of interest around the development of trauma informed vision and values across Public Protection Committees 
including:
Action Input Output Outcome Timescale/Brag 
Child Protection 
presentation of the DPH 
Report and discussion 
over trauma informed 
approaches at CPC 
Development Day and 
Annual Conference.

Committee members, 
Conference attendees.

Presentation and 
discussion captured in 
event summary.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to understand 
and make sense of trauma 
and its impact.

Ongoing 2019/20.

P
age 468



Alcohol and Drugs 
Partnership Seminar 
presentation of the DPH 
Report and discussion 
over trauma informed 
approaches at ADP 
Development Day.

Delegates at the day. Presentation and 
discussion 
Summary of trauma 
informed self assessments.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to understand 
and make sense of trauma 
and its impact.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Violence Against Women 
Partnership.

Members of the 
Violence Against Women 
Partnership.

Presentation and 
discussion.

Increased skills in the 
workforce to understand 
and make sense of trauma 
and its impact.

Spring 2019.

Community Justice 
Partnership Screening of 
Resilience panel discussion  
Seminar presentation of the 
DPH Report and discussion 
over trauma informed 
approaches with Director 
of the Violence Reduction 
Unit.

Partnership members. Presentation and 
discussion.

Commitment from Violence 
Reduction Unit to support 
Sutherland and Caithness 
Community Planning 
Partnerships to better 
understand experiences 
of adversity in remote and 
rural communities.

Ongoing 2019/20.

Presentation and 
discussion to Public 
Protection Chief Officers 
Group on DPH Report 
re options to develop 
awareness of adverse 
childhood experiences 
and trauma informed 
approaches.

Chief Officers NHS 
Highland Council, North 
Highland Police.

Presentation and 
discussion.

Increased awareness of 
leaders to understand and 
make sense of trauma and 
its impact across services 
and with populations most 
at risk of poorer outcomes.

Winter 2019.

P
age 469



Notes

Director of Public Health Annual Report 201915

Page 470



Notes

Director of Public Health Annual Report 2019 16

Page 471



Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 
 
Public Health Directorate 
NHS Highland 
Larch House 
Stoneyfield Business Park 
Inverness  
IV2 7PA 
 
Publication produced and published by NHS Highland Public Health, 13 November 2019

Page 472



  

1

Integration Joint Board

Date of Meeting: Wednesday 27th November 2019
Title of Report: Alcohol and Drug Partnership Annual Report 18/19

Presented by: John Owens, Independent Chair of Argyll & Bute ADP
Alison McGrory, Health Improvement Principal

The IJB is asked to:
 Note the Annual Report submitted to Scottish Government in September 

2019.
 Consider how and on what the ADP should report to the IJB in future and the 

governance arrangements.
 Note progress with the recently updated Alcohol and Drug Partnership.
 Support the development of a new Alcohol and Drug Strategy for Argyll and 

Bute.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
All Alcohol and Drug Partnerships (ADPs) submit annual reports to the Scottish 
Government detailing work delivered in line with local and national priorities. 
Argyll and Bute’s annual report was submitted in September 2019. The purpose 
of this paper is to provide an update on alcohol and drug matters to the IJB.

2. INTRODUCTION
The Scottish Government requires each local authority area to convene an ADP. 
Although this is not a statutory requirement like other bodies such as community 
justice and child protection, there is an expectation that ADPs will develop strategic 
plans to reduce the harm caused by alcohol and drug problems and work in 
partnership to achieve these strategic aims. Annual reports of activity are required 
each autumn.

In July the Scottish Government in partnership with Cosla published a delivery 
framework for ADPs that set out the following requirements:

 A strategy and clear plans to achieve local outcomes to reduce the use of 
and harms from alcohol and drugs.

 Transparent financial arrangements.
 Clear arrangements for quality assurance and quality improvement.
 Effective governance and oversight of delivery.

Page 473 Agenda Item 15



  

2

This can be viewed here: https://www.gov.scot/publications/partnership-delivery-
framework-reduce-use-harm-alcohol-drugs/ 

3. DETAIL OF REPORT
3.1 Argyll and Bute ADP
There has been an ADP in place for many years in Argyll and Bute. A review of 
membership took place in early 2019 and this resulted in a refreshed ADP with 
approximately 20 members convening in August 2019. Members comprise all 
relevant stakeholders including third sector, people with lived experience and 
carers, police, fire and rescue, youth services, commissioned addiction 
services, and statutory addiction services. Members have recently signed up to 
the HSCP’s code of conduct developed for Locality Planning.

3.2 Alcohol and Drug Strategy
The ADP is in the process of developing a new strategy to oversee alcohol and 
drug activity in Argyll and Bute. This will be presented at the March IJB to be 
launched on 1 April 2020.

In 2018 the Scottish Government published two strategic documents to address 
alcohol and drug harms:
 Rights, Respect and Recovery
 The Alcohol Framework 2018

These documents set out a series of outcomes and priority actions for Scotland, 
supporting the delivery of the Public Health Priorities. This is summarised in the 
table below:

3.3 Scottish Government Annual Report
3.3.1 Section 1 indicates that Argyll & Bute ADP has a total budget allocation 

of £2,179,315. This is made up of £972,277 funding from Scottish 
Government through NHS Board Baseline, HSCP funding of £851,107 
and an additional allocation from SG of £355,931 via NHS Highland. This 
is spent in priority areas of prevention (£144,505); treatment & support 
services (£1,684,253); consequences of problem alcohol and drug 
use in ADP locality (£155,173).

Page 474

https://www.gov.scot/publications/partnership-delivery-framework-reduce-use-harm-alcohol-drugs/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/partnership-delivery-framework-reduce-use-harm-alcohol-drugs/


  

3

3.3.2 Section 2 outlines work undertaken towards established improvement 
goals across the Scottish Government’s Ministerial priorities:

PRIORITY *IMPROVEMENT GOAL 
2018-19
This should include your 

percentage target for 
each priority area where 

applicable.

PROGRESS UPDATE
Maximum of 300 words for each priority.  This 
should include percentage of delivery against 

target

1.  Preparing Local 
Systems to Comply 
with the new Drug 
& Alcohol 
Information System 
(DAISy)

 Work closely with 
service providers 
to ensure staff, 
service users and 
systems are ready 
for DAISy 
implementation.

 Provide 
support/advice, 
including 
opportunities to 
raise and discuss 
concerns, to all 
providers.

 Participate in 
national process 
to implement 
DAISy, 

 Argyll & Bute ADP has continued to 
work towards the implementation of 
DAISy. We have worked in partnership 
with our statutory sector service 
providers, Argyll & Bute Addiction Team 
(ABAT), and our contracted partners, 
Addaction, to try to ensure their 
readiness for DAISy when it arrives.

 The ADP support team coordinated a 
meeting between ABAT managers and 
staff, NHS Highland Data Protection 
Officer and Scottish Government in 
order to share concerns and answer 
questions (specifically with regards the 
introduction of a system that does not 
allow anonymous records). This was 
part of an ongoing process to increase 
confidence of staff in the purpose, 
effectiveness and current and future 
security of the reporting and recording 
system. The work has included an 
increased focus on the reduction of 
anonymous records being recorded.  In 
2016/17 the percentage of anonymous 
records was 65.4% this has decreased in 
2018/2019 to 48.2%.

 The ADP support team continue to 
attend the national DAISy planning 
meetings and have been able to share 
learning from these meetings locally.

2.  Tackling drug 
and alcohol related 
deaths (DRD & 
ARD)/risks in your 
local ADP area.  
Which includes - 
Increasing the 
reach and coverage 
of the national 
naloxone 
programme for 
people at risk of 

 Work towards 
including Alcohol 
Related Deaths 
within the Drug 
Related Deaths 
group 

 Increase 
participation at 
D/ARD meetings 
with relevant 
parties invited 
and encouraged 

 Argyll & Bute ADP has for many years 
undertaken regular meetings of its Drug 
Related Death Group. The regularity of 
the meetings is often dependent on the 
availability of information on the, 
sometimes small number of, drug 
related deaths.  The number of drug-
related deaths in was 10 in 2016, 8 in 
2017 and 9 in 2018.

 In order to effectively include Alcohol 
Related Deaths in this process the same 
level of information would need to be 

Page 475



  

4

opiate overdose, 
including those on 
release from prison 
and continued 
development of a 
whole population 
approach which 
targets harder to 
reach groups and 
focuses on 
communities where 
deprivation is 
greatest.

to engage with 
the process. 

 Establish process 
for recording 
death action 
plans and 
monitoring of the 
resulting actions 
(including 
identifying 
opportunities for 
future early 
intervention). 

 Participate in 
national DRD 
meetings and 
bring learning 
back to Argyll & 
Bute in order to 
improve 
processes.

 Work with local 
partners to 
increase 
Naloxone 
distribution

 Develop a 
process for 
identifying and 
responding early 
to new and 
emerging drug 
trends 

 Improve access to 
treatment for 
people living in 
remote and rural 
communities 

 Work with 
partners to 
engage with 
target groups 
who have 
previously been 
hard to reach 

available. To date this has been difficult 
to gather and has resulted in a delay in 
the inclusion of Alcohol Related Deaths 
in this process. However the ADP is 
committed to overcoming this barrier 
and will continue to seek solutions in 
2019/20.

 Throughout 2018/19 the attendance at 
DRD meetings increased and the ADP 
was able to widen the participation to 
include the consultant psychiatrist, 
ambulance service, Police Scotland and 
a Toxicologist. During this period the GP 
representative retired and we are in the 
process of identifying a suitable 
replacement in conversation with the 
Associate Medical Director.

 The ADP support team continue to 
attend the National Drug Related Deaths 
Coordinator meetings and have been 
able to share learning from these 
meetings locally.

 Argyll & Bute ADP Support Team have 
worked with the Addiction Team (ABAT) 
and our commissioned service provider, 
Addaction, to look at ways to increase 
training and widen the provision of 
Naloxone. There is an understanding 
that the barriers to wider distribution 
have been removed and partners should 
be building new routes for distribution.

 The ADP has increased communication 
with a number of partner ADPs, 
particularly those in other remote and 
rural areas of Scotland, and are sharing 
intelligence on drugs and new trends. 
This has been supported by the delivery 
of training to raise partner’s awareness 
of new and emerging drug trends.

 Through work with the ABAT, 
Addaction, recovery communities, SDF, 
TSI and a range of local partners the 
ADP has developed our Recovery 
Oriented System of Care, known locally 
as Papa, to better establish pathways to 
support for people throughout Argyll & 
Bute, particularly in remote and rural 
communities.

 SDF continue to deliver on the ADPs 
involvement strategy including engaging 
with previously hidden and hard to 
reach populations. This work is part of a 

Page 476



  

5

larger strategy to engage people in all 
elements of the ADPs work.

3.  Ensuring a 
proactive and 
planned approach 
to responding to 
the needs of 
prisoners affected 
by problem drug 
and alcohol use and 
their associated 
through care 
arrangements, 
including women

 Build on links 
between 
community based 
services and 
prison services 
serving Argyll & 
Bute. 

 Work with 
partners to 
review the needs 
of Argyll & Bute 
women in prison. 

 Develop a 
partnership 
approach with 
Community 
Justice and 
Criminal Justice 
teams to 
establish work 
aimed at ensuring 
a smoother 
transition 
between prison 
and community 
based services.

 Work with 
partners to 
establish early 
intervention 
approaches 
aimed at 
supporting 
people in Police 
Custody

 The ADP supported a funding bid by 
Community Justice co-ordinator to the 
Corra Foundation for establishment of 
better links between Scottish prison 
Service and local A&B services. 

 As part of the Community Justice 
proposal there will be information 
gathered on the needs of A&B women 
in prisons across Scotland. 

 The ADP is working alongside 
Community Justice and Criminal Justice 
to establish pathways based on the 
experience of people currently in or 
recently liberated from prison. 

 The ADP have worked with Addaction, 
NHS Mental Health Services and Police 
Scotland to establish an early 
intervention programme within Police 
Scotland custody suites aimed at 
offering support to people while they 
are in Police custody. It is hoped this will 
increase uptake of and referral on to 
appropriate services within the 
communities.

4.  Continued 
implementation of 
improvement 
activity at a local 
level, based on the 
individualised 
recommendations 
within the Care 
Inspectorate 
Report, which 
examined local 
implementation of 
the Quality 
Principles. 

 Involve people 
with lived 
experience, 
including current 
and former 
service users, 
families, young 
people at all 
levels within the 
ADP

 Work in 
partnership to 
develop local and 
area wide 
Recovery 

 The ADP has worked with SDF, SRC, 
SFAD, Addaction and ABAT to identify a 
number of routes for representation 
and to support people with lived 
experience to become members of the 
ADP. This has resulted in the ADPs new 
governance arrangements recognising 
lived experience reps as full members of 
the ADP, the identification, training and 
support of members to represent lived 
experience, families and young people.

 The ADP has worked with a range of 
partners to help establish and build 
recovery communities in areas across 
Argyll & Bute including remote 

Page 477



  

6

Communities 
 Work with SDF to 

implement the 
ADP’s 
involvement 
strategy.  

communities. This work continues to 
present challenges around 
sustainability, direction of travel and 
recruitment but significant progress has 
been made over the last 12 months with 
the establishment of an A&B wide 
Recovery Steering Group.

 SDF continue to lead on the delivery of 
the involvement strategy and are in the 
process of engaging with a wide range 
of partners (beyond the traditional drug 
and alcohol service providers) to 
establish the current levels of service 
user involvement, support needs of the 
services and consider their willingness 
to progress towards establishing a 
formal recognition system for those 
organisations who fully embrace the 
concepts and principles of service user 
involvement.

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS
An outcomes evaluation framework is expected to be published by Scottish 
Government late 2019 or early 2020. This will be used to performance manage 
the alcohol and drug outputs and outcomes across Scotland.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
The ADP contributes to several of the HSCP’s strategic priorities:

• Promote healthy lifestyle choices and increase self-management of long term 
conditions

• Reduce the number of avoidable emergency admissions to hospital. 
• Minimise the time that people are delayed in hospital.
• Reduce the adverse events for children and young people, and provide the 

best start in life for them.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS
6.1 Financial Impact
Section 1 of the report outlines the financial impact on the IJB of the delivery of 
services aimed at reducing the harms associated with alcohol and drug use in 
Argyll & Bute.
6.2 Staff Governance
The ADP is accountable to the IJB for all strategic planning and funding 
decisions. The ADP has responsibilities to the CPP for determining joint 
priorities and performance measures required for the Local Outcome 
Improvement Plan.
6.3 Clinical Governance
There are no clinical governance identified in this report.

7. PROFESSIONAL ADVISORY

Page 478



  

7

The Associate Director of Public Health oversees the work of the ADP.

8. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
An equality and diversity impact assessment will be completed for the new ADP 
Strategy.

9. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE 
There are no GDPR issues in this paper.

10.RISK ASSESSMENT
There are no identifiable risks identified in this paper. Alcohol and drug 
problems remain a risk to population health and wellbeing and therefore a 
preventable drain on the HSCP’s resources.

11.PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT
Argyll & Bute ADP understands and works to the standards of engagement set 
out in the HSCP Engagement Framework. Engagement specifications have 
been completed for the development of the new strategy. Engagement is also 
achieved via partner representation at ADP meetings. Further to this a small 
contract with the partner Scottish Drugs Forum includes stakeholder 
involvement.

12.CONCLUSIONS
This paper provides an update on the wider partnership work to reduce alcohol 
and drug related harm in Argyll and Bute. The ADP plays a key role in targeting 
resources and services from a range of partners to reduce negative impacts on 
individuals, families and communities. This Annual Report 2018/19 represents a 
small proportion of the work undertaken by ADP partners; specifically that aimed 
at meeting the Scottish Government’s Ministerial Priorities, it also gives an 
overview of funding allocated by the IJB to help meet these and other priorities 
set out by the ADP.

13.DIRECTIONS
Directions to: tick
No Directions required x
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Author Name: Alison McGrory
Email: alison.mcgrory@nhs.net

Page 479

mailto:alison.mcgrory@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



  

1

Integration Joint Board 

Date of Meeting: 27 November 2019

Title of Report: Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health 
Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?

Presented by: Charlotte Craig

The  IJB is asked to:
 Note the content of the report

 Consider the national context

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 In recent years the focus of Health and Sport Committee pre-budget 

scrutiny has been Integration Authorities (IA). The Public Bodies (Joint 
Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 required local authorities and NHS Boards 
to form partnerships called integration authorities by 1 April 2016. 

1.2 IA budgets totalled £8.9 billion in 2018-19, of which £6.3 billion was 
delegated from the NHS Budget, almost half of the total health and sport 
budget. The Committee agreed to maintain a continued focus in the pre-
budget scrutiny for 2020-21 particularly in light of concerns raised by the 
committee on the progress of integration. 

1.3 This report gives a focus to budget setting, acute and community care 
and the requirement to transfer care reducing unscheduled care and 
admissions and ensure patient needs are met in other more appropriate 
areas of the NHS. 

1.4 To enable this leadership and financial management of the IJB budget 
remain paramount and engagement with the public must become a key 
focus to truly transform services.

2. INTRODUCTION
Chief Officers and senior staff from a number of IJB’s gave evidence to the 
report on each of the areas of challenge identified. Supporting statements 
highlight where challenges and improved communication can be easily met 
and where there are genuine and complex problems.

3. DETAIL OF REPORT
This report highlights the key points made under each of the headings within 
the Scottish Governments report. 

Page 481 Agenda Item 16



  

2

3.1 Budget Process
The budget setting process covers two elements:

1. Health care
2. Social care

The partners decide how much is required to deliver the delegated services and 
how much each partner will contribute to these costs. 
In the Review of the Process of Integration there was some concern highlighted 
nationally on the timeliness of the confirmation of budgets to IJB’s.  Chief 
Officers/IJB’s identified that it would not be problematic to share financial 
information with the Scottish Government with the option of permitting more 
informed parliamentary scrutiny.
The recommendation is that Scottish Government work with IA’s to deliver a 
more timely release of information on agreed budgets.
3.2 Link between budgets and outcomes
The Scottish Government have highlighted the importance of linking 
expenditure to outcomes with an opportunity to establish the value of 
expenditure on services in terms of people experience of care.  Some work is 
currently being undertaken with the Chief Finance Officers network on linking 
budgets to outcomes. 
Chief Officer feedback was that while there was a clear advantage to 
developing an outcome based model the implementation of such would be 
challenging. This was reiterated by other IJB’s citing it was almost impossible to 
identify a cause and effect model.
The Scottish Government referenced the statutory duty required by IA’s to 
develop a strategic commissioning plan to enable a better level of outcomes 
based reporting. The recommendation made was that the IA’s would welcome 
guidance on reporting and an outline of the support available. 
3.3 Delayed Discharge
The section on delayed discharge outlines both what is considered delayed 
discharge, case studies on the impact of delayed discharge and recent 
statistical evidence. 
Nationally there has been a 6% increase in delayed discharge. It highlighted 
further localised information on waiting times for allocation to care at home 
especially where identified need was high or specialised or availability of care 
home accommodation.
Comment was made that while there is still delayed discharge the performance 
in managing this may have already been realised with a view that the strategic 
focus should “move away from the back door to the front door” that is 
preventing admissions. 
3.4 Intermediate Care
Intermediate care is utilised as a step up-step down approach primarily to 
support discharge from hospital where needs are still identified as requiring high 
levels of care, not necessarily in an acute environment. 

Page 482



  

3

Intermediate care is not a final destination for people and the challenges of 
fulfilling social care packages remain the same in this environment. This type of 
care is also not used nationally as a model. 
A request was made that the Scottish Government advise of intermediate care 
is an appropriate approach to caring for vulnerable people and if so should it be 
implemented across the country. A further request was made on data available 
and intent to publish. 
3.5 Unplanned Acute bed days
Effective integrated services would seek to reduce the number of unplanned 
acute bed days and preventing admission. 
Chief Officers and IJB’s noted the requirement to change the models of care 
with both Aberdeen and West Lothian particularly citing the requirements of 
individuals with dementia. Further case study information is provided on end of 
life care. 
There was a noted requirement to look at a whole system approach as to how 
we have fitter adults therefore negating the need for care and a recognition that 
at current levels demand could not be sustained.
3.6 Housing adaptations
Chief Officers were asked to respond on whether there was still any barriers to 
the timely provision of housing adaptations and that budget remained a 
challenge as the social care budget is reduced. 
It was highlighted that this is a key area in ensuring a timely discharge from 
acute services and as such funding requirement was key and also that it is only 
one of a number of key areas. 
3.7 Changing perceptions
Chief Officers highlighted a clinician will only recommend “a transfer of care if 
they see alternative safer models of care”, indeed if a referral to hospital is to be 
avoided then the alternative must be safe.
In transforming services if was volunteered that there required to be “bigger 
national messages to bring the public with us in relation to what is required to 
take the next big steps”. 
3.8 Transformation of services
This section uses the MSG indicators to measure the shift in the balance of care 
with the report requesting that the committee is kept informed. 
It highlights that benefits in approaches to care are consistent with reduction in 
budget requirement with less time spent in hospital. 
Recommendations are the focus on the “front door” and preventing admission 
with emphasis on preventative medicine, GP’s working with care homes and 
district nurses in the community reducing heavy reliance on acute services. 
Further recommendations are made on communicating to GP’s around 
alternatives to hospital referral, co-working when multiple IJB’s utilise a hospital 
to reduce unplanned admissions and an increase in health education and 
awareness with the aim of informing the public to reduce unnecessary calls and 
visits. 

Page 483



  

4

There is a clear leadership role for the Chief Officer to lead and engage with 
both partners, Scottish Government and the wider community. A shift in public 
perception and expectation is required. 
3.9 Set Aside Budget
Set aside budgets are highlighted as continuing to be problematic with the 
Scottish Government seeking resolution by the end of the year with clear 
reporting of sus released on a quarterly basis. 
Set aside budgets are not used in Argyll & Bute.
3.10 Leadership and Cultural Change
This is identified as a key area with the report stating that they do not believe 
that effective leadership is in place across all 31 IA’s to deliver the required 
change in relationships and ultimately the tytransformational change required.  
Audit Scotland also identified that a lack of collaborative leadership and cultural 
differences are affecting the pace of change. Audit Scotland also noted a high 
turnover at senior level, dual roles and lack of support services. 
In respect of the budget there are concrete example where integration is 
working but other where the budget has failed to lose its separate identities and 
become partnership funding. Scottish government is unclear as to why this is 
taking so long and identified some scepticism as to the attention being diverted 
to this area. 
Final recommendation is that the current indicators do not measure this and the 
Scottish Government identify a set of leadership indicators requiring boards to 
demonstrate achievements and progress.

4. RELEVANT DATA AND INDICATORS
As referenced p36-48.

5. CONTRIBUTION TO STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
This document outlines the key challenges in the shift in the balance of care 
for Integration Authorities and supports key actions points to address this.

6. GOVERNANCE IMPLICATIONS
6.1 Financial Impact

This report offers supporting narrative for the budget process
6.2 Staff Governance

Report for review no impact at this time
6.3 Clinical Governance

Consideration should be given to this report.

7. PROFESSIONAL ADVISORY
Consideration should be given to this report

8. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS
No direct equality and diversity implications from this report.

Page 484



  

5

9. GENERAL DATA PROTECTION PRINCIPLES COMPLIANCE 
Not applicable

10.RISK ASSESSMENT
Report should be considered on review of strategic risks and the delivery of 
the Strategic Priorities for Argyll & Bute.

11.PUBLIC & USER INVOLVEMENT & ENGAGEMENT
The report highlights the benefit of public and user involvement and the 
requirement to harness this for transformation.

12.CONCLUSIONS
The IJB is asked to note the report and consider the narrative and 
implications for change of practice which supports timely discharge from 
hospital care, the transfer of care to the community setting or having issues 
addressed in other more appropriate areas of the NHS, preventing 
admission. 

Leadership and financial management remain a priority and the level of 
engagement with the public must become a key focus. 

13.DIRECTIONS

Directions to: tick
No Directions required x
Argyll & Bute Council
NHS Highland Health Board

Directions 
required to 
Council, NHS 
Board or 
both.

Argyll & Bute Council and NHS Highland Health Board

REPORT AUTHOR AND CONTACT

Author Name Charlotte Craig
Email  charlotte.craig@argyll-bute.gov.uk

Page 485



This page is intentionally left blank



Published 3 October 2019
SP Paper 595

10th Report, 2019 (Session 5)

Health and Sport Committee
Comataidh Slàinte is Spòrs

Looking ahead to the Scottish
Government - Health Budget 2020-21:
When is Hospital bad for your health?

Page 487



All documents are available on the Scottish
Parliament website at:
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/
91279.aspx

For information on the Scottish Parliament contact
Public Information on:
Telephone: 0131 348 5000
Textphone: 0800 092 7100
Email: sp.info@parliament.scot

Published in Scotland by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body.

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliament Corporate Body
The Scottish Parliament's copyright policy can be found on the website —
www.parliament.scot

Page 488

http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/91279.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/91279.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot


Contents
Introduction ____________________________________________________________1

Budget setting process___________________________________________________3

Link between budgets and outcomes _______________________________________5

Delayed discharge_______________________________________________________7

Reasons for delayed discharge ___________________________________________ 11

Cost of delayed discharge _______________________________________________12

Intermediate care_______________________________________________________13

Unplanned acute bed days_______________________________________________14

Housing adaptations____________________________________________________19

Changing perceptions___________________________________________________21

Transformation of services_______________________________________________22

Set aside budget _______________________________________________________25

Leadership and cultural change __________________________________________30

Scrutiny of NHS boards _________________________________________________30

Sharing good practice __________________________________________________33

Conclusions___________________________________________________________35

Annexe A _____________________________________________________________36

Extracts from the Minutes of the Health and Sport Committee Meetings ___________36

Annexe B _____________________________________________________________37

Written evidence ______________________________________________________37

Supplementary written evidence __________________________________________37

Official Reports of meetings of the Health and Sport Committee _________________38

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)
Page 489



Health and Sport Committee
To consider and report on matters falling within the responsibility of the Cabinet Secretary for
Health and Sport.

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/
health-committee.aspx

healthandsport@parliament.scot

0131 348 5524

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report, 2019
(Session 5)

Page 490

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/health-committee.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/health-committee.aspx


Convener
Lewis Macdonald
Scottish Labour

Deputy Convener
Emma Harper
Scottish National Party

George Adam
Scottish National Party

Miles Briggs
Scottish Conservative
and Unionist Party

Alex Cole-Hamilton
Scottish Liberal
Democrats

David Stewart
Scottish Labour

David Torrance
Scottish National Party

Sandra White
Scottish National Party

Brian Whittle
Scottish Conservative
and Unionist Party

Committee Membership

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)
Page 491



Introduction
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

At the start of the Parliamentary Session, the Committee agreed to adopt a full year
budgeting approach, building an element of budget scrutiny into all aspects of its
work, as detailed in its 2nd report, 2016 (Session 5) Health and Social Care
Integration Budgets .

In 2018, the Committee undertook pre-budget scrutiny in May/June and published a
report in October 2018 aimed to feed into the budget process, rather than
responding to the Budget when published. The Scottish Government provided a
detailed response shortly after the Budget was published, in December 2018. As
such, the Budget Process Review Group recommendations were reflected in the
Committee’s approach.

In recent years, the focus of the Committee’s budget scrutiny has been on
Integration Authorities (IAs). The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014
required local authorities and NHS boards to form partnerships called integration

authorities by 1 April 2016. The aim of the policy was -

To improve the quality and consistency of services for patients, carers, service
users and their families; to provide seamless, joined up quality health and
social care services in order to care for people in their homes or a homely
setting where it is safe to do so; and to ensure resources are used effectively
and efficiently to deliver services that meet the increasing number of people

with longer term and often complex needs, many of whom are older. 1

IA budgets totalled £8.9 billion in 2018-19, of which £6.3 billion was delegated from
the NHS budget. IAs therefore direct almost half of the total health and sport
budget. The Committee agreed a continued focus on IA budgets in the pre-budget
scrutiny for 2020-21, particularly in light of the ongoing concerns raised by the
Committee in respect of the progress of integration.

The 2018 Audit Scotland report identified that Integration Authorities (IAs) are
“operating in an extremely challenging environment and there is much more to be
done”. It made a number of recommendations in six areas -

• Commitment to collaborative leadership and building relationships;

• Effective strategic planning for improvement;

• Integrated finances and financial planning;

• Agreed governance and accountability arrangements;

• Ability and willingness to share information; and

• Meaningful and sustained engagement. 2

The Ministerial Strategic Group for Health and Community Care (MSG), Review of
Progress with Integration of Health and Social Care - Final Report, agreed with the
Audit Scotland recommendations and comments that the recommendations should
be acted upon in full by the statutory health and social care partners in Scotland. It

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

1

Page 492

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052016R02.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052016R02.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/20181221_Cab_Sec_Budget_Response.pdf


6.

7.

also acknowledges that “the pace and effectiveness of integration need to

increase.” 3

To inform our work, we held informal sessions, in private, with Scottish Government
officials and Audit Scotland. We also invited selected Integration Authority chief
officers to give evidence to the Committee on 21 May and 4 June 2019. These
meetings focussed on budget setting challenges, reporting against outcomes,
operation of the set aside budget, performance data specifically in respect of
delayed discharge and unscheduled care hospital admissions.

The timing of this report, in advance of the publication of the Scottish Government’s
budget, is to provide the Scottish Government with time to consider the
implementation of our recommendations in its forthcoming budget 2020-21.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

2

Page 493



Budget setting process
8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

Integration authorities direct health board and local authority funding. IA budgets
consist of two elements, which may vary in size and scope depending on the

functions delegated to the integration authorityi -

• Health care (including primary and community health, as well as relevant
hospital services); and

• Social care.

To set IA budgets, the integration authority, NHS and local authority partners work
together to determine how much is required to deliver the delegated services and
how much each partner will contribute to these identified costs. This budget is then

directed to the integration authority. 4

An issue the Committee has pursued vigorously over recent years is access to
comprehensive and timely information on IA budgets. In response to Committee
recommendations, the Scottish Government is now providing quarterly financial
updates. While this is welcome, there is a time lag in reporting. This means that in
May/June 2019, when the Committee was undertaking pre-budget scrutiny, no
information was available on the budgets agreed for 2019/20. Through the normal
reporting timescales, this information would not be available until September – six
months into the financial year to which they relate. Therefore, whilst some progress
has been made and welcomed, there remains a considerable delay in accessing
information on budgets agreed at the start of the financial year.

We have previously been informed the reason for the delay in IAs agreeing budgets
was due to the difference in financial planning timeframes in local authorities and
health boards which has impacted on the agreement of budgets in advance of the
start of the financial year. In response to this the MSG report recommended
budgets be agreed by the end of March 2019 and, in response to a question in the

Chamber, the Cabinet Secretary indicated she expected this timetable to be met. 5

It is understood that budgets are now being agreed more timeously. However, it
remains challenging to access this information on a consistent and comparable
basis until well into the financial year.

At our evidence session on 4 June 2019, we asked witnesses if there was a
particular reason why timely financial information can not be provided to the
Parliament. We received an overwhelmingly positive response from chief officers.
Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer for Glasgow Integration Joint Board (IJB)
stated, “we set our budget at our March meeting, just over two months ago. It would
be straightforward to find a mechanism to share that information with the

Parliament. I’m sure that would not be problematic.” 6 This position was reiterated
by Aberdeen City IJB and West Lothian IJB at the meeting.

Scottish Government Response

i The Scottish Parliament Information Centre briefing, 'Health and social care integration:
spending and performance update', page 16

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

3

Page 494

https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12036&i=108895
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf


14.

The Scottish Government has indicated the challenge in reporting agreed budgets
for IAs relates to the timing of IA board meetings, at which the release of financial
information needs to be agreed by all partners. Although this is currently an
obstacle to the provision of budget information, the positive reaction of those giving
evidence to the Committee suggests it would be feasible to agree earlier release of
budget information. This would ensure more timely access to budget information to
inform partners, recipients and crucially to permit more informed parliamentary
scrutiny.

We recommend the Scottish Government works with IAs to deliver more timely
release of information on agreed budgets.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

4

Page 495



Link between budgets and outcomes
15.

16.

17.

18.

Integrated Authorities have a statutory duty to report against nine national health
and wellbeing outcomes . In our budget report of 2016, we first raised concerns
over the IAs’ awareness of these reporting requirements and the apparent lack of

progress towards publishing budget information of this nature. 7 Our 2018 report
highlighted continued challenges with IAs adopting this approach. We concluded –

The Scottish Government must, in advance of the publication of the budget,
provide reassurance that developing budget information against outcomes is a
top priority, advise when this information will be available and provide further
information on the work that is being undertaken with the deadlines set for

delivery. 8

Scottish Government View

In response to the recommendation in our 2018 report, the Cabinet Secretary stated
-

We recognise the importance of linking expenditure to outcomes, and that it will
enable us to establish the value of expenditure on services in terms of people’s
experience of care. Integration Authorities are making progress using the data
provided via the Source system (managed by NHS National Services Scotland)
and analytical support for strategic commissioning provided via the LIST (Local
Intelligence Support Team) provided by NHS National Services Scotland. The
processes for planning and reporting under integration – strategic
commissioning plans that span three years, annual financial plans, and annual
performance reports and financial statements – all provide important
mechanisms to set out local expectations and experience of the relationship

between spending and outcomes. 9

It is our understanding that the Scottish Government is working with the Integration
Authority Chief Finance Officer Network to provide guidance on linking budgets to
outcomes. Reflecting on our 2016 and 2018 reports, we were keen to hear from
witnesses what progress had been made.

However, when asked on 4 June 2019 what support the Scottish Government
provides for developing budgeting relating to outcomes, limited information was
given. The question was repeated again in written correspondence and we received
the following responses –

Aberdeen City have not received any support from the Scottish Government in

this regard. (Aberdeen City IJB) 10

There has been limited support to date provided by the Scottish Government

on outcome based budgeting. (West Lothian IJB) 11

The Scottish Government has been in discussion with the Chief Finance

Officers in relation to this subject. (Glasgow IJB) 12

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

5

Page 496

https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Health-Social-Care-Integration/National-Health-WellbeingOutcomes
https://www2.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Policy/Health-Social-Care-Integration/National-Health-WellbeingOutcomes


19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

Whilst Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer for Glasgow IJB recognised,“there

can be clear advantages from developing an outcome based budgeting model,” 13

he also highlighted the challenges encountered from implementation. He argued it
is “resource intensive and extremely complicated to develop a modelling tool which
will accurately reflect which budgets contribute to the delivery of which outcomes".
14

Edinburgh IJB also confirmed that “whilst the idea of linking money to outcomes is
valid, it is not straightforward. There is not a one to one relationship between
investing money in a service and getting the outcome that you want, because

outcomes are delivered through a variety of services.” 15

In written evidence, South Lanarkshire IJB acknowledges the “complexity and level
of ongoing change involved with integration makes it impossible to directly link

cause and effect". 16 They are therefore using a tool called ‘contribution analysis’. It
is a method for linking inputs (such as time, money, expertise, resources) to
outcomes (such as good quality of life, reduced inequalities) and is very useful
when the inputs and outputs are complicated. The aim of the methodology is to
identify the contribution a development intervention – such as a project or
programme – has made to a change or set of changes. Aberdeen IJB confirmed
they will be visiting South Lanarkshire to review this new approach.

East Ayrshire IJB highlighted that the Scottish Government is providing “rich data”
17 which helps to ask questions about the changes required in the community and
identify the priorities.

It would appear that through their own initiatives, IAs are taking an innovative
approach and sharing good practice in order to meet their statutory duty in this
area.

We expect this statutory duty to be met by all IAs and welcome an update from
the Scottish Government as to when this will happen and how details of it will be
reported. We would also welcome details of the support currently being provided
by the Scottish Government in this area.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

6

Page 497



Delayed discharge
25.

26.

27.

28.

The Information Services Division (ISD) Scotland advise, “for most patients,
following completion of health and social care assessments, the necessary care,
support and accommodation arrangements are put in place in the community
without any delay and the patient is appropriately discharged from hospital. A
delayed discharge occurs when a patient, clinically ready for discharge, cannot
leave hospital because the other necessary care, support or accommodation for
them is not readily accessible and/or funding is not available, for example to

purchase a care home place". 18

Understanding the reasons for varying levels of delayed discharge in particular, was
a key aspect of our Committee pre-budget scrutiny. If this aspect of the health
service is not managed effectively, it has serious implications for the overall budget.

Prior to our oral evidence sessions for this inquiry, the Scottish Government provided
the following information on delayed discharge. The diagram below represents a
pathway for one delayed patient, Mr A. Mr A was an 85 year old man admitted to
hospital with infected ulcers. He was still delayed after 130 days in hospital. This
was his experience of care –

Source: The Scottish Government

Day 2 in Mr A’s journey through the care system was the window of opportunity to
help him achieve a good outcome. Mr A had some pain but little sign of infection at
this stage and his family were able to support him. An opportunity missed at Day 2

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

7

Page 498



29.

30.

31.

for Mr A led to a series of complications until Day 130 when he was finally ready to
await a care package.

The Scottish Government also highlighted the detrimental effects of staying in
hospital for too long and the physical impact this can have on the body, particularly
for older people –

• Muscle wastage (3 weeks in bed = 30 years of ageing)

• Pressure sores, loss of independence, delirium – 5 times more likely to be
admitted to a care home.

• Nearly 1 in 5 older people moving independently before admission will need
assistance to walk after discharge.

Source: The Scottish Government

It could therefore be argued that that whilst sending patients home too early may
pose a risk, keeping patients in hospital, when ready for discharge, is equally
damaging to their health. Reviewing a patient’s case and discharging them from
hospital at the earliest opportunity is crucial (for example day 2 for Mr A). Once
home, the patient’s needs can be assessed and a care package finalised. Being
assessed in their own home, with their family present is also likely to increase the
patient’s confidence.

We know that the Scottish Government is committed to significantly reducing the
number of patients waiting to move to their next destination and the most recent
Audit Scotland report found that there had been a reduction in delayed discharge
between 2016-17 and 2017-18. However, this progress is not consistent across the

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

8

Page 499



32.

33.

country as shown in the table below and in evidence from the chief officers on 4
June 2019. Also, in some cases positive progress in 2017-18 has been reversed in
2018-19.

4. Delayed discharge bed days; all reasons
Change

Partnership of residence 2017-18 2018-19
Change (number)

(%)
Aberdeen City 19,202 13,172 -6,030 -31%
Aberdeenshire 16,334 17,221 887 5%
Angus 7,042 5,318 -1,724 -24%
Argyll & Bute 8,414 9,530 1,116 13%
City of Edinburgh 76,933 81,071 4,138 5%
Clackmannanshire 2,227 4,025 1,798 81%
Dumfries & Galloway 12,228 15,593 3,365 28%
Dundee City 10,893 9,376 -1,517 -14%
East Ayrshire 4,730 5,038 308 7%
East Dunbartonshire 3,557 5,031 1,474 41%
East Lothian 10,668 7,839 -2,829 -27%
East Renfrewshire 1,860 2,284 424 23%
Falkirk 16,726 19,644 2,918 17%
Fife 29,173 33,811 4,638 16%
Glasgow City 29,897 38,656 8,759 29%
Highland 36,302 37,824 1,522 4%
Inverclyde 1,609 835 -774 -48%
Midlothian 12,295 12,934 639 5%
Moray 11,487 12,727 1,240 11%
Na h-Eileanan Siar 5,854 7,876 2,022 35%
North Ayrshire 16,854 19,373 2,519 15%
North Lanarkshire 36,834 34,760 -2,074 -6%
Orkney Islands 1,411 452 -959 -68%
Perth & Kinross 16,785 14,203 -2,582 -15%
Renfrewshire 4,680 6,085 1,405 30%
Scottish Borders 14,246 12,750 -1,496 -11%
Shetland Islands 1,499 1,395 -104 -7%
South Ayrshire 14,152 21,536 7,384 52%
South Lanarkshire 41,187 38,473 -2,714 -7%
Stirling 5,827 6,991 1,164 20%
West Dunbartonshire 3,439 3,512 73 2%
West Lothian 19,269 21,880 2,611 14%
Stirling and Clackmannanshire 8,054 11,016 2,962 37%
Scotland 493,614 521,215 27,601 6%

Source: Information Services Division (ISD)

The table above illustrates the number of days where beds are occupied by patients
ready to be discharged, for each IA over the past two years. The overall figure for
Scotland has increased from 493,614 (2017/18) to 521,215 (2018/19), an increase
of 6% overall.

Theresa Fyffe, Director of Royal College of Nursing Scotland, commented on the
ISD report and 6% increase -

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

9

Page 500



34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

It is unacceptable for people to be kept in hospital unnecessarily and is
completely at odds with the Scottish Government’s vision of safe, high quality
care at home or in a homely setting. More must be done to improve the
resources in our communities.

Scotland’s care homes are struggling to recruit the nursing staff required to
ensure they can meet the needs of those who are well enough to be
discharged from hospital but continue to require clinical care.

The Scottish Government must do more to address these workforce challenges
and ensure Integration Authorities and NHS boards have the resources they

need. 19

Of the six IJBs who gave evidence to our Committee, Aberdeen City has seen the
most substantial reduction at -31%. In written evidence, they also stated,
“comparing the total number of bed days lost to delayed discharges in year 2015/16
to the bed days lost in the most recent full year, 2018/19, there has been a 70%
decrease recorded. Through a programme of dedicated work focussing on delays
(alongside wider prevention workstreams), year on year decreases have been

achieved". 20

New figures obtained through Freedom of Information legislation on 12 September
2019, revealed that “86 people died in Lothian hospitals in 2018/19 while waiting to

be discharged, the highest number in Scotland". 21

Age Scotland, also published research earlier this year which highlighted the
average waiting time for people to access social care after being assessed as
having "critical" or "substantial needs" was five weeks in Edinburgh and more than

six weeks in West Lothian. The longest wait was more than 35 weeks. 22

Brian Sloan, chief executive of Age Scotland, described the situation as “tragic”. He
said -

These are people who were well enough to be discharged, but most were
delayed because the social care they needed was not available.

Despite the Scottish Government’s repeated promises to tackle delayed
discharges, these figures show that the problem is spiralling out of control. It's
unacceptable that people in Edinburgh and the Lothians face waits of up to 35
weeks to get the care they need. We urgently need more investment in our
social care system, so that every older person can access the care they are

entitled to. 23

West Lothian IJB has experienced an increase of 2,611 (14%) over the past two
years. Chief officer, Jim Forrest, addressed the concerns on delayed discharge at
our Committee meeting. He admitted their “performance on delayed discharges

deteriorated quite significantly about 18 months to two years ago". 24 He argued
that the cause of this delay is due to care home beds being at full capacity, the
standard of care homes decreasing which affects new admissions, a change in

demographics and significant operational issues. 25

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

10

Page 501



40.

Reasons for delayed discharge

41.

42.

Glasgow City IJB has also experienced an increase of 8,759 (29%). However,
Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer for Glasgow IJB, highlighted progress
made on delayed discharge over the past few years, stating, "our performance in
managing delays has improved progressively since 2011 to December 2017, when
our performance experienced its first sustained reversal in almost 7 years.
Performance has since consolidated at a higher level compared to November

2017". 26 He did also readily admit that the IJB has “already realised most of the

opportunity that exists to improve the overall impact of delays on the system”. 27

Stephen Fitzpatrick made a key point that hospitals can only make limited progress
on delayed discharge moving forward. The strategic focus needs to “move away

from the back door, to the front door". 28

The ISD report published on 11 September 2018, highlighted the key reasons for
delayed discharge in Scotland. In 2017/18, awaiting completion of care
arrangements was the most frequent reason with an average number of 459 delays
(34%). In addition, an average of 347 (26%) delays were due to people waiting for
care home availability and 285 (21%) delays were due to complex delay reasons,
which includes delays under adults with incapacity legislation. Awaiting community
care assessment accounted for 15% of delay reasons, other reasons (including
patient and family related delays) accounted for 3% and delays awaiting funding for

care home placements accounted for 1% of delay reasons. 29 The information is
illustrated in the figure below.

Source: Information Services Division (ISD)

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

11

Page 502



Cost of delayed discharge

43.

44.

The ISD report also estimated the cost of delayed discharges in 2016/17 in
Scotland was £125 million, with an estimated average daily cost of £234 per patient,
per day. In comparison, the estimated cost of delayed discharges in 2015/16 was

£132 million and an estimated average daily cost of £233 per patient, per day. 30

It is recognised a focus on the most effective pathway for patients commencing at
pre-admission and admission will reduce delays in discharge and help to alleviate
costs and pressures on acute care.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

12

Page 503



Intermediate care
45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

To reduce delayed discharge in hospitals, intermediate care is used in some areas
of Scotland to varying degrees. In follow up evidence to the Committee, Stephen
Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer at Glasgow City IJB, advised that “the aim is to
ensure that patients discharged from hospital, where possible, return to their own
home. However, for some individuals, a return home is not possible due to the level
of support required at that time of discharge, the housing circumstances which may
not support discharge, or a requirement to undertake further assessment in order to

ensure effective decision making about the longer term needs of the individual”. 31

He also advised, there are “90 beds commissioned within 6 x 15 bed units across
Glasgow City which act as a step down facility for residents of Glasgow City from

hospital”. 32

We also heard from Kenny O’Brien, service manager at Aberdeen City IJB. He
stated, there are “20 beds in a care home that deliver intermediate care with
wraparound physiotherapy and OT [Occupational Therapy] but we also have 19

flats that are designed to mimic a person’s own front door and their home.” 33

Patients can regain their independence whilst they are being assessed. Often, the
amount of care, support and social care a patient requires initially, is reduced as a
result of the intermediate care model.

Although progress has been made by way of intermediate care, it was suggested
that a reduction in delayed discharge figures does not “directly mean that people

are getting their social care packages quicker”. 34 Intermediate care is not a final
destination for the patient, it merely moves them out of the acute setting and
alleviates pressure on the ward whilst the patient is assessed at another location.
Returning patients to the most appropriate destination is still being delayed
regardless of the terminology used. In Glasgow, we heard that patients can often
wait four weeks until a package at home or appropriate social care setting is

provided. 35

We also received written evidence to confirm that “West Lothian does not operate a
bed based model of intermediate care as an alternative to a care at home

approach”. 36 Therefore, as the intermediate care provision does not operate in all
areas of the country, it is difficult to gauge its sustainability and success.

Some reductions in delayed discharge have been made by utilising intermediate
care. However, we heard evidence that not all IJBs use this model of care and it
has varying degrees of success across Scotland.

We ask the Scottish Government to advise if intermediate care is an appropriate
approach to caring for vulnerable people and if so should it be implemented
across the country. We also request the Scottish Government to advise what data
on intermediate care is available and their intention to collect and publish this
data.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

13

Page 504



Unplanned acute bed days
51.

52.

53.

54.

In addition to delayed discharge and intermediate care, chief officers discussed
acute unplanned bed days with us, which is also an indicator monitored by the
MSG. It is intended that more effective integration of services will help reduce the
number of unplanned acute bed days. As outlined earlier in our report, attention
also needs to focus on preventing hospital admissions.

Glasgow’s IJB board paper in May describes how the IJB is tackling unscheduled
hospital admissions. It highlights a decrease in unscheduled acute bed days in each
year since 2016-17. However, the trajectory suggests an increase in 2019-20.
Glasgow’s written evidence to the Committee states that,“progress has been made
in relation to unscheduled hospital admissions, and bed days lost due to delays” but
it has been challenging.

Eddie Fraser, chief officer for East Ayrshire IJB, commented on the lack of any
reduced pressure in acute services in response to reductions in unscheduled bed
nights –

MSG indicators on unscheduled care bed nights show that many partnerships
across Scotland—probably the majority—have reduced the number of
unscheduled care bed nights that they commission from the acute sector, but
sometimes the acute hospitals are just as busy. In board areas such as NHS
Ayrshire and Arran, where more than one IJB uses a hospital, all the partners
need to reduce the pressure on the hospital before there is any release” of

unscheduled care beds. 37

The Scottish Government provided us with data which illustrates the number of
unplanned bed days per person aged 75+ by partnership. On average, delays make
up 13% of overall bed days, but this varies from 2.5% in Inverclyde to 28% in
Highland.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

14

Page 505

https://glasgowcity.hscp.scot/sites/default/files/publications/ITEM%20No%2014%20-%20Unscheduled%20Care%20Performance%20Update.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190522_Glasgow_City_written_evidence.pdf


55.

56.

57.

Source: The Scottish Government

Sandra Ross, chief officer for Aberdeen IJB, also highlighted the way in which the
city has addressed hospital admissions. They have “tested and implemented acute
care at home, which started off being geriatrician led, and through which people
have either been coming out of hospital or have been turned around at the front

door”. 38 Often, patients with dementia are re-admitted to hospital and Aberdeen
are considering a dementia village to alleviate this concern. Sandra Ross also
confirmed the IJB "work closely with GPs and care homes in order to maintain

clinical oversight of patients" 39 and reduce hospital admissions if they can be
prevented.

On a similar theme, Jim Forrest, chief officer for West Lothian IJB, outlined the ways
in which they are tackling dementia in the area without hospital admissions. He
stated, “we seconded a GP to work with a nurse practitioner to go round all our care

homes to look at how we set anticipatory care planning for patients”. 40 In addition,
West Lothian have also created a mental health team led by psychology

colleagues. The team work with care home staff to provide support for patients. 41

The Committee requested further information on the range of daily costs for each
care environment. The information below was provided by Glasgow, Aberdeen City
and West Lothian IJBs. It is clear that the average cost of hospital per day in each
of the three IJBs is greater than all other care settings provided.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

15

Page 506



58.

59.

60.

Source: The Scottish Parliament

The Scottish Government also provided us with a case study to illustrate the costs
involved for the last six months of a patient’s life and their journey through the
health care system.

The diagram below illustrates Mrs B’s experience of care at age 80. Mrs B had five
long term conditions (Arthritis, Cancer, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
(COPD), Dementia and Diabetes) and lived in a relatively deprived area. Mrs B was
living at home at the start this period. Mrs B spent 55% of her last six months in
hospital; 30% in a care home; and 15% at home. The cost of her care was £49,000.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

16

Page 507



61.

Source: The Scottish Government

By contrast to the care of Mrs B, the diagram below illustrates a different example
from the same partnership. Mrs C was another 80 year old woman, she had four
long term conditions (cardiovascular disease, chronic heart disease, chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and dementia) and lived in a relatively
affluent area. In total, Mrs C spent 46% of her last six months at home and 41% in a
care home, the rest (14%) being in hospital. The cost of her care was £16,000.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

17

Page 508



62.

63.

64.

65.

Source: The Scottish Government

Reviewing the above information from the Scottish Government and written
submissions, it is clear that the daily cost of intermediate care, home care or a care
home are all significantly less than residing in hospital. It is clear that whilst delayed
discharge is a key issue across Scotland, it is not the sole reason for delays and
there are opportunities which exist and could be utilised, for example, preventative
medicine.

Reducing the number of patients entering hospital by meeting their needs in the
community, will have a positive impact on occupancy, staffing levels and waiting
times overall. This will also improve outcomes for patients and reduce costs.

The Integration Authorities are vital to making progress in this area. Yvonne Lawton,
head of strategic planning at West Lothian IJB, advised, “we should be looking at it
from the other angle. If we presume that home is the first place that we want to be,
how can we design our systems around maintaining someone at home for as long

as possible?”. 42

In agreement, Sandra Ross, chief officer at Aberdeen City IJB advised, “we need to
start looking at the whole system and thinking about how to shape the prevention
agenda. How do we make sure we that we will have fitter adults? We need to focus
on our children, then we will have less ill population in the future. That prevention
agenda will help shift that balance. Given the demographics, it will be extremely

difficult to maintain things if we continue with what we have at the moment." 43

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

18

Page 509



Housing adaptations
66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

Another area fundamentally linked to delays in discharge and the transformation of
delivery of services from acute care into the community are housing adaptations.
When patients are in hospital and due to return to the community, often discharge is
delayed as their house requires an adaptation or they are waiting on suitable
accommodation to meet their needs. We heard that “adaptations are a good, robust

example of work that we do to sustain people in their homes". 44

The issue of housing adaptations was also addressed by the Local Government
and Communities Committee in their 2019-2020 pre-budget scrutiny . In a letter to
that Committee, the Cabinet Secretary for Communities said –

We are grateful to the Committee for its continued interest in our work on
housing adaptations. This work has a practical focus, identifying barriers and
potential areas for development within existing regulations, guidance and
practice relating to adaptations. Officials will work actively with stakeholders to
support Integration Joint Boards and their partners to improve arrangements at
local level in the planning and delivery of the adaptations and ensure the
person centred, tenure neutral approach to housing adaptations that both
Ministers and the Committee want to see right across the country. We expect
this work to continue to progress over the course of the calendar year and

complete by the end of 2019. 45

We asked chief officers if they felt there remained barriers to the timely provision of
housing adaptations and any particular aspects that needed addressed. Kenny
O’Brien, service manager for Aberdeen City IJB admitted there has “certainly been

pressure on budgets and increasing demand” 46 but they have done relatively well
in Aberdeen on this issue. He observed, there will always be a “lag of time from the

identification of the need to completion”. 47 However, the IJB is working hard with
social work employees and discharge hubs. "If someone has surgery for an
amputation and we know that they live in a tenement three floors up, rather than

wait until they are referred, we will get housing issues sorted earlier". 48

The IJB has also obtained tenancies of two disabled-access and wheelchair
accessible flats in the city. They have been adapted significantly to “work with a
wide spectrum of individuals with different occupational therapy and adaptational

needs”. 49 This initiative, allows patients to leave hospital sooner and retain their
skills and independence, whist they are waiting to be rehoused or for their own
home to be adapted.

Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer for Glasgow IJB, confirmed that housing
adaptations is a live issue in Glasgow too. They had saught to “prioritise and protect

the budget when income for social care has been reducing”. 50 Whilst noting the
importance of adaptions, he also highlighted that the issue is a “marginal factor in
delayed discharge in Glasgow and a marginal cause of unscheduled admissions to

acute care”. 51 The balance of care within the community is key.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

19

Page 510

https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/110025.aspx


71.

72.

73.

74.

South Lanarkshire stated, “supporting people and households to live independently
in their own home or a homely setting within the community is a core cross-cutting

theme.” 52 They also advised that “over the three year period since 2016, a total of
£15.587m has been spent by Housing Services on equipment, adaptations and the

care of gardens to support people to remain at home.” 53

The Local Government and Communities Committee have completed work on
housing adaptations during their pre-budget scrutiny for the past two years. We
endorse their conclusion that “people should have access to a safe and secure
home which meets their needs. A properly funded, streamlined and effective
adaptations programme is an important part of enabling people to remain in their
homes for longer as well as enabling people to more quickly return home from

hospital thus reducing delayed discharge”. 54 We also note a key recommendation
of the Report of the Adaptations Working Group stating there should be a strategy
for housing adaptations, which is ‘tenure neutral’ with a single funding source.

Further information can be found in their Report on the Scottish Government’s Draft
Budget 2018-19 and Report on the Scottish Government’s Draft Budget 2017-18

It is clear that sustained focus on the timely provision of housing adaptations is a
necessity to enable older people to live at home for longer. All IJBs we contacted,
acknowledged the significance of housing adaptions and the need for funding
requirements but accepted it is only one aspect of transferring care from acute
services to the community.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

20

Page 511

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2012/12/adapting-for-change-final-report-adaptations-working-group/documents/adapting-change-final-report-adaptations-working-group-pdf/adapting-change-final-report-adaptations-working-group-pdf/govscot:document/Adapting%20for%20Change%20-%20final%20report%20from%20the%20Adaptations%20Working%20Group.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/LGC/2018/1/22/Report-on-the-Scottish-Government-s-Draft-Budget-2018-19/LGCS52018R2.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/LGC/2018/1/22/Report-on-the-Scottish-Government-s-Draft-Budget-2018-19/LGCS52018R2.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/S5_Local_Gov/Reports/LGCS052017R02.pdf


Changing perceptions
75.

76.

77.

78.

We have highlighted the daily cost of residing in hospital compared to home care,
intermediate care or a care home and shown that shifting the balance of care from
acute services to the community using preventative care and housing adaptations is
a positive, necessary and cost effective move. Public engagement on changing
models of care was another theme we explored in our inquiry.

Eddie Fraser, chief officer for East Ayrshire IJB, illustrated his concern on this topic
when he said, “our clinicians are only willing to transfer care if they see safe
alternative models of care: if a practitioner is not going to refer someone to hospital,

there must be an alternative that they feel is safe”. 55

Val de Souza, chief officer for South Lanarkshire IJB, agreed, highlighting the
challenges for integration authorities in the future. She said, “we work in an
environment in which demand and complexity are increasing as people live longer

and with more conditions”. 56 Transformation of services is required and we “need
bigger national messages to bring the public with us in relation to what is required to

take the next steps”. 57 Val de Souza also acknowledges that many people in
society do not like change, but it is the responsibility of chief officers to lead on this
transition, demonstrate that change is good and promote confidence in the system.

Val de Souza, also saw a need to change perceptions around hospital and
community care –

We need a scattergun approach to communicate the need for change and the
fact that being in hospital is a bad thing. The general public still believe that a
hospital is a good and safe place in which to be, but—with no disrespect to my

acute colleagues—it is not a place in which to languish or stay. 58

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

21

Page 512



Transformation of services
79.

80.

81.

82.

It was suggested the term ‘transformation of services’ requires further clarity and to
be clearly communicated to members of the public. It is estimated that a saving of
£300 million must be made across the 31 integrated authorities this year and every

year for the next three years. 59 To achieve this £900 million, difficult decisions will
have to be taken, resulting in a change to the way services are delivered throughout
each community. Eddie Fraser, chief officer for East Ayrshire IJB, is of the view that
it is still possible to make savings and invest in the community. He argued that
individuals need to feel valued and included, stating, “our public health colleagues
tell us that the impact of someone being excluded and of social isolation is the

same as if they smoked 15 cigarettes a day". 60

Scottish Government view

In a response to our report in 2018, “Looking ahead to the Scottish Government -
Health Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health
and social care in Scotland?”, the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport
committed that, “by the end of this Parliament, more than half of frontline NHS

spending will be in community health services”. 61 In order to accelerate the pace of
change required in behaviour and practice, we asked the Scottish Government to
consider re-evaluating this aim and whether a more ambitious target could be
provided.

Latest figures show a shift towards community health services in 2017-18. The level
currently stands at 49.6% and this is set out in the diagram below.

Source: The Scottish Government

The Scottish Government’s Ministerial Strategic Group (MSG) for Health and
Community Care focuses on six indicators that are regularly monitored. These are -

• Acute unplanned bed days;

• Emergency admissions;

• A&E performance (including four-hour A&E waiting time and A&E
attendances);

• Delayed discharge bed days;

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

22

Page 513



83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

88.

• End of life spent at home or in the community; and

• Proportion of over-75s who are living in a community setting. 62

Audit Scotland reviewed performance data for each of the above indicators and
found that performance had improved against four of the indicators. Performance
had weakened in respect of emergency admissions and A&E performance.

Audit Scotland also found significant local variation in performance between IAs.
The MSG report also made reference to the variation in performance and
highlighted that future savings within the health and social care budget depend on
reducing this variation –

The Scottish Government Medium Term Financial Framework includes an
assumption of efficiencies from reduced variation in hospital care coupled with

50% reinvestment in the community to sustain improvement. 63

Nationally, there is a mixed picture of success of integration for the six Ministerial
Strategic Group indicators (Table 1).

Source: The Scottish Government

A report highlighting progress of the MSG indicators will be considered in
November 2019. We request that the Committee is kept informed.

We acknowledge the steps taken to streamline the patient journey from hospital
to the community with regards to intermediate care and the financial commitment
from the Scottish Government for at least 50% of frontline NHS spending to take
place in the Community Health Service by 2021. However, delayed discharge
continues to be a key issue and progress remains inconsistent across Scotland. It
is clear that the daily cost of intermediate care, home care or care homes are all
significantly less than residing in hospital and further improvements would both

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

23

Page 514

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/


89.

90.

91.

92.

93.

94.

be of benefit to patients and also deliver budget savings. We are also concerned
for the physical and mental well-being of the patient if the risk of residing in
hospital is greater than the risk of being discharged.

We recommend an increased focus is given on the ‘front door’ of hospitals
reducing unscheduled care and admissions and ensuring the needs of patients
are met and addressed in other areas of the NHS. A proactive approach with
emphasis on preventative medicine, GPs working with care homes and district
nurses in the community will reduce heavy reliance on acute services.

We recommend a review of communication strategies around alternatives to GP
referrals. GPs must have the confidence to offer alternative aspects of the health
care system to the patient. Hospital is not always the best and most suitable
option.

We also recommend an increase in the provision of health education and
awareness, particularly in relation to ensuring patients are fully informed of all
options to obtain appropriate advice and care. This will reduce unnecessary calls
to the GP, out of hours service and A&E. In turn, this will assist in alleviating costs
and pressures on the acute service.

Where there is more than one IJB using the same acute care service, it is
essential they work together to reduce the number of unscheduled care
admissions.

Priority also needs to be given to housing adaptations - reviewing and speeding
up ways in which the move from hospital to person-centred accommodation is
provided. IJBs must improve arrangements at a local level in the planning and
delivery of adaptations across the country. This needs work to be monitored and
reported on and its delivery from the next calendar year onwards. We look
forward to receiving an update on progress towards implementing the
recommendations in the Adaptations Working Group report.

It is clear there is a responsibility on the chief officers to lead and fully engage
with the local authority, health board, Scottish Government and wider community
in order to move forward with the transition in the way services are delivered. A
shift in public perception and expectation is required. All public bodies must work
towards this outcome and it is imperative there is transparency, confidence and
openness in the health care system.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

24

Page 515

https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2012/12/adapting-for-change-final-report-adaptations-working-group/documents/adapting-change-final-report-adaptations-working-group-pdf/adapting-change-final-report-adaptations-working-group-pdf/govscot:document/Adapting%20for%20Change%20-%20final%20report%20from%20the%20Adaptations%20Working%20Group.pdf


Set aside budget
95.

96.

97.

Closely linked to unplanned acute bed days/unscheduled care is the set aside
budget. The set aside budget represents the Integrated Authorities share of the
budget for delegated acute services provided by large hospitals on behalf of the IA.

An IA identifies how much it expects will be required for unscheduled care in its
area. A decision is then made as to whether this amount is included or excluded in
the sum allocated to the IA by the NHS Board. When not directly included, it is “set
aside” and retained by the NHS Board to be drawn down by the IA as needed.

Some NHS boards manage set aside differently and do not use this terminology but
the principle we are referring to is described in this section of the report and
illustrated in the diagram below -

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

25

Page 516



98.

99.

100.

Source: The Scottish Parliament

If expenditure on delegated acute services is more than the amount anticipated in
the budget, the IA will be required to fund this additional expenditure from
elsewhere in the budget. Alternatively, if expenditure is lower than anticipated (for
example a reduction in A&E or unplanned admissions) then the IA should – in
theory – have access to the funds released and be able to direct that additional
funding to other parts of its operation.

Set aside was a topic we followed closely in our 2018 report, “Looking ahead to the
Scottish Government - Health Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired
outcomes for health and social care in Scotland?”. We concluded that “there
remains a disconnect between how the set aside budget should operate in principle

compared to how it is operating in practice”. 64 It was apparent that IJBs were not

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

26

Page 517



101.

102.

103.

104.

105.

106.

effectively controlling set aside and funds were remaining under the control of the
health board.

We also concluded that “The Scottish Government described the set aside budget
as a mechanism for shifting the balance of care, however this mechanism is not
being utilised effectively across all IAs. Some IAs describe the budget as a
“notional” budget rather than an actual budget that they can use to affect change.”
65

Scottish Government view

In response to our conclusions in the 2018 report, the Cabinet Secretary confirmed-

We need to step up the pace of integrating health and social care. Truly
integrated services, focused on the needs of citizens – individuals, carers and
families, and on the health and wellbeing of local communities – require
leadership and personal commitment. We need to act together to accelerate
progress. We expect each health board, in partnership with the Local Authority
and Integration Authority, to fully implement the set aside requirements of the

legislation in line with the statutory guidance published in June 2015. 66

Following our report, the Ministerial Strategic Group report agreed the set aside
budget is not operating as intended -

Each Health Board, in partnership with the Local Authority and IJB, must fully
implement the delegated hospital budget and set aside budget requirements of
the legislation, in line with the statutory guidance published in June 2015.
These arrangements must be in place in time for Integration Authorities to plan
their use of their budgets in 2019/20. The Scottish Government Medium Term
Financial Framework includes an assumption of efficiencies from reduced
variation in hospital care coupled with 50% reinvestment in the community to
sustain improvement. The set aside arrangements are key to delivering this

commitment. 67

Reflecting on the outcome of our 2018 report, we were intrigued to hear further
evidence on this aspect of the budget. Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer of
Glasgow City IJB, outlined the difficulty when an acute service is operating at 90%
capacity. He stated there is reluctance to release some of the resource to invest in

community alternatives. He accepted that the “system can not be sustained” 68

unless funding can be reviewed and there is a more efficient way to fund services.
A whole system approach is required.

We also heard the set aside budget is clearly not working as originally intended in
South Lanarkshire. Chief finance officer, Marie Moy suggested, “Over the next eight
years up to 2027, the older population in Lanarkshire will increase by almost 30%.
To accommodate that increase, [we] would need to make available more beds and
social care home services by shifting the balance of care. The underlying
assumption that we could release resources from the acute services to fund [a shift

to community care] is unrealistic and flawed". 69

On a more positive stance, Edinburgh IJB were able to provide the Committee with
examples of where they have “planned and delivered services differently with

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

27

Page 518

https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/


107.

108.

109.

110.

111.

funding from acute services being used or earmarked to deliver more community
based or community facing, services –

• Services for people transferred from the Acute Mental Health Royal Edinburgh
Hospital to deliver support to people in their own tenancy in the community;

• Closure of the Corstorphine Hospital and support to men and women with
learning disabilities in the community in their own homes; and

• Plans for the closure of the Liberton Hospital and for resources there to deliver
community models of support, re-enablement and early intervention under a

Home First model.” 70

South Lanarkshire IJB were able to provide a concrete example of when the set
aside budget has been used effectively although recognising there was “no pathway

or guidance when [they] started to work on it.” 71 Their example of Udston Hospital
was also used as a case study in the 2018 Audit Scotland Report “Health and social
care integration: Update on progress”.

The case study reported on the closure of a care of the elderly ward at Udston
hospital, after it was identified that patients could be better served in a community
setting. “Prior to the ward closure, it was estimated over £1 million would be
available to be used for other aspects of the health care system. Of this, it was
eventually agreed that £0.70 million should be redirected to improve or provide
community-based services. The remaining £0.37 million was retained by the
hospital sector, to meet cost pressures on the set aside budget (such as inflation)
and for reinvestment in acute hospital services, as demand was expected to change
as a result of the ward closure. The plans for the £0.70 million for community
reinvestment (alongside £0.06 million from elsewhere in their budget) are illustrated

in the diagram below”. 72

Source: The Scottish Parliament

The aim of this transition was to address the need for services that respond to crisis
care, prevent hospital re-admission and reduce the need to reside in hospital.

Particular issues identified during the process were -

1. Consultation and engagement - the integration joint board undertook public
engagement to develop their Strategic Commissioning Plan allowing for the
ward closure and change to community care (and existing governance
arrangements as they related to engagement with NHS staff).

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

28

Page 519



112.

2. Ownership of the money and savings, as well as how these were spent – it was
complicated to determine and agree where identified savings belonged in

relation to the integration authority, health board, or local council. 73

Set Aside budgets continue to be problematic in many ways including initial
identification and release of “savings”. This is an unacceptable position four years
after integration and we expect all issues to be resolved by the end of this
financial year and clear identification of released sums reported quarterly.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

29

Page 520



Leadership and cultural change
113.

114.

115.

116.

117.

118.

Scrutiny of NHS boards

119.

120.

Leadership and the importance of relationships has been a theme throughout our
work this session, during our pre-budget scrutiny and an issue we investigated in
our 2018 report, “Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget
2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health and social care in
Scotland?”. In the 2018 budget report, we concluded that “a number of integration
authorities do not appear to be exerting [a] challenge function and ultimately their

authority and control over the budget is being dictated by individual partners". 74

That report further states, “We do not believe at this stage we are seeing evidence
that IA leadership across all 31 IAs is equipped to deliver [the required] change in
relationships and ultimately deliver the transformational change in health and social

care that is required". 75

Audit Scotland found that “a lack of collaborative leadership and cultural differences
are affecting the pace of change” and highlighted the high level of turnover at senior
level, the dual roles often held by chief officers/chief financial officers and the lack of
support services.

The Ministerial Strategic Group report also committed the Scottish Government and
COSLA to identify and address leadership development needs and stated that
“relationships and collaborative working between partners must improve”.

Scottish Government View

The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport provided the following response to this
aspect of the Committee report on 21 December 2018 –

The Scottish Government agrees that strong, effective leadership centred on
partnership working across health and social care is central to the success of
integration. It is important to be clear that responsibility for making good
progress in reasonable timescales is shared across the system and does not
sit solely with individual organisations or individuals, no matter how senior.
Trust between partners varies around the country. We are committed to
ensuring both the correct expectations and conditions for integration are in
place locally and nationally, and our work to review progress with integration is

focussing especially on leadership challenges. 76

We have been interested throughout the year to examine leadership and ascertain
what if any, improvements can be identified since we reported.

This session, our Committee has undertaken one-off evidence sessions with all
territorial health boards. As organisations that receive public funds, they fall to be
held accountable by the Health and Sport Committee in relation to their
performance, value for money and meeting of objectives.

Common themes identified throughout this process was the issue of brokerage and
lack of leadership at the most senior level. We heard from a number of health

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

30

Page 521

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/


121.

122.

123.

124.

125.

126.

127.

128.

boards which sought brokerage over consecutive years. Last year, the Scottish
Government provided one health board with £18 million to balance the financial
overspend on areas such as “medical staffing—particularly locum medical

staffing—drugs and social care”. 77 At least two Boards have also been have been
escalated to ‘Stage 4’, the second highest level of concern and risk identified by the
Scottish Government, which is defined as there being ‘significant risks to delivery,
equality and financial performance or safety; senior level external support required’.
78

We would welcome confirmation from the Scottish Government as to whether
brokerage provided in this financial year will require to be repaid.

In our 2018 report, The Governance of the NHS in Scotland - ensuring delivery of
the best healthcare for Scotland, we considered Corporate Governance. We
highlighted that "the main purpose of boards is to provide effective leadership,
direction, support and guidance to organisations and ensure that the policies and

priorities of Scottish ministers (and the Scottish Government) are implemented". 79

We looked at how NHS leadership was providing the vision and the strategic
direction to deliver the transformational change required in health and social care.
As well as considering the functions boards should perform, we also considered
whether the approach and behaviours adopted at the senior levels of the NHS were
fostering a culture of openness and improvement.

The Scottish Government 'On Board' guidance details that two of the main functions
of a board are to ensure strategic leadership and financial stewardship. The
guidance details this should include developing and agreeing the organisation's
strategy and ensuring financial information is accurate and financial controls and
systems of risk management are robust and defensible.

The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport told us, “Our NHS boards are
responsible for providing the vision and the strategic direction through which they

deliver high-quality, safe and effective care to our communities.” 80

However, our evidence suggested that boards faced challenges in delivering this
strategic leadership. There was a perception from some board members that NHS
boards were powerless to set strategy and affect the change they want. They
attributed this largely to the delegation of board functions to IJBs, the greater
regional planning of services, and their assertion that much of the strategic direction

is set centrally by the Scottish Government. 81

Our Corporate Governance report in 2018, our 2018 budget report, our ongoing
scrutiny of NHS health boards as well as this report, all provide evidence to
highlight the challenges at senior leadership level. We remain clear that only
through strong leadership can the transformational change required across health
and social care be delivered.

The Public Audit and Post-legislative Scrutiny Committee’s recent report also
highlighted leadership and workforce challenges as a key theme for audits in the
public sector.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

31

Page 522

https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/PAPLS/2019/9/1/Key-audit-themes/PAPLSS052019R5.pdf


129.

130.

131.

132.

133.

134.

Their report concluded there is an urgent need to address the leadership challenges
the public sector is facing and "effective leadership is critical to the delivery of high
quality public services which meet the needs of users of such services and also

provide good value-for-money". 82 They also consider the "style and quality of
leadership within organisations affects service users, staff, and the partners with

whom public bodies need to work". 83

The Committee further recognised that "making decisions requires leaders to take
risks to pursue certain services and to stop providing others and, as such, leaders

will need to possess the necessary skills and experience in order to do so". 84 It
recommended that the Scottish Government take action across its directorates, and
in collaboration with other public bodies, to address this issue.

In written evidence to our Committee this year, Glasgow City IJB made a number of
comments that suggested relationships were not supporting integration and there is
still considerable work to be done–

The chief officer and chief finance officer experienced very limited engagement
with NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde during 2018/19 in the lead up to the

budget offer issued. 85

They also said–

Integration requires all three parties [Local Authority, Health Board and IJB] to
work together to assess what is required to deliver integration in the local area,
which includes the budget. The IA is required to operate in this way, however to
date Partner bodies and budget process continue to operate in isolation which
results in budget decisions being taken by one partner which can have
implications for the wider health and social care system and therefore the other

Partner body and IA. 86

This topic was investigated further with Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer
for Glasgow IJB. We also requested further written evidence with regards to
whether money has lost its ‘social care’ or ‘health’ identity in the IJB in order for
integration to exist. Stephen Fitzpatrick advised there has been a “conscious effort
made by the IJB to lose the identity of funding within the elements of the system

that the partnership controls”. 87 However, there is a structural issue still to be
resolved of how the money flows in and out. This continues to place constraints on
the IJB.

Both sets of Partners remain vested in the budget allocation which they
delegate to the IJB and expect this to be used to fund services within their
respective services. As an example, Glasgow City Council’s budget report
stated, ‘It is anticipated that the contribution from the IJB to the Council will be
in line with the Council’s approved budget.’ This is contrary to the spirit of
integration and the IA’s statutory responsibility to determine how funding is

directed. 88

When reviewing the cultural change required for the Local Authority and Health
Board, he stated it is “not realistic to expect cultural change to take place on the

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

32

Page 523



135.

136.

137.

138.

Sharing good practice

139.

same timescales” 89 Glasgow IJB have “concerns that the conditions do not yet

exist to give full effect to the policy intentions of the legislation”. 90

Jim Forrest, chief officer for West Lothian IJB, agreed more can be done and a shift
in culture and attitude is at the heart of the issue. He highlighted that “good

governance structures and oversight” 91 are needed to allow a change to happen.
Adding, this is still an ongoing development.

In written evidence to the Committee, Jim Forrest also advised that “good progress
is being made in developing integrated approaches to planning but more work

needs to be done in this area.” 92 He also provided a few examples of where pooled
funding is being used to deliver the best outcomes for people -

• The Learning Disability Transformation Programme has facilitated the redesign
of local services for people with learning disabilities. The programme has
involved a whole system approach and is delivering a shift in the balance of
care enabling people to live as far as possible in a homely setting;

• Pooled funding has been used to establish an integrated discharge hub within
St John’s Hospital which has seen health and social work staff co-located
alongside the local carers’ support organisation. The purpose of the hub is to
deliver more seamless and timely discharges from hospital where ongoing care
and support are required; and

• Pooled funding has been used to develop a discharge to assess model to
support early discharge from hospital through a reablement approach. This has
seen resources from health and social care being invested to enhance social

care provision. 93

Progress has also been made in Aberdeen City. Chief officer, Sandra Ross
confirmed the “IJB has full control over their budget and there is no or little
reference to where the budget ultimately came from in the budget monitoring or
budget setting processes. It’s difficult to provide a specific example, as there is no

ownership over funding and the budget is managed and operated as one". 94

Kenny O’Brien, service manager for Aberdeen City IJB, also confirmed “he has a
shared budget now, it is not a council budget. It does not matter what is on the
ledger. Consequently, I was very able to talk with our primary care colleagues and
agree the appropriate contracts and service level agreements to support the
medical cover and nursing cover to allow the seamless flow and turnover of people

into those kind of settings”. 95

In a response to our 2018 budget report, the Scottish Government also provided
information on how integration authorities are working together to share good
practice. The Cabinet Secretary said -

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

33

Page 524



140.

141.

142.

143.

“chief officers of Integration Authorities across Scotland launched a
collaborative leadership network called “Health and Social Care Scotland” at
their inaugural annual conference on 7 December 2018. The First Minister
opened the event, which provided an opportunity for partnerships to share

learning and practice with one another”. 96

However, evidence received in our Committee meeting on 4 June, highlighted
limited success in this area. When asked if enough is being done to share good
practice across all integration authorities, Kenny O’Brien, confirmed, “it is not 100

NHS boards consistent across all the elements that we are working on”. 97 Stephen
Fitzpatrick, concurred, stating there is always room for improvement. He said, “there
is a lot of innovation out there and sometimes you happen upon it by accident.

Glasgow tries to “look externally and to avoid the temptation to be too insular”. 98

Stephen Fitzpatrick added–

...it is important for all agencies to have a proactive approach to sharing
information, reviewing what is working well across other partnerships and
investigating how that can be achieved in your own area.

Strong leadership is fundamental to the integration of health and social care in
order to deliver transformational change in services. Whilst we have heard
concrete examples of where integration is working, there are still too many areas
where this is not happening. Four years into the integration process there is
evidence that funding for integration authorities is still failing to ‘lose its identity’
and all become partnership funding as legislation intended. It is clear that
improvements require to be made.

We are unclear why this is taking so long and given the preponderance of reports
highlighting this issue, sceptical about the attention and urgency being diverted in
this area.

Leadership is critical and we observe the six indicators which are the focus of

regular monitoring of the MSG 99 do not directly measure this. We recommend
the Scottish Government identify a set of leadership indicators requiring boards to
demonstrate their achievements and progress.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

34

Page 525



Conclusions

144.

145.

146.

147.

We heard Hospital is not a "place in which to languish or stay". Prolonged stay
can have a detrimental effect on the health and well being of the patient,
particularly the elderly. There is clear evidence hospital is for many not a cost
effective or healthy setting.

In order to transfer care from the acute to community setting, an increased focus
on the ‘front door’ of hospitals is required. There is a need to reduce unscheduled
care and admissions and ensure the needs of patients are met and addressed in
other, more appropriate areas of the NHS.

Leadership and financial management of the IJB budget remain paramount and
require closer attention and monitoring.

The level of engagement required with members of the public must become a key
focus in order to truly transform services.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

35

Page 526



Annexe A

Extracts from the Minutes of the Health and Sport
Committee Meetings

12th Meeting, 2019 (Session 5) Tuesday 30 April 2019

1. Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21 (in private): The Committee considered its approach to
Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21.

14th Meeting, 2019 (Session 5) Tuesday 21 May 2019

2. Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21: The Committee took evidence as part of its Pre-Budget
Scrutiny from—

• Judith Proctor, chief officer, and Moira Pringle, Chief Finance Officer, Edinburgh
Integration Joint Board;

• Val de Souza, chief officer, and Marie Moy, Chief Financial Officer, South Lanarkshire
Integration Joint Board;

• Eddie Fraser, chief officer, and Craig McArthur, Chief Financial Officer, East Ayrshire
Integration Joint Board.

3. Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21 (in private): The Committee considered the evidence
heard earlier in the meeting.

16th Meeting, 2019 (Session 5) Tuesday 4 June 2019

1. Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21: The Committee took evidence as part of its Pre-Budget
Scrutiny from—

• Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Older People's Services and South
Operations, and Alan Gilmour, planning manager, Older People and South Locality,
Glasgow City Integration Joint Board;

• Sandra Ross, chief officer, and Kenny O'Brien, service manager, Aberdeen City
Integration Joint Board;

• Jim Forrest, chief officer, and Yvonne Lawton, Head of Strategic Planning, West
Lothian Integration Joint Board.

3. Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21 (in private): The Committee considered the evidence
heard earlier in the meeting.

22nd Meeting, 2019 (Session 5) Tuesday 1 October 2019

1. Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21 (in private): The Committee considered a revised draft
report on its Pre-Budget Scrutiny 2020-21. Various changes were agreed to, and the report
was agreed for publication.

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

36

Page 527

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Minutes/HS_Minutes_30.04.19(1).pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Meeting%20Papers/HS_MINUTES_21.05.19.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Minutes/HS_MINUTES_04.06.19.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Minutes/HS_Minutes_01_10_19.pdf


Annexe B

Written evidence

• Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board written evidence

• South Lanarkshire Integrated Joint Board written evidence

• East Ayrshire Integrated Joint Board written evidence

• Glasgow City Integrated Joint Board written evidence

• Aberdeen City Integrated Joint Board written evidence

• West Lothian Integrated Joint Board written evidence

Supplementary written evidence

• Letter from Lewis Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee to
Jeane Freeman MSP, Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport – 14 May 2019

• Letter to Lewis Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee from
Jeane Freeman MSP, Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport – 20 May 2019

• Letter to Lewis Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee from
Jeane Freeman MSP, Cabinet Secretary for Health and Sport – 5 June 2019

• Letter to Judith Proctor, chief officer, Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board from Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 6 June 2019

• Letter to Val de Souza, chief officer, South Lanarkshire Integrated Joint Board from
Lewis Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 6 June 2019

• Letter to Eddie Fraser, chief officer, East Ayrshire Integrated Joint Board from Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 6 June 2019

• Letter from Eddie Fraser, chief officer, East Ayrshire Integrated Joint Board to Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 25 June 2019

• Letter from Judith Proctor, chief officer, Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board to Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 27 June 2019

• Letter from Val de Souza, chief officer, South Lanarkshire Integrated Joint Board to
Lewis Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 8 July 2019

• Letter to Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Older People’s Services and
South Operations, Glasgow City Integrated Joint Board from Lewis Macdonald MSP,
Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 24 June 2019

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

37

Page 528

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190503_Edinburgh_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190513_South_Lanarkshire_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190508_East_Ayrshire_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190522_Glasgow_City_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190523_Aberdeen_City_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190503_West_Lothian_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190514_Ltr_OUT_to_CabSecHS_prebudget_scrutiny.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190514_Ltr_OUT_to_CabSecHS_prebudget_scrutiny.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/111840.aspx
https://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/CurrentCommittees/111840.aspx
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190605_Ltr_IN_CabSecHS_pre_budget.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190605_Ltr_IN_CabSecHS_pre_budget.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190606_Ltr_OUT_to_Edinburgh_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190606_Ltr_OUT_to_Edinburgh_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190606_Ltr_OUT_to_South_Lanarkshire_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190606_Ltr_OUT_to_South_Lanarkshire_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190606_Ltr_OUT_to_East_Ayrshire_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190606_Ltr_OUT_to_East_Ayrshire_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190625_Ltr_IN_from_East_Ayrshire_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190625_Ltr_IN_from_East_Ayrshire_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190627_Ltr_IN_from_Edinburgh_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190627_Ltr_IN_from_Edinburgh_IJB.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_South_Lanarkshire_IJB_V2.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_South_Lanarkshire_IJB_V2.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf


• Letter to Sandra Ross, chief officer, Aberdeen City Integrated Joint Board from Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 24 June 2019

• Letter to Jim Forrest, chief officer, West Lothian Integrated Joint Board from Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 24 June 2019

• Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Older People’s Services and
South Operations, Glasgow City Integrated Joint Board to Lewis Macdonald MSP,
Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 8 July 2019

• Letter from Sandra Ross, chief officer, Aberdeen City Integrated Joint Board to Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 19 July 2019

• Letter from Jim Forrest, chief officer, West Lothian Integrated Joint Board to Lewis
Macdonald MSP, Convener of the Health and Sport Committee – 22 July 2019

Official Reports of meetings of the Health and Sport
Committee

Tuesday 21 May 2019 - evidence from Integrated Joint Boards

Tuesday 4 June 2019 - evidence from Integrated Joint Boards

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)

38

Page 529

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_Aberdeen_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_Aberdeen_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190624_Ltr_OUT_to_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190719_Ltr_IN_from_Aberdeen_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190719_Ltr_IN_from_Aberdeen_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190722_Ltr_IN_from_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190722_Ltr_IN_from_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf


The Scottish Parliament Information Centre briefing, 'Health and social care
integration: spending and performance update', p6

1

Audit Scotland, 'Health and social care integration report, update on progress' , page
5

2

Scottish Government publication, Health and social care integration: progress review.3

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre briefing, 'Health and social care
integration: spending and performance update', page 16

4

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre, Committee briefing, 21 May 20195

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 26

Health and Sport Committee, 2016 (Session 5): Health and Social Care Integration
Budgets (SP Paper 44).

7

Health and Sport Committee Report, 'Looking ahead to the Scottish Government
Health budget 2019-2020 - Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health
and social care in Scotland?, page 27

8

The Scottish Government response to the Health and Sport Committee 2018 budget
report, 21 December 2018

9

Letter from Sandra Ross, chief officer, Aberdeen City Integrated Joint Board, 19 July
2019

10

Letter from Jim Forrest, chief officer, West Lothian Integrated Joint Board, 22July 201911

Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Glasgow City Integrated Joint
Board, 8 July 2019

12

Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Glasgow City Integrated Joint
Board, 8 July 2019

13

Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Glasgow City Integrated Joint
Board, 8 July 2019

14

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 2515

Letter from Val de Souza, chief officer, South Lanarkshire Integrated Joint Board, 8
July 2019

16

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 2617

Information Scotland Division (ISD) website18

Comment provided from the Royal College of Nursing Scotland to the Health and
Sport Committee, 17 September 2019

19

Written submission from Aberdeen City Integrated Joint Board20

Edinburgh Evening News article, 12 September 201921

Edinburgh Evening News article, 12 September 201922

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

Page 530

https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/6/26/Health-and-social-care-integration--spending-and-performance-update/SB%2019-44.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/6/26/Health-and-social-care-integration--spending-and-performance-update/SB%2019-44.pdf
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2018/nr_181115_health_socialcare_update.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052016R02.pdf
https://www.scottish.parliament.uk/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052016R02.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/10/29/Looking-ahead-to-the-Scottish-Government---Health-Budget-2019-20--Is-the-budget-delivering-the-desired-outcomes-for-health-and-social-care-in-Scotland-/HSS052018R9.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/20181221_Cab_Sec_Budget_Response.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190719_Ltr_IN_from_Aberdeen_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190722_Ltr_IN_from_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_South_Lanarkshire_IJB_V2.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/HealtCh-and-Social-Community-Care/Delayed-Discharges/
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190523_Aberdeen_City_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.edinburghnews.scotsman.com/health/86-people-died-in-lothian-hospitals-while-waiting-to-go-home-1-5002945
https://www.edinburghnews.scotsman.com/health/86-people-died-in-lothian-hospitals-while-waiting-to-go-home-1-5002945


Edinburgh Evening News article, 12 September 201923

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 724

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 725

Written submission from Glasgow City Integrated Joint Board26

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 927

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 1028

Information Services Division Report 'Delayed discharges in NHSScotland' 11
September 2018, p12

29

Information Services Division Report 'Delayed discharges in NHSScotland' 11
September 2018, p15

30

Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Glasgow City Integrated Joint
Board, 8 July 2019

31

Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Glasgow City Integrated Joint
Board, 8 July 2019

32

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 1433

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 1234

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 1235

Letter from Jim Forrest, chief officer, West Lothian Integrated Joint Board, 22 July
2019

36

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 3737

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2038

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2139

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2240

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2241

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2542

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2643

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3544

The Scottish Government response to the Local Government and Communities
Committee 2019-2020 pre-budget scrutiny report, 19 December 2018

45

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3646

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3647

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)
Page 531

https://www.edinburghnews.scotsman.com/health/86-people-died-in-lothian-hospitals-while-waiting-to-go-home-1-5002945
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190522_Glasgow_City_written_evidence.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/Publications/2018-09-11/2018-09-11-DelayedDischarges-Annual-Report.pdf
https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/Publications/2018-09-11/2018-09-11-DelayedDischarges-Annual-Report.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190722_Ltr_IN_from_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_Local_Gov/Inquiries/20181219_Budget_CabSecCLGToConvener.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf


Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3648

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3749

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3750

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3751

Letter from Val de Souza, chief officer for South Lanarkshire Integrated Joint Board, 8
July 2019

52

Letter from Val de Souza, chief officer for South Lanarkshire Integrated Joint Board, 8
July 2019

53

Local Government and Communities Committee: Report on Scottish Government's
draft budget 2019-2019, 22 January 2018

54

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 755

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 656

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 657

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 1358

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 1359

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 1260

The Scottish Government response to our pre-budget scrutiny report 'Looking ahead
to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the
desired outcomes for health and social care in Scotland?, 21 December 2018

61

Ministerial Group for Health and Community Care, MSG data review, page 662

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre, Committee briefing, 21 May 201963

Health and Sport Committee:'Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health
Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health and social
care in Scotland? page 23

64

Health and Sport Committee:'Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health
Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health and social
care in Scotland? page 23

65

The Scottish Government response to the Health and Sport Committee 2018 budget
report, 21 December 2018, page 18

66

Ministerial Strategic Group Report67

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3068

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 3969

Written submission from Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board70

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

Page 532

http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_South_Lanarkshire_IJB_V2.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_South_Lanarkshire_IJB_V2.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/LGC/2018/1/22/Report-on-the-Scottish-Government-s-Draft-Budget-2018-19/LGCS52018R2.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/LGC/2018/1/22/Report-on-the-Scottish-Government-s-Draft-Budget-2018-19/LGCS52018R2.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/20181221_Cab_Sec_Budget_Response.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/minutes/2019/06/ministerial-strategic-group-for-health-and-community-care-papers-may-2019/documents/item-4-msg-data-review/item-4-msg-data-review/govscot%3Adocument/Item%2B4%2B-%2BMSG%2Bdata%2Breview.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/20181221_Cab_Sec_Budget_Response.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/ministerial-strategic-group-health-community-care-review-progress-integration-health-social-care-final-report/
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190503_Edinburgh_written_evidence.pdf


Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 21 May 2019, Col 3871

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre briefing, 'Health and social care
integration: spending and performance update', page 37

72

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre briefing, 'Health and social care
integration: spending and performance update', page 37

73

Health and Sport Committee:'Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health
Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health and social
care in Scotland? page 18

74

Health and Sport Committee :'Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health
Budget 2019-20: Is the budget delivering the desired outcomes for health and social
care in Scotland? page 19

75

The Scottish Government response to the Health and Sport Committee 2018 budget
report, 21 December 2018, page 15

76

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre, Committee briefing77

The Scottish Parliament Information Centre, Committee briefing78

Health and Sport Committee: The Governance of the NHS in Scotland - ensuring
delivery of the best healthcare for Scotland, page 40

79

Health and Sport Committee: The Governance of the NHS in Scotland - ensuring
delivery of the best healthcare for Scotland, page 42

80

Health and Sport Committee: The Governance of the NHS in Scotland - ensuring
delivery of the best healthcare for Scotland, page 42

81

Public Audit and Post-legislative Scrutiny Committee Report: Key Themes, page 882

Public Audit and Post-legislative Scrutiny Committee Report: Key Themes, page 883

Public Audit and Post-legislative Scrutiny Committee Report: Key Themes, page 1084

Written submission from Glasgow City Integrated Joint Board85

Written submission from Glasgow City Integrated Joint Board86

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3387

Letter from Stephen Fitzpatrick, assistant chief officer, Glasgow City Integrated Joint
Board, 8 July 2019

88

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3389

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3390

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3391

Written submission from West Lothian Integrated Joint Board92

Written submission from West Lothian Integrated Joint Board93

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,

2019 (Session 5)
Page 533

http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12120&mode=pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/6/26/Health-and-social-care-integration--spending-and-performance-update/SB%2019-44.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/6/26/Health-and-social-care-integration--spending-and-performance-update/SB%2019-44.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/6/26/Health-and-social-care-integration--spending-and-performance-update/SB%2019-44.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/2019/6/26/Health-and-social-care-integration--spending-and-performance-update/SB%2019-44.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/HSS052018R9_Budget_2019-20.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/20181221_Cab_Sec_Budget_Response.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/HS/2018/7/2/The-Governance-of-the-NHS-in-Scotland---ensuring-delivery-of-the-best-healthcare-for-Scotland-1/HSS052018R07Rev.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/PAPLS/2019/9/1/Key-audit-themes/PAPLSS052019R5.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/PAPLS/2019/9/1/Key-audit-themes/PAPLSS052019R5.pdf
https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/published/PAPLS/2019/9/1/Key-audit-themes/PAPLSS052019R5.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190522_Glasgow_City_written_evidence.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190522_Glasgow_City_written_evidence.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190708_Ltr_IN_from_Glasgow_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190722_Ltr_IN_from_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190722_Ltr_IN_from_West_Lothian_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf


Letter from Sandra Ross, chief officer, Aberdeen City Integrated Joint Board, 19 July
2019

94

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 3495

The Scottish Government response to the Health and Sport Committee 2018 budget
report, 21 December 2018, page 13

96

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2597

Health and Sport Committee, Official Report, 4 June 2019, Col 2698

Ministerial Group for Health and Community Care, MSG data review, page 699

Health and Sport Committee
Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?, 10th Report,
2019 (Session 5)

Page 534

https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Inquiries/20190719_Ltr_IN_from_Aberdeen_City_IJB_re_4_June_session.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.parliament.scot/S5_HealthandSportCommittee/Reports/20181221_Cab_Sec_Budget_Response.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=12172&mode=pdf
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/minutes/2019/06/ministerial-strategic-group-for-health-and-community-care-papers-may-2019/documents/item-4-msg-data-review/item-4-msg-data-review/govscot%3Adocument/Item%2B4%2B-%2BMSG%2Bdata%2Breview.pdf


Page 535



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTE OF INTEGRATION JOINT BOARD AND ACTION NOTES
	IJB action log 1920v4

	4a Quality and Finance Board of 25 July 2019
	4b Clinical and Care Governance Committee of 5 September 2019
	4c Finance and Policy Committee of 10 September 2019
	4d Audit and Risk Committee of 25 September 2019
	5 CHIEF OFFICERS REPORT
	6 CULTURE FIT FOR THE FUTURE PROGRAMME
	5.1a External Advisor - Culture -Spec Final
	5.1b NHSH Culture Programme board TOR V3

	7a Budget Monitoring
	6.1a M6 budget monitoring App1 YTD
	6.1a M6 budget monitoring App2 forecast
	6.1a M6 combined savings App3b for IJB

	7b Financial Risk
	6.1b Financial Risks Report for Nov IJB App1

	7c Budget Outlook
	6.1c Appendix 1 - Budget Outlook Scenarios - for IJB Nov 19

	7d Reserves Report
	8 FINANCIAL RECOVERY PLANS
	9 SOCIAL WORK FINANCIAL REPORTING
	10 REVIEW OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION SCHEME
	7a Appendix 1  - Revised Integration Scheme - 051119

	11 STAFF GOVERNANCE REPORT
	12 PROFESSIONAL LEADERSHIP GOVERNANCE
	13 CHIEF SOCIAL WORK OFFICER ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
	10a Final A&B CSWO Annual Report 2018-19

	14 DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019
	DPH Annual Report 2019 (web)
	DPH Annual Report 2019 - Appendices 1-7 (web)
	DPH Annual Report 2019 - Appendix 8 (web)

	15 ALCOHOL AND DRUG PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
	16 LOOKING AHEAD TO THE SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT - HEALTH BUDGET 2020-21: WHEN IS HOSPITAL BAD FOR YOUR HEALTH?
	14a Looking ahead to the Scottish
	Health and Sport Committee
	Comataidh Slàinte is Spòrs
	Looking ahead to the Scottish Government - Health Budget 2020-21: When is Hospital bad for your health?
	Contents
	Health and Sport Committee
	Committee Membership
	Introduction
	Budget setting process
	Link between budgets and outcomes
	Delayed discharge
	Reasons for delayed discharge
	Cost of delayed discharge

	Intermediate care
	Unplanned acute bed days
	Housing adaptations
	Changing perceptions
	Transformation of services
	Set aside budget
	Leadership and cultural change
	Scrutiny of NHS boards
	Sharing good practice

	Conclusions
	Annexe A
	Extracts from the Minutes of the Health and Sport Committee Meetings

	Annexe B
	Written evidence
	Supplementary written evidence
	Official Reports of meetings of the Health and Sport Committee




